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o DEDICATION 

M issing 411 is dedicated to ~very family that has ever suffered 
thé disappearance of a loved one. There can be no worse fate 

than not knowing the whereabouts of a relative or friend. In every 
incident that was researched in this book, the amount of human 

. sacrifice that was expended in the effort to find a son, daughter, 
father, brother, or friend was deserving of the highest esteem. The 
subsequent pain suffered if the person wasn't found stays with the 
searcher a Iifetime-, it's something that he or she can't forget, 

· something he or she doesn't want to forget. 
1 have personally had nightmares about several of.the incidents 

. described in this manuscript; they still haunt me today, but my 
nightmares paJe in comparison to those of any family membe~ who 
couldn't find a loved one. o· 

To each and every one ofyou mentioned in this book, 1 dedícate 
· this work to you and your family. May you find inner peace . 
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INTRODUCTION 

· · ' 1 was originally led to this story by an off~duty ranger ata national 
· ·. · · park 1 was visiting. They informed me of a Series ofmissing person 

:cases at the parks that were not getting any visibility in the press, 
•··· . 

. : .. . ·. 

and they telt that there might be a series of similar cases at other 
parks. That one meeting set ine on a three-year study ofthe missing 
P'eople• topic, which led to two books highlighting 411 stories . 

· The most interesting and fascinating portion of this study on 
missing people is the discovery of clusters of missing in various 

·· . · areas ofNorth America. The clusters were indentified after years of 
· · · ·research and hours spent while 1 studied maps. The following are 
· ··. . the clusters that were identified in the eastern section ofthe United 

'· 

.·.'. ·• 
o ·:. , .. 

· States:· 

Oklahoma/Arkansas Border 
. Hokit 

B. Jamison 
l\1. Jamison 

·s. Jamison 
Cook. 
Krebbs 
Jones 
Jackson 
McDona.ld 

· :> Hanson 
~· ... 
.. • . .. 

· Davenport 
·. Hague 

Re el 
. Lavies 

Georgia/Aiabama 
Moore 
Tankersley 
Thompkins 
Upshaw 
Tippin 
Thomas 

Great Smoky Mountains NP 
Ha un 
Gibson 
Melton 
Lindsay · 
Hearon 
Ramsay 
Toney 
Martin 
Auberry 

Northern Illinois 
Sweely 
Chenoweth 
Shackleford 
Klamecki 
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NW Minnesota 

Ayotte 
Kelly 
McQuillan 
Long 
Warner 

NW Maine 
Newton 
Johnson 
Brown 
Hoover 
Johnson 
Renaud 

New Hampshire/S. Maine 
Lauro 
McCarthy 
Chapman 
Abbott 
Marvin 

S. Vermont 
Jepson 
Herrick 
Rivers 
Davis 
Weldon 
Baker 
Langer 
Bishop 

Notes on clusters: • 

NE Minnesota 

Sommerville 
Bordwell 
Coleman 

N. Michigan 
Ah tonen 
Perry 
Benjamín 
Henegan 
Hallaxs 
CJewley 

N. West Virginia 
Kuhl 
Shoemaker 
Moore 
McKinney 

PennsyJvania 
The entire state is a cluster 

The northern Illinois cluster is the only cluster in both books in 
which everyone missing is a female. · 

..... 

1 .• 

: . j 

:= 1 • :" • 
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Vermont is the only cluster that has a tight time frame surround­
. ing ail six missing people,just twenty-four years, 1926-1950. 

.. The Great Smoky Mountains National Park and the surround­
.Jng region is an interesting study area because Native Americans 
<origina11y settled it. Modern-day disappearances started in 1919. the 
. latest occurring in 2008. 

The entire state of Pennsylvania is a cluster, an amazing accu­
. mulation of juveniles who have disappeared under very similar 
ci rcumstances. 

.: Unique Factors in Disappearances 
; · The ·factors 1 a m describing relate to the en tire study and not solely 

.. to this book. Many ofthese factors ~re evident in the eastern United 
· .. · States, while others are in the west. 

As you read the story behind each missing person, you will start 
.. ·~o hear a consistent theme that includes facts found in other disap­

pearances of missing individuals. Part of the criteria 1 used for n 
, missing person case to be included in the books corresponded to 

. · the number of factors included on· this list that were evident in the 
·; .· ·stm:y. Here are a few ofthe factors you will find in many ofthe cases 

outlined in this book: 

··' 1. 

Rural Setting- All of the missing people outlined in this 
. project disappeared from a rural setting, not a city or down­
. town location. There were usually no witnesses, there was 
significant cover, and difficult terrain 

Dogs - For some unknown reason dogs played a major role 
1 

in many ofthe disappearances in the eastern United States. 
Many of the cases involve children following their dogs 
into the wild. 

· Bloodhounds/Canines Can 't Trae k Scent - A ver y unusual 
trend 1 found in many ofthese cases was that expert track­

. ing dogs were brought to the scene of the disappearance 
· · and were not successful at doing their job. The dogs were 

given the scent via a person's shoe or worn shirt, they were 
· brought to the location where the person was last seen, nnd 
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they either refused to track or couldn't pickup a scent. This 
behavior has occurred too many times to ignore, and it's not 
understood why this often occurs. 

Disabled/lmpaired- Several cases in the east involve dis­
abled children who disappear. Initially, 1 believed that this. 
was occurring because ofthe disability, but the more 1 read 
and understood about these cases, 1 think the numbers are 
too high for random occurrence. 1 don't understand why so 
many disabled children disappear, but the numbers don't 
seem coincidental. 

Fever - J have had discussions with physicians about the 
children who return from being missing who have fevers.' 
When they are examined, physicians noted in the articlés 
can't find a reason for the fever, and the physicians 1 spoke 
with couldn't explain it. Only a handful ofthese incidents 
were described in articles, but 1 believe children returning 
with fevers had occurred many more times than noted. The 
condition wasn 't told to the media, and it was handled as ~ · 
normal medical anomaly. 

. , .•. 

• .. · 

Conscious/Semi-Conscious- One ofthe most unusual con-· · · ...... 
ditions found among missing people is being found in a · : :~· · 
conscious or semiconscious state. 1 understand that when · · 
people go missing for extended periods ha11ucinations can 
occur because of an absence of food and water, but these 

•,.,. 
.. ,. 

conditions are prevalent even when those factors do not 
exist. You will read about cases in which the missing a¡;e 
found unconscious, lying ·~n the ground. When questioned 
later, they have no recollection of how they carne to be · '.r.· 

missing. In sorne cases the missing person does recall the · · 
facts surrounding his or her disappearance, and the facts of , . 
those cases create fascinating readlng. · . , ... 

Kidnapping- In several incidents law enforcement officials 
believed the victim was kidnapped. In many of the cases, 
the people returned in fairly clean clothes, and even though 
there was heavy precipitation, they were dry. The truly 

•. 1 

,· .. 

·. i 

·, .: 

.. :~ . ·. 
.: ·:. . , .. 

¡ ,: 

:. 

··:· 
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astonishing factor is that in many cases there was no shelter 
found, and it couldn't be explained why the victim was dry. 

In severa) of the cases in which the word "kidnap" was 
used, law enforcement officials backed off their position, 
and it was never explained why. In hindsight, many ofthese 
cases occurred in a rural area, and the press or local sheriff 
may·not have wanted to alarm the community. 

Afternoon Disappearance_- From the information gleaned 
from the prqject, the optimum time for a disappearance to 
occur is in the 2:00 p.m.-5:00 p.m. time frames. 

Swamps and Briar Patches - Many of the missing are 
· found in the middle or on the perimeter of a swamp and/or 
briar patch. Sorne rescuers have commented on the unusual 
location a child is found in and how they don't understand 
how he or she got there. These are not locations that people 
would casually visit. 

Berries - The fact that berries and berry bushes play a 
cohtinuous role in many disappearances is overwhelm­
ing. People disappear and are found in the middle of berry 

. bushes. They go missing while they are picking berries, 
and sorne are found eating berries. The association between 
sorne missing people and berries cannot be denied. 

C/othing Removed- In numerous cases cited, the missing 
person is found and at least one significant piece of clothing 
has disappeared. Sometimes people are found inexplicably 
naked. While this may sound Iike a minor issue, it often 
isn't minor once you read the facts surrounding the cases 
and understand how consistent the details are surrounding 
each incident. While searchers are scouring every inch of a 
quadrant from the point last seen until the missing is found, 
in many instances the clothing is never found. Sorne large 
pieces of clothing are never found. 1 know that some search 
manuals indicate that children do remove their clothing; the 
facts surrounding these cases do not seem to support that 

XV 
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assertion, however, as it was extremely detrimental to their 
surviva). 

Missing Found in an Area Previously Searched- Another 
common factor found in many search and rescue (SAR) 
missions. Searchers find the missing person and later are 
adamant that the area in which the person was found had 
been thoroughly searched numerous times in the past. 
Sometimes the missing person is found on a majar trail that 
searchers had used daily. SAR commanders are sometí mes 
mystified by the the victim's Jocation when found. 

' ~ .. 

:' t • • 

··' ,. 

. ' 

•' . · .. · .. 
.· . 
:• 

· ... 

' .. 

.. :.MISSING PEOPLE 

·:As you read about these incidents, 1 want ever.yone to.apply his 
:· · or her own level of common sense to what ts explamed. Ask 
yours~lfthese questions: 

l. Could my child have accomplished what the child in the 
article allegedly did (walked this far, survived in this envi­
ronment, etc.)? 

2. Would my child ever do what the child in the article did? 
3. Does this story even make sense? 
4. Does it seem like someone is trying to manipulate the story? 

· 5. Does there seem to be a consistency in the stories? 
. . . 6. Could these events be related to one another? 

1 can almost guarantee that you will go back and read many of 
·:: t~e stories a second and third time. Loo k at the terrain on uaoogle 
: .: Earth" and see if you can notice any similarities in the locations of 

:. the disappearances. 
·. · l have included as many maps as 1 could afford in this book. The 
.···.411 cases included in both the Western and Eastern United States 
... books are not a11 ofthe cases that fit this criteria. 1 guarantee there 

." ·: are more, probably many more. With the advent ofthe internet and 
· ... : .bett¿r communications, the idea that more adults and children are 
:· : .... missing in the Canadian North is a guarantee. The New York Times 
· :.J1as done a great public service of making their articles befare 1900 
. .. ·free for the publ ic to view, and its coverage of the Un ited S tates was 
:: faifly good. 

l have included three special categories of missing people that 
·. :."··"ªre .quite unique: farmers, berry pickers, and sheepherders. Again, 1 
·:. wa~n't looking for a subcategory to include, thesejumped out at me. 
· Several ofthe missing berry pickers were young children that were 

:. ~omentarily left alone and almost seemed to vanish under their · 
.. : .parent's supervision. Many of the disappearances occurred in ver y 
· ... ·.remate areas where there were no other cars or people present, yet 

there were indicators that these children may have heen abducted, a 
very troubling and serious possibility that I'm sure taw enforcement 

·· · n~ver adequately or thoroughly investigated . 

. . . 
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Míssíng People 

Central Ontarío 

This is a special section included in this book because the majorlty 
ofpeople missing were hunters. The ages ofthe people missing in 

this area ofOntario is quite old and does not match the demograph- . 
ics of any other area ofNorth America. 

The center point for missing people in north Central Ont<frio is· 
Timmins. There are seven people missing from with in fifty mlles of 
the Timmins City Limits. Readers should understand that you could ·. 
travel two mi les from downtown Timmins and be in a very remate 
and desolate area that has significant wildlife. 

The disappea rance of two men (Weeden/Newcombe), si multa-· 
neously from the Crown Game Preserve is a very unusual event. 

List of M issing People from Ontario by Date: 
Name Date/Time Missing 
Meryl Newcombe 10/29/59-Unk 
George Weeden 1 0/29/59-Unk 
Eli zabeth Kant 10/16172-Unk 
Vital Vachon 05/01 /73-Unk 
Foster Bezanson 10/25/80-Unk 
Clayton McFaul 08/ 15/86-Unk 
.lohn Clifford 10/10/87-Unk 
Dustin Rhodes 07/06/91 -Unk 
Bernarcl Champagne 
M~chael Lin klater 

07110/97-Unk 
07/ 13/03-Unk 

•Age •Sex 
•SO•M 

•45•F 
•56•M 
•64•M 
•59•M 
•65•M 
•64•M 
•80•M 
•44•M 

•• Refer to the chapter on " Farmers" for detai ls on the Clayton 
McFau l disappea rance. 

. ' 

Meryl Newcombe 
Missing 10/29/59, 
Chapleau, Ontario 
.Age at Disappearance: 
50 years 

Centra l Ontario 

George Weeden 
Missing 10/29/59, 
Chapleau, Ontario 
Age at Disappearance: 
63 years 

3 

Refer to the Weeden narrative for detai ls on Mr. Newcombe. 
George Weeden and Meryl Newcombe were at a hunting lodge 

that was owned and operated by Mr. Newcombe. They were hunting 
near the lodge when they fa iled to return from an outing on October 
29, 1959. They were never seen again. They were last seen between 
mile marker 106 and 107 ofthe CPR Line. 

George Weeden was an individual that was never going to walk 
or hi ke long distances. ln 194l .George had been seriously injured in 
a train accident in which he sustained a broken back and debilitating 
injuries to his right leg. George Weeden had a very difficult time 
walking any long distances. 

One of the largest provincial searches during the 1960's was 
conducted for these two men. There was a second search in the 
spring of 1960 after the snowmelt occurred, with searchers never 
finding one clue about what happened to the two men. 

Case Summary: 
The case of Weeden and Newcombe is highly unusual, very 

frustrat ing, and doesn 't make much sen se. The men were at a 
remate hunting lodge owned by Newcombe. These were seasoned 
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outdoorsmen who were not going to walk far from their vehicle. 
They were staying e lose to the truck beca use of Weeden 's injuries. 

1 

Both men were undoubtedly armed because they were hunting. The 1 

men would not ha ve been attacked by a bear; bears would have been 
hibemating in late October. Both men were hunting in the Crown· 
Game Preserve, known for. its outstanding variety ofbirds and mam­
mals. The Ojibwe First Nations Tri be lives in the middle ofthis area 
and knows the variety of game that it offers. They ha ve the freedom 
to hunt the area at times when others cannot. The weather in this 
area would have been very cold, snowy, and difficult to walk in. 
People would never hike long distances at this time of the. ye~r in 
this area. ·· 

The law enforcement officials conducted an extensive searchl in 
the ·spring after the pair disappeared and after the snow had melted ,. , . 1 

• • 

and still could not locate the men. lt may be plausible for one.man ·.; . i : 

to disappear in this region in late October;· how two m en disappeár ~·: • · · 
baffles my common sense approach to search and rescue. .~.~ .. 

El izabeth Ann Kant : · ·· 
Missing 10/16172, Adair Township, 73 Miles e/o Cochrane, Ontari~ .. · .. 
Age at Disappearance: 45 years · · 
5'5", 160 lbs 

Ms. Kant was with a hunting party in a desolate area approxi­
mately seventy-three miles east of Cochrane, Ontario. During the · 
hunt, Elizabeth got separated from her party near camp #23 'at · 
Abitibi. This is an area near where the Abitibi River enters the híke 
and very close to Abitibi-De-Troyes Provincial Park. At the point · 
that the party got separated was the last time anyone saw Elizabedi. . 

There was a large and lengthy search for Elizabeth, but she was ~· ·.· . 
not found. 

Vital Vachon 
Missing 5/1173, Lucas Township near Timmins, Ontario 
Age at Disappearance: 56 years 
5'6", 158 lbs 

The last confirmed sighting of Vital was as he departed a bush 
camp in Lucas Township near Timmins. A search of the bush camp 
and surrounding area failed to find any evidence of Vachon. 

·. Foster Bezanson 
···.M issing 10/25/80, Cochrane, Ontario 
· Age at Disappearance: 64 years 

Central Ontario S 

··s7", 149 lbs 
· .. · · ·. The area surrounding Cochrane gets very desolate very quickly. 
·. 'It is surrounded by wildlife and has significant water sources ver y 
:_close. to the city. The townships in this area of Ontario are not close 

·Jo each other; there are long stretches of roadway without people, 
1 commercial services, or residences. Small farms do dot the land­

.· -scape in this area. 
Bezanson Ieft the Abitibi Road 48 area near Cochrane to spend 

::·.::the day hunting. He was armed. Mr. · Bezanson was last seen on 
-~r~anslimit Road 4 east to mileage 60, north 2 one mile on Abitibi 
'J(oad.48. He was armed with a 30-06. This area of Ontario is fairly 

··:·_~fl~t. ·When Bezanson failed to arrive home, a search was initiated. ·. . 
M r. Bezanson was never found. 

: ·.~::·. · s'everal people are missing in· the same region as Foster 
·.'>B'ezanson under similar circumstances. No evidence of Bezanson 

· :···was·ever found. 

, ·John Samuel Clifford 
. · M~ssing 10/10/87, Frederick House River, Ontario 
· · Age at Disappearance: 65 years 

~-· ·5'10·~. 180 lbs 
.: : ~ohn Clifford was a sixty-five-year-old gentleman who loved 
_: · the· outdoors. He specifically enjoyed hunting and fishing the area 
~·around his residence in Frederick House, Ontario. On October 10, 

.,; · 1981, Clifford went missing near Floods Landing on the Frederick 
·_-. House River. This occurred in close proximity to the location where 

• 

1

- Foster Bezanson disappeared. 
Cliftord has been missing for over twenty years, and it is dif-

.. :.ficult to get information on his disappearance. 

·. bus~in Rhodes 
Missing 7/6/91, Timmins, Ontario 
Age at Disappearance: 64 years 

. · 5'10", 220 lbs 
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Dustin Rhodes was staying at his rural cottage on Lake Óibs~n·:.' 
On July 6, 1991 at approximately 11:00 a.m., it was discovered that 
Dustin was missing. · o 

Lake Gibson is located approximately five miles south ofoKettleo 
Lake Provincial Park and fifteen miles east ofTimmons. The cabin 
is located in a very rural area that is remote with woods and forests 
surrounding the lake. There is no evidence ofDustin's whereabouts;· 

**Four of the eleven people on this Iist in Central Ontario ha_.ve. 
disappeared in July. · 

Bernard Champagne 
Missing 7/10/97, Val Cote, Ontario 
Age at Disappearance: 80 years 
5'6", 149 lbs ·: .· 

Bernard was an elderly gentleman living in a rear building at á 
rustic cabin on the outskirts ofVal Cote. The owner ofthe cabin kept_ . 
close tabs on Mr. Champagne and quickly realized he was missing.o 

A massive search ofthe area that included canines, helicopters~. 
airplanes and a ground search never found any trace of Bernar<l . 
Jf Bernard did die in close proximity to the residence, odors fr~m: 
decomposition would alert the homeowners and Bernard's· bodyo o 
would've been found, this did not occur. o o o 

Case Summary: o 

This is another case where readers need to take a breath at1d 
not be numb to these disappearances. Think clearly about how fat 
an elderly eighty-year old man could get in the bush of Manitoba? . 
How is it possible that Mr. Champagne was not found? Why wouldo. 
Mr. Champagne ever want to walk out into the bush? Even if the: 
man was senile. how far could he really get when others are ttyin& .. 
to keep track of him? 

Michael Joseph Linklater 
Missing 7/13/03, 6:00 a.m., between Cochrane and Moosonee, 
Ontario 
Age at Disappearance: 44 years 
5'6 .. , 158 lbs ... 

o lo 

Central Ontario 7 

On July 9, 2003, Michael went to the Linklater hunting/fishing 
camp located between Cochrane and Moosonee. More specifically, 
the camp is located near mile marker 115 on the CN Railroad Line. 

o Sometime on July 13 Michael disappeared l.Yhile in the outdoors. 
Despite numerous searches in the area, MichaeJ has not been 

seen since 6:00 a.m. on July 13, 2003. 
.. 

·o o .chapter Summary 
· .. · 

· .. · 

. :' '. 

o o 

~ • • o 

00 o 

The age of the people missing in Ontario is striking. They are 
consistently older than people missing in almost every other region 
in North America except other regions of the same province. Why 
aren't the_re consistencies in the age ofthe missing? o 
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Missing Berry Pickers . 

1 
included a section on missing berry pickers because it was a unique 
subset of people missing in the wild. The missing in this bracket 

are predominantly older, but there are eight under the age often, and· 
the circumstances of their disappearance is quite troubling. Seven 
of twenty-one listed are missing from Canada, a significant per- · 
centage of missing berry pickers. Many of the places where these ·. 
individuals went missing are very desolate but abundant with food 
source at the time. There never was a conclusion on what happened ·. 
to these people except in circumstances in which a body was found': 
None ofthe berry pickers was tbund to be taken by a bear or killed 
by a bear. 1 1 

Names of the victims were entered by the date they we~t 
missing. 

Berry Pickers Listed by Date Missing 
N ame 
Stephen Ford­
Johnnie Lembke 
Eddie Hamilton 
Wesley Piatote 
George Wanke 
Jack Pike 
Emma Steffy 
Simon Skogan 
Mrs. August Nelson 
C. H. Bordwell 
David.Feif 
Gary Bailey 
Rose Jewett 
Richard Craig 
Mabel Moffitt 
Marcelene Cummungs 
Yehudi Prior 

Szpak, Frank 

Date M issing• Age•Sex • Location 
08/05/1880•9•M•Pleasant Valley, PA 
08/12/JO•IS•M•Eiyria, OH 
07/06/28•2•M•Elrose, Sask 
08/04/32•7•M•Nespelem, WA 
07/27/35•58•M•Brightstone, MAN 
09/05/35•5•M•St. Norbert, MAN 
07/18/39•75•F•Reading, PA 
07/02/40•9•M•Winnepeg, MAN 
07/28/43•75•F•Drummond, Wl. 
08/01/44•44•M•Keewatin, MN 
07/06/52•85•M•Rehoboth, MA 
07/17/54•3•M•Knox, ME 
08/ll/57•95•F•Elk River, ID 
08/15/57•5•M•Goldendale, WA 
08/10/66•55•F•Gilmore Creek, Alaska 
07/14/69•54•F•Newport, WA 
09/23174•2• M • Vancouver Island 
**22 years without a berry . picker · 
missing 
09/23/96•68•M•Kirkland, ONT 

1 ··.·!. 

. ·.: •. ; 

: • f 

,. 
•' . ·.'. 

·., 

~ o • 

.·:· 

; ~. 

, .. 

··' 1 

R~ymond Tunnicliffe 
• Lueiano Trinastich 

., 
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08/26/02•NA•M•Weyakwin, SASK 
07/24/07•78•M•Timmons, ONT 

Stephen· Ford 
... Mi~sing S/5/1880, Pleasant Valley, Pennsylvania 

9 

· Age ··at Disappearance: 9 years 
. . ; There were few details about this disappearance. l found one 

1\:~~1' Yoi·k Times article dated August 9, 188?. . 
· ' ,Stephen was the son of John Ford who hved m P1easant Yalley, 
soOtheast of Pittsburgh. Stephen disappeared while he was gather­
¡1~·6 .. berries near his house. The hoy had been missing four days 
wheri the article was printed, and searchers had not found him. 

1
: · .. Stephen disappeared in the same area as tw~ fe~ales, Bowers 

a~a Thorpe. Refer to the chapter on Pennsylvama dtsappearances 

ró'r .adcÚtional details. 
.· .... 

J·~hnnit:i Lembke 
M·.iss.ing 8/12/1910, Elyria, Ohio 
A:ge at Disappearance: 15 years 

· 'An árticle in the Evening Telegram on August 12, 1910 stated 
tha·í Lcmbke was picking berries when something unexplained hap­
p~ned. ,They found his half full pail of berrie.s l_Ying ~n t~e gr~und. 
but.no other indicators of Johnnie. The Vernulhon Rtver ts adJacent 
to the land that Johnnie was on and the river was dragged for his 
bÓdy seyeral times with no signs of the hoy. 
. ·: · The article theorized that Johnnie may ha ve attempted to run 
off another berry picker or had disturbed a hawk 's nest. As best as 1 
can ·determine, Johnnie was never located. 
. ·; The hawk's nest is an unusual explanation for this incident as a 
fi'fteen-year-old hoy is a large object tbr a hawk to ca~ry. away and 
consurne. I've read many interesting conclusions to tnlSStng person 
cases, especially in older articles. Many ofthe explanations have no 
b~$ÍS in reality but appear to be printed to ofter sorne logical expla­
~rition to a very unusual event. 

Eddie Hamilton 
Mis~ing 7/6/28, Elrose, Saskatoon 
.Age at'Disappearance: 2 years 
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Mr. and Mrs. Freeman Hamilton from Elrose took their t~o­
year-old son (Eddie) with them as they went herry picking_ }ust 
south of their hometown. They exited their car in the thick, herry­
infested area and Eddie im.mediately walked off in one directíqn. 
The Hamilton's momentarily lost sight of the hoy and never sáw 
him again. 

The area that the Hamiltons were in was flat ground for thr~e 
miles to the south up to the White Bear Hills that surround White 
Bear Lake. There are three s_maJJ lakes, aiJ approximately one~~alf 
mile long and narrow. There are sets of hills on each side or" the 
lakes and the hodies of water sit inside a small valley. These are the 
only hills anywhere in the vicinity of Eddie's disappearanc~. . .. · · 

Once Eddie was out of sight, the Hamiltons immediately st~rt~ 
to call his name _and search for him; they did not receive an answ~.r. 
The parents searched the area multiple times and couldn't find ~he 
hoy. The hushand stayed in the area searching, and the wife wentfor 
help. The Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) quicklyarrjved, 
and hefore dusk a large search had started. The SAR had óver 250 
participants inside of twenty-four hours, with searchers working 
around the clock. Planes had heen used for low flight passes in ·~n 
effort to see ground movement, none was seen. 

A July 13, 1928 article in the Saskatoon Phoenix noted·. that · 
searchers had found "boot prints" and "heel prints" in one area 
A N D the following: "There are footprints however in the vicin~Jy 
hut though the wheat fields and undergrowth for miles around h_áye 
heen thoroughly comhed no further clue has heen _found.'' . ·:. 

The writer ofthis article is discerning hecause he made a.'d~fi­
nite distinction hetween the boot, heel, and footprint that \-ve_re 
found. . ... 

Several articles stated that this search was the largest in tñe 
history of the province. It lasted for over three months, a~d not.H­
ing was found. No clothing in the hrush, no other footp~ints, .no 
witnesses, nothing. Almost two thousand people participated in tbe 
three-month effort. 

On October 25, 1928, a traveling salesman was duck hunting . 
three and one-half miles from where little Eddie Hamilton dis~p- · 
peared. The hunter was on White Bear Lake when he looked id .!he 
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. .. . w~ter and saw a small figure floating-it was Eddie. The body was 
·· · retrieved, and the parents made a positive identification that it was 

Eddie Hamilton. The article in the Winnipeg Free Press made no 
· mention ofthe condition ofthe body or the pddity ofthe find. 

Case Summary: 
lf Eddie Hamilton were found in White Bear Lake, that lit­

tle hoy would have climbed over an 1800-foot mountain, walked 
down into a valley, and then into the water. There were many, many 
other small hodies ofwater in the area ofthe disappearance that he 
could have fallen into, hut he didn't. The idea that a two-year-old 
hoy could walk over three miles through thickets, hrush, and over 
a mountain without ever hearing the frantic pleas of his parents is 

· hard to bel ieve-very hard to believe. The fact that he had to climb 
over mountains to reach the lake is something quite unhelievable for 

. a two-year-old. You will find severa] notes in this hook that describe 
sma11 chiJdren supposedly hiking uphiiJ when lost and later fo~nd at 
an elevation higher than where they went missing. lt is the general 
helief among SAR leaders that children walk downhill when lost, 
not usually uphill, especially a two-year-old going 1800 feet uphill. 
A guidebook written to assist SAR commanders states that a one­
to three-year-old child will be found 95 percent of the time on flat 
ground in less than a two-mile radius. 

Wesley David Piatote 
Missing: 8/4/32, Strawberry Mountain, Nespelem, Washington 
Age at Disappearance: 7 years 

Wesley was picking huckleberries with his mother and grand­
mother on Strawberry Mountain outside ofNespelem, Washington. 
ln.the late afternoon, the boy wandered a slight distance away from 
·the women. The women heard the hoy scream two times, and they 
hecame alarmed. Both women immediately searched for Wesley and 
couldn,t find a trace ofhim. Within two days fifty men on horseback 

· were Jooking for Wesley and could not locate the hoy. 
Please refer to the "Washington" chapter in Missing411-Western 

United States. There are similarities with this case and the disap­
pearance of Jimmy Duffy. Duffy's disappearance near Wenatchee 
Lake was in the same general vicinity as this case, and both children 
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disappeared in desolate locations. Both children made a loud sound 
or scream before they disappeared and were never found. 

Jack Pike 
Missing 9/5/35, St. Norbert, Manitoba 
Age at Disappearance: 5 years 

Details about Jack Pike's disappearance can be read in the 
Minnesota State section. 

George Wanke 
Missing 7/27/35, Brightstone, Ontario 
Age at Disappearance: 58 years 

On July 27 of 1935 the Winnepeg Free Press ran an arti­
cle regarding Mr. Wanke's disappearance. The article stated that 
Wanke was from Beausejour and was traveling with twerity-four 

··r ... ·....... .. 

. ... 

1 • •• 

other residents from their city to Brightstone, an area known for ~ ·: 
berry picking. The group arrived and then·agreed on a specific time · 
to meet for the ride home. The entire group did arrive at the desig- . 
nated meeting location, except Wanke. 

Residents initially returned to Brightstone, and the next morri­
ing they drove back to their berry-picking spot with three truckloads 
of searchers. The search effort was in va in. Wanke was never found. 

Emma Steffy 
Missing 7/15/39, Reading, Pennsylvania 
Age at Disappearance: 75 years 

Emma Steffy was a very strong woman. She left her resi ... 
dence adjacent to the Welsh Mountain Wilderness and hiked i~to 
the woods to pick huckleberries. A neighbor reported seeing her 
eight miles from her residence and asked if she needed a ride. 
She answered "no." She left her residence with her pipe, tobacco, 
sandwiches, and a bottle of coffee. After being seen by neighbors, 
Emma Steffy disappeared. Farmers and state police thoroughly 
searched the region for three days and were unable to find Emma. 
On the fourth day that Emma was missing she wandered into her 
residence with a torn dress and explained that she had hit her head 
badly. There were few details about Emma's three+ days in the 
woods. 

.. ( .. 

. ' 
.·; 

··." 

··~ 

·. \ 
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Sitjipn Skpgan 
Missing. 7/2/40, 55 Miles North of Winnipeg, Manitoba 
.Ag~ ·at Disappenrance: 9 years 

··' In early July of 1940, Simon Skogan traveled fifty-five miles 
nor"th :"of Manitoba with his parents to visit the rural home of his 
gr~hdparents near Tuelon. The area around the home was very wet 
and swainpy, with fannland surrounding the vicinity. 

···:Qn July 2, 1940 Simon went berry picking with his grandpa 
and.· <Jisappeared. Local law enforcement was immediately called, 
aiÓng wíth military personnel but heavy rains hit the area immedi­
atefy after Simon disappeared and this greatly hindered the search .. 
Elithtv soldiers from the Canadian Third Division Ammunition 
C~i}ipany stayed on the scene for over thirty days. 
. ·. "During the search for Simon, Indian trackers found some very 

uriüsual facts. A July 29, 1940 article in the Windsor Dai~)' Star had 
the. following: 

. ·A few days ago, however, 1 ndians of the district reported traces 
of sómeone living on berries and sleeping in the woods. They even 
reported someone who ran away at the sight of them. Nearby resi­

. derit~ said they often found their cows milked almost dry in the 
· mor"ning . 

: The search for Simon )asted over one month. There was even 
som·e conjecture that Simon was the one running from the searchers 
art9 l~ving off the land. O ver two hundred searchers assisted in the 
effort to'find Skogan, including eighty soldiers. Professional soldiers 
co~ld not locate the boy or whoever was living in the forest off the 
berries. · 

: . Simon was never found. 

M!s. August Nelson 
Missing 7/28/43, Drummond, Wisconsin 
Age at Disappearance: 75 years 

· .' Mrs~ N el son lived in a remete section of Bayfield County. She 
was partially disabled and had dif~culty walking and used a cane. 
She left her residence and walked into the woods to pick blueber­
ri~s; She never carne back . 

... ·aayfield County Sheriff Andrew Gidlof was assisted by fifty 
men 'who searched the region for Mrs. Nelson. After failing to find 
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the woman, Gidlof stated that she must had wandered off and g~t~ 
ten lost. ' ·· 

**This is another case that makes absolutely no sense. A. wom~n 
needs a cane to walk, disappears, and fifty men can't find her-~: flt 
would appear that she had been abducted or searchers and neighpQr.s 
would eventually smell a decomposing body. There was never ~QY 
indication that animals may have attacked Ms. Nelson. 1 want rea~~ 
ers to keep a mental note ofthe number of disabled individua.ls that 
go missing-it's abnormally large. 

C. H. Bordwell 
Missing 8/1/44, Keewatin, Maine 
Age at Disappearance: Unknown 

At the time of his dis~ppearance, Mr. Bordwell was the cha~t:. 
man ofthe instrumental music department for the Keewatin· SchAAI 
district. He went with his wire anda group offriends eighteen miles 
east of their hometown to pick berries. The group agreed on a time 
to meet for their return trip home. C.H. never arrived. ·:. 

A search was conducted of the area where Bordwell was .hi~t 
seen, and he was not located. 

.... 

Again, a healthy person. disappears, is never found, and ·.the 
search is terminated. 1 want all readers to take a breath here ~rid 
realize this is a human life that was completely lost. Bordwell wasri't 
lost in the middle ofthe Atlantic Ocean. He was eighteen miles from 
his house. How does this happen? Why can't bloodhounds find.c~r:. 
tain people who disappear? 

David Feif 
Missing 07/06/52, Rehoboth. Massachusetts 
Age at Disappearance: 85 years 

David left his residence and went toa known huckleberry are~. 
He did not come home, and searchers were called. .. 

Bloodhounds tracked David's scent to a swamp area. A sear~h 
ofthe perimeter area failed to produce any evidence ofDavid's Ioca:­
tion. The community sent firemen, Boy Scouts, and volunteers ~ho 
all participated in the huñt for David. 1 found two articles Qn th!s 
incident and could not locate anything that indicated David w:as 
ever found. You will read many accounts ofmissing people where 

.. .' 

.. ' 
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· ··:- \:, swamps play a predominant role in where people disappear and 
_ where others are eventually found. 

.. ,: 

,• ... 

Gary Bailey 
.Missing 7íl7/54, Spears Mountain, Knox, Maine 
· Age at Disappearance: 3 years 

Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth Bailey had traveled from their home in 
Thorndike with their three-year-old son Bailey to Spears Mountain 
in Knox, ·Maine. The family was spending the day with friends 
picking blueberries. Spears Mountain sits next to the F.rye Mountain 

. . State Management Area, fifteen miles east of Belfast. 

·.::· 

·, 

:.· 

. Sometime during the day while the mother was with friends, 
. G~ry was bei ng tended to by his blind father Kenneth. Somehow 
Kenneth lost track ofthe boy, anda search was initiated. 

Articles state that five hundred searchers assisted in looking 
· for Gary. The searchers included game wardens, state police, Boy 
· Sc0uts, firemen, and voJunteers. There was initially no evidence 
found during the first nighttime and early daytime search for Gary. 

Appfoximately twenty-four hours after Gary disappeared, two 
searchers who had asked to join the hunt thought they heard crying. 
The searchers found Gary with scratches over his face but in generally 

· good condition. A July 19, 1954 article in the Sarasota Herald had the 
following: "Searchers said the youngster was found on the opposite side 
of Spears Mountain from where he vanished, and his trail indicated he 
had passed over the top ofthe 1400 foot hill in his wanderings." 

- Another article stated that Gary was found three and a half 
miles from where he wandered away from his dad. 

lt's very hard to believe that a three-year-old boy would climb 
over a 1400-foot mountain and not just wa1k downhill. It's equaiJy 
hard to believe that Gary could have covered three anda halfmi1es 
of mountain climbing in twenty-four hours-at 3 years old! 

Rose Jewett 
Missing 8111157,4:15 p.m., 10 Miles north ofEik River, Idaho 
Age a\ Disappearance: 95 years 

Friends and relatives of Rose took the elderly woman on a trip 
into the wild ten miles north ofElk River, ldaho. This region is very 
desolate with very rough roads in 1957. 
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Relatives established their camp on Thursday and at 4:15 p.m. 
on Sunday decided to head into the wild and collect huckleberries. 
The children left Rose in camp since her mobility was inhibited 
because of a stroke she had months earlier. Forty-five minutes after · · 
they left, the children returned, and Rose was gone. A five-day ' 
search by over fifty people failed to find any evidence ofRose. 

Bloodhounds joined the search, and for three days essentially 
walked in a circle around the camp and stopped back at the cainp 
road. They were useless. There was a belief by sorne that Rose 
caught a ride out ofthe area, but the children did not believe· it. 

On October 19, 1957, Rose's daughter offered a $300 reward f~r 
any information about her mother whether she was found alive or · 
dead. It appears that Rose was never found. 

Case Summary: 
There was no blood or signs of an attack at the campsite. There 

is only one possibility in this case, abduction, period. The woman 
was 95-years old, recently had a stroke, and was disabled; she could 
not have walked away. The real question is who would be on a lonely 
dirt road in the middle of the Idaho wilderness who would want to 
abduct a 95-year old stroke victim? lt seems unlikely that the sus­
pect would be driving a vehicle or the family would have probably 
heard it on the rough dirt road. 

. ·. 

Richard "Rickie" Craig 
Missing 8/15/57,10:00 a.m., twenty-five miles south of M t. Adams,. 
Washington 
Age at Disappearance: 5 years 

Richard a.k.a. Rickie Craig was with his parents picking huck­
leberries twenty-five miles south of Mt. Adams, Washington, in an . 
area near Trout Lake. This location is approximately thirty miles 
north of Hood River and the Columbia River. The location where 
the family was picking berries is near the 2500-foot elevation. 

On August 15 at 10:00 a.m., the family started to look for Rickie 
and couldn't locate"him. The Craigs initially started to look for th~ 
boy by themselves and then went to the local Forest Service Office · 
and asked for assistance. 

·, 
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·.::. -Elmer Craig was a school principie in Harrah, Washington, and 
was 011 summer break when the family lost Richard. He was one ofthe 
n1ain participants in the search for his son. ·. 

· Th.ere were two full days of lengthy searches that mcluded 
bioodhounds, Iaw enforcement officials, and volunteers. The total 
ri~mber of searchers rose to six hundred by the second day. Th:re 
\\i~re ~o many people looking for Richard that the Forest Servtce 
d~sed the Trout Lake area to all huckleberry pickers because they 
w~re getting in the way ofthe search effort. . . . 
· · At 5:30 a.m. on the third day Rickie was mtssmg, a loggmg 

crew came into the SAR on their day off. The crew was three­
fotirths of a mile off Trout Creek Road and over five miles from 
the poi.nt that Rickie was last seen when they .round t~e youn~ b.o~. 

·-1 made a monumental archive search for spectfic detatls of R1ckte s 
condition but little could be found. It was learned that the hoy was 

1~·issing o~e shoe and, according to ·doctors that examined h~t~ later 
. i~i the day, they were fascinated by the phenomenal condttton he 
\yas in for being in the rugged wilderness for over two days. They 

éouldn 't believe it. . . · 
. ·~ · Rickie never could say what he did in the wild for the two days 
b'r.how he got lost, a common condition ofmany ofthe people.who 
are found and later questioned about their ordeal. 

. Mabel Moffitt 
·f,vli$sing 8/10/66, Gilmore Creek, Alaska 
Age at Disappearance: 55 years . 
: Mabel and her husband Earl invited friends from thetr home-
toWn ~ffairbanks to accompany them berry picking, but the.friends 
couldn't attend. The Moffitts drove tp Gilmore Creek and were last 

.·seen at the RCA Gilmore site adjacent to the state highway. 
· · \Vhen the Moffitts failed to return home, their friends reported 
.. th~m as missing. The state police immediately organized a. sea~ch 
· and ori the first day found Earl Moffitt lying dead on the tr~tl ot. an 
:,apparent heart attack. Mabel was eventually found ~wo atr mtles 
. from Gilmore Dome. She was rushed to the hospttal and later 
· .. re.leased. Newspaper articles stated that Mabel had not been ques­
: .tioned about the incident and the details were not known. 
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Case Summary: 
This case is interesting because one person in the group i~ fout:t(l 

dead of an apparcnt hearl attack, and the other is found alive two 
days later. What caused Earl to have the heart attack? Why wouldn't 
Mabel have walked back to the car and summoned help if she was 
able 10 do so? 

Marcelene Cummungs 
Missing 7/14/69, Monument Mountain, Washington 
Age at Disappearance: 54 years 

County Sheriff Deputies were searching the area near t l~e 

Washinglon-ldaho border southeast of Sullivan Lake and in a11 
area that overlooks Priest Lake in fa r northern ldaho. The deputies 
were looking for missing berry picker Marcelene Cummungs fro;n 
Spokan~ , 

Pend Orei lle Sheriff Norman Cox was personally leadingthe 
search and had asked for assistance from Whatcom County and 
other law enforcement j uri sdi ctions. . 

1 cou ld not find an article indicating that Marcelene was found . .' 
** lt 's an inleresting coincidence that Marcelene di sappeared in 

this area as there are a series of missing women on the Washingto~/ 
ldaho border near Coeur D'Aiene that are described in "Missing 
411-Western U.S." All of the women are missing in a rural envi ron­
ment with very few clues as lo their disappearance. 

Yehudi Prior 
For detai ls on the Yehud i Prior case refer to chapter in Vancouv.er 

lsland, British Columbia (Missing 41/- Western U.S.). 

Raymond Tunn icliffe 
Missing 8/26/02, Tracy Lake, Saskatoon, Canada 
Age at Disappearance: 79 years 

Raymond was from Saskatoon and left his residence for Tracy 
Lake to go berry picking. One of the last stops he made was arthe 
general store in Weyakwi n and advised the owner he was hiking 'to 
Tracy Lake. Tunnicl iffe told the storeowner if she didn't hear from 
him in three days to notify authorities-well, she did . ' .: 

·. 

.. 

·. 

. .. 
· ' 
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The owner reported Raymond missing, and this notification 
srarted a lwo-week search. The RCMP used planes, canines, ground 
teams, everything imagi nable to find Raymond. This quote in the 
8/26/0'2 Lethbridge Hera/d by a fa mily member regarding RCMP 
s~arch ~fforts follows and descri bes their féel ings and frustration: 
''There's absolutely noth ing. We've almost narrowed it clown to 
al ien abduction beca use it 's so clean." 

Case Summary: 
The quote in the Lethbridge Herald perfectly summari zes the 

.feelings of many SA R teams when their efforts produce no results. 
. Jt's understandable that search teams may not always be able to 
bring back a live body, but when they don't find footprints, cloth­
ing, blood, campsites, etc., it is truly mind-boggling what might 
have happened. 1 think it 's also notable that Raymond went to the 
extraordinary measure of tell ing the storeowner about his trip and 
.aavising her to cal! authorities of he doesn't return . This action 
·makes ~11e wonder i f he was expecti ng trouble. 

Frank Szpak 
M issing 09/23/96, 
Kirk land Lake, Ontario 
Age at Disappearance: 69 years 

Frank left his residence to go blueberry picking in a local wooded 
section. When Frank did not return, the local RCMP conducted a 

• 1 

massive search and could not Iocate him. 

Luciano Trinaistich 
Missing 7/24/07, Timmins, Ontario, 
Canada 
Age at Disappearance: 78 years 

Luciano had left his Porcupine 
subdivision home to go blueberry 
picking a long Murphy Road east off of 
Highway 655. lt was early in the berry 
season but Luciano went to see how 
the crop was doing. Law en forcement 
officials stated that a seven-k i lometer 
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area was covered as a grid search, intensive and thorough. A much 
larger area was covered by air, all without any success of finding 
Luciano. The area where Luciano disappeared has a long history of 
mining. The Boulan Reef mine was in that area and operating at the 
time but has since closed. The specific area where he disappeared is 
a known hot spot for berry pickers. 

The search teams found Luciano's blue jeep Grand Cherokee 
and centered the search directly in that area. The law enforce­
ment officials who worked Luciano's case became frustrated as 
was expr~ssed by Opp Detachment Constable Marc Depatie, who 
stated, "1 can't explain why we haven't come across this gentleman 
himself or sorne sign of what led to his disappearance." 

lt may be wise for Timmins area law enforcement officers to 
also look at the case listed just above this incident-the case of . · 
Frank Szpak. Frank disappeared eleven years before Luciano, but 
they .both disappeared berry picking in relatively close proximity 
to each other. Both men were senior citizens, and both have never. 
been seen ag~in. 

Is there sorne danger in senior-aged men berry picking in this 
region of Ontario? 

1 •• 

. ¡ 
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M:issing Sheepherders . . . 

S:heepherding is one of the occupattons m wht.ch workers spend 
·almost all of their time in the wilds. Many ttmes these people 

a;é:·alone without another person for miles in any direction. They 
se~ t~e ~nvironment in a natural state without noise, machines, or 

other men. 
·: .· The sheepherders main job is to ensure the safety of the flock 

arid to supply them access to food and water. Predators are a con­
st(nt threat to the sheep and the sheepherder must be constantlyon 

guard. . 
...,: . The lite of a sheepherder can be very dangerous as is exemph-

fied. by the 1 ist below. 
*~AU of the missing sheepherders were males. 

N ame 
Ja·ck Wélls 
J. :Mitchell 
bewey Cook 
Al Owens 
J~hn Koza 
Jerry Garcia 
John Davis 
A)bert Cucupa 
rrank rytean 
Lóuis Sandoval 
Gr.eg Lewellen 

J~ck Wells 

Date Missing•Age•Location 
11/05/1901•NA•Red Lodge, MT 
Ol/11/1909•NA•Grangeville, ID 
03/02/42•25•Bitter Creek, WY 
ll/07/45•7l•Ruby Lake, MT 
04/26/50•50-60•Acton, MT 
08/12/56•NA•Coconino Co, AZ 
08/26/56•72•Burbank, WA 
02/16/60•32•Zuni, NM 
04/21/66•55 •Thermopol is, W Y 
09/06/69•66•Dubois, ID 
08/03/73•66•Heber City, UT 

M.issing 11/5/1901, Red Lodge, MT 
Age at .bisappearance: Unknown . 

:.~ · · Sheepherder Jack Wells was working for John A1er on Red 
L~dge Creek. Workers found Wells's body that was partly eaten by 
é'óyotes and badly decayed. 

:. There was no clue as to the cause of Wells 's death but law 
ehforcement sources felt foul play was involved. The body was 
de.Íivered to the coroner, but all involved suspected that something 
b~d· had happened to Wells. 

·. i 

···' 1 .. 
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J. Mitche11 
Missing 1111/09, Salman River Breaks, Grangeville, ldaho 
Age at Disappearance: Unknown 

Searchers had been looking for Mitche11 for over a week. The 
sheepherder was missing from his flock, anda search was initiat~d. 

He disappeared in a heavy snowstorm and has not been seen sinée. 
Mitchel1 had been working for Mr. George Poe since early in 1908::. 

On January 17, searchers found the body ofMitchell under stis­
picious circumstances. The body was found at the bottom of a yery 
steep hill near the Salman River breaks. The body had a broken h~·g, 
skull, and wrist fracture. 

There were no absolute answers about what happened to · Mr. 
Mitchell. · · 

Dewey Cook 
Missing 03/02/42. 31 miles south ofBitter Creek, WY 
Age at Disappearance: 25 

. ,. 

Prior to putting sheep into an area, scouts go onto the railge 
and find an area that meets the needs of the flock. Dewey Cook.wás 
scouting an area thirty miles south ofBitter Creek andjust ten J~i)es 
north of the Colorado border. Cook disappeared, and a search ~as 
initiated. · · · . 

The original search lasted a week and searchers faile~· to· fip·~ 
the man. 1 looked at an aerial photo of the area, and it's har~·:.f.o 
understand why a comprehensive search did not find Cook. ~or::a 
vast majority of the are a, there is no significant ground cover~ge;~·. · 

Two years after Cook disappeared, friends initiated anot~~r 
search of the are a where Cook was last seen. Elias Gonzales, anoth,er . · 
sheepherder, found the skei'eton of a man in the exact area wh~re 
Cook was believed to have disappeared. A Logan, Utah, dentfst-po'si~ 
tively matched the skull as belonging to Dewey Cook. There' is :~~h' 
little other information avail.able on the recovery ofMr. Cook's body. 

This case is another example of a missing person's body. ~s ev~.n­
tually found in an area that was thoroughly searched in the.past:· ·:··· 

Al Owens 
Missing 11/7/45, 6 miles south of A1der, MT 
Age at Disappearance: 71 years 

~ 1. 
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Al Owens became lost while tending his flock in November of 
· 1945. J'here was a massive search for Owens, and he was not imme­
diately found. 

Approximately fifteen miles from wher~ Owens went missing, 
J~unters found a skeleton in a ravine west of Ruby Lake., it was Al 
Owens. The coroner stated that he did not believe there was foul 

·play involved. Fe11ow sheepherders felt that while Owens was Iost, 
he m ight ha ve been walking toward the city of O ilion, many miles 
to the west . 

lt's doubtful that Owens was lost to the point that he didn't 
know the difference between east and west. DiiJon was west from 
his location, and safety was to the north. Why or how Al got com­
pletely turned around on his coordinates will never be known. 

John Koza 
Missing 4/26/50, Acton, MT 

. Ag~ at Disappearance: 50-60 years 
John Koza was working for the Herman R. Schroeder Ranch 

. ·.· '. tending sheep at the time ofhis disappearance. The company hired 
· search dogs that found his scent and tracked it toa large pond near 

.•... . 
·•. · .. 

·.··. 

:.the property he was working. At the pond the scent was lost, and the 
· .. dogs went home . 
· · On February 26, 1951 workers at the Schroeder ranch found a 
body believed to be Koza. No information is available on the condi­
tion ofthe body or the cause of death or ifthe body was confirmed 
to be Mr. Koza. 

. . . ·Jerry Garcia 
· ··. . Missing 8/12/56, Cocon.ino County, AZ 
· ... · ·... · Age at.Disappearance: Unknown 
··. . . Dean Nelson was the manager of the Oye Ranch that employed 

· ·:~ · .., :. Jerry Garcia. Dean advised local law enforcement officers that the 
·sheepherder was missing and requested assistance for the search. 

•' 
··, 

. . : Law enforcement officers from surrounding counties, U.S. 
I:orest Service personnel, and state fish and game wardens all 

· assisted in the search for Mr. Garcia. 
As of August 14, 1956 the search had focused on Long VaJiey, 

and searchers were unsuccessful in finding Jerry Garcia. 
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John Davis 
Missing 8/26/56, Burbank, WA 
Age at Disappearance: 72 years 

.. 

Davis was first reported as missing on August 26, 1956. A 
search of Davis's employer's ranch was initiated at that time. The· · · 
search of the Hooper Sheep Ranch took two weeks, and searchers 
were un~ble to find Davis. 

A witness states that he saw a strange object in the field. in 
January under a pi le of snow. The witness felt that w.hat they saw 
was another sheep and ignored the object. The witness went back 
to the obj~ct that they observed and found it was the body of John 
Davis. · · .. ... -· 

When John Davis's body was located, witnesses found sorne-·· 
thing very strange. An article in the Wa!la Wal/a Un ion for February . 
19, 1957 stated, "Officers said that Davis's clothes were in a pi le near 
the body." Law enforcement officials stated at the time that there 
was no evidence offoul play. The body was found on February 18~. ·. 
~~~ . 

.. 

' 

It would be very interesting to interview law enforcement offic-· · · ·· 
ers who were at the scene of John Davis's body. 1 would like. tó . 
understand how officials believed that Davis's clothes. carne off his·. . 
body. If law enforcement didn't believe anything suspicious was. · .. 
associated with a naked body in the middle of a field, I'd like tó· · 
understand their thinking. I could not :find any reports or articles. · ··. · :. 
that clarify this finding. . · .. 

It should be noted that John Davis disappeared just fourteen 
days after Jerry Garcia vanished in Arizona, is that a coincidence? . 

Frank Mean 
Missing 4/21/66, Thermopolis, WY 

· .. 
·.:. 

:· . 
Age at Disappearance: 55 : . , 

i .. 

Frank Mean went to check on his herd twenty-five miles west-;· ·• · 
ofThermopolis ·and was scheduled to be back ata specific time, but ·.··. ·.: .. · 
he never arrived. Law enforcement of:ficers checked the surround- · · :·: · · 
ing hills and were unable to find any indications of Frank Mean·~s .... ·. 
Jocation. .. ·· 

·_Albert Cucupa (AKA Charlie) 
· .. Missing 2/16/60, Zuni, NM 
: Age at Disappearance: 32 years 
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Albert goes by two last names, Charlie·and Cucupa. Albert was 
:tending a flock of sheep in the Nutria area when the region was hit 

.··py a ·heavy snowstorm. Zuni Tribal Police and Bureau of lndian 
-Affairs Officers searched for nine days and could not locate the 

· herde.r. Searchers were able to find Charlie's sheep but were unable 
:· tó locate him. 

1 

·,touis Sandoval 
-,:fvfissing 9/6/69, Fremont County, Dubois, ldaho 
: A.ge at Disappearance: 66 years · 

A herd of sheep was being tended in the Bear Creek Basin, fif­
~een miles northwest of Dubois. Sandoval's horse rode into camp 
\vithout the man, thus alerting other herders that he was lost or 

.:·1njured. The foreman ofthe L.U. Sheep Company reported the miss-
·¡ng person to Fremont County Sheriff C. A. McDougall. A search 
·~;as initiated in the rugged region, but Sandoval was never found. 

·._·(i~eg lewellen 
· I\1issing 8/3/73, Bench Creek, Heber City, Utah 
i.\ge a·t Disappearance: 66 years 

· ·.:.·: It's always good to end a chapter on a strong story; this is defi­
.'nitely a very strange story. 

In 2002, during the 0lympic Games, 1 spent time in Heber City, 
: I·ocated in a small valley justa short drive east from Salt Lake. Jt's 
::á, 'gorgeous spot surrounded by large .mountai ns and many ranches 
and farms. 
·::··.· In .early August, 1973, Greg Lewellen was tending sheep in 
'\\'asat~h County in an area twenty miles east of Heber in Bench 
Creek. Lewellen had just arrived back from a short vacation in 

. Nevada and had reestablished his campsite. 
··_;··· · .. On August 4, 1973, friends went to speak with Greg and found 
· very strange circumstances at the c~mp. Greg wasn't at the location, 
'and shouts for him went unanswered. Friends searched the immedi­
_at'e area and found his flashlight 250 yards out from the camp in the 
· t:l}~ddle of a field. The dishes were not clean and his bed appeared as 

... 
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though he had been sleeping in it. Both of Greg's dogs were miss­
ing. The night they discovered Greg missing they found one ~f:~is 
horses hobbled and another tied to a nearby tree. . · 

Three days after Greg disappeared, his two dogs returne~ to 
cainp. Search parties had been scouring the area and had not foj.ind 
any evidence of where he might be. According to Wasatch Co~nty 
Sheriff Floyd Witt, ''What happened to Mr. Lewellen is a compl_~te 
mystery." 

Case Summary: · .: .. 
Readers need to think about the scene that was left behind a'nd 

analyze the clues. It would appear that it was dark, probably,late, ;~nd 
Greg was in his sleeping bag. Something caused him to get 9utofhis 
bag and walk with his flashlight 250 yards out toward the flock.·.At 
that 250-yard marker, something dark happened. Whatever cau·sed 
Greg to get up was happening close to camp because he di.dn't.~~ke, 
his horse-or maybe the horse was spooked. His firearm was fQ~nd · 
under his bedroll and was not disturbed. Greg was never found~ _and 
no blood or tissue was ever located around his campsite. _l3ec~use 
Iaw enforcement didn 't find blood or tissue, it must be deduced .. that 
Greg Ieft voluntarily, which is very doubtful, or he was abducteü: 

North American Missing Farf!lers .. ·: 

M issing farmers in North America represent a specific. ~ro1:1p_ ·of 
the missing person phenomenon that needed to be Inc~u.~ed 

in this book. The majority of the iridividuals listed in this cha·p­
ter who went missing were working alone on a farm. Th~. mi~s~·ng 
people knew their farms like we know our front and backy~~ds, 
yet they simply vanished. They knew the landscape and top~g~~hy 
well, as did their families. They knew the nooks and cre:v~ces hke 
the back of their hand. Farmers and families know the land ~ell 
becaúse it is their work place and home. They knew the dángers 
associated with certain areas and certain work, but after .alrth9se 
years and all ofthat experience, these intelligent people inexpliq~bly. 
vanished. · 

It's difficult to imagine what could have gone so horribly wt~ng 
that families and neighbors couldn't find the vast majority oft~ese 
hard-working people. I've included in this section of the ·.b<?~:~ a 

·¡ 

.. 
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spattering of farmers who went missing and were later found dead. 
1 beiieve that the stories behind how they died may tell us valuable 
infonnation about the ones that were never found. 

Finding historical archived articles aboJ,lt missing farmers is a 
difficult task. The missing are usually listed in a small, regional 
newspaper and their stories are rarely reported in the national news. 
Without a national database of these regional papers, finding infor­
mation about a small town farmer who goes missing isn 't an easy 
task. I will make a prediction at this point. I predict that once this 
information is nationally released, once people know that there are 
in~ny others who have lost loved ones under identical scenarios, 
hundreds of families will come forward describing similar inci­
dents, losses of loved ones, and a perplexing scenario that defies 

· · conventional explanation. 
Farmers are the backbone ofNorth American labor. Without an 

all-out effort on the part of law enforcement to find these people, 
to explain what exactly happened, to actively keep !heir cases open 
and continue the investigation, 1 believe that this scenario will con-

. tinue to.replicate itself, and great people will continue to go missing. 
These incidents did not occur in places the victim rarely went. 

They occurred in places where they went daily. The families knew 
their land in intimate detail because many of the farms were in 
the family for centuries. There was no place to hide, no place to 
escape-this was home. The evidence from these cases indicates 
one thing: the victims were coerced into leaving their farms or were 

· . abducted from their land. No other explanation fits. 

~ • •• 1. 
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Missing Farmers List by Date 

N ame 
Riley Amsbaugh 
E. C. Jones 

.Edward Gerke 
**Bernice Price 
Wílliam Pitsenbarger 
Glarence Clark 
Mr. Bell 

Date Missing•Age•Location 
07/25/1902•55•Campbell Milis, OH 
11/12/1903•NA•Webster City, IA 
06/11/18•NA•Tomah, Wl 
03/22/23•NA•Awhanee, CA 
08/07/31•6l•Hoaglin, OH 
IO/l7/32•62•Palermo, NY 
08/31/36•62•Winnepeg, Canada 
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Leroy Williams 
Ralph Stutzman 
John Sweet 
Louis Blair 

Clayton McFaul 
**Only female on 1ist 

Summary of List 

03/16/51•64•Ackworth, lA 
08/17/52•46•Lagrange, IN 
10/26/53•NA•Galatia, IL 
08/05/56•26•Provost, AB 
.... 30-Year Gap In Time 
08/15/86•50•Havelock, ONT 

Readers should note the number of farmers missing in the ages 
55-64 because· it's very odd to have that many missing in that age 
range. It's also highly strange that tbere is a tbirty-year gap of missiilg 
farmers between 1956 and 1986. 

Riley Amsbaugh 
Missing, 7/25/1902, Campbell Milis, Ohio 
Age at Disappearance: 55 years 

Newspapers described Amsbaugh's disappearance as "mysteri~ 
ous." Riley had breakfast and tben headed into the fields to w·ork.: · .. · 
He was a man ofhabit and was expected back at his house for lun~b·, . 
but he never returned. Witnesses had seen him in his cornfield and ·.· 
at a berry patch eating berries at 10:00 a.m., but few other details 
were available. The local sheriff did join the search and stated that · 
seventy-five people had scoured the woods looking for Riley. No_: 
clues have been found. 

This case wasn't placed in the berry-picker section because he .' 
was primarily farming at the time. It is interesting, howeyer;. that · ·. 
articles specifically stated that witnesses had seen Riley in.a berry_·· 
patch. 

E. C. Jones ·· ·· 
Missing, 11/12/1903, Webster City, Iowa 
Age at Disappearance: Unknown 

The Pocahontas · County Sun newspaper describes another' · 
"mysterious" disappearance of a farmer on November 12, i9Q3.·< 
E. C. Jones was aman married only a month when he kissed his· 
new bride goodbye and beaded into bis cornfield to work. At three. ··. 
p.m., Jones had not returned from the field so his wife requested óne' : 

, . .. . 

. ~· 
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of the assistants to search the farm for Jones. Tbe assistant found 
Jones's team Hwandering the field with one tug broken and one ear 

<: of corn in the wagon box." A search by the local community failed 
"< to find any sign ofthe young farmer. 

Edward Gerke 
Missing, 6/11/1918, Tomah, Wisconsin 

· Age at Disappearance: Unknown 
· Gerke gota 6:00a.m. start to bis chores and went into the field 
Sunday morning to work his newly purchased land on Bear Creek. 
He· didn't return for lunch, and the family became concerned. 

· Midday Sunday the family went into the field and found Edward 
lyii1g in a ditch in bis pasture with a broken neck and sand in his 
mouth. They al so thought that sorne ofhis clothes had been partially 
burned. Tomah Police were called and investigated the case; they 

.... · · were completely baftl.ed about how Edward's neck was broken or 
· how he got sand in his mouth. The case was turned over to Monroe 
County officials in Sparta who were to conduct an autopsy and fur­

.. , ..... ther follow-up. 
· · ' The coroner reported that lightning possibly caused Edward's 

death but there was never conclusive proof as to bow his neck was 
broken. 

Bernice Price 
. Missing, 03/2211923, Awhanee, California 

e Age at Disappearance: Unknown 
. . Ms. Price was a new wife living at the J. J. McGurk ranch near 

Awhance. Sbe was staying with ber husband at the ranch when she 
mysteriously disappeared Monday night. The ranch sits at the foot­

... hills (2400-foot elevation) of the Sierra Nevada Mountains. Searchers 
believe she may have walked into the woods and become lost. Price 

... · · was never found. 

···' 1 

William Pitsenbarger 
Missing, 817/1931, Hoaglin Township, Ohio 
Age at Disappearance: 61 years 

. On August 7, William walked across his cornfield wearing bis 
overalls anda straw hat enroute todo chores. When William didn't 



30 Missing 411- Eastern United States 

return to his residence at the end of the da y, a search ensued. the 
SAR continued to intensify as the days and weeks wertt o~ :On 
August 31, a searcher pulled the cover off a well near an abando:ñed 
cabin on the Fronefield Farm approximately one-halfmile frorri'.the 
Pitsenbarger residence. lnside the well searchers saw som~thing ~dd 
twenty-five feet down. A recovery party pul1ed the deceased ~nd 
decomposing body of William from the well. 

The body was intact, but there was a slight discoloratiori on 
the right eye. He was wearing the same clothing as when he disap­
peared. except his straw hat was never located. Witnesses stated he 
was a very reliable man who had a successful farm. The corQner 
decided not to conduct.an autopsy and ruled his death as a dro~n­
ing. The coroner felt that.William looked into the well, hitti.ng:his 
head. The well cover miraculously feJI back into place. 

Clarence Clark 
Missing, 10117/1932, Palermo, New York 
Age at Disappearance: 62 years ~- · 

The headlines of the Syracuse NewYork Times read, "5~Pay 
Search in Woods For Strangely Missing Farmer Yields No C~ues." 

Clarence Clark lived on a Palermo Farm with his ·wife .. and 
eighty-three-year-old father, Gould. Claren·ce and Gould wo~ked 
the livestock daily and were a very close father and son. Á:fter 
Wednesday's dinner, Clarence went into the livestock yard to check 
on the herd and then went to take a walk around the swamps .that 
surround his property. This was the last time anyone saw him ... ·.· 

Sergeant Lawrence Fox ofthe New York State Police leda five­
day search with over one hundred volunteers. The searchers cov~red. 
the farm, dense woods, and adjacent swamps without finding.' one. 
due where Clarence might be. Searchers were mystified at the.Jack 
of tracks in the area and the complete lack of any evidenc~~ 

Mr. Bell 
Missing. 8/31/1936, Winnipeg, Canada 
Age at Disappearance: 62 years 

Mr. Bell went missing from his remote farm outside ofWinnipeg. 
He was 5'5H tall, weighed 125 pounds. His house and barn. '\Vere 
searched, and everything appeared normal at each location. N<?thi~g 

~. 

... 
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scemed to be removed from Mr. Bell's property. Mr. Bell was wear­
ing overalls when he disappeared. A massive search of the adjacent 
area by RCMP failed to find any evidence ofhis whereabouts. 

Leroy Williams 
Missing, 03/16/1951, Ackworth, lowa 
Age at Disappearance: 64 years 

Williams was living on a farm three and one-half miles out­
. side of Ackworth. Leroy was feeding stock and doing chores when 

he disappeared after he went outside in a heavy snowstorm. When 
Williams failed to return to the residence, authorities were called. 

Police brought bloodhounds that searched for hours and found 
·no trace of the farmer. Sheriff Jack Taylor asked for volunteers to 
arrive at· the farm and assist in the search. Searches did continue, 
and no clue asto Leroy's whereabouts could ever be found. 

Ralph Stutzman 
Missing, 8/17/1952, Lagrange, IN 
Age at Disappearance: 46 years 

Stutzman was a hard-working father and farmer. He lived on 
his ranch with his wife and thirteen children. The day Ralph disap­
peared he was working the ranch. The children did their chores, and 
)le.told them that he'd play with them after he chased down a group 
of cows that had somehow gotten loose. That was the last time the 
family saw Ralph. 

A massive search of the farm and surrounding region failed tQ 
· find a~y clue asto where he went. All of Ralph's clothes and prop­
erty were accounted for in the house. Law enforcement officials 
were baffled as to where he might be. There was never any explana­
tion about how his cows got out. 
· **There are a few examples in this chapter in which farmers 

· and ranchers respond when Jivestock gets loose. It is while the men 
are looking for the stock that something happens and they don't 
return. Is there a pattern to this? 

John Sweet 
Missing, 10/26/1953, Galatia Township, Illinois 
Age at Disappearance: Unknown 
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John Sweet had a bus y da y when he disappeared. He went into · · · . :f 

town and ~old a load of corn, bought groceries in Harrisburg, and. 
returned to his home. He carne into the house, left the groceries and · 
his billfold of cash, changed clothes, and went to the back of his 
barn to work on a tractor. He also toJd his wife that he was going 
to repair a pigpen that had been damaged (somehow) and retrieve 
severa} of his pigs that had wandered away. This was the Jast time 
anyone saw John. 

Relatives notified authorities, and seventy-five different local. 
farmers arrived on their tractors to search the area. Nothing wa·s 
found. OiJ marks were found on a barbed wire fence leading away 
from the property, indicating that John may have worked on the· 
tractor and then gone over the fence for sorne reason. John was not. · 
a small man. At 240 lbs he would not have wandered far without the 

. ;·. 

.. :. 

!'·•, 

.~ ~ . ~· 
tractor. , ·· ~ · 

An intensive search failed to find any evidence asto wha~ hap-.... · · .. t · 
pened to John Sweet. .... (· 

Louis Blair 
..... 

1 j• 

Missing 8/5/56, Provost, Alberta 
Age at Disappearance: 26 years ¡:: 

BJair was a bachelor who maintained a large wheat field on his ·. · :. · · 
~ .. 

.farm just ten miles west of the Saskatoon border and twelve miles . ·. · 
north of Pravos t. The area is dotted with hundreds of small la k es . · :·; ! • · 

and rivers. 
On Sunday, August 5, Blair left his house early in the.morn~· . ·: .. (': · 

ing and headed into his field. He was never seen again. Regionai · 1 
• ~·. 

RCMP completed a three-day search by 150 men and canfne~: · ~.· ' 
without finding a trace of the man. ·. · ··· · !, • 

Clayton McFaul 
. . .·~: r-. 

Missing 8/15/86, Havelock, Ontario 
Age at Disappearance: 59 years 

Clayton got an early start the da y of his disappearance. He''told 
tamily that he was going onto the family farm todo his chores, but he . ·. 
never returned for lunch. The family called local law entbrcemeni. 

1 1 

~ .. 
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Law·enforcement determined that Clayton was extremely pune­
tu~} about his mealtimes, and he was net the type to be late. He was 
a small man in stature, 5'3", 141 lbs, and balding. 

. Severa! searches of the surrounding countryside failed to find 
any' evi~~nce of Cla y ton. 

Artthony Holland 
~lissing 6/2l/2009, Cordell, Oklahoma 
Age. at Disappearance: 51 years 
.:·· · Holhmd owned an eighty-acre ranch southeast of Cordel l. He 
re.tu'rned home after attending a gun show and then left again to 
check on his ranch. He never returned. His truck was found one 
m·ile from Vanderwork Lake near a remote section of his ranch. H is 
k~vs and wallet were inside the truck, and his cell phone was found 
Q~:the ·ground a short distance from the truck. Tracker dogs were 
~roúght to the truck but were unable to locate any scent and could 
nQt:track. . 
·· .· The area ofCordell Oklahoma has a very interesting landscape. 

There .are no fewer then 35 bodies of water within five mÜes of 
db~vntown CordeJl. The most notable lakes and dams are the Boggy 
Creek and Calvar y Creek Watershed and Oknoname Reservoir. The 
·~~ea to the west of CordeJl is quite swampy wh ile to the east is 
.'n1pstly farm fields. The area where Anthony disappeared has many 
:f~nns and several scatterings of large bodies of water. There are no 
Cittes of similar size as CordeJJ for fifteen miles in any direction. 

1 

.}'-'·. 1 know that you can excJude robbery as a motive in the dis­
appearance of Holland as his keys and wallet were clearly visible 
i~1side \1is truck. · . 

.. .'. ·. · Extensive searches were m a de of the area without developing 
··~t1y evidence ofwhere Anthony may have gone. 

. ··\ 

•. 

,·· 
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MIDWEST UNITED STATES 

Minnesota 

Missing People in Minnesota by Date 
Name Date Missing•Age•Sex 
Jack Pi ke 09/05/35•5•M 
••C. H. Bordwell 08/01/44•NA•M 
Larry Coleman 08/20/49•3•M 
Earl Somervill e II /03/57•48•M 
John Long 
Mi lda D. McQuillan 

04/1 0/63•58•M 
06/ 17/75•71 •F 
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Kevin Jay _Ayotte 09/30/82•3•M 
Leeanna Warner 06/ 14/03•5•F 
Kory Kelly 10/16/06•38•M 
••Details on the disappearance of C. H. Bordwell can be found in the 
chapter "Berry Pickers." 

Jack Pike 
Missing 09/05/35, St. Norbert, Manitoba 
Age at Disappearance: 5 years 
**This case is included in this section because of its prox imity to 
the Minnesota border. 

The Pi ke fa mily took a trip from thei r residence in St. Vital 
Manitoba to the area near St. Norbert to pick blueberries. The family 
ex ited the car and started toward the patch. Jack Pike ran through the 
bush and was out of sight only a few minutes when his mother heard 
something very unsettling. Mrs. Charles Pike gave an interview on 
September 7, 1935 to the Leader Post and she stated: "He screamed 
as if he were terrified, the scream seemed to be choked off in the 
midd le ... The mother ran the one hundred yards tO\.vard the scream 
and found nothing. The husband arrived, and they both scoured the 
area and didn't fi nd the young boy. 

The family was on the grounds ofthe Trappist Monks Monastery 
and somewhat near the Red Ri ver. The fa mily called the police, and 
a search was in itiated. 

The sea rch for .J ack Pike !asted four days and was called the 
largest search in the history ofManitoba at the time. Over two thou­
sand searchers went through the river, riverbanks, bush, trees, and 
thc grounds, and they found nothing. 

On the fourth day, a man was searching on the opposite ri v­

erbank and found Jack Pi ke under a bush, unconscious but still 
al ive. The boy was rushed to the hospital where the doctors gave 
him stimulants, and his father gave him blood. At one point the 
boy awoke and stated, "Hi daddy." lt was felt that Jack was going 
to survive, but in an unfOJ'ttmate turn of events, Jack died hours 
la ter. 

Searchers were confused how Jack could have made his way 
across the river to hide under a bush, a bush they felt was way too 
far from where he disappeared. Many were amazed that the boy had 
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made it that far and survived that long. It had appeared that after 
four days without water or food Jack had died of either exposure or · . 

-~-~-: __ ·._. 't .: .: . 

... t; 
.. ~~. 
·\: 

t 
. !· . ;_ 

¿· 

dehydration. F ·, 
Authorities were con cerned about the fact that it sounded as . :. i 

though Jack had been abducted, but they could not find any addi-.' · f· 
. e 

tional evidence or suspects. ·· · ·. 1: 
:. ~ 

:;, . 
Larry Coleman . f 
Missing 8/20/49, McGregor, Minnesota · t·· ·_ 

. , . !: 

Age at Disappearance: 3 years · _·. L 
Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth Coleman from New Brighton Minnesota ·· . ·. r:. 

1 !-. 

took their three children and headed for their parents' farm in a · .. t:.: 
rurallocation in McGregor, Minnesota. The farm sat to the south- . : .. ·. ~-· 
east ofDuluth in one ofthe most rugged areas ofthe state. . · ··' t ·. 

After the family settled into the rural environment, the grand- . .':. } : 
parents asked the children to go with them into the back ofthe ~arm:·_ 'r ·~ r. 
and help collect pine eones. All agreed that would be fun. As the· · . . ~- · 
group of five was searching the back of the farm, somehow little; :. : · 
Larry (three years old) disappeared from view. The grandpare~ts: · ··:.:·. · 
couldn't believe he got away from them that quickly. The grand-:· ···.· 
parents called Kenneth and his wife, and the en tire group searche~. · ~: · 
for the young hoy. The group was screaming Kenneth's name, but 
there was no answer. The family decided they needed addjtio.nal 
assistance and called the sheriff. 

Aitkin County Sheriff Hjalmar Hulin responded to the call 
and immediately started to enlist the assistance of locals and •also 
requested the National Guard. The first night there were hundreds. of · 
volunteers scouring the farm and surrounding forests for the small.' 
hoy. Within days over one thousand people were at the farm searching 
and 260 National Guard Troops were marching through the woods: · . 
Helicopters, ground troops, canines, all were searching for Jittle Larry. ·. · · 

The search continued to expand into the swampy exterior por-· · 
tions ofthe farm. This area was thick with underbrush and swampy · '~. 
ground. Much ofthe area was deep with water and thick with mos-· . : 
quitoes. One ofthe searchers brought his Labrador into this area imd: · :. 
to the edge of a large swamp and the dog started to whine. It was an: · 
odd behavior, and searchers thought it might be a clue. The sheriff · 
stated that everyone would focus their efforts in this area. After two 

.. ·. 
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we:~ks of exhaustive and nonstop searching, Larry Coleman was 

notfound . 
.:·: Larry's case was stagnant until Sunday, November 13, 1949 

when a lmnter found a piece of strange clothing in the bushy swamp 
ar~~ · -twó miles from the Coleman's grandparents' farm. Game 
\Varden ,Ray Wilkes ordered a complete search. of the ?rea, and 
t\YO ·days later Larry Coleman's body was found m the mtddle of a 
s\v~mp not far from where his clothing was found. 
· · .. No newspaper articles were found on Coleman's cause of death . 

Case Summary: 
: -~ This story is another of the long series of cases in which a very 
\·oung cbild disappears from a rural setting. In each scenario, the 
~hild is· able to make a long journey to a dangerous place and then 
dies· without his clothing on his body. The child is found in an area 
alteady covered during a prior search. · 

:-: Marty factors contribute to this being a very unusual case. First, 
Lár.ry dfsappeared almost in the preserice of his grandparents and 
br.other. and sister. Nobody heard or observed him leave the area. 
.L~rry did not respond to frantic calls. A search was conducted with­
out .finding evidence of the boy's location. The boy was la ter found 
it~ -a s\vamp, a consistent theme in children that go missing in the 
\~;ild. . .... 
Factoi·s:. 
¡.: 

Rural setting . 
.. · • .' Loss of clothing. 

Found in swampy environment. 
·. · • .. Disappears ahnost in the presence of relatives. 

· • Walks long distance. 
-• Dogs don't track scent or refuse to track. 

·. . • ... Victim doesn 't respond to his na me being called. 
· Found in area ah·eady searched. 

Victim did not drown. 
· . · Ke~p track of the a hove elements in future cases you read to 

understand how many cases are very similar. 

Earl Somerville 
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Missing 11 /5/57, Loman, Min nesota 
Age at Disappearance: 48 years . 

Earl Somcrville was a logger employed by the Clayton.Peterson 
Logging Camp cighteen miles southwest of Loman, Minnesota. 
On November 5, 1957, Somervi lle left the camp and headed ínto a 
swampy area to hunt grouse. He was never found. Autho1~ities from 
the United States and Canada searched the borcler area; ano they 
had assistance from employees of the M innesota and Ontaricí paper 
companies. . 

Temperatures in the area of the search at night got dowri into 
the twenties. Searchers felt that Somerville cou ld survive a fe-.v aays 
beca use of his experience in the woods. 

Weeks after Earl disappeared, some searchers continued to l.ook 
for the man. lt appears that he or his remains were never recove~ed. 

John Long 
Missing 4/ 10/63, Ely, Mi nnesota 
Age at Disappearance: 58 years 

John Long was a logger working at the Tomaro Timber 
Company near Echo Trail. On Apri l 10, 1963, John was going to 
take a hike along the Moose River to watch spawning fi sh .. He tbok 
bi s .22-caliber rifle with him for protection. When John fa iled to 
return by the following day, fellow workers went to the river and 
searched, butthey cou ldn't find him. The workers returned to thei r 
camp and not i fied law en forcement. . 

The local sherifforganized a four-day ground search ofthe.river 
area and also had planes fl y the Moose River. Searchers could n't 
locate John. 

Mi 1da Dah1 McQui11an 
Missing 6/17/75, Ponsford, Mi nnesota 
Age at Disappearance: 71 ,years . ·. 

Mi lela was driving her 1968 two-door, pea-green Dodge on East 
Bad Medicine Lake Road on the outski rts ofPonsford when she was 
last seen. Milda was reported as missing two days after ~he: was 

. •' 
•' 

'· 
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iast seen. Friends cal led law en forcement, and the sheri ff started a 
sea re h. 

Milda's vehicle was fou nd abandoned approximately one hun­
.dretl feet off East Bad Medicine Lake Road in a heavily wooded 
setting. Deputies searched the area around ~1e ca r and found noth­
ing suspicious. 

, The area where Milda disappearecl is very rural with hundreds of 
lakes in thc surrounding area. There is a special historicalmarker on the 
road where she was last seen driving. 

1 cou ld never fi nd any articles indicating that Milda was ever 
fou nd or why the road where her car was found had such an unusua l 
na me. 

Kevin Jay Ayotte 
Missing 9/30/82, Sugar Bush, 
Minnesota 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years 
4', 50 lbs, blue eyes, blande 
ha ir 
**Hearing Jmpaired 

On the afternoon of 
September 30, 1982, Kevin 
Ayotte was inside his family 's 
su m mer log home. The resi­
den ce was in a very rural area 
near Sugar Bush, Minnesota. 
Kevin was in an upstai rs bed­
room the last time his mother 
saw him. She stepped outside 
the cabin to do some chores 

and left Kevi n with his older brother. When she returned to the 
upstairs room. Kevi n was gone. 

The cabin is approx imately forty mi les east of Fargo, North 
Dakota , in a region with hundreds of lakes and creeks. The area 
of the cabin is only forty miles south of the Red Lakes Recreation 
Are a and twenty mi les west of the Paul Bunyan S tate Forest. The 
arca has Little Sugar Bush Lake and the Ca ll away State Wild life 
Management Area. 
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The cabin owned by the Ayottes is in Beltrami Cou~ty, and 
their sheriff's department responded and orchestrated a nine-day" 
search for Kevin. Hundreds of searchers participated in checking 
the bogs, swamps, creeks, and rivers of the area, all without finding 
any trace of the boy. Sheriff Dwight Stewart stated at the end of the 
search that they feel Kevin wandered outside and was playing with 
bis dog when he disappeared. The sheriff did not cite any evidence 
about why he felt that Kevin wandered away. 

Case Summary: 
. This case is a very strange case in an area where multiple 

strange disappearances have occurred. 

Leeanna Susan Marie Warner 
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Missing 6/14/03, Chisholm, Minnesota 
Age at Disappearance: 5 years 
3', 30 lb~, brown hair, brown eyes 

·. J 
Leeanna Warner lived on the outskirts ofChisholm, Minnesota. 

She lived in an area called the "lron Range," where it is a rural exist­
ence. On June 14, 2003, Leeanna walked .down her road to visit a 
neighbor, but nobody was home. People had seen the girl going to . 
the house and did not see anyone around the girl. Witnesses stated · 
there were no vehicles in the area. After she went to the house, 
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Leeanna · disappeared. . · .... t 

Chisholm is 715 miles north ofMinneapolis and has many lakes 
and creeks around the city. Five thousand people live in the city of . 
Chisholm, and many more live on its rural roads surrounding the 
town. 
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Kaelin Whitaker, Leeanna's mother, was extensively inter- ¡. 

viewed by authorities. She stated that she and her daughter returned t ; 
from a trip to a local lake, and she wanted Leeanna to take a nap: .. : · .. { : 
Leeanna didn't want to-she wanted to visit her friends. When · .. t.: 
Leeanna didn't return in the required thirty-minute time window; · ... f·: 
which was given to her to get to and from the neighbor's house, 
Kaelin went looking for her daughter. When she couldn't find . ·.· ~· 
Leeanna, she called the police. . . ~ 

The police responded in force for several days, using helicop- . : -~ · 
ters, bloodhounds, and ground teams, but they found no trace of the · · · :¿- • .... : .. ¡: . 

... ; ~. 
. . . . r~· . 
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.. 
giri:Dogs did track the scent to the area of the roadway, the area 
that:she would have walked when going to the neighbor's home. 
Authorities initially felt that Leeanna disappeared and died in the 

. envirbnment by getting lost. Police now believe that Leeanna m ay 
hav.~··beeri abducted somewhere in her journey to or from her neigh­
bor'~ home. 

. )~vestigations continue, but there are still no concrete leads 
concerning what happened to Leeanna. 

Kory Kelly 
Mis.~.ing l0/16/06, Red Lake Wilderness, Four Town, Minnesota 
Agé· át Disappearance: 38 years 

·.Ji m Neprud and Kory Kelly were good friends. The buddies 
dec.idéd to go grouse hunting in northern Minnesota. Kelly made 
the)rip from bis home in Crookstown Minnesota to the Red Lake 
Staie Wildlife Management Area. Neprud joined him at the camp­
sité·mid-afternoon on October 16. The men started to set up their 
carhp when Neprud realized they needed gas, which they had for-

. gotten to get. Neprud stated that he would go into Four Town and 
make the purchase while Kory stayed behind with Neprud's dog. 
Nepiud stated that he last saw Kory two hundred yards south of the 
cainp·with his shotgun, and he was headed out to shoot a grouse. 

· Neprud left the campsite at 5:30 p.m. and returned at 7:00 p.m . 
: Neprud arrived back at the campsite to find evidence that Kory 

ha4 been collecting firewood, but he couldn't find Kelly. lt was get­
tirig late in the afternoon and close to dark, so he was starting to get 
nervous: He also realized that his own golden Labrador, "'Snmmy," 
was · miss.ing. He could see that Kory had taken his shotgun, so he 
felt he had probably left to kili a grouse. Late in the night it stnrted 
to,rain. 

·./ As darkness engulfed the campsite, Neprud honked his horn 
and flashed the truck lights in an effort to alert Kory of the loca­
tiQn. lt became late, and Neprud went to sleep hoping that Kory 
wóuld return later, but he didn't. The next morning Neprud awoke 
at four o'clock and searched for his friend, but he could not loca te 
h1m. He walked almost two miles from the campsite in an effort to 
fi.nd.Kory and still could not locate any evidence of him. Neprud 
eventually flagged down two people passing by the campsite, 
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explained that a camper was missing, and asked them · to 'lJOtify 
law enforcement. . ·. 

Kory Kelly had been visiting this exact area of the Red.Lakes 
Wilderness since he was a child; this was the first vislt for)im 
Neprud. They were a half-mile inside of Beltrami County, at~_d. the 
BeltraJni sheriff, Keith Winger, took the lead on the orga.nizat~qt:t of 
the search. 

Searchers combed the area of the campsite and then· with the 
use of ATVs started to expand their search into the wilderness:;The 
terrain was difficult, with tall grasses, lots of water, S\Yamp~,:·and 
many bogs. For almost two weeks searchers found nothi~g~ On 
Wednesday, October 25, two hunters nine miles from thé ~:~prud 
and KeiJy campsite found Neprud's Labrador, Sammy, wand~ring' 
th~ woods. The dog was dehydrated and hungry but in genet:ally 
good condition. · .. : · . 

On Saturday, October 28, searchers found Kory Kelly?s cigár~tte 
Jighter and cigarettes. On October 29, trackers from the,Min~esota 
Bureau ofCriminal Apprehension found Kory's overalls~ sock~.' and 
hooded sweatshirt fourteen miles from the original campsit~. ;:,. 

On October 30, Beltrami County Emergency M·anag~~ne111t 
Coordinator Beryl Wernberg stated that weather had hinde.r~.d the 
search and that they were terminating their efforts at · thi~ .P,.~int. 
They stated that snow had started to fall, and there were h~o i'ryches 
on the ground. · 

In mid-November, the search for Kory Kelly started ~gain. 
The best search dogs in Minnesota were brought to the. :S9.en~, 
and after thirteen more days were unable to locate Kory;. On 
November 23, the search for Kory Kelly was terminated fot. the 
winter. Searchers had now conducted two different searches·.~ach 
lasting approximately two weeks. They had found clothing .four-· 
teen miles from the campsite and scoured that location for:fS,ory. 
He was not found. 

On April 28, the search for Kory Kelly resumed with ·the:·.sher­
iff's department flying over the area where Kory's clothes and other 
personal belongings were found. North of the Rapid River ·walk­
ing bridge off of Rapid River Road near the Moose Rive~ Road' and 
north of Four Town, the air team spotted a body among eigh~~foot 

1 . .. . t311 reeds, fifteen feet offthe trail. The body the ::~~a::::tted w:: 

1
·~ ·,· .. · · ; ; . . Kory Kelly. 
~ ·Jan Kelly, Kory Kelly's mother, was interviewed after the body 

·. ; was recovered and after the search tea m and the sheriff's depart­
. · · . .' -ment debriefed her. On October 31, 2006, Ján Kelly stated, uThey 

f:.. · [Sheriff's Department] can't believe he got fourteen miles from the 
tl' f.: · · · campsite. He probably got there the first night. He must have been 
~~ :flying through the trees, the bushes. I can't believe he could have 
~ g~>tten ~hat far." 
f{ · 1 ordered the report on the incident from the Beltrami County 
~ Sheri ff and a copy of the cause of death from the coroner's office. 
~-.··.·~'··. .. . l,he death certificate stated that Kory died from hypothermia. 
1j ..... · 1 am in total agreement with Jan Kelly. I can't believe that Kory 
fi' · ··. · · Kelly could leave late in the afternoon and travel fourteen-plus 
:~. ·:.· ·... ··miles through the swampy terrain to his final destination.lt's seem-·¡: · -:;. :. · ingly impossible. 

--~~~.!.-.· .. · • ··:· ··;:: In the reports I did receive from the sheriff's department, there 
. . . is one form that states that Neprud's dog was Iocated. lt was found 

.. in the general area that Kory went missing. Biological samples were 
. ft 
[· · · t~ken from the dog and forwarded to a lab. The report states that the 
·.tt ·remains and samples were going to be checked for human remains 
f : ,· · or clothing. The samples were taken to the lab on October 26,2006. 
l . . 

Case Sumn1ary: -~-~. . . i; ,• •' 

f.·' 
-~. 

1 have· personally studied the Kory Kelly case for two years; it 
has been a SAR incident that has disturbed me. Kory was not new to 
the area; he had been visiting this area ofthe Red Lake Management 
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· Area for over twenty-five years. He was an experienced hunter and 
·. . camper and knew the dangers associated with hunting in November 
· in Minnesota. Kory also knew not to hunt at night and that this 

specific area posed extreme dangers after dark beca use of the bogs 
· and swamps. 

Please refer to the statement that Kory's mother, Jan, made 
to the media regarding the location of Kory's body. The sheriff's 
department said that they could not believe that Kory got to a loca­
tion fourteen miles away from the campsite in only one night. The 
sheriffs did not explain why they felt Kory died the first night but 
it is obvious to everyone that traveling that distance through that 
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type ofterrain does not make any sense. A person would have to be ' 
a super human to travel that distance in that time frame. Another. · 
part ofthis equation does not make sense-why were Kory's clothes .. : 
off? 1 

f Many of the articles written about the Kory Kelly incide~t. ~: 

stated the possibi1ity that Kory suffered from hypothermia and took ··: f.•· 
bis clothes off, as this is sometimes claimed to be a condition of.' . f' 

hypothermia. 1 f the sheriff's theory is correct, that Kory did die the. · ·: ~ 
~· 

first night, then no, hypothermia could not be the reason for taking ~ 
offhis clothes. Kory hada lighter and the ability to make fire. Why ·.: ~ 
would he throw his lighter on the traiJ? He had bis friend's dog with .. . ~ 

~. 

him. ·All hikers and campers know that if you snuggle with a dog; · : ~ ~: 
the dog will keep you warm through the night. Kory also knew ·that · %. 

l.'. 

it takes many hours for hypothermia to set in when you are property·.. ~-

equipped, as Kory was. Kory also knew that his firearm was one of · 
the main methods. to attract attention or assistance. Why didn't SAR · 
teams locate his firearm? · . 

Kory Kelly was located in the middle of a very high patch of 
grass just fifteen feet from a main walking path. Think this through ·.· . 
very clearly, why would anyone choose to stay in high grass ver~us 
a clear and defined walking path-no one would. 1 fa person wanted · .... · 
to be found, he would stay in one place, not walk or. run fourteen 
miles in one night. . 

There is no way in this world 1 believe Kory Kelly walked four~ :·· 
teen miles the first night he disappeared. lfhe was lost, 1 believe he· ... 
would ha ve found a cozy location among the trees, made a small ·::: · 
shelter with branches, and started a fire to last the night vtith. t~e. _..·· .. 

. cigarettes and lighter he possessed. Once the light of day carne, .·-~. 
Kory would have had better bearings and a much better ch~mce to· · .. 
understand his location to walk out of the swamps and bogs. 1 f t~'le . · 
worst-case scenario had occurred, if he was injured, he could ha ve···.:. 
used bis firearm to alert others of his location. 

Another oddity to this story is the condition ofSammy (Neprud's. ·· 
Labrador dog) tbat was found several days after Kory disappeared .. ·., ··. 
Searchers stated that the dog had eaten deer meat to stay alive. How :.·' 
did the searchers know that the dog ate deer meat, through bioiogi- .::·. 
cal samples taken from his stomach? Where did the deer meat come. '·, 

1 : •• j 
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from? Searchers also stated that Sammy was dehydrated. There is 
ínore fresh water in the Red Lakes area than most people could pos­
~.ibly imagine. How could Sammy be dehydrated unless the dog was 
.~omehow confined and restricted in its movements? 
:·. The last and most obvious indicator that something very, very 
odd happened to Kory is that his cell phone was never used. Yes, 

. there was only intermittent cell reception in the Red Lakes area, but 
· if-a person were traveling fourteen to fifteen miles across a wide­
'open region, he or she would bave had reception or the phone would 
;have pinged a transponder/repeater ofthe phone's location. This did 
· not happen. 

· The area that Kory disappeared is sorne of the most desolate, 
.. rural~ ·and hard-to-walk locations in North America. 1 ha ve no doubt 
there are thousands of acres in this area that ha ve never been walked 

· by a human, really. The water of the bogs and swamps offers com­
... plete isolation to the mammals and other animals that inhabit the 
.wilderi1ess area. lt's a bit ofa frightening scenario how many people 
have disappeared from Northern Minnesota, especially when most 

·. \vere alone and in that same rural environment. 
, .· ··. 1 want everyone to understand that Kory Jeft the campsite well 
: prepared. He had the following items with him: 

,._· 

Cell Phone 
Lighter 

• · Cigarettes 
Dog 

• · Coat 
Firearm 

· · · • ·' Ammunition 
•. Warm winter clothing. 

All of the above items were recovered except the firearm. One 
. shell \vas recovered, but others were not. The dog was found several 
: ·~ays after Kory disappeared. Kory's socks were found near other 
·. ·~othe~, again, presumably discarded the first night. There is sorne­
:· ·thing·very, very wrong with the scenario presented by the sheriff of 
·.~ory Kelly disappearing and eventually finding bis body. 

.·i '. 
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Counties and cities do not fa ti under the federal FOIA require-·. 
mcnt. Statc, city, and county agencies do not have to supply ·the 
public with reports they have written . 1 did req uest reports from:the 
Beltram i County Sheri ff and did receive partial reports. lt would be 
very revealing ifthe coroners report on the Kory Kelly 's death Wtfre 
made public and we could understand the extent of hi s injuries ~llld 
how much wear was apparenl on the soles of his feet. 

' •' 

. ' ' 

vVisconsín 

·.·. .. List ofM issing by Date 
: ·: 

Na me 
Roy Bilgrien 

**Edward Gerke 
· Thelma Ann Wilke 
l-larold King 
.. Mrs. August Nelson 
Judy Rodencal 
Col leen Tourtillott 

Wisconsin 

Date Missing•Age•Sex 
10/21 / 191 0•2•M 
06/ ll / 18•NA•M 
05/03/35•21 MOS•F 
09/07/36•3•M 
07/28/43•75•F 
1 0/30/56•15•F 
07/03/88•1 8MOS•F 

47 
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**Details. on the disappearance of Edward Gerke can be found in 
the chapter "Farmers." 
.. Details on the disappearance of Mrs. August Nelson can be found 
in the chapter "Berry Pickers." 

Roy Bilgrien 

::mi .. '/ 
.... ·.. ~··. 

l 
l 

f.· 
¡~·· 

Missing 10/2111910, McMillan, Wisconsin 
Age at Disappearance: 2 years 

. · ... . ~~~·.~ 

The Bilgriens lived in a rural area outside of McMilla~, 
Wisconsin. On October 21, 1910, Mrs. Bilgrien placed little Roy 
in the front yard of their residence while she did household work: 
Several minutes after placing Roy in the yard, Mrs. Bilgrien returned · 
to see a horrifying event unfold in front ofher. An October 17 article 
in the Daily News describes what happened in the Bilgrien yard: ' 

1 

Mrs. Herman Bilgrien was horrified on emerging from h~r 

.. t:' 
r 
::: 

·:· [· 
. t-··· 

.··.:.[ 
· .. ~ ... 

. ·.: . ~~-
. ~-home to see a huge black bear making for the woods with 

her child. Helpless from fright her hysterical cries attracted 
attention of a neighbor's daughter who was passing the 
Bilgrien residence and she immediately gave cha:se to the 
bear. Following the bear for about three blocks, on encoun­
tering a wire fence the bruin dropped his burden and disap­
peared in the forest. 

-:.'. ·. ~. 
.. r· 
. .. ~~ 

,• .·· ~·: 

.. r· 
~ ·. 
f:.· 
C,'. 

The hoy was found to be fine without injury. When l read this . · :.. J.· · 
case, it struck me as a highly un usual event. Bears usually att~cl( · ' · k 
their prey on scene and do not run away with something alive ¡~: . :.· r. 

f:.· their mouths. lt al so seems quite late in the yeat· for a bear to be ou.t ·. · .. ~.:· · ~·, 
running in the snow. One would think it would be hibernating. · : ... ·· · F~ · 

On October 26, 1910, the Marsl?field Times had a different /· .. . ~-
account of the Bilgrien event: uMrs. Bilgrien coming out of. the . . . t 
house suddenly to.look after her child was horrified to see a la.rge t" 
dark animal, which she thinks was a wolf, carrying her baby offto t~ 
the woods." . . r. 

1 think it's fascinatingthat five days after the incident tbe Bilgrien t_' 
story changed drastically from a bear to a large wolf-that is ~ sig- · · V 

!'. 

nificant change. If you read the woman's statement carefully, "sée a ~. . . r: 
large dark animal, which she thinks was a wolf." The woman sourids ~ 

~~ 

t· 
~· 
t 
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like she's is not sure what she observed but is trying to rationalize it 
a\\:av. l believe most ofus know the difference between a wolfand a 
bea;, especially ifwe followed it for over three blocks. 

· \Ve will never know what attempted to kidnap Roy Bilgrien, 
b~t ·it is ,an aspect to the missing person scenario that we all need 
to understand if we are to fully comprehend the missing person 

ph.enomenon . 

Tii~Íma· Ann Wilke 
Missing 5/3/35, PM, Mauston, Wisconsin 
Age at Disappearance: 21 months 
**Blonde Hair 
.:·: Mauston is thirty miles due west of Auroraville, which was the 
lpcatiori where Judy Rodencal disappeared in 1956. Mauston sits 
just southwest of Castle Rock Lake and a number of reservoirs and 
streams . 
."·: :Thelma wandered away from her rural residence when in the 
c~mpany of her invalid father. Thelma's mother was running an 
errand. Thelma's young brother followed the mother to the street, 
aiid when he returned to the residence, Thelma was gone. 
.. · "rhere was a fonnal search started almost immediately after Thelma 
dí:sapp·eared. The search lasted almost two full days. The search included 
tl~e norn1.al contingent oflaw enforcement personnel and volunteers. The 
:search site was al so hit by a severe snowstonn the day after Thehna went 
t~i?Sing. · 
.. ..: · ·Ahnost two days exactly from the time Thehna disappeared, 
A:lbert ·McClellan a local farmer was walking in an extremely 
remote ~and rugged area not normally visited on his farm when he 

:.\vas· under a large oak tree. As he watked around the tree he saw a 
. ~rn~ll ~ody on the ground. It looked like a dead body. He rolled the 
s{nall bundle over and found it was Thelma Wilke, sleeping. The 
girl was missing one shoe, was groggy, but appeared to be healthy. 
Thehna's clothes were torn into shreds, but she was nicely sheltered 
fr~rri the snow by the tree. McCiellan had found Thelma three and a 
hatfiniles from her residence. 

¡ •. 

.. Thelma was transported to the hospital and found to have a tem-
·~erat!Jre of 101 degrees, even though she had no chest congestion or 
·~~~eumonia, per the articles reviewed. The doctors stated that they 
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believed that the cause ofthe temperature might have been the slight 
case of exposure that she suffered. J find that exposure causing a 
temperature is a questionable diagnosis. From what l 've read, 'ex. po­
su re to the cold causes a drop in the body temperature. 

Harold King 
Missing 917/36, Washburn, Wisconsin 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years . .. . 

Washburn sits on Chequamegon Bay in Lake Supe,rior in. far 
northern Wisconsin. The town is just ten miles east ofmajor.forest 
land and is generally considered a farming region surrounded by 
many swamps. . . 

His parents, who Iive at a nearby reservation, brought Har~ld to 
his grandparent's residence. While Harold was at the home, th~ hoy 
somehow disappeared. The grandparents called law enfprc~t:i'tent, 
and a search was initiated. · 

Searchers were restricted in their search by heavy rains that hit 
the area the day after Harold went missing. The local sheriff did 
bring in bloodhounds to search, but they could not pickup á. scent, 
or they refused to search. ·:: · 

Late in the night on September 10, neighbors heard"wai)~ng" 
coming from a swampy area three miles from where the hoy dis­
appeared. Neighbors worked their way into the swamp, and J<mnd 
Harold. .· 

A September 10, 1936 article in the La Crosse Tribune~:s.um­
marizes the incident: uctad only in a pair ofunderpants, the.rest of 
his clothing torn off by brush, the boy (Harold King) was· suf~~ring 
from exposure. At the hospital he was reported slightly del!~ious 
and doctors feared pneumonia might develop. The sear~hers ~f9~nd 
the child in a swamp three miles from the home ofhis grandp~rents, 
Mr. and Mrs. Alex King, from which he wandered Monday.~· · =·· 

It's interesting how· neighbors described the sountis cd~ing 
from the swamp as "wailing," not crying, not screaming~ •'wai,l.ing." 
As we alJ know a three year old cannot yell or scream very·lo~.d. lt's 
al so interesting that évery stitch of clothing had been remov~d:·~from 
Harold, except his diaper. The clothing was never found. M y, .q·ue~-' 
tion to the reporter who wrote that the "rest of the clothing {}vás] 
torn off by the brush," is how did he or she know that? The ~tai.ls 

.... 

·, 

• • 1 
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of this story seem to mimic the facts of many stories in this book. 1 
did not purposely Iook for stories that were similar; this is exactly 
what I found through a comprehensive search. 

Judy Rodencal 
Missing 10/30/56, Auroraville, Wisconsin 
Age at Disappearance: 16 years . 

Auroraville sits ten miles west of Oshkosh and is considered a 
rural community with a large pond or lake (Mili Pond) anda river. 
Much of'the area is swampy and flat. 

On October 30, 1956, Judy Rodencal wa~ walking to the bus 
stop for her ride to school. She never arrived at her high school and 
never returned home that afternoon. Her parents realized that some­
thing bad had happened when Judy's boyfriend arrived at the home 
that night for a date and Judy wasn't there. · . 
· This· search was difficult because teams didn't understand 

1 where the girl might possibly be located. There were no leads until 
the following day when searchers were in a creek one mile north of 
Judy's residence. The creek is adjacent to a large swamp, and this 
is when they found a handkerchief and Judy's socks; her parents 
c~mfirmed they were hers. 

Bloodhounds were brought to search for the girl near the loca­
tion ofthe found clothing; they couldn't pickup a scent. The search 
~ontinued throughout Wednesday and Thursday without making 
any progress on locating the young lady. · 

'At 7:50p.m. Thursday night, farmer Edgar Timm made a very 
unusual find. A November 3, 1956 article in the Stevens Point Daily 

. . · had the following: 

The girl of the nearby village of Auroraville was found 
unconscious Thursday night near the farm home of Edgar 
Tit;nm, a mile north of the vi11age. Judy had been missing 
nearly sixty hours and had been the object of a concentrated 
search by police and volunteers. 

Another article on November 2, 1956 in the Rhinelander Daily 
had this: "Authorities were baffled as to how she [Judy] spent 

: her time since she disappeared Tuesday. Sheriff Leon Murty of 
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Waushara County said, however, there were indications she hid, · 
alone in a shack on the farm where she was found." M y question to 
sheriff Murty-hid from what? 

..... 

Judy was transported to a local hospital where physician~ w~r~. 
puzzled by her condition. They stated that she was suffering_ fr~m . 
shock and exposure. She is suffering from shock from what? Why. · ... 
would a Wisconsin girl take her . shoes and socks off on a co14: · 
November moming in a creek and swamp land? Severa) articles' ·: :·_:. ~·. 
stated that doctors believed that Judy had a "blackout," something ·· . :. 
we don 't hear m u eh about in the twenty-first century. Other articles · ·:'. ,. 
confirm the girJ was found barefoot but was otherwise fully clothed ... ·, . . 
It's interesting that almost all of the articles indicated that she '-Yas. · -:·' R> 
"fully clothed," as though someone somewhere was expecting her .::. r 
to be missing clothing. Judy was released from the hospital seyera'·. , 

1 
·:.

1
1 .. __ · .. _~·. · 

days after she arrived. · ': ·. . :: 
I also think it's fascinating that many missing people are fo~nd:. ~- · .·.· 

in or near a creek or river bed as this is one of the few locations· · · . .-.:· · ,;· 
where footprints cannot be found ifyou are walking on rocks. .· :. . .... !· ':·. 

Colleen Tourtillott . . ::. E. 
Missing 7/3/88, 6:00 p.m., Menominee Indian Reservation:, ·. _ ... ~~., 
Wisconsin .. f·: 
Age at Disappearance: 18 months . .-·: t 

Keshena, Wisconsin is approximately forty miles. nort,h of ·. ' .. E~· 
Oshkosh and ten miles south ófthe Menominee lndian Reservation. · · ¡:: 
The area around the reservation and Keshena is wet and swampy. The. . . . J . 
majority ofthe farmland is south ofKeshena, but the Keshena area has· : ·· ·:: 
woodlands. . ~· 

Colleen Tourtillott was reported missing at 6:00 p.m. by he~·.· · 
parents (Janelle and Miles Tourtillott) from her home inside the res~··· . · 
ervation. Law enforcement officials immediately responded~ and a.·. :·. 
search started soon after their arrival. By 10:00 p.m. on the evening .. .'. · 
ofthe disappearance many people were searching for Colleen. · 

Colleen still hadn't been found by 8:00 a.m. the following. 
morning, yet theré were hundreds ofvolunteers flocking to the areá' 
to look for the young girl. 

Approximately one and a half miles from Colleen.'s residence, 
a deputy sheriff was directing traffic cau·sed by volunteer searchers . 
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flocking to the area. The sheriff was taking a short break on his 
tl~ree-wheel ATV. He was driving down a lonely dirt road that had 
alfeady.·been extensively searched when the deputy saw Col leen off 
tO..th.e si de of the road. The girl was covered with scratches and had 
riq cloth'ing on. When she left her home, she was wearing a dispos­
able diaper anda barrette-both were gone. The deputy took his 
shirt off to cover the girl and ·advised communications that he had 
fo~i1d Colleen. The deputy advised thaf Colleen seemed ver y ti red. 
. .. The night Colleen disappeared, temperatures had dropped into 
(he fotties. and law enforcement officials were shocked to see that 
sl1e survived the night. Colleen was transported to a local hospital 
ai1d 'the'n released the same day. 
· ... · .. ·How did Colleen get one and one-half miles from her home in 

bare feet in less then twenty-four hours? What happened to Colleen's 
b~r~ette·and diaper? Why didn't Colleert suffer from exposure when 
she was•essentially naked in the woods with temperatures in the low 
foit{es? These are all questions that will never be answered because 
.~.olleen hadn't learned to talk. You will find that many ofthe miss­
ir;g·.cannot speak or remember their incident and communicating 
~bout what happened while they were missing is impossible. 

' .... 
... 

. 1 
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Michigan 

Missing People in Michigan by Date 

N ame 
Katie Flynn 
Raymond Maki 
Edward Woelfle 
Kenneth Scott 
Carol Van Hulla 

Christopher Hallaxs 
.loe Clewley 
Derrick Hennegan 

Katie Flynn 

Date Missing•Age•Sex 
.lune/1868•3•F 
OI /27/36•17•M 
10/06/46•1 5•M 
09/28/58•4•M 
06/28/59• 3• F 
**45-year gap 
03/ 17/04•30•M 
07/ 13/08•73•M 
08/04/08•35•M 

Missing summer of 1868, Walhalla, Michigan 
Age al Disappearance: 3 years 

:.• 
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Henry Flynn ran a lumber camp in the forests just outside of 
\\'alhalla. During the summer months, his wife and daughter (Katie) 
would come from the city and stay with him. 

Part of Flynn's job was to drive a team.of horses carrying the 
lumber up thc hill to the mili , drop the load, and then come back to 
gel additional trees. During June of 1868, Henry would have Katie 
ride the horse on the way up the hill , and she would then dismount 
at the top and run back down the hill on an adjacent trail. On one 
of these trips back down the hill, Katie didn't make it. The mother 
thought she was with the father, and the father thought she made it 
back to the houses at the bottom of the hill. When Henry returned 
home at the end of the night and learned that Katie never returned, 
a search was immediately initiated. 

Henry checked the path that Katie was taking and saw her tracks 
slowly merge with the path of a huge black bear. As luck would come 
Mr. Flynn's way, two hunters wandered into camp and offered to 
assist with the search for their daughter. The men scoured the area 
wi th the a id of torches m a de of wood shingles. The search for Katie 
went into early in the morning and was given up for that night. 

Early the next morning, Mr. Flynn and a group of searchers 
went back outlooking for Katie. At approximately 4:00p.m. the men 
heard a "feeble cry" in dense underbrush. The men started to make 
their way through the brush and toward a river when they heard 
another fai nt cry . .lust befare the men reached the river, the article 
s~ated that the men saw a huge black bear jump into the river and 
disappear across the other side. Katie was found standing on a tree 

· that was lying on the ground and crossing the water flow. The girl 
\\aS picked up and taken back to camp. Katie hada badly scratched 
fr:ce and hands, but that was about the extent ofher injuries. 

When Katie got back to camp, Mrs. Flynn asked her why she 
didn't run away when she had the opportunity? This story was 
replicated in the April 24, 1932 Ludington Daily. Here is Katie's 
response: "Big dog came up to me, took me in his arms and walked 
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.·,:··.~;· o' o 1,': • 
. , ·, 

• 1 'ji..,,.. 

away with me." Noting one of her shoes was missing the pfirents ... :: 
asked her where it was. "The big dog ate it," she replied. ,. . · . 

The Katie Flynn story was again printed in the July. 6; 1961· ': 
Ludington Daily News. In this copy of the story it had the followi~ ·: · 
asto Katie's rendition ofthe events. ·. ·. ·.:·. · 

"In answer to questions, the child said that after her father ·háq .. :·:­
left, she had p1ayed a 1itt1e while in the sand when a big black thing ·. 
carne along and played with her. Then it held out its paw and she ·:: : 
caught hold of it and it had walked away with her. Just before dark · .· .. 
it had left her for a while and when it catne back its paw was filll bf · ; . 
winter green berries. The bear ate sorne of the berries and she ate .". ·. 
sorne. Then it scraped a big pile of lea ves el ose to her an.d la y .down : · 
el ose to her and during the night had tried to cover her with its body." · ·. · 

The quote above needs to be reviewed at two different i~j:>OJ:- .· 
tant points. 1 believe that Katie was trying to explain that she ·did ·: ·· 
not understand what had walked up to her by her first statement. · · 
"big black thing." A person's first statement about an event is us~-·. 
ally a very revealing and honest representation of a stressful event: .. 
lt would appear from that first statement that Katie was having dif- .. , 
ficulty understanding what she was observing. · 

Katie's explanation about the mammal making a bedding are~·,· .. :. · 
covering her and keeping her warm is not indicative of bear heavier. ··. 
Bears are not nurturing warm creatures that cuddle children. . . 

As 1 ha ve stated multiple times throughout the book, berries · · ·. · 
play a continua} role in the disappearance of people,. this story is ·: :. 
another example of that as the maminal left and returned with ber-. · 
ries for Ka ti e to ea t. · .. · 

1 do not know what took Katie but 1 do not believe it was a beat. 
Other articles indicate that a wolfe took her, also nota possible sce­
nario. A wolf cannot pick berries, place them in its paw and carry ' 
them back in that paw. · 

This story is rernarkably similar to an incident that occurred on 
July 7, 1868, in Ludington, Michigan, very close in dates and geog- ·: : 
raphy to the Walballa incident. The name "Henry Flynn'; is in ~oth 
articles so we must think this is the same incident. We are includirig : ·. 
both renditions ofthe story so the reader can understand what might 
have occurred. 

:, 

• •• ' 1 • 
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... : )'he other story that Katie's mimics is the disappearance of 
• th~·two anda halfyear old daughter ofMillard Davis who lived.in 

Bciiéeville, New York. On or about May 9, 1888 Da vis disappeared 
and ~vas .found twenty four hours and two miles from her residen ce 
in_-a .. deep rural valley. Davis told her family that she was taken by 
~· ~;bl"g bear'' and slept with that bear through the night. This story 
\~;as fotind in the May 15, 1888 editionofthe New York Times. 

. · . ' . Something took Katie against her wil.l. Searchers saw something 
da:rk and hairy jump into the river as they approached. Most felt it 
,~;as a· bear., except the victim herself. Bears do not take little girls, 
c.<;')d~Hc them all night, and carry them in their arms. Katie Flynn had 
s?.t.ilething very unusual happen to her in the summer of 1868. 
... 

RavÍ11óild Maki 
f\11:-ssing,ll/27/36, Keweenaw Woods, n/o Mohawk, Michigan 
Áge. at Disappearance: 17 years 
· :·· Raymond lived on the far northern península of Michigan in 
(ópper City. He knew the area very well and understood the associ­
ated darígers ofbeing in the woods. On November 27, 1936, he was 
d~€rhunting from the Hibbard Hunting Camp near the Keweenaw 
Woods .. Raymond was dressed for the winter weather, and his dog 
accompimied him. He and friends agreed to meet back at the camp 
later in the day. Raymond never returned to camp, which started a 
niassive. search ofthe península. 
. ·. :. Menominee County Sheriff's office took the lead on the search 
[Qr · Raymond and was assisted by the Houghton County Sheri ff. 
Neárly" six days into the search, deputies found Raymond's rifle 
I)r.ing on the ground. Severa) hundred yards from the rifle, and in 
·a ... swamp, searchers found the interior liner of Raymond's mitten. 
As sea.rchers returned to their SAR camp, Raymond's dog had also 
\\~andered in. 

··. · After two weeks of 150 men scouring the woods in Northern 
· ~1ichigan, deputies called offthe search for Raymond Maki. 

. ' . Severa} facets of this case trouble me greatly. l f Raymond were 
álive, he would never give up his gloves or rifle, as they are a lifeline 
fór survival. Searchers never found any blood in the snow or any 

.. ~Íher c'tothing articles. Bear.s in this region are hibernating during 
this time period, so they are not suspect. Searchers were completely 

! 
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puzzled about why their search dogs couldn't find a scent. trajl éven 
though they found sorne of Raymond's clothing. Raymon~t' khew. 
riever to walk into a swamp area, as this would be a life-threatening 
maneuver in late November, yet that is where searchers foun~ his 
glove liner. 1 think it's interesting that Raymond's dog eventually 
made it back to camp several days after he went missing. The dog 
returning indicates tome that Raymond was long deceased. · 

Edward William \Voelffe 
Missing 10/6/46, 4 miles w/o Boulder Junction, Wisconsin ·.' 
Age at Disappearance: 15 years 
5'10'·, 150 lbs 

Four newspaper articles were located that addressed' the· .di.$ap-
pearance of Edward Woelffe. · 

Edward was an active fifteen-year-old who enjoyed the great 
outdoors. He specifically .enjoyed hunting and trapping. alon~r the 
Wisconsin and Michigan border near Boulder Junction .. 

On October 5, 1946, Edward did not attend church and lnstead 
took his .22-caliber pistol, his shotgun, seven wolftraps, and a.:duf­
ffe bag that contained wolf bait. He also took a lunch and ·~e~ded 
into the woods. Edward's parents felt that their son was going toan 
area near Whitney Lake in Wisconsin, as the hoy knew this area 
very well. The area around Whitney Lake is quite lush, remot~~ and 
filled with dozens oflakes, creeks, and waterways. . . 

When Edward did not return on Sunday night, Mr. and ·:Mrs. 
William Woelffe contacted law enforcement. ... :·· 

Searchers methodically covered the area near Whitney ~ake 
and did find six of Edward's seven wolf traps. It appeared to sc~uch­
ers that the seventh trap had been unlatched and could not be found. 
Searchers stated that there were no berries in the woods this ti~e of 
year, but there was an ample supply of porcupines in the area that 
someone could shoot and eat. 

On October 9, 1946, there was an article in the He1~ald. T~mes 
about the search for Edward. The article was titled "Push Ht:i~t for 
Missing Youth." The searchers stated that they were now ~sing 
bloodhounds to aid in their search. Paragraph three of the .articl~ 
hadan interesting notation: "Daniels (Dispatcher Trout Lake Ranger 
Station) said bloodhounds used the first two days were unable to 

~·· ·:.' 
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·.· 
.. . unpover the youth's trail and that the dogs refused to follow foot-

•.• 1 

prints found in the woods." 
There are two points· of this paragraph that need to be evalu­

. ated. Did the writer mean to say "footprints" versus "boot marks"? 
· lt would be very odd if there were footpriñts in the middle of the 
woods in November. lt would make more sense that there were 
tracks or boot prints. It doesn't make any sense that the dogs would 
not track boot impressions or even footprints in the woods. 

On October 14, the sheriff in volved in the search for William 
· · · · · Woelffe decided to termínate all SAR operations. The sheriff stated 

that he felt that the youth had gone to Alaska. This was an amazing 
claim since the only personal items missing from the residence were 
hunting equipment and bait, not a suitcase or clothing. 

··: 

·,., . 

~ ~·.· 
&-.• 

· A massive review of newspaper archives failed to show that 
\Villiam was ever found. The area where William disappeared is very 

. similar to the topography of missing people throughout Minnesota 
and Michigan. The area around Whitney Lake could easily match 
areas of missing people throughout far northern regions of North 
America. 

Kenneth Scott 
Missing 9/28/58, 2:00p.m., Norway Lake, Michigan 
Age at Disappearance: 4 years 

Norway Lake is located in the far northwest section ofM.ichigan in 
a region surrounded by heavy forest and swamps. 

Elmer Scott and his three sons had taken a short vacation at a 
hunting camp at Norway Lake near the Wisconsin Border on the upper 
península of Michigan. In mid-afternoon on September 28, Kenneth 
was following his two older brothers through the woods back to camp, 
but he could not keep up. The older brothers arrived at the camp and 
realized that Kenneth had vanished. The brothers told their father of 
the missing brother, anda search party was organized. 

Th~ local police rallied every local person and organized nearly 
· one thousand participants in the search for Kenneth. Helicopters, 
airpl~nes, horsemen, and ground troops worked through rain in 
their efforts to find the hoy. The area they were searching had very 
thick woods with swamps, bears, and other wild animals roaming 
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the area. Temperatures in the region dropped to forty-six degrees.on 
sorne nights that Scott was missing. 

Early on Thursday morning a helicopter crew was flying low 
over the trees and saw a small bundle on the ground. The crew 
led ground forces to the bundle and found it was Kenneth Scott. . · .. 
Kenneth was dead on a hillside quite a distan ce from the point' .. 
where he disappeared. An October 3, 1958 article in the Milwaukee · 
Sentinel had the following: 

"The boy /ay face up in a little clearing, his lightjacket beside him. 
Searchers said he apparent/y wandered approximately fijieen miles . · · 
through swamp and had come out onto higher ground before decid- · · 
ing to rest sometime Tuesday." 

The coroner who examined the body stated that Kenneth had 
died sometime Tuesday of exposure. 

Case Summary: . 
Searchers stated that Kenneth wandered fifteen miles in two days 

through swamps and up hills-unreal! According to the book Lost 
Person Behavior, page 135, children four to six years old are located 
more then 95 percent ofthe time in less then a 4.1-mile radius from 
the point last seen iftraveling on flat ground. This distance doesn't 
include traveling across swamps, which means Kenneth is so far out- · 
side the search guidelines recommended by the experts that it's ludi­
crous. Kenneth traveled more than triple the distance ofthe maximum 
acknowledged in the search criteria of the book, and he was found 
on a hill. 

·- . ~·~·· 

Carol Van Hulla 
Missing 6/28/59, 6:00 p.m., Dickinson County Picnic Ground, 
Michigan 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years 

Mr .. and Mrs. Joseph Van Hulla and their four daughters trave- · · · 
led to the Dickinspn County picnic grounds at Norway Lake for · 
an afternoon outdoors. Around dinnertime the family realized that . 
Ca rol had somehow vanished from the company of the ·other girls. 

. ·-) 

·' 
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Th~ family quickly searched tbr their daughter and then notified law 
en fórce111Emt. 

A full-ftedged search was started within one hour ofher disap­
.pearan.ce, ·which included five hundred searchers, helicopters, and 
bloocÚ10unds. The first night of the search was not very eventful, 
and:.searchers had a difficult time finding any leads. Bloodhounds 
coúlq not .. find the girl even though handlers stated that they had 
foun9 her scent from time to time. 

.. '::Durii1g the thirteenth hour that Carol was missing, searchers 
were worl}ing their way through a heavy swamp when they thought 
th~y heard a crying sound. The group broke through heavy brush 
atid.fóund Carol asleep on a small mound in the middle ofwater cry­
ing--:iJ¡ her sleep. A June 30, 1959 article in the Milwaukee Sentine/ 
ha~'the following: 

Alrbough the spot where Caro/ was found is about one mi/e from 
the picnic grounds, authorities be/ieved she had covered.five miles 
in her 1vanderings. The searc·h, begun an hour a.fter Caro/ disap­
peared, i11vo/ved the first majar use of Michigan- Wisconsin Rescue 

. Uni( organized to include men and equipment ofvarious agencies, 
. sin9e Keimy Scofl, 4, Kingsford, Michigan, vanished under similar 
cir~umstances las! September. Kenny was found dead of exposure 
foz~:i~·f!ays la ter, about 7 miles fi~om where Caro/ was discovered. 

A 3urie 30, 1959 article in The Sun had this: ··Following sounds of 
a ·c.hild's crying, two 18-year-old youths wading through a swamp 
wajs~ deép in water found Carol asleep on a mound virtually sur­
rounded by water." 

·:- C.arol was taken to the hospital for observation. It was found 
th~t she had numerous scratches and a slight case of exposure but 
wa~:doing well. 

Case Summary: 
: Two missing children from the same lake in nine months to the 

. day is a highly unusual set of events. Both children disappeared in 
a ·four-hour window of each other, and both children supposedly 
triwérsed swamps on their own. The book Lost Person Behavior 
by Robert Koester states that a one- to three-year-old child will be 
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. . 
found 95 percent of the time on flat ground in less than two·.:mil~~ 
from the point last seen. Carol had traveled over two· an~ ~ half 
times that distance. · . : .... 

I'm afraid to say that 1 don't believe in coincidences, an4 'i:·dOil't 
believe that two small children disappear from the same lake in á:n.ine­
month span without there being a connection. There were, no ch~H~ren 
reported missing from the same lake in previous or subsequent years. 
The more disturbing question is how Carol got onto the rnO'!Jt:id sur­
rounded by water? lf the. water was waist deep for adults, there.'is rio 
way a three-year-old could walk through that to the mound. ~lu.s~ she 
would have to traverse thick bushes and bad terrain. The explanation 
doesn't make any sense. Remember, the newsmen covering ~is ·story 
thought the facts behind this case were so odd and unusual ~n~fthey 
wrote about it. · . · ., : 

Joe Clewley . . . :·.:.:· 
Missing 7/13/0S,Tahquamenon State Park, Paradise, Michiga~. 
Age at Disappearance: 73 years · 
5'10" 150 lbs 

J~e was born in 1934 in Lansing, Michigan. Joe serv~d a t.e.rm in 
the U.S. Navy on Guam. l-le married Loraine, and they had fiV~.chil­
dren. Joe attended Lansing Community College where he studied 
electrical design, which led to the family moving to 'R;oscommon. 
Michigan, 120 miles south of Tahquamenon State Pa~k:: Joe 
established an engineering services company, lndust~ial' C~ntrol 
Design-a company he operated successfully for twenty-five·year~. 

Joe and Loraine Clewley spent their winters in trye mUd eh­
mate ofPanama City, FL. The retirees would go north for their sum­
mers into the Higgins Lake area on the lower-peninsul.a regi~n .of 
Michigan. It was a pleasant retreat they earned after a lifet.i.me of 
hard work. : . 

The Clewley family owned a small, two-room log cabin thát they 
referred to as the "Chippewa Hunting Post." The cabin was built in the 
1920s and was located southwest of Para di se near Whitefish To~nship. 
The cabin was built on the north bank ofthe Tahquamenon Ri~er. The 
view out the back window ofthe cabin would was reminiscent ofa pic­
ture postcard-it was gorgeous. The cabin was rustic and did ñ?t have 
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< .. :. :;: running water, electricity, or generators. A local spring fumished pota­

. ·. · hle water for the residents near the Clewley cabin. 
)oe truly enjoyed spendiJ1g time at the Chippewa Hunting Post, 

.but Loraine wasn't as attached. Joe would spend weeks at the cabin, 
. ·. and Loraine would come on the weekends. On Joe's Jast trip, he drove 

his silver. J 992, Oldsmobile Silhouette van and parked it on the north 
side of the Tahqua Trail in Tahquamenon Falls State Park. His nine­
year-old black and white springer-chow mix dog, Chip, accompanied 
Joe. Chip hada nasty bark, but at forty-five pounds was nota real 
threat to anything living. Family members claim that Chip was very 
loyal to Joe and never Jeft his side. 

, Joe parked his van at the trailhead, took Chip from the car, and 
· made the one-mile walk to his cabin. The trail was well defined, easy 
to follow, and thick with surrounding vegetation. Joe's practice was 

· to call Loraine every morning at 9:00 a.m. and every night at 9:00 
. p.m. as a way to keep in touch and to ensure all was good at both 

ends of the phone. 
The ·story as to what happened to Joe takes a very unusual twist 

that law enforcement and the family cannot explain. lt appears that 
Joe went on his usual hike with Chip. They arrived at the van and Joe 
may have gotten Chip water. At this point Joe and Chip disappear. 

Law enforcement found Joe's keys in the van and the vehicle 
· unlocked. According to the family, this is something Joe would 

never do. Joe's ·son, Joe, Jr. stated, "Something pulled him away, 
but whatT' The search for Joe Clewley was the largest search in 
Michigan state history. The search included cadaver dogs, Michigan 

. S tate · Poli ce, 81 A officers, Border Patrol K-9 Units, Chippewa 
County Sheriff Search and Rescue, and a host of volunteers. The 
official search was suspended after the fourth day, but volunteers 
continued their efforts many weeks Iater. The search area was 

· approximately ten thousand acres. 
In aúother odd twist to this case, the family went back to the 

cabin on August 1, 2008 early in the ·morning. The family found 
Chip sitting at the front door, approximately 20 percent Iighter but in 
generally good health. It did not appear as though the dog had been 
living in the wild for weeks. No ticks, bug bites, or other indicators 
were on the dog that showed it had been ravaged by forest-related 
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hazards. In an even more interesting aspect to Chip's arri val, the 
dog did not bark for three days after its retu rn . lt had always barked 
when it was at the cabin. 

Case Summary 
Some factors about this case cause concern . Having search and 

rescue personnel term ínate their search after four days is astonishing. 
After following hundreds of searches throughout North Ameriéa, 1 
know it is not uncommon for some j urisdictions to search for two 
weeks. There is no mentían in any documents that 1 researched with 
any notation that an aerial FLIR unir was used, a key element in find­
ing a large, warm body. The one aspect of the Clewley case that 
should be emphasized and publ icized is that Joe was the second per­
son in the last four years to disappear in the same region in Northern 
Michigan. l did an extensive search of missing people throughout the 
entire state of Michigan, and there are not two adults missing in the · 
wild in such clase proximity to each other as Clewley and Hallaxs. 
The fact that two individuals have disappeared without a trace in the 
same geographical region should have law enforcement concerned. 1 
understand that the crime scene is large, but the impact to the fami lies 
is even larger. 

Christopher Hallaxs 
Missing 3/17/04, Paradise, 
Michigan 
Age at Disappearance: 30 
6' 1", 185 lbs 

Christopher Charles Hallaxs 
was born in Battle Creek, 
M ich igan. Frum thc start uf' his 
young adult 1 i fe Chris loved 
the outdoors. His family had a 
remole cabin located on the east 
bank of the Two Hearted River 
in Northern Michigan, one ofhis 
favorite locations to visit. Chris 
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didn"t stop at just visiting the family cabin; Chris once walked nine­
teel1 and one-hal f hours non-stop through the bush as a way to test his 
enóurance and to make good time. He was the type ofperson that would 
rather make his own trai l than travel a heavily traveled path. 

· ··One of Chris's favorite places to visit was a region inside of 
Lake Superior State Forest at Tahquamenon Fa ll s State Park. This 
area is in pristine condition, and its 52,000-acre site was a nice loca­
t ia~ to disappear into. 

Chris never got married and worked a variety of jobs over the 
· vears. He had worked ata brewery, a lodge, a publ ic library, and had 
~ job surveying-the list was quite diverse. For a very short time, he 
\\:as a computer technician where he complained about sitting "on 
m y butt .and ta lking on the phone for ten hours a day, tour days a 
week: ' This lifestyle obv iously didn't suit Chris, and he eventually 
moved on. 

· . Of the many pcople that go missing each year in the wilds of 
North America, Chris would not be one that you'd think would ever 
!!et lost. He had the abil ity to live off the land and make huts and 
;helters out of what was available. The only weapon that he was 
known ro carry was a large bowie kn ife in a sheath on bis right hip. 
He· also carried the usual survivor accessories and knew the terra in 
he was traversing quite wel l. 

On Ma rch 17, 2004, Chris stopped at a local BP convenience 
store. He pu rchased soda and snacks and told the clerk that he was 
··!winu out to hi s camp.'" Eventua lly, Chris was reported missing and 
the Chippewa County Sheriff and the Michigan State Police con­
ducred an extensive search. A search and rescue (SA R) tea m found 
what they believed to be Chris's snowshoe tracks and were able 10 

fo\low them for severa! miles. The tracks led to a very tangled and 
densely wooded swamp area. Darkness was starting to set, and the 
SAR team decided ro call off' the sea rch. Many or Chris's family 
\·\·ere initial ly not too concerned about his lack of contact because 
the\' knew his pract ices and his ability to li ve off the land. They 
kn~w that Chris actually stashed food and other supplies in various 
are as of the woods in case of an emergency . 

. Du\"ing subsequent searches of the Mack inaw Wilderness and 
searches of speci fic areas they knew Chris had visited, teams founcl 
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a variety ofpossible clues. There are severa) photos ofwhat appears 
to be supplies that have been thrown around and displaced. ~ .. ean­
teen on a belt was found lying on the ground. A very well-désig~ed 
shelter was al so located that seemed to be in very good ,cond~(~on. 
Buckets that contained shoes, cups, and plastic bags with various 
suppJies were tossed on the ground and scattered. The ·sce!Je.\vas 
very discomforting. ·. ·. :·_·:.· 

A volunteer team that entered the region actually brqught, 
metal detectors in an effort to find evidence. The team did fil'\d an 
expended slug. It had not mushroomed significantly, but tht: find 
would concern anyone involved, as Chris was not know~ t~ ~arry 
firearms. . . . 

The search for Chris HaHaxs was similar to that familiar phras~ 
offinding a needle in a haystack: nobody quite knew exa~tly wher~ 
he would be. Chris i,sn't the only person missing in this region·;· Joe 
Clewley had also vanished nearby. .· ''·':" ' 

Derrick Henegan disappeared approximately fifteen miles.f~om 
where Christopher vanished. The Tahquamenon State Fotest a~d- the 
Newberry S tate Forest a~e located between the locations where: _eac_h 
person disappeared. The common element that crosses botJt l<?~atio"s 
is the Tahquamenon River, which is 89 miles long and flows W:~st to 
east. There are no cities and few residences in this region of nor~hern 
Michigan, it is quite remote. 

Derrick Ray Henegan 
Missing 8/4/08, Newberry, Michigan 
Age at Disappearance: 35 years 

. . 
'' .. · .. 

6' 1", 170 lbs . . . 
Henegan had friends who lived in a rural area of New~erry, 

Michigan. Henegan had made plans to meet his girlfriend at ~·.deer 
blind in the woods, and at 4:30 p.m. was last seen walking across 
the street from his friend's home and into the woods. Thcr girlffiend 
arrived at the hunting blirid, but Henegan never did. · ... '·. 

Derrick had two children who Iived with his ex-wife, whom 
he called nightly. His girlfriend was pregnant with his·. child 
when he disappeared and she gave birth four montlis a~te.~ his 
disappearance. 

, .... 
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· .. 
Law enforcement is handling this case as a simple missing per­

sons case, yet Derrick's family believes there has been sorne crime 
... · ~ .con1111itted. 

· Newberry has a population of 2,570 and. according to the 2000 
census has a median household income of $29,000. The area sur­

·. :: : rounding Newberry is remote with five large bodies ofyvater on the 
. perimeter ofthe city. State forests surround the city. 
: ... 

. ,: 

... 
·~. . ... . 
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lowa B oth missing people in lowa are males. 

lowa Missing People by Date 
Name Date Missing•Age 
Frank Floyd Ol /07/ 1897•NA 
••Leroy Willi ams 03/16/51•64 

••Detai ls on the disappearance of Lcroy Williams can be found in 
the chapter on "Farmers." 

Frank Floyd 
Missing 1/7/ 1897, 15 miles north of Atlantic City, Iowa 
Age at Disappearance: Unknown 

1 could find only one article on the disappearance of Frank 
Floyd, and thi s appea red January 8 in the New York Times. lt stated 
the following: 

Allanlic Cily, f UI m , Jan 7. Frank Floyd ll"elll huming inthe bi'5 timber 
.fi.fteen miles nonh yesterday aml nvt re/urning 1Vdc~1; a party ll"e/11 i11 
search ofhim. They tracked him through snou·, and at !ast jvund his 
body lilerally Iom to pieces. His gu11 ll'as.fhund near him. aiJ(/ a slwrt 
distance a~vay 1vas an ole/ sow ~ving dead IVith a brvkenleg anda bu!~ 
le! hole lhrough her. 

The article impl ies that the sow ki ll ed the hunter. 1 don '! think 
so. Hogs don't move quickly with a broken leg, and Frank could 
have ki lled it with his rifle. 1 don'! know what is in the Jowa plains 
in the middle of January that could tear aman to pieces. The articl~ 
also states that it was known that there were many hogs in the area·, 
and someone felt Frank was ki lled after he shot the sow. 

/llinois· 
p~·inois M issing People by Date 

Na1i1e Date Missing•Age•Sex 
Helen Chenoweth 03/28/40•3•F 
SusM S\\eely 08/09/50•2•F 
··John Sweet I0/26/53•NA·M 
Lisa Schackelford 07/ 10/62•3•F 
**~5 Year Gap 
Hannah Klamecki 6/ 13/07•5•F 
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•• Dctails on the disappearance of John Swect can be found in the 
'" Farmers" chapter. 

H.elen Chenoweth 
!\1issing 3/28/40, 6:00p.m., Breeds, Illinois 
Age at Disappearancc: 3 years 
BIÓnd~ Hair 

Thc Chenoweth fami ly owned a fa rm on the outskirts ofBreeds. 
ei~ht miles east of Cantan. lllinois. In the early evening of March 
is. Hele'n Chenoweth (three years) was stay ing at the farm with 
\\.illiam Long (sevent een years), a cousi n, and her younger l1rother 
HO\\·ard, fi ve years. At some point Helen disappeared. Parents were 
notiiled: anda search immediately ensued. The police questioned 
\\"illiam and then took him into custody for furt her questioning. 

·· \\hi le Wil liam Long was in custody, law enforcement cont in­
ued to search the area up to two miles from the fa rm for the little 
girl. The night that she disappeared there was a ra instorm that !asted 
many hours and washed away any tracks that Helen may have made. 
· · Forty-seven hours after Helen disappeared, Deputy Floyd Morse 

a_nd. Allen Clark were walking to an outer area to search when they 
wcre on•an adjacent fa rm and climbing up a hi ll. The hill the depu­
ties were climbing included a pig lot and mud. As they went up the 
hÚI they saw a small bulge in the mud but the bulge appeared to have 
c!ean clothing. The deputies walked to the bulge and found Helen 
Chenoweth unconscious but alive. The girl had clean hands and fcet 
and her clothes were barely wrinkled. The more amazing fact was that 

j 
! . 
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Helen 's clothes were dry. The deputies picked the girl up and too!( her 
home and Iater to a hospital. · 

Helen Chenoweth was found three-fourths of a mile·from her 
farm forty-seven hours after she disappeared. The area wher~ ~he 
was found had been searched many times, and she was not th~re at 
those times. 

An April 1 article in the Pittsburgh Press stated, HShe co.uldn't 
tell the story of her adventures. Sheriff Ralph Cook said'the ~~iid's 
clothes, face, and hands were clean and that she hardly coul(have 
survived two nights in the open under the unfavorable wéather 
conditions." Deputy Sheriff Floyd Morse was interviewed by~.the 
Telegraph Herald on March 31 and stated the following: • 

Although the chi/d was unharmed, Mm:~e said he believedshe had been 
held captive by someone who decided to re/ease her Saturday be~quse 
of fear of being detected lfer clothes were d1y and did not,·appet;lr as 
though they had been wet, despite thefact that a lzeavy rain drencbed, the 
district the night she disappeared. ..: ., 

The sheriff's department released William Long withou(~my, 
charges filed. lt was obvious to all involved that he did not play'·any 
part in the disappearance of Helen. · · : 

This is just another in the long line of cases in whích- s~me­
one is missing, they are later found in an area that had bee~··.previ-. 
ously searched, and the ~hildren cannot or will not te11 the stdry of 
what happened to them. lt is blatantly obvious to a111a~ enforce·~ 
ment involved in this cas·e that Helen had been abducted an'd)ater 
released, as is the claim in many of the stories in the two books. 1t 
would appear that someone placed the girl in the pig lotjust priQ.r to 
her bcing found. She was too clean to have been walki~g the:·area 
during her disappearance. The real question is who was. roaiTiing 
near a remote farm and abducted the child? 

Susan Sweely 
Missing 8/9/50, 7:00p.m., Pearl City, Illinois . 
Age at Disappearance: 2 years . :· ~. 

Pearl City is in northwest lllinois, approximately ten miles.from 
the Mississippi River and the Hanover BluffNature Prese~v~j: It is 

..... 

. ·.· 

.. . . . 
.. 

,· .. 
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also at the base of a mountain range that extends to the Mississippi 
· River . 

1 could not find any articles describing the facts behind Susan's 
disappearance other than she was home with her mother when she 
realized Susan was missing at 7:00p.m. The mother contacted the 
father, William Sweely, who was in town watching a free outdoor 
movie. The mother told William that his daughter and their three 
dogs were missing and asked assistance from the moviegoers . 
Ahnost five hundred people accompanied William back to his farm. 

. Mrs. Sweely called the sheriff's department, and they responded 
with twelve deputies. The deputies organized a search in which vol­
unteers held hands and walked the high cornfields and waist-high 

· wheat a·nd hay fields looking for the girl. Searchers also checked 
·local swamps and ravines in a.n attempt to find Susan. 

At 2:00a.m. on August 10, searchers were in a hay field approx­
iinately one mi le from the Sweely farm and found Susan asleep sur­
rbunded by her three dogs. She was found in a field near marsh­
lands. but she was general! y dry and in perfect condition. Susan was 
.l.at~r asked how she went missing. She couldn't explain it._ 

. . · ·.Lisa Schackelford 
·· . Missing 7/10/62~ 11:00 a.m .• Bracevitle, Illinois 

, .. · ·... · Age at.Disappearance: 3 years 
· .-:.. :. · Blonde Ha ir 

· ~· · ·:> \:, Braceville, Illinois, is in the northeastern section ofthe state in 
·. · : ·. ··: . ·a very swampy and wet area surrounded by game reserves, lakes, 
: : '. ·' s'treams. and bogs. 

.-. In the late morning hours of July 10, 1962, Lisa Schackelford 
· got into an argument with her two young sisters over a toy. Lisa 
· became so upset she walked away (barefooted) from playing with 

the girls. As lunchtime approached, Lisa's mother called for her, but 
she didn't respond. Mrs. lnez Schackelford and Lisa's seventeen­
year-old sister (Carolyn) traced Lisa's barefoot tracks through a 
corn field and to a large oak tree where they found Lisa's pet kitten. 
The mother lost the tracks at this point because of a rainstorm. Mrs. 
Schackelford enlisted the help of her seven other children, and all 

· ·· ·. sÜtrted to search for the young girl. lt was at this point that locallaw 
enforcement was called. 
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During two days of searching, over one thousand people combed 
the fields, bogs, swamps, and roadways looking for Lisa. At one .. 
point a canine team tracked her to a local major h_ighway, and the . 
canines stopped. The state police felt that Lisa crossed this major 
roadway and the canines lost the scent. There was some concern by · 
state polic~ that the girl may have been picked up by a vehicle and . 
kidnapped. 

Almost exactly forty-eight hours after Lisa disappeared, and 
outside the primary search area, Lisa was found wandering the rail­
road tracks five miles north of her farm in Coal City. This area was 
described in articles as very wild and with many coal tailings. 

There was never a mention in any of the articles about the con~ 
dition ofLisa's feet,just a general description that she was in satis- .. 
factory condition. · 

lt's hard to imagine a three-year old girl traveling five miles alone 
anywhere let alone continuing to walk into the oblivion of a wild coal : . : , ... 
tailings area. It's equally hard to understand how cars would pass her · 1 ., 

as she crossed the interstate without people calling the state poli ce cir · ·' .. 
even stopping to render aid to a small and lost child. 

1 

In review, it's hard to believe that this event ever happened the .. 
way it is depicted. A young three-year-old girl cannot m ove . that · .. 
fast, thus making her a major target on an interstate. S he was in,. · ·. · 
bare feet, so she surely must have had injuries, again not noted in ·: · ... · 
any article. · ··. · :. 

Hannah Klamecki 
Missing 6/13/07, 7:00p.m., Kankakee River, Momence, 111-inois 
Age at Disappearance: 5 years 

. ·.: ~: .· 

~-. 

Sorne of the greatest memories we have as children are ~the .. 
special times we spend with grandparents, and that's what Hannah ,. · ·, ·~ 
Klamecki was doing on June 13, 2007. Hannah had left her home ;: ·. 

1 
· ._ 

in Momence to go boating with her grandfather, David Klamecki,~·:: ·: · 
sixty-two years old. David and Hannah were riding the waves and .. ·. ·.~_:· · ·~: 
enjoying the solitude offered by the remote locations a long th1s _:. · . .-, · ·· · · 
stretch of the river. Momence is just west of the Lasalle Fish and · .:: 
Wildlifé Area and the Wetlands Nature Preserve. There are areas.. · · ·· 
along this stretch of the river that are ver y wild and lush and w.ith. · .. 
few people. · .. 
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Sometime in the late afternoon or early evening, David pulled 
thei~ boat up to an island in the middle of the river. He roped the 
bo.at into position and jumped into the water. For sorne unknown 
reason, David disappeared under water, and Hannah lost sight of 
hitn. The· girl was wearing arm floaters and apparently went into the 
ri·v'er and came out on the sand of a ne'arby bank. Admittedly, this 
ps}rtion of the story is a little vague, and Hannah had not oftered a 
lot- of clárity. 

:· Onc~ Hannah and David didn't return from their trip, Hannah's 
parents contacted the sheriff, and a search ensued. For two days 
the sherifrs office felt that Hannah must have drowned. They were 
séraping the bottom ofthe river looking for a body, but didn't find it. 

· ·· On June 15, the sherifffound the body ofDavid Klamecki float­
iná downstream approximately three-fourths of a mile from where 
he:·went in. The sherifrs team was on the sand recovering the body 
\~hen unbelievably out of the bushes behind them walked a naked 
fi~~-year-old girl eating a handful ofwild mulberries. It was Hannah 
Klamecki. 

·:" ·Hannah had scratches over her entire body, had no clothes on, 
and·seemed to be in fairly good health. The girl was taken to the 
h~spitai'and found to be in good condition. Hannah's parents were 
shocked she was al ive and equally shocked that she walked out of 

· the·lush vegetation and right up to the searchers, almost like she was 
_ delivere_d there, fed, and on time. · 

G4apter Conclusion 
• ... : 1 Fotu: of the people listed in this chapter disappeared from a 
fár~n ot ranch. The four children missing were females, all very 
clo:se in age (two three year-olds, one two-year-old, and a five-year­
ol~):·ls this merely a coincidence? 

MissotÍri 
.· 1 

Na m:~ 
Jo'shua ·childers 

• 1 

Jbslma Childers 

Date Missing•Age•Sex 
05/04/09•3•M 

M)~sing 5/4/09, 11:45 a.m., Arcadia, Missouri 

,·· 
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Age at Disappearance: 3 years 
Blande Hair 

Sometimes it doesn' t matter whether the doors are locked 
and you fcel the house is secure. Children will still find. a wa'( to 
sneak out, and that 's what happened in the disappearance.of Joshua 
Childers. 

Joshua's father worked a midnight shift and was sleeping in 
thei r home that borders the Mark Twain National Forest adjacent tq 
the Ketcherside Mountain Conservation Area. Joshua's mothe'r was. 
in the kitchen thinking Joshua was playing in the home insid~ the 
confines of locked doors. Mrs. Childers went to look for the bóy at 
11 :45 a.m. and found that he had unlocked the rear door and walked 
out into the forest. She woke her husband, and they both sear'ched 
the immediate area. Then they called the sheriff. 

The town of Arcadia sits in a small valley but is surrounded on 
all sides by large, rugged mountai ns that are thick with vegetatron. 
Searchers who came to the Childers's residence had stated that'they 
couldn't see twenty feet into the woods located behind the Childers 
home. lt was a very slow search. 

Approx imately one mi le from the home, and in the middle ~fthe 
first day of searching, volunteers found one of Joshua's shoes: This 
was a big discovery and encouraged scarchers to focus oo that area. 

By the second complete day of searching, severa) canine~··and 
specially trai ned bloodhounds joined the search. The SAR had peo­
ple on horseback, ATYs, and in the sky. The first night ~hat J?~hua 
was missing a heavy rain hit the area and eliminated many ·!-'>f the 
tracks. 

Approx imately fifty hours after Joshua di sappeared, a ' .lone 
searcher was wa lking down a creek bed three mi le~ fror:n<the 
residence and found a clump lying on thc ground. lt was ~oshua 
Childers. The boy seemed groggy but responded when the·seai'cher 
asked i f he wanted to go home. . 

Joshua was found with only one shoe, his diaper had disappeqred, 
and he was wearing only a T-shirt. The emergency room physician 
stated that Joshua was dehydrated but otherwise in good cond.ition. 

. ,. 

~ o • • 
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Joshua never explained how or why he left the residence. 

Oklahomaj Arkansas 

M issing people from Oklahoma and Arkansas are included 
on one list because of the proxi mity to the Oklahoma and 

Arkansas border, which represents the cluster. lt does appear that 
the missing from this group was consistently young (two to nine 
years old), and then in 1999 the age profi le of the missing changes, 
:md it quickly gets older. 

Missing People near the Oklahoma-Arkansas Border by Date 

\lame 
Charles Wa rren 
Florence .Jackson 
Lloyd Hokit 
K:nherine Van Alst 

· Wi llarJ Eugene Jones Jr 
· **21-year t ime break 
Larry D. Krebbs 
Ernest Matthew Cook 

Gloria McDonald 

Date M issing•Age•Sex 
12/20/36•2•M 
09/06/37•4•F 
I0/21/45•9•M 
06/16/46•8•F 
01 / 17/59-3-M 

06/30/80•2•M 
04/22/99•27•M 
OI/26/01•68•F 
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Christopher L. Jones 
Madyson Jamison 
Sherilynn Jamison 
Bobby Jamison 

Charles Warren 

04/05/06•37•M 
I0/08/09•5•F 
l 0/08/09•40• F 
1 0/08/09•44• M 

Missing 12/20/35, PM, Hot Springs, Arkansas 
Age at Disappearance: 2 years 

Mr. and Mrs. Harold Warren ti ved in a rural area outside of .Hot · ·· · 
Springs, Arkansas. On December 20, 1935, Harold walked into the · 
woods to cut a Christmas tree, and it is believed that Charles fol- ·:. · · 
lowed without anyone knowing. This was the third time in less than · ·· 
one year that Charles had disappeared in an unexplained manner. 
Once the family knew the hoy wasn't in the home, they notified 
local authorities, and law enforcement asked the National Guard.for 
assistance. 

Almost exactly twenty-four hours after Charles went missing 
and after one hundred National Guardsman scoured the wood~, he · ~ 1 

· • 

walked into a neighbor's farmhouse nearly four miles away. The. : · · • 
hoy had evaded over one hundred searchers and freezing tempera~ .·:: .. : r: 
tures to merely walk into the house of neighbor Mrs. Loy. He told · . . . ... .- · · 
the lady he wanted his father but refused to say what happened to.· :. .. 
him or how he became lost. ...... 

Charles was rushed to the local Army/Navy hospital wher~ . . 
he was examined. A Decemher 22, 1936 article in the Fayetteville . 
Daily Democrat describes the doctor's feelings after the exa~: : 
"How the youngster endured the cold is nothing less than a miracle . 
stated Major W.O. Prosser <?ne ofthose that exarnined the h@y." ~· 

Charles was given oatmeal at the hospital and then went promptly 
to sleep. The hoy woke for his parents and then slept nonstop all the' 
way hack to his residence and through the following morning. He · ·· 
never said anything to his family about his disappearance. 

Florence Jackson ! ·• 

Missing 9/6/37, Oak"Grove, Arkansas 
Age at Disappearance: 4 years 

Mr. and Mrs. Arthur Jackson and their daughter Florence trav~!" 
led from their home in Chelsea, Oklahoma, to visit relatives in· Oak 

.. t 
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Gro~e,''Arkansas. On Monday afternoon, September 6, 1937, the par­
ents went with Florence's grandfather to a wooded section outside 
the ~·ity while Florence and the grandfather took a walk toan aban­
doned saw mili. Approximately halfway to the mili, Florence stated 
that·· she wanted to go back to the car where her mother and father 
wet:e·.·tocated and turned and ran toward the auto. She never made it 
to d~~ :car. · The grandfather got back to the auto and found Floren ce 

· was.not there and called authorities. 
:The area of Berryville and Oak Grove responded en masse as 

fou~·hunqred searchers attempted to find Florence. For four days 
the d~puties and volunteers covered a vast area in an attempt to find 
the.girl. They did find evidence. A September 9, 1937 article in the 
Joplii1 Globe had the following: 

Sho.e~: and' stockings of the fin/e gir/ werediscovered late Tuesdc~r 
ajiel~f1qort ·by searchers within a half mi/e of where she was last 
see1i.: Tonight, however, no further trace ofher had been jound. The 
~·ros.kÚ1gs were found on the side o.f a high ridge and were abollf Ji/· 
teen~várds.apart, Mon·is (sherif}) said. Down the mountainside and 
)1igh;pi1 wtother ridge a quarter mi/e awt~V her shoes were found. 

.Th·i~ finding stumped the searchers. Why would a little girl take 
stoddngs off at fifteen-yard intervals? lt was almost as though 
.someone was carrying her and stripping her clothing as he or she 

1 was.¡·unning, but this was a four-year-old girl-not an easy feat. 
··:·s.earchers were also stymied by heavy rain that hit the Oak 

Gr()ye·are~ after Florence disappeared. Reading further in the same 
Jdplln Globe article was the following, hl helieve she is alive Sheriff 
Morrls said, but finding her·will be like ·finding a needle in a hay 
sta·~~ .. That country is the roughest you can imagine." 

· ,;·Late on September 10, a farmer's wife was outside her resi­
dence· se.ven miles from where Florence disappeared and thought 
she. heard someone calling her. Mrs. A. W. Godwin walked around 
hef. 'n!sidence and down near Indian Creek and saw naked little 
Flór~nce ·Jackson asking for help. All ·of her clothing was gone, 
hei::tíair ·was full of burrs, and she was carrying one tomato and a 
há.ndfuJ.of sheep sorrel. She told Mrs. Godwin that she didn't think 
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she could cross the creek and ~ould she come get her. The ~oman·. 
waded through the creek and grabbed Florence and brought Iwr into 
her farmhouse. Authorities were quickly called. Florence told the :. 
Godwins that she had just eaten wild grapes, tomatoes, and lots: of 
sheep sorrel. Mr. and Mrs. Jackson were escorted to the Godwin: 
farm where they met with Florence. She was taken to a local h9~~ · 
pital where she was found to have ·scratches over almost her entire : 
body .and a mild temperature but was otherwise fine. 

Once Florence was at the hospitallocallaw enforcement officers:. 
did meet and question her about her ordeal. The consensus of poli ce. 
was that there was a good likelihood that she was· abducted, arid .. 
they wanted to hear her complete story. The Northwest Arkansas 
Times ran a lengthy story about this incident on September 11, 1937 . .' 
Here are a few excerpts: .:. 

Local officers lis tened closely to everything she said in view·of the 
theory that she might have been temporari/y abducted, but ·it was. 
dffficu/t to distinguish between actual experience and what s#~·. 
migh( have dreamed in ji(ful slumber in the jorest. · 

Later, the same article states, "One night she said she slept on a lpg 
or in si de a log. When darkness fe11 again she told of climbing a tree. 
Another night she recalled sleeping on a flat rock and 1 got·a cold 
and called for mother to come." It was unclear whether she was can.: · 
ing for her mother or someone else in the area to come to her. 

Later the article states, HOnce she hid in the woods when she 
saw two strange men." lt was.unclear who these men were or what 
was strange about them. · .... 

One of the more fascinating parts of the story dealt with 
Florence's next statement, 

She told C?fspending one o.fthe nights in a h011se deep in thefore~t 
"a.fter a black man and woman picked me up and took me ihere,·H 
she re/ated that they "pul meona cot that night and then gave:me 
breakfast and told me lo get going on. 1 was mad and hit then_1 1vith 
my hands," she said. 
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The writer ofthe story stated that he or she couldn't tell by her 
r.ecollection what was true and what was false. 

· As someone who has interviewed hundreds of children after 
. v~ry stressful incidents, when they are not suspected of a crime, 
.;· .. they are very. truthful. 1 believe that something" very, very strange 

·_. . happened to Floren ce; and she probably has subconsciously sup­
.. ·:· ~ressed much ofthe story in an effort to block a very negative expe­
··· . ~ience. S he is probably trying to tell the truth the best she can with­
. >: ~'ut her miild going toa bad place. 

.· ... Lloyd Neal Hokit 
. ·Missing 10/21/45, Found 10/23/45, Kiamichi Mountains, Oklahoma 
; .. Age at Disappearance: 9 years 
· On October 21, 1945 Lloyd "Sonny" Hokitjoined his uncle (D. 

. . .Richa~ason) and his uncle's hunting dogs for a da y of squirrel hunt­
··.. ing in the Kiamichi Mountains of eastern Oklahoma. The Kiamichi 
.·· Mountains are known for their ruggedness and thick vegetation. 
· .. = The mountains sit directly on the border of Arkansas and actas a 
· 11atural divider for the two states. 

Sonny lived ten miles southeast of Talihina, Oklahoma, and 
made the trip to the mountains just east and then hiked into the 
rugged wilderness with his uncle. At one point during the trip, the 
un ele and the dogs stopped with Sonny to get a drink of water from 
the· creek. As Sonny was getting a drink, Richardson's dogs chased 

. a squirrel, and put it up a nearby tree. Richardson turned around and 
.· ·' · . told nine-year-old Sonny to follow him. He looked back again and 
:.. Sonny wasfollowing. Richardson went to the tree and was going to 
· :. · shoot the squirrel when he looked back again and he couldn't see the 
.. ·.· · boy .. Richardson felt that he would arrive quickly and waited a few 

· .. minutes and then turned back to look for the hoy. He couldn't find 
.: .. him. Richardson combed the area with his dogs for thirty minutes; 
.: .: 'J1e ~as yelling for Sonny, dogs were attempting to find a s~ent, noth­

. ; ... ing. In a matter ofminutes Sonny had disappeared. 
Richardson nów returned to his vehicle and went to town to 

· .· summon assistance. Just as night approached, the search parties 
· ··: \Vere starting to get organized. Heavy rains hit the region, and the 

. .'ten~peratures plummeted-not a good omen for finding Sonny. 
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The Oklahoma Highway Patrol was the lead law enforce­
ment agency in the hunt for Sonny. Mrs. Claude Hokit, Sonny's 
mother, was one ofthe tireless searchers who worked day and night 
in the hunt for Sonny. Military personnel from Texas, Arkansa~, · 
and Oklahoma were sent to assist in the search for Sonny. ln · · _: ~-
addition, Army soldiers from Camp Maxey and Camp Chaffee .... :.:1 .• 

were sent to supplement the 150-plus people searching for .the .~-. ·, ·. 
lost hoy. · .. 1 • • 

Two days after Sonny disappeared, Army Privates Herschell ·: · ... 
Kirkwood and Claude Bushy from Camp Chaffee in Arkansas were ·: 
searching a ridgeline high in the Kiamichi's approxitrtately fo~r ... _ .·: .. ' ·. 
miles from the spot where he was last seen when they found the boy. · 
lying on the ground unconscious. The soldiers stated that Sonny · 
had a pulse when he was origina11y found but was unconscious. The: 
soldiers had to carry the boy four miles back toa roadway where he 
was then taken toa hospital. He was pronounced dead at the hospi.: 
tal, where doctors stated he had died of exposure. ' 

1 

An article in the October 24, 1945 Nevada State Journal aoout .. 
the Sonny Hokit incident talked ahout the condition of his body :_ ::.·,_ :r ·· 
when it was found: · · · 

• f ••• • ·' 

The little farm /ad's body was bruised badly and his /ightwelght! .· · . · ? :· 
c/othing was almost torn from his body, giving evidence that he:. _: t :. 
spent many terrified hours trying to keep warm in near ji·eezing · · :: · ~ .' 
weather and find his way back home. · · .. · .. 

Case Summary: 
There are severa] issues regarding Sonny Hokit's disappearance 

that do not make sense. Sonny's uncle specifically stated that he 
looked hack and Sonny was following him to the location ·where the 
squirrel was chased by his dogs. A few minutes later he turned back. 
and didn't see the hoy. He walked backwards to look for the young 1 •·• 

lad and could not find him; he even yelled his name, and got no 
answer. In a mattet of minutes 1 do not believe a hoy, under his own ·' 
power _can get out of range of a grown man yelling. This portion of 
the story is of concern. 

.' 
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'The idea that Sonny got four miles from the point he was last 
seeriis also a confusing point. Sonny was on a creek when he was 
last seen. Someone with a nine-year-old intellect knows not to walk 
fa~.'from that creek because that creek is his salvation. To leave the 
safety.'·ofthe creek and climb up a mountain toa ridgeline makes no 

sense: . 
··::The third and most disturhing part of the story is the conditioll 

·.'that .. Sonny's body when discovered. The accounts indicate that the 
: bodY·had lnany bruises and his clothing Hwas almost torn from his 

bo~\);!;_,, 1 have personally been in the Kiamichis on several occa­
.sioris.1 have seen the hills and the forests. They are thick, but there 
is 'plenty of open space to hike. 1 do nót believe that the answers 

. · abo~t why Sonny had bruising and the clothes were torn from his 
bo<;iy ·are because ofthe foliage. A nine-year-old boy has an intellect 
tha~·· would tell him to stay clear of certain elements that represent 
danger,and to stay in areas that would ofter the least resistance to 
wa~king and hiking. Sonny would know .to answer his uncle when 
he·:~alled. He didn't, and that is a major con.cern. 

·',;. ·.· 
Kath~riné Van Alst 
Mi~sing 6116/46, 2:30p.m., Devil's Den State Park, Arkansas 
Ag'e at Disappearance: 8 years 

~ The· Van Alst family left their home in Kansas City and were 
vacationing in western Arkansas. They drove to Devil's Den State 
Park and rented a cabin tor the five people in the family. After get­
ting ·unpacked, John Van Alst (father) took Gene (thirteen), Bobby 
(elev~n) and Katherine (eight) to Lee's Creek and an area where 
tl1ere was a sma11 dam 

··.:Once the children arrived at the Devil's Den Dam, the children 
stÚted to play in the water, and Katherine fell into a deep portion 
ofthe upper dam where an unknown woman supposedly pulled her 
o.ut.and told her not to play in the deep water. Katherine Iistened and 
we.nt to the outftow of the creek below the dam. The outftow had 
several·large boulders and rocks, and this was the last location that 
Katherine was seen at. lt was 2:30p.m. on June 16. The elevation of 
th~.'da~ is approximately 1000 feet, although peaks in the area go 
as·J1igh as 1600 feet. 
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After a short period of time Katherine's brothers realized 
they hadn't seen the girl"and notified their father. In a very S.hort 
time span many people were looking for Katherine. Once an·· jni­
tial search could not locate the Van Alst girl, the county 'sher­
iff and state park rangers were notified, and a formal s~arch was 
organized. ·. · ·. 

On June 18, Washington County Sheriff Cap Gulley wás in 
charge of the search and was focusing his efforts in a sixteenMfoot 

. deep pool ofwater beneath the dam under the beliefthatKatherine 
had drowned. The Moberly Monitor ran an article on June 18 ·~tat­
ing the following: HSheriff Cap Gulley said it was unlikely that ·the 
youngster had wandered ipto the wooded section of the_ park..and 
that she had apparently drowned.'' · 

It was at approximately this time that newspapers reported that 
Katherine's father had a nervous breakdown and had to be .Pl.aced 
under a doctor's care. 

Sheriff Gulley managed to drain the pool below the da\n ... ~nd 
confirmed that Katherine did not drown, at least not at this loca~ion. 
While the sheriff and his assisútnts were focusing on the water, few 
resources were being put into searching the surrounding thic~:. for-
ests of the state park. Times were about to change. : · 

The superintendent ofthe Arkansas State Parks System d~cided 
to respond to the search and eventually met with Sheriff GúUey. 
Arkansas Parks Director William B. Holman shared search ~~ties 
with Sheriff Gulley and immediately started to put state :police 
dogs, National Guard troops, and others into the mountains to ... J.ook 
for the girl. Holman wasn't on the scene long when the Arkaiuas 
Times on June 22 ran the following statement: "There is a possibil-

. ity Katherine was taken from the area by a passing motorist or ·~ther 
persons, Holman speculated." o • • • 

When SAR Ieaders start to make claims about a possible a~duc­
tion, it's an indicator that they are starting to believe that the ~fcti1~ 
m ay not be found. · · · 

On Saturday, June 22, at approximately 3:30p.m., a gn)~lp of 
searchers was seven air miles from where Katherine was·Iast s~en. 
The team was making its way up a mountainside through ·oi~ick 
bushes calling Katherine's name. As the team neared the summit, 

. ~-
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Katherine called out, "Here 1 am." University of Arkansas student 
· ~orter Chadwick was the first to find Katherine. S he was wear­
ing just a bathing suit, nothing else. She had scratches over her 
entire body and was also riddled with insect hites. The Santa Fe 

••

0 

New Mexican ran a UP story on June 24 with the following state­
ment: "She was found about seven miles as the crow flies from the 
vacationers· retreat where she set out, but, trail-wise mountaineers 
believed she had walked dozens of miles through the forests." She 
was found in an area downstream from the Devil's Den Dam. 

Katherine was later interviewed by law enforcement sources 
and stated that she remembers sleeping in the warm grass the first 
night but doesn't remember the next few days or nights. She did 

· state that she found a cave high up on a mountainside where she 
spent the Iast few nights before she was found. She stated that the 
cave had a pool of clean water and there were berries that she found 

o • in the area and eventually ate them. 

Case Summary: 
The recovery of Katherine Van Alst made worldwide news in 

1946. The eight-year-old girl was missing for six days and nights 
without shoes, without pants, without a coat, yet managed to sur­
vive even· though this was her first time ever in the woods. Rescuers 
claim that Katherine would have had to walk between twenty-four 
to thirty-six miles to get to the Iocation where she was eventual1y 
found, yet she wore no shoes. The girl managed to make her way 
thr~ugh thick and thorny bushes to reach the location of her cave 
rtear a mountaintop at nearly six hundred feet higher in elevation 
from where she was last seen. Katherine Van A 1st defied every SAR 
profile regarding an eight-year-old girl who goes missing. Is this 
possible? She had never been in the woods but knew which berries 
she could safely eat? She just happened to find a cave on a moun­
taintop with fresh spring water inside? 

Katherine was hospitalized for two days and released in excel­
lent condition. The doctors stated that she was suffering from mul-

o tiple cuts and bruises and a minor case of shock. There was nevera 
mention of dehydration or her suffering from lack of foqd. 
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. The exact location of Devil 's Den Park is approx imately sixty 
miles east of Eufa la, Oklahoma, and sixty mi les north of Mena, 
Arkansas. 

Willnrd Eugene Jones, Jr. 
Missing 1117159, Unknown Time, eight miles s/o Lebanon, Missouri 
Age at Disappearance: 3 yea rs 
**Thi s incident was placed with the Oklahoma and Arkansas cases . 
because ofits proximity to those cases. . 

Mr. and Mrs. Wi llard Jones, Sr. lived on a fa rm eight miles· 
south of Lebanon Missouri. The location of their residence is near 
the Fuson Conservation area and is approximately twenty miles · 
west of Fort Leonard Wood. The area of the farm is very wet and · · 
swampy. The fa rm is forty mil es from the Oklahoma border 

On a cold January day in 1959, Willard was with one ofhis eight. 
bro_thers . and sisters cutting firewood on the farm. At sorne point 
whlle Wt lbert (fifteen) was cutting wood, he had to leave the wood­
pile to get fue! for the chain saw. Willard , at thi s point, wandered 
of:- As Wilbert took a break from his chores, he went looking for 
Wtllard and couldn't fi nd him. A notification went to other fami ly . 
members and a search of the farm started. 

As the search for Willard esca lated, up to fi ve thousand soldiers, 
law enforcement officials, and volunteers scoured the farm and sur­
r~unding Ozark Mountains. Canines were brought to search, sol­
d!ers from Fort Leonard Wood were on scene for severa! days, and 
atrpl anes crossed the sky looking for the boy. 

As searchers were looking for Wi llard, the weather turned very 
bad almost immediately after he disappeared. An icy rain hit the 
region, and everything froze. The weather greatly in hibited search 
efforts. · 

Eight days after Wi llard disappeared, two soldiers were in 
ex tremely dense woods two and one-fourth miles from the victim 's 
residence when they found the boy lyi ng on the ground, dead. The 
area where the bo~' was found was so dense and so fa r from a rea­
sonable area that the boy would have wandered to, the soldiers had 
to cal! for instructions on how to get back to the command post, as 
they were lost. 
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The autopsy on Wil lard indicated the boy died of exposure 
pro~~bly twenty-four hours after he disappeared. 

Larry Dewayne Krebbs 
Missi ng 3/30/88, Lake Texoma. 
Oklahoma 
Age at Disappearance: 2 years 
2'4'', 35 lbs 

Larry Krebbs and his son 
were on the third day ofa camp­
ing trip to Lakc Texoma in 
southeastern Oklahoma. Larry 
and Dewayne were walking on 
the bank of a river that feeds the 
lake and were gathering ri re­
wood. The two were fifty feet 
from the river with the father 
walking in front by maybe eight 
paces and the son walking to thc 

r~ar. A Seprember 11 art icle in theDaily Democrat states how Larry 
recounts facts of the di sappearance: " He says thar he wal ked ahead 
of his son and when he turned around and looked, Dewayne was 
gol1e. He recall s ttever hearing a splash or any noise." 

· 'rhe arricle \Vent on to report that investigators did follow a pair 
. ofsmall child's tbotprints that led toa small puddle and then didn' t 

come out. 
The disappearance of Larry Dewayne Krebbs occurred at the 

far northern end of Lake Texoma on the stretch of thé lake where 
historie ·Fort Washita is located. This area has the Confederate 
C emetary and so me extreme! y re more and desola te areas. The are a 
directly surrounding the river is lush with vegetation. 

There was a massive search for the young boy, wh ich did incl udc 
the tlearby river being dragged for a body, but nothing was fbund. 
Almost fifteen years after the incident, Larry's father contacted a 
psychic and asked for assistance in finding his son. The psychic 
sra.ted that someone had abducted the boy, put bis hand over hi s 
m.outh. and took him away. 
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Case Summa ry: 
This is another case in which 1 believe the father, burtlult .facts 

nlmost defy belief. Child molesters and abductors go to great f~¡jg'ths 
to ensure their identity is hidden, and they are never seen. The idea that 
someone hid in the bushes, waited for the Krebbs to walk by (just~ight 
paces behind his dad),jump out and then grab the boy and run off, is 
far-fetched and seems impossible. The person committing this crime 
would have to be extraordinarily fast, strong, stealthy, and know. the 
area and a route to escape very well. Remember, the risk of an ¡¡bquc­
tor being caught in the middle of nowhere trying to take a child cÓuld 
be very severe. How would the abductor know that the father wquldn't 
turn back and Iook at the precise minute that he or she was taking,the 
child, unless this occurred with unusual speed and precision? 

It appea rs that Iarry walked into a small puddle and was Ú1ken 
before he walked out, thus no tracks Ieaving the puddle. This is 
another of a long line of cases where children are taken while in 
very close prox im ity to their parents. 

Larry K rebbs has never been found. 

Ernest Matthew Cook 
Missing April 22, 1999, Bnche, Oklah01Úa 
Age at Disappearance: 27 ycars 
5'10", 180 lbs 

· Ernest Cook was living in .a cartiper 
on property belongi ng to his grandfather 
in a rural area of Bache, Oklahóma. Cook 
was recently divorced and the father oftwo 
young gi rls. On the night of April 22, 1999 
at 10:30 p.m. his father was driving Cook 
back to his camper. Ernest's father stated 
that hi s son got out of his truck, started to 

walk toward a wooded area that kept the camper, and he ~aved 
goodbye. That was the Jast time he was seen. 

John Cook went back to the camper the next day to check on his 
son and found he was not in the camper. He did find his ov.ernight 
bag in the camper; it was open with his shoes on top along with clean 
clothes and photos of his g irls. John searched the immediat(!. area 
and didn't see his son. Two days later John returned to the camp with 
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hi's father and they both searched the area. Two hundred yards from 
the cnmper and out in the pasture they found Ernest's sleeping bag 
and pillow. The two continued to look, and further past the sleeping 
bag, they found a small road. In the middle. of the dirt road, they 
found a bai·efoot track on the right side and a boot track on the right 
side. As they pushed down the road and toward a mud puddle, they 
agai n found another barefoot track and another boot track. 

John Cook was later interviewed and stated he does not believe 
.that his son left his camper voluntari ly. 

The location ofthis inciden! is in rural southeastern Oklahoma. 
lt is Iocated south of Eufa la and south of Oknoname Reservoir. 
McAlester is just west of the city of Dow. This region of Oklahoma 
has thi ck underbrush and lots ofwater is in the vicinity. The speci fi c 
location that Ernest di sappeared is very remote. 

Case Summa ry: 
lt appears as though something occurred to Ernest while he was 

sleeping in hi s camper. lt wou ld also appear that he was not wearing 
his shoes ancl was in his sleeping bag when hi s sleep was inter­
rupted. The question is, was he grabbed and carried while in bi s 
sleeping bag, or was he forced to carry the bag and pillow? The idea 
ofcarrying the sleeping bag for wannth may make some sense, but 
the idea of carrying the pillow makes very little sense. 

We don't know if Ernest made the barefoot marks in the mud 
nr someone else did . We also don' t know if the boot marks were 
previously there or if the person with Ernest made the marks. We 
also do not know whether Ernest had made the barefoot marks or 
whether they had been there severa! days. There are many aspects 

of th is story that need further study and 
investigation. 

This case is somewhat similar to the 
di sappearance of Stephanie Stewart from a 
lookout tower in Alberta Canada. lt appears 
that Stephan ie disappeared in the middle 
of the night along with her sheets, blanket 
and pillow. Refer to Missing-411 Western 
United States for details on Stephanie's 
di sappearance. 
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Gloria McDonald 
Missing 1/26/01, Queen Wi lhelmina State Park, Arkansas 
Age at Disappearance: 68 years 
5'6", l20 lbs 
Red Hair 

Daniel McDonald, bis wife Gloria and their son Sean and his 
girlfriend Erin Jemmott decided to spend January 26, 2001 hi king 
a trail in the 460-acre Queen Wilhelmina State Park. The group 
slarted lheir day with breakfast al lhe McDonalds' restaurant ir; 
ú1eir hometown of Mena. Sean was in town from Florida visiting 
wiili his girlfriend. After breakfast, the group arrived at the park 
and walked to the trailhead. The ground in the area was very wet 
and there were a lot of trees and shrubs on the ground beca use of a 
recent stonn 

The group decided to hike a trail called "Lovers Leap." 
Everyone in the group enjoyed the outdoors except Gloria. She 
was a city person, but Gloria was a good sport and stnrted to hi ke 
the muddy trail. It was an early Friday afternoon, and there was 
nobody on the trails, and the group didn't see anyone in the park­
ing lot. Approximalely 250 yards down the trail, the group encoun­
tered large trees blocking their path. It was at this point that Gloria 
decided she wanted nothing more to do with hiking. She told the 
group that she was going to hike back to the gift shop and would 
meet thern there. 

After Gloria left the group, Daniel, Sean, and Erin continued 
down the trail for another thirty minutes and then turned around 
and headed back. It was approx imately 2:00 or 2:30 p.m. when the 
group finally reached the park ing lot. They looked for Gloria in 
the gift shop and snack bar but didn't find her. They checked their 
car and found that her purse was inside just as she had left it. The 
McDona lds now notified park officials. 

A massive search was started immediately. Gloria was a 
reporter for the Mena Star newspaper and was a very sharp and 
wi se woman. lt would-have been hard not lo spot Gloria, as she was 
wearing a bright yellow jacket and had red hair. Aeri al searches, 
ground teams, and olhers scoured the park and the surrounding land 
for Gloria. She was never found . 

- ~ 

:, 
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For som~ reason law enforcement focused on Daniel as the pri­
mary suspect. íhis is an odd person to focus on since Gloria was lasl 
seen by three people leaving their presence simultaneously. Daniel 
stnyed \;y ith tl¡e group. All th ree of the wit nesses were inlerviewed 
separately, and still lhe rocus was on Dan iel. He became so frus­
trated with law enforcement thal he demanded to lake a polygraph 
test. They complied nnd he passed. 

Case Summary: 
This is a case in which it appears that law enforcement didn'l 

place enough t!mphasis on the search and focused too heavily 0 11 the 
husbana 'ns a suspect. If three people all claim to have seen Gloria 
lea\'e their presence, then Gloria left their presence on her own. 
Nobody in the park claims they ever saw Gloria except the group. lt 
appears that Gloria was forcibly taken offthe tra il somewhere in the 
250 yards between the parking lot and where the trees blocked the 
trai l, ~ i1d tha"t's where law enforcement should have and hopefully 
did focus their search efforts. There is no mention in any documen­
tation ifSAR teams used canines but hopefully they d id. 

In an unrelated article to the di sappearance ofGioria but related 
to the park, 1 did find an article about Queen Wil helmina parks trails 
being c"losed. An art icle dated July 12, 2010 on NWA online states 
thal all trails inside the park will be closed until further notice: '"Due 
to increased wild life acti vity." In allmy years ofresearching activ­
ity in local, state, and national parks 1 have never seen that wording 
used . .I cnn't ever remember a park or its trail s being closed in the 
Un.ited Stales for any reason other than bear attacks in Yellowstone 
or Glacier National Park, and thnt wasn't the reason cited in this 
park release. 

Case Compari son 
Th~ Gloria McDonald disappearance is vcry simi lar to the dis­

appearance ofThelma Pauline Melton on S!!plember 25. 1981 from 
the Gre·at Smoky Mountnins Nalional Park. Thelma was walking a 
trail with friends and started to walk faster than the others, who 
eventually lost sight ofher. The group was heading toward the park­
ing lot where their tra ilers and campers were located. When the 
group ~ot back to the parking lot, Thelma hadn' t arrived and was 
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never seen agai n. A subsequent sea rch for severa! days fai fed to,~nd 
any evidencc ofwhat happened to Thelma. 

Christopher L . .Iones . 
Missing 4/5/06, Holland , Arkansas 
Age at Disappearance: 37 years 
6', 150 lbs . 

Holland, A rkansas, is locate·d tw¡;!nty 
miles north of Little Rock and twenty miles 
east of the Ozark and Quachita National 
Forests. Parts of the perimeter of th~. city 
can be quite remole. Chris Jones li~~d in 
one of those remote sections of the city 
in his house trailer. He had a wbile pi~ket 
fence surrounding his properly ~nd a large 

creek running to the rear. Chris hadj ust returned home prior to his 
disappearance. He was in the hospital with asevere case of gout that 
had struck both ofhi s legs, making it almost impossible to walk . He 
was using two crutches to move around. · 

On April 5, friends and fam ily went to visit Chris ~nd f9un.d 
his fronl door closed, not locked. H is crutches were l ea~1111g on h1s 
favorite chair. His vehicle was parked in his driveway, and Jiothing 
appeared to be moved or stolen. Shane Dickson is Chris's cp.usin 
and was interviewed during the investigation. Shane stated,'' Jt was 
obvious that he was probably carried out ofthere, but we don't know 
how, who, or why.'' 

There were continuous ground and air searches of Cadron 
Creek and the property surrounding the trailer. Nothing o~ value 
was ever found . Chri s had a daughter who was away at the .time of 
his disappearance; she died in an auto accident three month~'after 
Chris di sappeared. The fami ly hoped that Chris would surface for 
the funera l, but he didn' t. The family knew that ifChris ~ idn't come 
lo the funeral, thi s had to have a bad ending; he loved his daughter 

very much. . 
Law enforcement officials stated that Ch ris did not have ~ cnm-

inal record, was not under investiga! ion for anything, and was·work-
i ng as an electrician prior to h is onset of gout. · 
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Case Summary: 
' 1 ll~ ink it's obvious to a ll involved thal Chris is probably 

deceased; he wouldn't have missed the funera l of his daughter. It 's 
al so obvious that Chris could not ha ve walk<;¡d out of the area of his 
home because of his disability, gout. The real question that puzzles 
everyone-who carried Chris Jones offhis property and why? 

Madyson Jamison, Age at Disappearance: 5 years 
Sherilynn .lamison, Age at Disappearance: 40 years, 5'7", 105 lbs 
Bobby Jamison, Age at Disappearance: 44 years, 6'3", 180 lbs 
Missing 10/07/09, 2:00p.m. 

One of the biggest and most unusual cases of missing people 
in the hi story of the state of Oklahoma is the case of the Jamison 
Fami ly. Madyson, Sherilynn, and Bobby Jamison left their Eufala 
Lakeside residence and drove sixty miles to PanoJa Mountain in 
eastern O k lahoma. They wcre visiting a forty-acre plot of land that 
used lo have a natural gas well on site. lt has sincc bcen removed. 
The sitc is reached by way of taking a sevcn-mi lc-long di rt road. 

The fami ly met the owner of the land at the site, and he gave 
them a short tour. The famil y asked if they could stay behind and 
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walk the property. The owner said that was fin e. The owner indi­
cated that he left the Jamisons and their truck on the site. 

Severa! days after the Jam isons visited the well si te, others in the 
area saw the Jamisons truck sitting on the dirt roadjust feet outside 
ofthe site they were visiting and called authorities. Latimer c;:ounty 
Sheriff Deputies anived at the location and found the Jam ison truck 
with camper parked at the site with the Jamisons dog (Mazy)' in 
the shell starving and dehydrated. Deputies removed the dog and 
searched the truck. 

ln a highly unusual find, deputies searched the Jamison's front 
driving area of the truck and found $32,000 in cash under the front 
seat, everyone's identification and wallets, and cell phones all in the 
car. They also found the family's overcoats. 

Latimer County Sheriff initiated a massive search of the sur­
rounding area. The search included a FLIR helicopter, F8I, and 
Oklahoma Bureau of Investiga! ion (081) agents. The search !asted 
two weeks, and they essentially found nothing. 

Immediately after searchers initiated their SAR, the sky opened 
up and a massive rainstorm hit the area and deeply impeded search 
efforts. 

The FBl agreed to leave an agent on this case wh ile 081 inves­
tigated the incident. OBI and sheriffdeputies continuecl to interview 
neighbors ofthe family and fr iends. The fami ly had been in a severe 
accident in their past and had a sizeable recovery. The investiga­
lían revealed that it was known that the fami ly routinely traveled 
with significan! amounts of money, so finding the cash in the truck 
wouldn't be unusual. 

A short time after the initial search had been completed, the 
F81, in a surprising move took this case and now has primary 
responsibility for follow-up. 

Case Summary: 
There have been severa! rumors about thi s family and the pos­

sible results of their disappearance. One of the rumors is that the 
family committed st;icide, but 1 don 't think so. The fa mi ly too k tqeir . 
dog and met with someone about purchasing property. If a family 
had decided to take their own lives, 1 think they wou ld have gone 
directly to a remate locatíon and done it. 1 al so don't be! íeve the 
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fa.tnilv wou ld have left the beloved family dog in the truck to suffer 
and p~ssibly starve to death. lt doesn't make sense. 1 f'the family had 
walked ·offto take their own lives, decomposition ancl and the asso­
ciated odors. would make finding the multiple bodies much easier. 

1 suppose it is possible that the fami ly was foll owed to that loca­
tion nnd stalked until the witness left and then was approached and 
abducted. The issue: it is very difficult to abduct three people with­
out si~rnificant resources and personnel. 1 ftwo people decide to fight 
one abductor, they have a good chance of winn ing the battle ancl 
disarmi~g the culprit. There was no blood found at the scene, so 
there wasn't a struggle or battle. 

The location where their truck was found is pecu liar. The truck 
was located just ofT the dirt roa el, just feet outside the si te they were 
visiti;1g. 1t would appear that they started to leave and pul led over to 
stop. There was a camera found in the truck, and the sheri ff devel­
oped. the film. One photo shows the daughter standing against a 
backdrop at the site location with her arms crossed not looking at 
the camera, almost in a defiant pose. 

The weather in the area during thi s time wasn't great. lt was cold, 
and the idea· that the fam ily voluntarily left the area on a hike without 
their coats ]sn't a realistic scenario. They would take their coats. 

.If a crime did occur against this family, robbery wasn't thc 
motive. The fa mi ly's wallets, $32,000 in cash, and ccll phones were 
all ¡;·, the cab of the truck and undisturbed. There is no cell phone 
reception i~ the area, so ifthe family went for a hike, they would not 
ha,·e·taken their phones. 

Tite disappearance of the Jamisons is another of a long line of 
disappeara'nces in the area of the Kiamichi Mountains that cannot 
be explained. In 20 10, the FBI asked OBI if it could take over the 
investi!mtion on the Jamison case. That agency was given the file. 
The FI31 has not released new detai ls on the Jamison disappearance 
in severa'! years. 

Chapter Summary 
.. The missing people in the Oklahoma/Ark ansas border area 

are in a falrly well-confined region that includes that Quachita and 
Oza"rk National Forests and Kiamichi Mountains. The rnissing in this 
region start in 1937 with the lates! being in 2009, a seventy-two-year 

·' . 
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span. Thi s is one of the few clusters where there is an escalatioi1 .of 
people d isappeari ng-eight people between 1999 and 2009. · 

.. 

1 , . • 

SOUTHERN STATES 

Alabama 

N ame 
Ri·ckey Tankersley 
Nora Moore 

Rickey Dunn Tankersley 

Date M issing•Age•Sex 
2/16/49•2•M 
7/18/55•78•F 

1vlissing 2/ 16/49, 4:30p.m., Sylacauga, Alabama 
Age at Disappearance: 2 years 

Alabama 95 

L.C. Tankersley and his fam ily lived in a rural area ofSylacauga, 
Alc¡bama. On February 16, 1949 at approximately 4:30p.m., Mrs. 
Tankersley rea lized that she couldn't find Rickey. She also reali zed 

' that the fam ily's two terrier dogs were missing. Mrs. Tankersley 
contacted her husband , who asked neighbors for assistance to search 
the area. The famil y and friends looked for the boy until 10:00 p.m. 
and then ca lled law enforcement. 
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At the height ofthe search 750 professionals and volunteers were 
looking for little Rickey Tankersley. The search was separated into 
two specific areas, with each group working its confined region. 

Searchers combed the woods for over sixteen hours until one 
tone volunteer found the boy in ta ll grass on the si de of a mountain, 
four miles from his home. That lone searcher was Rickey's fa ther. 
L. C. Tankersley had spoken toa psych ic who had told him where 
to search for hi s son- it worked! When Rickey's father came upon 
the boy, he found him asleep and guarded by the two terriers. When 
he became semiconscious, Rickey mumbled something that was not 
understood. He was rushed to a hospital where it was reported that 
he was in satisfactory condition. Rickey con ti nued to fa de into and 
out of consciousness until he was hospitalized. The boy eventually 
fully recovered, but he could remember little of hisjourney. 

Nora Moore 
Missing 7/ 18/55, 4:00p.m., Gardendale, Alabama 
Age at Disappearance: 78 years 

Approx imately fifteen miles north of Birmingham Alabama is 
the smal l town of Gardendale. Mrs. Nora Moore was living in an 
elderly living facility in a rural area of Gardendale when she went 
outside for an afternoon of sun . At approximately 4:00 p.m. on July 
18, Mrs. Moore had disappeared. Officia ls from the home searcl1~d 
the immediate area of the residence for the woman and could not 
find her. The people who managed the home were surprised they 
couldn't find Mrs. Moore because she had severe ankle and hip inju­
ries that greatly inhibited her abi li ty to walk. 

The formal search for Mrs. Moore !asted six days. Searchers 
found nothing for the first five days, which had them greatly con­
cerned. On the sixth da y, a searcher was one-fourth of a m ile from 
the home when the searcher found Mrs. Moore lying on her side · 
near a creek in a semi-conscious condition. She was missing her . 
shoes and her stockings, and she complained that someone was con­
tinually throwing water on her whi le she was out in the woods. Sh~ 
could never explain ~ho was throwing the water. 

Mrs. Moore was taken to the hospital and found to be in satisfac­
tory condition considering six days in the woods. As searchers were 
carrying her from the forest, they found broomsage in the pockets of 
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her sweater. The searchers asked her where she got the broomsage, 
and sh~ could not explain it. When Mrs. Moore was later questioned 
about the six days in the woods, she couldn't remember what had 
happe~ed to her or how she got to where she was found. She had 
briar scratches over her entire body, but she was in better condition 
than many searchers thought she should be. 

How Mrs. Moore evaded airplanes, searchers, and others tor 
nearly six day's is a true question . Many believe she was placed in the 
locatioú where she was eventual ly found, and she was some place 
~! l se during the majority of the search. How ancl where she got the 
broomsage is another million-dollar question. Who was throwing 
\\ater:on ·the .woman is another question that was never answered. 
The fact that she had briar scratches over her body indicates that she 
\\as probably carried through the patches, as it was nearly impos­
sible for her to walk. 

Broomsage is an entable perennial shrub with a delightful fra­
grance that thrives in the southwestern portian ofthe United States. 
How the broomsage got to Alabama and into Nora Moore's pocket 
is a fascinating question. 

•' ' 

1 
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Georgía Míssíng Persons v iew the Alabama Map for Details on Georgia Missin.g 

Every missing person on the Georgia list is a male. 

N ame 
Murray Upshaw, Jr. 

Christopher Thompkins 
David Tippin 
Jeremy Thomas 

Murray Upshaw, Jr. 

Date M issi nrr•A!!e 
11 /08/40•2 
**62-year gap 
o 1 /25/02•20 
08/01/04•4 
02116/07•22 

Missing 11 /8/40, Noon, 13 Miles North ofCartersvil le, Georgia 
Age at Disnppea rance: 2 years , 

Betty and Mmray Upshaw ra n a farm thirteen miles north of 
Cartersvi l1e nnd four hundred yards off the Knoxville. Highway. 
This was a rurallocation with few neighbors. _ · 

At noon on November 8, 1940, Betty looked out her bach-vin­
dow and saw Murray, Jr. (two years) playing near the tractor in the 
back yard. There was a small lawn, and then thick forests .started 
beh ind the tractor and barn. Betty looked into the backyard ·;,,in­
utes 1ater and Murray was gone. She ran into the backy~rd y~lli ng 
Murray's name but did not receive an answer. She ran more qu,ickly 
and covered more area and still couldn't find her son and then rea l­
ized that thei r eight-month-old terrier puppy, N ick ie, th~lt .w¡:¡s· p1ay­
ing with Murray was also gone. She remembered that it ·had' been 
only minutes since she last saw the boy and he couldn't ha~e gone 
far bcingjust two years old. When Betty couldn't find her SOl~ , slie 
summoned neighbors and po1ice to assist with the search. 

Hours after Mmray disappeared there were hundreds of X~oltm­
teers and pol ice combing the Upshaw ranch. The search was very 
organized, and people thought they werc doing a tliorough job. 
Hours after Murray left and in the midcl le of the search ; heav),' rains 
hit the area of the Upshaw far m, rains that didn't stop for over l)\10 

days. 

',. 
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Within the first thi rty-six hours of Murray's disappea rance, 
Murray, Sr. told the press that he fe1t his son had been kidnapped. 
He didn't think that his son could get outside the search zone and 
not have been found at this point. 

Three days into the search volunteers \~ere look ing two mi les 
from the farm in a very rugged area and found "Nickie" walki ng. 
They picked the puppy up and brought it back to the Upshaw's. To 

· the amazement of everyone, including the sheriff, Nickie was dry, 
clean, and well fed; she was not hungry even though she had been 
gone for over seventy hours. A November 12, 1940 article in the 
Pinsb11rgh Times stated the following: 

In addition lo being dry and c/ean (referring to Nickie), it had been 
fed so recen/~)' that it declined food, Sg1. Culberlson said. The dog 
had heen miss ing.for over 70 hours. Sullivan termed these circum­
srnnces 'peculiar' and 'suspicious ' bu/ adcled quick(v !ha! no clues 
ro suhstantiate a kidnapping theory had been uncovered. 

Further, thc article states, 

E1·e¡:¡·rhing el se in that section is ll'el from the rain, said Majar Len 
Sullivan. Sta/e Higlnray Potro/ Chief We can't explain how the dog 
COille 0111 oflhe 1roods ll 'ifhou/ being IVC' f unless snmehody brought 
liim there in the car. 

On the fourth day offormal searching, Murray's body was found 
at the base of a pine tree on a rugged mountainside one and a half 
.iniles from hi s home. A November 13 nrticle in the St. Pe!ersburg 

· Times described the boy's body: ·'Siight scratches appeared on the 
chi1d's arms and 1egs, ami his nose was bashed in.'· Later the same 

· article states, "Searchers said that leaves and pine twigs near the 
body indicated the little dog had bedded down beside his master for 
at 1east part ofthe time since the child di sappea red." 
, After Mu rray's body was discovered, Bartow County Shcriff 
George W. Gadd is went to the scene and then gave a press confer-

. ence. A San Jose Mercury News article on November 12 stated, 
. "George W. Gadd is ca lled for an immediare inquest." 
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Severa! articles stated that Murray's body did not show any 
signs ofviolence even though one article did note the note scratches 
and bruises. The inquest concluded that Murray died from ex haus- . 
tion and exposure, a typical conclusion when there is little evidence 
of anyth ing el se. 

Case Summary: 
As in ma11y ofthe cases in which a two-year-old is missing from 

a rural setting, there are questions about thc disappearance a11d the · · 
condition of the body. What really happened to Murray's nose? , 
There is one mention in one paper about this condition. Nobody else , 
wanted to mention it. Scratches and bruises about the body may be ·. 
normal, but why was Murray on a rugged hillside? Chi ldren do 1101 
normally walk uphill when lost! 

Severa! articles state that Nickie is believed to have been lying ·, 
next to Murray because ground around him was pressed down and 
twigs were broken. An eight-month old terrier is a very small dog, 
how do they know it was Nickie? There was no mention ofNickie's 
hair found at the scene, so how did they cometo their conclusions? 

Severa! articles stated that Murray died seventy-plus hours a.fter 
he disappeared , whi ch means he died relatively soon after disap- .. 
pearing. Because they claim that Nickie was ly ing next to Murray, .: 
is the implication that the dog sat there the entire time? lf the dog ·: ' ·! 
hadn't sat there, why was11't the dog soaking wet and hungry? Nickie ' ·· · ;; · 
was found 011 the other side of the mountain more than a half-mile · ··~: 
from Murray. Why wasn't he wet? 

1 think it 's important to note the location of the farm in rela­
tionship to some geographical features of Georgia. The huge 
All atoona Lake is less than two miles from the Upshaw property,. 
and the Red Top Mountain State Park is less than three miles from 
the property. 

Jn conclusion, the sheriff telt there was enough of a ~uspidon 
surrounding th is e11ti re event that he ca llecl for an i11quest into 'the 
case. 1 believe there are many points about the disappearance of 
Murray that deserv"e a second look. 1 could not find another article 
that discussed the results of the inquest. 
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Christopher Thompkins 
M issing 1/25/02, Ellersl ie, Georgia 
Age at Disappearance: 20 years 
5'9", 130 lbs 

Mrs. A11n McKenzie is the mothcr 
of Chris Thompkins. Ann was the 
babysitter for a man who owned a sur­
veying company, and Ann's son (Chris) 
worked for him on his tour-man team. 

On January 25, 2002, Ann 
. stated that Chris left the home at 

8:10 ~;, m. and drove to the surveyor's office where he parked his car 
and· rode .to the work site with the business owner. Cl~ris worked 
the ;norning hours with the three other men without any incident. 
Sh~rtly after lunch, al! of the workers were walking on the shoul­
der,of Highway 85 between County Line Road and Warm Springs 
Road. The employees were approximately fifty feet apart wa lking 
the.l1\ghway. When work associates last saw Chris, he was near the 
back. of the group and near the side of the road. A minute more 
passed and the crew looked behind them and Ch ris was gone, com­
plet~l): disappearcd. 

Tliere .was a tal! barbed wi re fence between the shoulder ofthe 
·road.and the prí vate property that borders thc hi ghway. When fel­
.low.'employees went back to the area where Chris was last seen , 
the.v fo.und one of Ch ris's boots lying near the fence and so me coi11s 
lvi~Q. nea·r the boots on the grass. They also found tools that Chris 
J~ad ~n hi m Iying and scattered on the ground near the tence. 

The owner of the surveyi ng business did ca l! Chri s's mother 
and·explained what had happened. They waited until 4: 15 p.m. and 
tried.to t:eport him to the sheriffas a missing person, but the sheri ff 
1\'o'uld not take a report unt il he was missing twenty-four hou rs. 
\\ 'eli , the .twenty-four hours passed, and an investigation started. 
Sheri.ffs 'round a piece of blue cloth 011 the barbcd wire near where 
his .. ooot was found , and it was fiber that matched the blue jeans he 
''as wean ng. 

1 
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The area on the other side of the barbed wire fence was best 
described as heav ily wooded with swamps, snakes, ancl very thick 
vegetation, a place most wouldn't want to go. 

A lmost a year after the disappearance of Christopher, the owner 
of the land where Chris wou ld have had to cross once over the fence 
reportcd to the sheri ff that he found Chris's other boot in the field. 
This piece of evidence was turned over to the sheriff. 

Case Summary: 
This disappearance is one of the most unusual l 've ever _read 

about. Jt 's been over eight years since Chris disappeared;· and 
nobody has heard from him. 1 be! ieve that this shows that something 
very bad happened to Chris when he went over the barbed wi're. l 
don' t believe this was a voluntary disappearance. · . 

Details from the scene make me believe that Chris was involved 
in a struggle-a struggle that ended up with Chris getting eithe~ 
knocked down or turned sideways so that coins and tools fell from. 
his pocket. 

There is no way anyone would walk the area on th e other' side 
ofthe barbed wire fence without boots or shoes. There is no logical 
reason someone \·vould take his shoes off if he wanted to vol untar­
¡!y lea ve the job si te. lt appears that Ch ris m ight ha ve been dragged 
over the fence because cloth was found on the barbed wire. lf 
someone is carried or turned sideways, tool s, coins and personal 
items may fa ll from thei r pockets, as happened in this case. : 

Jeremy Thomas 
Miss ing 2/16/07, 2:20p.m., Tobesofkee Creek, Macon, Georgia 
Age at Disappearance: 22 years 
6', 235 lbs 

On Thursday, February 15, Thomas left his home ánd \iJe!ll to 
Tobesofkee Creek to fi sh with his fr iend. 8 oth men arrived late and 
spent the night. The next morning at 8:00 a.m. Thomas cal.led his 
fiancée and told her they were putting the boat in the water to··fish. 
This was the last time the outside world spoke to Jeremy. · 

8oth fri ends fi shed unti l 2:00p.m. when Jeremy's f(iend ~tated 
that he was tired and cold and ca ll ed his girlfriend. The girlfi·iend 
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picked the friend up and left Jeremy alone in the boat. Jeremy never 
came home and was reported missing. 

On February 17, the 8ibb County sheriffs found Jeremy's boat 
with hi s personal belongings still inside. Th .. e items were shown to 
Jeremy's fami ly, and they confirmed that they belonged to their son. 

The sheriff conducted a search with fifty professional and vol­
unteer searchers and could not find any evidence of what happened 
to Jeremy. 

David Tippin 
Missing 8/1/04, AM Hours, Stockbridge, Georgia 
Age at Disappearance: 4 years 
Red 1-Iair/ Disabled 

Sometime early in the morning on August 1, 2004, little David 
Tippin woke before his parents, unlocked the rear door of his rural 
home, and disappeared into the wild countryside south of Atlanta. 

Stacey and Robert, David's parents, awoke to attend Sunday 
morning church. Robert went to David's room and found that he 
was gone and the rear door was open. He went into the rear yard, 
·called for David, and did not receive a response. A call to emer­
gency services brought an immediate response from law enforce­
ment. The Tippins told law enforcement that thei r son was mildly 
autistic. The ca ll for searchers brought off duty firemen, local resi­
dents. and many on-duty law enforcement personnel. 

Sunday afternoon brought a response of severa! canine teams 
to search for David. The dog teams reportedly took the searchers 
to a number of neighbors' homes, and for two days they could not 
find the boy. 

On Tuesday morning, a mi le from the Tippin residence, 8obby 
Himon (seventy years old) noticed ftood lights on at hi s renta! 
house on his property. The home was used predominantly for 
storagc. and he knew that the front ftood light should not be on 
unless someone had acti vated the motion sensor. 8obby walked to 
the home and found the rear door unlocked and partia lly opened. 
Bobby looked inside and saw a small lump on the floor in front 
of the refrigerator. He walked toward it and fou nd Dav id Tippin 
uhcon s'cious and on the fl oor in front of the refrigerator. Bobby 
picked the boy up and brought him back to bis mai n home where 
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he met with his wife, Martha. Martha woke the boy and fed him 
cookies and mil k as Bobby called the police. The boy was quickly.. ·· 
taken back to his residence. 

Robert Tippin stated that David suffered scratches, bug bites. 
and was moderately dehydrated. An August 3, 2004 article in the 
Elizabethon Star stated the following: "The house where David was 
found had been searched Sunday." This same item appeared the fo1 -· 
lowing day in the Albany Herald, confi rming the Hinton home had · · ' 
been searched. · , 

According to an att icle dated August 4, 2004 in the Atl6mta .'· . ' ,·. 
Constitution: "The boy (when found) was barefoot and weari ng· a.: . · i· 
Finding Nemo T-sh irt." ·: · .. :;. 

Case Summa ry: 
What would have caused David to leave the comlort of h·is . 

home and wander in the woods? Where was David when the Hinton · 
home was searched and nothing was to und inside? Did Dav id wan­
der the woods shoeless for three days, ancl , i f so, why weren't there. 
any notations about cuts and bruises to his feet, just a notation of 
scratches on his body and face. Why didn't the canines flnd David 
if they were on his scent? 

The area in which David disappeared is less then one-quarter .' ·:, 
mile from the Clayton County Reservoir and four other small lak:es :. 
in that immediate area. Readers should start to make note that many, ·· :. · .. 
ofthe disappearances occur in close proxi mity to wilderness areas, , · 
lakes rivers, streams, forest preserves and parks. 

Chapter Conclusion 
1 thin k it's interesting that there are two d ist inct groups ofmiss­

ing people in Georgia. Two males very young in age and two adults · 
near twenty in age. The two age groupings are not seen anywhere 
else in North America. Only males are missing in Georgia. 
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AP.PALACHIANS 

Great Smoky Mountaíns Natíonal Park and regían 

T\)e Great Smoky Mountains National Park straddles North 
t;:'aroli.n'a and Tennessee. The mountains have hada very long and 

rich human history from prehistoric Paleo lndians to settlements by 
the.· E~n·opeans and later by loggers harvesting trees. Arrowheads 
found inside the pa rk have been dated as nine thousand years old. 

·The park has 521,085 acres with 276,343 in North Carolina and 
2-14.741 in Tennessee. There were ni ne million visitors in 2008, 
andt(1e park had the highest number of visitors of any of the fifty­
eight : ational Parks (Yosemite was number three with 3.4 million 
\·isitoi:s). 'T;en campgrounds with 1000 si res accommodate 350,000 
campers annually. There are 2,115 mi les ofstreams and ri vers, 384 
miles of roads, ofwhich 238 are paved. Cl ingman's Dome at 6,643' 
is the high point in the park with Abrams Creek at 875' as the low­
esi ~levation. There are 800 mi les ofback-country trai ls that 400,00 
hikers use every year at some leve! or distance. Seventy miles ofthe 
Appalachian Trai l go through the park. 

· Great Smoky Mounta ins National Park has an annual budget of 
$18 .2 mili ion. The park employs 250 permanent employees and 100 
seasonal workers. 

; 

1 

l 
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**The Great Smoky Mountains (GSM) National Park website 
claims that the park generales $718 mili ion ayear for the surr~und­

ing communities. 
Severa! of the people on this list disappeared i1~ side Great 

Smoky Mountains National Park but others went missing in t h~:out­

lying region. 

Alphabetical list of missing people in the Great Smoky Mountains 
National Park Region 

N ame 
Auben·y, Michael 
Davenport, Larry 
Edwards, Bonnie Lee 
Gibson, Trenny Lynn 
l-lague, Geoffrey 
Hanson, Mark 
Haun, Minnie 
Hearon, Michael Edwin 
Lavies, Brad 
Lindsey, Eloise 
Lorimer, Evangeline 
Martí n, Dennis Lloyd 
Melton, Thelma Pauline 
Ramsay, Abe Carroll 
Reel, Michael 
Toney, Jay Charles 

Date Missing•Age•Sex 
03/ 17/07•12•M 
07/17/83•20•M 
OI/09/65•9•F 
J0/08/76•16•F 
02/07/70•16•M 
03/07/75•21•M 
I0/08/57•3•F 
08/23/08•51•M 
03/28/93•13•M 
IJ /04/89•22•F 
06/08/51•21•F 
06/ 14/64•7•M 
09/25/8 1•58•F 
03/II /19•3•M 
07/02/83•8•M 
05/25/82•1 7•M 
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GSM Missing Peop/e by Dates 

Afew issues with thc list below need to be high lighted . As 
\Vith most lists in both books, there are consistencies, you 

jusr need to look. In the GSM list by dates_ you will notice that 
two to three males go missing and then two females go miss­
ing. The pattern is consistent. lf the li st stays consisten! as it has 
in the past, either one more maJe will go missing followed by 
l \\'O females or it will di rectly go to two fema les. Starting in 1951 
there is almos! a consisten! five to seven years between groups of 
m issi ng. 

0/ame 
Ramsay, Abe Ca n-oll 
Lorimer, Evangel ine 
Haun, Minnie 
Martín, Dennis Lloyd 
Edwards, Bonnie Lee 
Hague, Geoffrey 
Hanson, Mark 
Gibson, Trenny Lynn 
Melton, Thelma Paul ine 
Toney, Jay Charles 
Reel. M ichael 
Davenport, Larry 
Lindsey, Eloise 
La\'Íes, Brad 
Auben·y, Michael 
Hearon, Michael Edwin 

16 Cases 
10 Males 
6 Females 

4 Cases in March (A II Ma les) 
~Cases in June 

Date M issing•Age•Sex 
03/ IJ /19•3•M 
06/08/51•21•F 
I0/08/57•3•F 
06/14/64•7•M 
01 /09/65•9•F 
02/07/70•16•M 
03/07/75•2l•M 
1 0/08/76•16• F 
09/25/8 1 • 58• F 
05/25/82•1 7•M 
07/02/83•8•M 
07/17/83•20•M 
1 1/04/89•22•F 
03/28/93• 13•M 
03/ 17/07•12•M 
08/23/08•51 •M 

~ Cases July-Both in the same year. 
2 Cases October 
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Gibson and Melton (females) disappeared on a Friday 
4 Males disappeared on a Salu rday 
3 Males disappeared on a Sunday 

Michael Auberry 
Missi ng 3/ 17/07, 1:00 p.m., Doughton Park, North Carolina 
Age al Disappearance: 12 years 
Last seen wearing red coat, pants 

Doughton Park is a rural seven thousand-acre heavily woode.d 
area near McGrady, Norlh Carolina. The park contains many of 
the old settlements from pioneers and is known for its trout fish­
ing and many miles of hiking trai ls. Doughton Park is a slate park 
approximately one hundred miles northeast from the Great Smoky 
Mountains National Park but in the same mountain range. 

In mid-March 2007, Michael Auberry wenl camping with his 
Boy Scout troop into the wi lds of Doughlon Park. On Salurday,. 
March 17, Michael had slept late and found himself in camp with 
another leader. Michael stayed in camp and ate lunch when the other 
scouts returned. At approximately 1:00 p.m. the other boys realized 
that Michael was missing and notified the adu lts. A cursory search 
of the area around the campsite was completed, bul the boy wasn't 
located. Authorities were notified. 

Late in the first night that Michael was missing, searchers found 
the boy's mess kit less than a mile from camp. Searchers thought 
they were converging on the boy and fel t positi ve. National Park 
Service, State Park Service, and county and state personnel all 
assisted in the search for Michael. Searchers were compromised at 
an early point when rain hit the search area and hindered the SAR 
process. During the first few days of the search , SAR commanders 
brought in a FLIR-equipped helicopter that combed the area where 
the boy was missing, but, unfortunately, they didn ' t fi nd anything 
use fui. 

When Monday m.orning arrived and Michael was sti ll not found, 
searchers became alarmed and felt that fou l play may be involved, 
as they couldn't find a reason why they hadn't found the boy. ln a 
very strange turn of events, the FBI arrived at the SAR center and 
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stated ·Ú~at tl~ey were monitoring the search for Michael. The FBI 
does not participale on searches for missing people, ever. They are 
onlv i!Tvolved when a crime has occurred, and that crime must usu­
all; c'ross slate lines lor their jurisdiction lo be activaled. They wi ll 
b~~ome involved in some crimes at the request of the local jurisdic­
tion. l. Rnd it highly unusual lhat an FBI agenl would be monitor­
im!. this case at this early stage unless they knew something thal the 
pr;ss' hadn't been told. But, we must remember there are a few chil­
dren tilissing under highly unusual conditions from lhe Great Smoky 
~1ount~ins ·National Park just one hundred miles south. Perhaps the 
FBI i~ quietly monitoring this area. 

Three days after Michael disappeared, searchers were approxi­
matel): one mile from where he was last seen and saw the boy near a 
creek:.A March 21, 2007 article in the Washington Post saicl that search­
ers found the· boy disoriented but able to tal k wilh searchers. A March 
21 Fax. Ne11·s story stated the following: "Auberry (Father) said Michael 
sti ll hasn't been able lo lell them the whole story of what happened to 
him. He's not' aware ofhow many days he was out there ... 

After Michael was found , the press was notified that local law 
enforcement. had issued an area-wide missing person alert as a pre­
caution should the boy have gotten outside the search area. Wow, 1 
k no\\' that thi·s isn't usually done. When children are lost in the woods, 
they are usually really los t. The idea that local law en forcement got 
the FBI involved and then made an area-wide alerl lell s me that some­
one somewhere had concerns that weren't expressed lo the press. 

This is one of the few times in which an SAR in the Great 
Smoky.Mountains area was successful in finding a young person 
nlive .. This is another case in which Michael shou ld be politely but 
iniensely interviewed to understand al! of the facet s behind h is dis­
appearance. An understanding of what happened to Michael may 
help sea'rchers in th is area the next time a person goes missing. To 
comp)etely .·understancl what happened to Michael, he may need to 
go through hypnosis. 

Bom~ie Lee Edwards 
Missing 01/09/65, 4:30p.m., Pilo! Mounlain , North Carol ina 
Age al Disappearance: 9 years 
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The Edwards and thei r eight child ren li ved on a tenant farm 
1.5 miles outside of Pilot Mountain, North Carolina. The farm is 
approxi mately one hundred miles northeast of the Great S~1ioky 
Mountain National Park but is included in this chapter dueto its 
relative proximity. The area of the Edwards' residence has n1any 
fa rms surrounded by thick woods. · ·. 

On January 9, 1965, Bonnie was playing with neighbor c!'t il.dren 
in an area that was in sight of the girl 's fann. Bonnie always stayed 
close to home because of a disability that gave her the age of á' six­
year-old. As she was playing with the children, she told them she was 
getting tired and heading home. She was last seen walking directly 
toward her fa rmhouse. When Bonnie never arrived home, her parents 
called law enforcement. It was approximately 4:30p.m. · .. 

The Surry County Sheri ff was placed in charge of the SAR and 
within hours he had over one thousand local volunteers, firemen , 
poli ce officers, and National Guard on scene looking,.For Bo~mie. 
The National Guard brought a helicopter and suppl ies to aid in the 
search. 

On January 10 at approx imately 4:00 p.m., a local fa rmer who 
was assisting in the search found Bonnie curled up in a brusli pile 
within view of her residence. The girl was dead. According to a 
January 11 , 1965 article in the Floren ce Moming News, 'ctocto~s had 
the fol lowing statement: "Dr. Henry Newsome, Pilot County physi­
cian ex a m ined the body at the request of the coroner, a dentist. Dr. 
Newsome sa id the chi ld died of exposure early Sunday morning.'~ 

Wow, the coroner was a denti st? lt appears that there was nol 
a medica! examiner to check the condition of Bonnie. That was 
unfortunate. _. 

The night that Bonnie disappeared temperatures dropped 
to thirt y-ni ne degrees. There were hundreds of searchers .every­
where around the Edwards' residence. The specific area where 
Bonnie was located had been searched three more times through­
out the night without fi ndi ng her. It makes no sense that .Bonnie 
wouldn't have seen and heard searchers ifshe had died early Stmday 
morning- impossible! · 

Since Surry County did not have a medica! examiner, no autopsy 
was made so a thorough exam of Bonnie's body was never 
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completed; so it was mere! y a presumption she died of exposure. We 
\\'ill never tru ly know what happened to Bonnie Lee Edwards. 

Trenny Lynn Gibson 
Missing 10/8/76, 3:ÓO p.m., Great Smoky 
Mountains National Park 
Age at Disappearance: 16 years 
5'3", 11 5 1bs 

Details regarding the disappearance 
of Trenny Gibson were obtained through 
a FOIA request and through review of 
numerous newspaper articles. The NPS sent 
a box ful l of reports that outlined the search 
and subsequent in vestigation into Trenny 
Gibson's disappearance. The official N PS 
case number is 762590. 

On October 8, 1976, Bearden H igh 
School in Knox villc took a group of stu­

denls for a hike at the Great Smoky Mounta ins National Park. The 
school was tak ing forty chi ldren to hike the Appa lachian Trail 
from Andrews Bald to Clingman's Dome. Wayne Dunlap was the 
school official escorting the students. This hike would be made on 
1he North Carolina si de of the park; Trenny Gibson was part of the 
group of students taking the hike. 

During the course of the trek, Trenny had bounced from group 
lo group and had hiked with different people throughout the day. At 
approximately 3:00 p.m. Trenny was with a group that was three­
fourths to one-half mile from the Cl ingman's Dome parking area. 
1t was at thi s time that something catastrophic went wrong on the 
Appalachian Trail-Trenny disappeared. 

The area where Trenny was last seen has a very defined trail 
and is in an area where people probably would not want to Jeave 
1he eslabl ished route. 1 personally went to the area where Trenny 
walked off the trai l and can guarantee that it is not a spot where 
anyone would want to leave. J can understand maybe stepping off 
lo look at someth ing close by but never stepping off to take another 
direction in the hike. lt is much too steep and rugged. Noth ing is on 
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the other side of that trai l except mi les and miles of rough forests 
without defi ned trails. It 's hazardous. 

The NPS condtkted interviews of students who were with 
Trenny when she van ished. Here is a summary of each person's 
interview and his or her account ofwhat happened, per the N PS file. 
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Official NPS report regardi ng its in itial response on the 
Hight of October 8, 1976: ''Weather at thi s time was strong 
wirids ánd heavy rain with temperatures in rhe low 30s. 
2.1.15 hours, moderate to heavy rains: ' 

The NFIS determined that a full-scale search would starl 
the next morning at 7:00a.m., but the weather was too det­
rimental to continue the search at this point. 

"A summary of witness statements describe Trenny as stu­
dlous, ath leric, sa rcastic but not the type to pan ic." 

•''Counselor Dunlap didn' t think that Trenny was the runa­
way type:' 

Miss Coghill was approximately two hundred feet from 
Trenny when she made the following observation. " Witness, 
Miss Coghill states that Trenny bent over on the trail as if 
loqking at something near a fl at rock and then disappeared 
to the right ofthe trail." 

Roberr Si111pson- He was overheard to say that he had 
'stayed behind the group to track a bear when Trenny went 
toward the parking area with the group. 

10/9 al 2015 hours-lnterv iew with Anita Bounds who was 
,~rith Trenny when she was last seen. The mai n group in 
'~~ich An ita was a part stopped to rest and Trenny contin­
ued on. "She was on the trail when 1 last saw her, 1 looked 
atvay and when llooked back Trenny was nowhere in sight. 
l"should have been able to see her if she went up the trail. 1 
checked the area where Trenny was last seen, no tra il lead­
ing off, very rough, sma ll stream, brush and trees, yelled 
but no answer." 

1019 al 2044 hours-Phone interview with Bobby Cogh ill 
'~'hO was in the group with Anita Bounds. ''She was up the 
.trail and it looked like Trenny sropped and bent over, then 
niade a right turn off the trail. 1 checked the spot w here 

1 
1 

l 
1 
l 

1 
1 
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1 
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Trenny was last seen. 1 do not believe lhat she.cou ld haye 
went [sic] off trai l al that spot, too rough, rocks, bushes and. 
trees.'· 

/0/11 ut 9:26a.m. hours-Commander John Maddox of the 
Swain County Civil Air Patrol ca lled search headquarlers 
lo complain. He had forty men, two doctors, fourteen pi l~ts, 

and fi ve planes all standing by to assist with the search for 
Trenny. Due to the lack of cooperation from the park ser­
vice he took all the people offthe sea rch. 

1 ,.. 

**This was asad side note to the search for Trenny. ·A large_ 
contingent of searchers was available to respond and assist, 
and the N PS ignored them. 

10113- The FBI officially entered the investigation. The 
Knoxville di vision states they are only looking for vio1á7 
tions of federal law, and they have found no evideríce of ~ 
crime so fa r. The FBI had sent two agents to monitor the 
case. 

JO/! 3 al 0932 hours-A psychic called search headquarters 
and said he or she "Saw Trenny sitting in a holl ow in what 
might be a bear den or something- rocky area-not a lot 
of undergrowlh-several very large trees, lols of acorns on 
the ground." . . 

Severa! reports from speciali zed searchers outli ned what they 
had done. One specific report from the Swain county r~scue squad 
canine un il had interesting information: "Dog #1 picks up scent at 
Andrews Ba1d and heads toward the Forney Creek Trail . Two dogs 
had hit on thi s same area." 

The official search fm Trenny Gibson continued from dctober 
8- 22. Ranger John Linahan wrote in hi s NPS report,- "Trails and 
drainages were walked out as fa r as Elkmont, in TN, a distance of 
15 miles and Fontana Lake in North Carolina, a di stance of 13-14 
miles." 

Th ree hundred people had participated in lhe search for Trenny. 
The search included trackers, dogs, rescue sq uads, helicopters, 
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airplanes, two addi tional Army helicopters, depulies, bloodhounds, 
and German shepherds. 

On April 7, 1977, Trenny's father, Robert Gibson had requested 
the PS assistance for anolher extensive search of the location 
where Trenny was last seen. The community was still quite inter­
ested in understanding what happened to the young girl, and hun­
dreds of searchers would have responded. Park Superintendent 
Bob Gibson wrote that he would allow only twenty-fi ve searchers 
because he wanted to avoid, "back country use, and, again, to mini­
·mize any chance of a circus atmosphere." 1 can only imagine how 
fru~trated Trenny's parents were at Bob Gibson's response. 1 can 
only guess that Bob Gibson felt that damage to the backcountry was 
more important than find ing a missing gi rl. 

There are many inquiries in the Gibson fi le from law enforce­
ment agencies across North America when they have found a body 
and are requesting dental charts on Trenny to see ifthere is a match. 
There has been no match to date. 

The N PS and other law enforcement agencies followed up on 
almost every conceivable angle of Trenny's life. No suspects were 
e\·er arrested, and no confirmed sightings ofthe sixteen-year-old are 
in the file. 

Case Summary: 
Trenny disappeared within sight of a group of fellow students. 

Multiple student witnesses confirmed that Trenny left the trail 
approx imately one-half mile from the Cl ingman's Dome parking 
lot. Witnesses saw her leave at this point, but they couldn't believe 
she cou ld leave at that location. Another witness even states that she 
\\JS looking down at something at this same location, and per Anita 
Bounds, Trenny left the trni l near a small crcek bed. You wi ll notice 
that many missing children are found in and around creek beds. 1 
find that Trenny left the trai l in a creek bed discomforting. 

Prior to Trenny di sappeari ng, Robert Simpson is overheard stat­
ing that he was tracking a bear near the area. Understand, a bear 
did not take Trenny. There would have been screams, blood, and 
a macabre scene at the point she left the trail. 1 do find it interest­
ing that Robert Simpson cla ims to have been tracking a bear at the 
approx imate time Trenny vanishes. 
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1 believe that the key to Trenny's disappearance is what she was 
Jooking at just off the trail befare she disappeared. Either someone 
or something pulled her off the trail, or she voluntarily left the trail 
to investigare it. There is no possible way that a sixteen-year-old girl 
left the trail voluntarily at that point to hike cross-country-no way! 

It 's also quite coincidental that heavy rains hit the area of 
Trenny's disappearance in the same manner that they hit the region 
ofDennis Martin 's disappearance. 

1 do believe there are many similarities in the Martín and Gibson 
disappearances that have never been publicly spoken. 

Similarities 
8oth disappeared within view of fri ends and family. 
No trace of either person was ever found (clothes, body, 
etc.). 
8 oth disappeared in clase proximity to the TN/SC state line 
that divides the park. 
Heavy rains hit the exact area ofthe di sappearance the night 
that each went missing. 
The incidents occurred in an area where there were many 
people. 
Other children were in the immediate area of the 
disappearance. 
The NPS and the F81 refuse to admit abduction had taken 
place. 
The F81 has refused to release fil es on either case. 
8 oth incidents occurred on or very near the Appalachian 
Trail. 

Geoffrey 8 urns Hague 
Missing 2/8170, 3:20p.m., Great Smoky Mountains National Park 
Age at Disappearance: 16 years 
5'1 1", 130 lbs 

lt was a cool February morning when Geoffrey l-lague left his 
Morristown home with 8oy Scout Troop #95, led by Scoutmaster 
Eugene Smith. There were three scouts and four adults going to 
the Great Smoky Mountains National Park to hike the Appalachian 
Trail. The hike was going to start at Icewater Springs and complete 
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at 1 ewfound Gap. Most ofthe hi king was at the 5000' elevation, and 
there was· approximately six inches of snow airead y 0 11 the grou~d . 
Geoffhad three years ofscouting and was very familiar with campmg 
and the o\.ltdoors. The fi rst night the boys and the head scoutmaster 
camped at 'Jcewater Springs, and the other two adults returned home. 

The scouting group made a fi re and ate their di nner in the pres­
ence of thei r head scoutmaster. 

On St.inday, February 8, the group collected their belongings 
and started thei r hike a long the Appalachi an Trail. This tra il is very 
,,ell marked with large signs and a very distinct path. At 9:30a.m. 
the !HÓup had reached the intersection ofthe Appalach ian Trail and 
the BodlevardTrail, and this is where they took their first rest stop. 
1t was a l~o at thi s time that the group reali zed that Geoffrey was lag­
ging beh ind, not sure why but he was traveling slowly. At 9:30a.m. 
the group started westward on the trai l for the Newfound Gap park­
ÍIH! lot. Geoffrey statecl he was going to wa it for another scout that 
w;s a s~nior scout and the last person in the fine, and they would 
walk out together. 

Sc~utm~aster Eugene Smith reached the parking lot of Newfouncl 
Gap just as snow fturri es were starting. The remaining scouts 
arrived \Vithout Geoffrey. The scoutmaster reminded the group that 
Geoff was going to wait for the last scout, but he had arri ved; eve­
r\'one agreed that they hadn't seen Geoffrey. lt was al this point that 
1Í1e th re~ hikers wal ked the entire route back to lcewater and found 
no sig1i of Qeoffrey. The group then hi ked back to the 8 oulevard 
trail iiÚersection and then walked clown that trail a distance and 
didn't see any evidence of Geoffrey. All of the hikers now went 
straiuht for the car at Newfouncl Gap and drove to par k headquarters 
to rep-~rt Geoffrey as missing. lt was now after 3:00 p.m., and there 
\\aS a heavier snowfall. The scoutmaster and the scouts were puz­
zled at Geoffrey's disappearance because the trai ls and signs clea rly 
showed the direct ion he was supposed to travel. 

The park service immediately sent search teams to three dif'­
fere nt trailheads that were in the area where Geoffrey disappeared. 
The trai ls were quickly searched, and Geoffwas not found on any of 
the cl~arly_ marked and obvious trai ls. The group was concerned, but 
they·also knew that Geoffrey was carrying warm clothes, a sleeping 
bag, food, and had matches. 
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On Monda y, February 9, search teams met at the chief ranger's 
office. Six inches ofsnow had fallen during the night, and· coliditions 
were dictating a ful l winter search. Search dogs, the civíl air p~trol, 

county sheri ffs, and other emergency personnel were contacted and 
startecl ro converge on the park. Ground searchers again covered the 
trail s in the area where Geoffrey was last seen, but recent sno~s had 
obliterated any new tracks that he would have made. 

By the end of the first full day of searching Geof(rey h~d not 
been found. Geofrs parents had been contacted, and they were irave­
ling to the park. The snow flurri es in the park were getting lighter, 
but the temperature was dropping, and the wind was inteÍ)s i.fying. 

The following week saw hundreds of searchers join the effort, 
covering thousands of acres of the park; nothing of value was .fo~nd 
unt i 1 February 16. 

At noon on February 16, searchers found Geoffrey's pack)t was 
located downstream from the Boulevard Trail toward Newfound 
Gap. The pack had a few items of clothing and equ ipment lying 
011 a rock in the middle of Walker Camp Prong, approximately one 

· mi le clownstream from the Boul evard Trail. This poi11t was Clarified 
when 1 personally met with retired N PS Ranger and a par'ticipant 
on thi s search, Dwight McCarter. He told nie that the p,ack w.as on 
a large rock in the absolute middle of the river. He said. that1he boy 
would have had to be in the river to place the pack in this loeation. 
Articles inside the pack were lying 011 the rock or the pack as though 
someone was taking inventory. 

The pack was taken to his parents who identi fied it as Geoffrey's. 
Concern for Geoffrey was now peaking, as it was obvious Ge9ffrey 
did not have his needed supplies to survive the winter \Veather. The 
sleeping bag, food, matches, and other equipment were witli t_he bag 
on the rock and not with Geoffrey- where was he? ~ 

On February 17 the Army used a canine search team·that fol­
lowed a scent trai l, and they came to the conclusion that Geoffrey 
was out of the park. They fol lowed the scent downstream unt il it 
eventually met U.S. 441 , where the scent supposedly ended. The 
results were given to the parents, and they believed that the Anny 
had made the correct conclusion (They probably were wis~ing this 
was the correct hypothesis). 
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On February 18, the search teams (now consisting of only thirty 
sea~chers) decided to focus on Walker Camp Prong. A Green Beret 
Team had entered the search and focused on an adjacent ridgeline 
and an avalanche team from Seattle, Wasl~ngton , took the creek 
basin. 

At 10:17 a. m. an encrypted message was relayed to park head­
quarters that Geoffrey's body had been found. He was dead. 

· Dwight McCarter's book Lost! has a very detailed account of 
what occurred ancl what was seen by the rangers when they observed 
Geoffrey 's body. 1 am goi ng to place the paragraph from Dwight's 
book below: 

'Geo.ffhas beenfound JOOO yards below the Boulevard Trail, abour 
a mi/e from the point he was last seen. He is in rhe Wa/ker Camp 

.· Prong drainage aboTit 1000 yards upstream from the local ion 
u-here his sleeping bag and pack were .found 2 days ago. Geoff is 
ar rhe base of a tree: ha(f sirting, halfs/umped into a fetal posirion 
a¡1d is sri/1 covered in deep snow except .for parts o.f his right arm 
and par/ o.fhis rightleg where the snow has me/ted o.ffhirn. He has 
110 socks on and one boot is lying 6 .feet away. The other is unlaced 
a11d ha({ on his right.foot. His orange toboggan cap is off, his mit­
teiTS are off. his coa! is open and portia!(}• off. His leji arm is pulled 
up inside the sleeve. His shirt is on but his pants are unzipped and 
par/ ially removed. 

Geoffrey is ai rl ifted to a local airport and Jater examined by 
a state medica! examiner, Dr. John Hickey. The body had minor 
scratches and bruises, but no broken bones. The doctors believed 

o 1 

that Geoffrey died of exhaustion and exposure late the first night he 
wentmissing or early on the second day. 

Dvvight McCarter asked the perfect question in his book on 
page 59: 

ll'har lwppened to Geoffrey Hague? How could he have disap­
peared so quickly without a trace and how and why did he wind up 
deep in rhe drainage o.f Wa/ker Camp Prong, half undressed and 
1rirhour his pack cmd sleeping bag which could hove saved his li.fe? 
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1 could not ha ve said it any better- how did all of this occur? 
You may hear some SAR people state that Geoffrey just froze 

to death. 1 don't thi nk so-it's much more complicated. Geoffrey 
didn't have broken bones, and he could walk. His pack, sleeping 
bag (warmth), and supplies were not that far away. He could have 
recovered· them if he was free to do this. Geoffrey had Boy Scout 
training, he had just spent a night in the cold , and he knew how to 
start a fire. When Geoffrey disappeared , the trails were very clearly 
marked. There could be no mistake about this. There would be no 
reason for Geoffrey to voluntarily leave a trail and travel a thousand 
yards down into a drai nage-none! 

Geoffrey knew he was getting cold- we all know when we are 
getting cold. The natural reaction to getting cold is to find the com­
fort in a warm coat or sleeping bag. Geoffrey had this at bis dispos<~ l 
up tht! creek, and he clidn't get it. When the body stnrts to get very 
cold, people start to shive r, they can't sleep, nnd it 's very uncomfort­
able. Only after many hours in this very uncomf"ortable condition 
things start to change and go numb. This process doesn't happen 
quickly. Geoffrey suffered for quite sorne time until his body started 
to shut down. He had to have gone through extreme anx iety know­
ing that the comfort ofhis sleeping bag was just up the creek. There 
is no logic to explain why Geoffrey didn't get his pack- if he was 
free to do so. 

No articles or repotts mention Geofti·ey's pants. Were they fro­
zen stiff from being in the river? Were the pants even wet or fro­
zen? Remember, Geoffrey was a trained Boy Scout and had survival 
training. There is no logical reason for him to enter a freezing river 
during heavy snow- none. 

1 now refer readers to the case ofCharles McCul ler at Crater Lake 
National Park (see the Crater Lake section in Missing-411 Western 
United States). Charles disappeared at lakeside on October 14, 1976. 
Charles's skeleton was found years later and investigated by the FBI 
and the National Park Service. J personally interviewed the ranger 
who was first on the .scene for the NPS. He explained that it was one 
of the oddest si tes he had ever observed. Charles McCu ller's bones 
were scattered over a wide area. There were no large bones excepr 
the skull and jaw. lt had appeared as though Charles had melted into 

GSM Missing People by Dates 121 

his pants, yet there was only one smal ler broken bone in the pants. 
.A.t the bottom of the pants were socks with toe bones inside. But 
what concerned the rangers and prompted them to ca ll the FBI for a 
full investigation was that the blue jeans that Charles was wearing 
\\·ere llllbuckled. The belt buckle Charles was wea ring was ll!lbuck­
led, and his boots were missing. The rangers on the scene couldn't 
develop a logical reason why the pants and belt were in this condi­
tion or how his boots disappeared. The location of the skeleton was 
in the middle of a wilderness area, and Charles had disappeared in 
the middle of winter where there were twenty-foot snowdrifts. The 
entin~ staff~fthe NPS at Crater Lake could develop no rational way 
that c;harles. could ha ve traveled from lakeside to the scene of h is 
skele\~n in the middle ofwinter- none. 

Tl1e interesting facts of these two cases are that two bodies are 
found in drai11uges in national pnrks thousands ofm iles apart , both 
m::~ les, one sixteen, one nineteen. Both have their pants opened- one 
is confinned pu llecl down. One boot is off of Geoff'rey. McCuller's 
boorswere never found. Survival for Geoffrey is with his backpack 
just upstream, but it isn't retrieved. McCuller's coat that he was 
wearing was never fou nd. 

lf it weren't for the absolute candor and concern by rangers 
invesügating these incidents, people wou ld never hear about them. 
lt's only because J've been researching cases across North America 
that !"ve fou nd a consistency that is unsettling. Some admin istrators 
will Úy to state these incidents are examples of what happens when 
a mind becomes confused and a person is near death. l state that 
there have been hundreds who have frozen to death on Mt. Everest, 
and i~~ai1y ha ve be en found. 1 've never heard of any el i mber who has 
frozen to death who was found with his or her pants partially on. 
Then! is something about the deaths of McCuller and Hague that 
needs .a special law enforcement team to take a second look- not 
a Na'tional ·Park team. lt seems very odd that a Green Beret team 
enters the search for Geoffrey and, as in the case of Martí n, are 
una~\'e, to find the boy. The Army canine units didn't even believe 
Geoffrey was in the park and believed he ex ited via a highway. 

Geoffrey was found next to a creek, deceased. H is backpack is 
foun? in the middle of a creek , a creek that no reasonable man would 

l 
l 
{ 
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ever enter during a winter storm, yet a creek someone entered and 
placed Geoffrey's belongings on a rock. The person that set Ge0~frey's 
pack on the rack will never be identified because there are no tracks 
that can be recovered in a creek bed! M issing people are repeatedly 
found in or nea r creek beds. Think about the reasons why this t~ay be 
occurring. 

Mark Hanson 
Missing 3/7/75, Great Smoky Mountains National Park · 
Age at Disappearance: 21 years 

There is no !!.reater bonding experience than a group of friends 
taking a hike it~o the woods. The adventure and solltud~ of the 
event brings li fetime memories and the bond of trust tl~at endures 
forever. The following story is an event that none of thesé·young 
men will ever forget. - · 

Mark Hanson was from Newport, Kentucky, and he joined 
fellow Eastern Kentucky University students Ben Fish a~d Jolm 
Chidester for a hike on the Appalachian Trail. The guys were_ goi~g 
to enjoy their spring break by hiking the hi storie tra il an~ cha ~_leng­

ing their stamina through a tough hi ke in difficult weatper. < 
The guys probably didn't know the extent of the bad weather 

that was hitti ng the park upon their arrival. A tornado ha.d touched 
down in the park earlier in the day, and this was just a prelude of 
what was going to happen throughout the area. . 

The guys started their hi ke in Big Creek near Mt. Sterling.at the 
1700' elevat ion on the eastern edge of the park. They had p\a'nned 
to hi ke west and spend their first night at the Tricorner Sh~lter. The 
first day ofhi king was not going to be easy. lt was an uphill ·w.ál~ of 
almost sixteen miles . The men were hi king directly into the·wmd, 
rain, and eventually snow flurries-it was getting br·utaL As the 
group approached Low Gap, Jolm Chidester complained .tñat ,he 
was getting wet and cold and didn't think he could or want'ed to.go 
on. He told his two friends that he was turn ing around and gomg 
back to their car. One mi le after Chidester turned back, the t~mai n­
ing two men passed the shelter and possible life-sav ing war'nith at 
Cosby Knob. 

Hanson and Fish continue to hike, with Fish doi ng the better 
of the t wo. Fish seemed to be able to hand le the weather and pack 

·. 
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much better than Hanson. As they are hiking, Hanson yelled to 
Fjsh that he was dropping his pack and leaving it on the trail. He 
stated that he didn't thin k he could make it carryi ng the weight. 
Fish \Vas shocked at Hanson's proclamat io!' but stayed calm and 
tried to convi nce him that he needed the pack, as that could be a 
life-saving decision. Hanson countered that they can make it to 
Tricorner, and they will find shelter and warmth there. At approx i­
mately 7:00 p.m., the guys reached Mt. Guyot. The weather was 
now getting worse. The wi nd was blowing, and the temperature 
\\·as droppi ng. Fish was still leading the pair and encouraging 
Hanson to continue the pace. 

At 8:30 p. m., in total dark ness and with snow fa lling hard and 
the temperature plum meting, Han son yel led to Fish that he was quit­
ting. He !ay down in the middle of the trail and appeared to almost 
pass out. Fish tried to prompt his friend to get up and keep moving. 
He refused or couldn't respond. Fish got back up and started down 
the trail two hundred yards. He now decided he couldn't go any far­
ther, and he lay down in his sleeping bag. Ben Fish did not realize 
that he was two hundred yard s from the protection of the shelter at 
Tricorner. 
' Du;·ing the night, Ben Fish either heard or had a dream that he 

heard Hanson ca lling for help. Ben was so ti red he couldn't deline­
ate between a dream he may have had and the reality of his friend 
.calli ng for help. 

At 7:00 a.m. the following morning, Ben Fish woke up and 
. quickly looked for Hanson, but he can't be found. Severa! inches of 
snow were on the ground, and tracks could not be seen. He turned 
around and headed for Tricorner, where he was able to meet other 
hi kers that could assist him in calling for help. Late in the after­
noon on March 10, Ben Fish contacted NPS personnel and officially 
reponed Mark Hanson missing. 
· Early in the morning on March 11, NPS personnel with Ben 

Fish assisting found Hanson's backpack exactly where he left it in 
the middl e of the Appalachian Trail. Nothing appeared to be dis­
ltlrbed or removed in the pack. Searchers combed the area where 
Fish last saw Hanson and could not find any evidence of his being 
in the area. 
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March 12 hadan escalation of the number ofsearchers involved. 
Ranger Dwight McCarter sea rched Mt. Chapman on the Tennessee 
side ofthe park. McCarter found n cave on the side oflhe mountain 
that appeared to have had a large mammal living in it. He found 
severa! bones onthe fl oor ofthe cave, but nothing was inside. 

The search for Mark Hanson continued to escalate over the fol­
lowing severa! days. By March 14, four inches of rain had fallen 
in the previous three days. Heavy rain and high creeks had now 
washed away the heavy snow that had fallen earlier in the search. 
Grid searches continued over the foll owing three days using heii­
copters, dogs, and ground teams. 

At 2:00 p.m. on March 17, the ninth day of the search, Mark 
Hanson's body was found. Mark was located two miles down Buck 
Fork Creek from the Appalachian Trail. Searchers found Mark lean­
ing against a tree, his parka open, and his gloves and boots lying 
nearby in the snow. Mark was carried to a helo site where he was 
airli fted out of the par k. 

An autopsy concluded that Mark died twenty-four to thirty-six 
hours after Ben Fish last saw him. 

This is another of the cases from Great Smoky Mountains 
National Park that does not make sense. Mark Hanson was lying 
on a very well-worn Appalachian Trail. There cou ld be no mistake 
where this trail was located, even in darkness. Mark's fatal route 
took him downhill almost three miles. There is no way that Mark 
didn't know that he had left the trail and was wnlking into oblivion. · 
He and Fish knew the route to Tricorner, and it wasn't downhill. 
into Buck Fork Creek. lt's a very uncomfortable feeling to know 
that Geoffrey Hague was also found downhill from his location in 
a creek bed, under full cover and nearly impossible to see from the 
air, same as Mark Hanson. 

Again, the manner in which Mark 's body was found, withoul 
g.loves or boots on, is troubling. If he did die twenty-four to thirty­
SJX hours after Ben Fish saw him, thi s means that much transpired .. 
in that short period of ti me. lt's al so a concern th at Sen Fish m ay 
have heard Mark calling for help. Mark could have crawled up lhe 
trail to stay on the path. lfhe was fit enough 10 wa lk 1wo miles to' 
his final destination , then he would have been nt enough to crawt 
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1he lrail, ·but, remember, he was too weak to hike on and collnpsed 
on 1he lt'ail. But how in the heck was he able·to hike th ree miles in 
the mid.dle of the night when he had just passed out on the trnil of 
e:-.haus1ion. This makes no sense. The key to understanding whal 
happened 10 f\1ark Hanson is lo know why he was screaming for 
help in the middle of lhe night. There are too many similnrit ies in 
the Hans.on and Hague disappearances to ignore. 

Minnie Haun · 
Missing 10/08/57, 1:00 p.m., Well Springs, TN (Ten Mil es E/0 
La folleHe) 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years 

Mr. and Mrs. Frank Haun lived in a very rural area ten miles 
east ofL~fol lette. On October 8, 1957 at approximately 1:00 p.m., 
~ lrs. Haim took Minnie and her sisters on a walnut collecting expc­
dition ui the area beh ind their home. Mrs. Haun left Minnie brie fl y 
\\'ith her four~year-old sister whi le Mrs. Haun walked a di stance 
away w'jth the other girls. Minnie was given instruct ions to wait at 
that location until they came back. Severa! minutes after leaving the 
!!iris alone, Mrs. Haun returned and found Minnie was gone. Mrs. 
~!aun asked the four-yea r-old where Min nie went; the girl stated 
that slie .had decided to walk toward home. Mrs. Haun searched the 
area, coÍ.Ildn't' find her daughter, and called the sheriff. 

Within hou rs of Minnie's disappearance, lhere were dozens of 
sheriff's cieputies, state police, neighbors, and friends al! searchi ng 
for the th.ree-year-old. In the first twent y-four hours that Minnie was 
!!011C, tlie. search parties SWelled tO o ver tWO thousand SCOLI ri ng the 
hillsides. Shortly into the second da y of the search the sheri ff called 
rhe FBl for assistance. Mr. and Mrs. Haun could not believe that 
Mi nnié. had .disappeared so quickly and 1old reporters this, explain­
ing thei'r astonishment of her disappearance. 

· Those firsl few nights that Minn ie was missing, temperatures 
di·opped into the forties. Searchers asked for assistance from the 
Air Force radar station in Briceville, and sixty men responded. SAR 
teams had ·the mounlains covered with people looking and yell ing 
for tl{e young gi rl. A fter a mere fifty-two hours of search ing, the 
sheriff call.ea off searchers, an astounding decision after a short 

j 
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period oftime. Mr. Haun vowed to keep looking for his daugl}ter as 
long as it took to find her. 

Six days after Minnie went missing, volunteer searchers con­
tinued and were over six miles from the Haun residence when they 
started to fi nd pieces of Minnie's clothing. They first found one 
shoe containing a sock. A short distance from an old saw mili ,, men 
found Minnie's cap. The team climbed to the top of a ridgeline. and 
through "a mi le and a half of rough underbrush and wooded fDOun­
tain land from the saw mili where her tracks were located" (Daily 
Midd/eboro NelVs, 10/ 15/57), and they found her body. Some reports 
indicated that Minnie was located at the base of a cliff, but this was 
not true. She was found on a ridgeline, without shoes, withput her 
hat, and wearing only a very light dress. Coroners indica~e.d that 
Minnie had been dead for three to four days. . 

An article in the Kingsport Tin1es dated October 15, 1957 had 
the following description of finding the child , "The searche.rs, led 
by Campbell County Sheri ff Willie Chapman, said the child had 
el imbed to the top of one ofthe many el i ffs that dot the Cumberlands 
in this area." 

1 fi nd thi s statement very hard to believe. A three-year-~ld girl 
whose parents cannot believe that she disappeared as quickly as she 
d id tells her sister she is walking home and then cli mbs a cliff­
why? This same girl supposedly strips her clothing o.ff, yet suc-
cumbs to exposure? · 

FBI agents were on this case when the body was foond ahd one 
article indicated that they closed the case once Minnie was .found 
deceased. 1 did fil e a FOIA with the FBI regarding this ca~e. On 
September 28, 2011 , 1 received a letter from Section Chief of the 
FB1. Dav id M. Hardy. Agent Hardy stated, "Records -..yhich .may be 
responsive to your FOI A request were destroyed February·.l, 1999. 
Since this material could not be reviewed, it is not kn?wn if-ü was 
responsive to your request." 

The points of concern in the Minnie Haun case reflect my con­
cern on many of these cases. The gi rl climbed a cliff, y~t .t~ok her 
shoes off befare she accomplished this feat, but why? She lost h~r 
hat- how? She was wearing only a very light dress when found. 
Where was the rest of her clothing? Mr. and Mrs. Haun expressed 
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concern that they felt their daughter may have been abducted-yes, 
abducted in the middle ofthe woods, but by whom? How many times 
do we need to hear th is concern by parents befare law enforcement 
starts to react to their concerns? This is ano~her ofthe many cases 
ci ted in both books in which the FB1 is concerned enough to be on 
the scene of a ver y unusual case. 1 f 1 've put these cases together and 
rnade the connection about the unusual nature that's linked them 
all. don 't .'OU think federallaw enforcement would have a clue about 
what is occurring? FBI Special Agent Jim Rike is the individual 
whom the FBl sent to al! of the cases in the Smoky Mountains 
where chi ldren disappeared. 1 think he had a very good grasp ofthe 
complexity of the issue, but the FBI won 't relea se its documents. 

1 know that many ofyou may believe that the idea ofan abduc­
tion in the middle of a wilderness is ridiculous, understood. Also 
understand that the FB1 is a very conservative, intelligent and 
methodical group that does not send special agents to missing per­
son cases unless there is the possibility of criminal activity. The 
only criminal activity relevant toa missing person in the woods is 
abduction. 

Michael Edwin Hearon 
Missing 8/23/08, Happy Valley, TN 
Age at Disappearance: 51 years 
5' 1 0", J 85 lbs 

Michael was a contractor, with his pri­
mary residence in Maryville, TN. He hada 
weekend residen ce at the end of Bell Branch 
Road in Happy Valley; his parents lived on 
an adjacent property. 

Michael had two sons, Matt, twenty-
. five, and Andy, twenty-seven. Michael's 

parents Verl and Sue Hearon li ked living on the northern fringe of 
the Smoky Mountains National Park. Their son would make the trip 
from his residence to the country to mow hi s parents' lawn, as was 
his inteniion on this tr i p. He had taken his truck and trai lered mower 
to his house and parked it at the begin ning ofh is driveway near his 
residence, as he normally did. 
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After Michnel arrived at the fami ly property, 6728 Bell Branch 
Road, Michael entered bis residence and placed his wallet, keys, cell 
phone, money clip, credit cards, and gun on the counter. He took one 
ofhis ATVs from bis garage and drove it back up his street. The prop­
erty had a large meadow, an adjacent lake, and a large river less then 
one-fourth of a mi le soutb. Chilhowee Lake, a very large lake, is less 
than three miles southwest of Michael's residence. The elevation in 
the area of Michael 's house is approximately 1500'. 

After Michae1 did not arrive to mow bis parents' property, they 
went to his residence. They found bis truck in the driveway, mower 
on the trailer, and bis personal property on the counter in the resi­
dence. Nothing was disturbed. Tbe parents waited anotber day, hop- . 
ing Michael would return. When he didn' t, they called Michael:s · 
two sons. They responded to the property and eventually contacted 
law enforcement. 

Sheriff's deputies determined that Michael was operating his ,. 
Yamaha Wolverine yellow ATV. The deputies found Michael's ATV 
approximately one mile from bis residence in an area near Adams 
Creek. The A TV was sitting id le with the ign ition switch turned on; · 
it had been turned offusing the kili switch, something hi s children 
stated tbat he would never normally do. The vehicle was parked on 
a steep hill in high gear, undamaged. This location is less then one·­
fourth of a mile from the Great Smoky Mountain National Park's 
northern border. 

Tbé local sheriff's department searcbed tbe area of M'ichaei's 
ATV witb helicopters, horses, can ines, and ground teams and had 
assistance from the National Park Service. Notbing was found . As 
in many cases in this book, search teams bave been compromised 
during their efforts by heavy rains that were inundating the Happy 
Valley area while the search for Mike was occurring. The rains that 
hit thi s area were very heavy and could have washed away a major 
portian of the scent trail used by tbe bloodhounds. 

The Blount County Sheriffhas stated that there does not appear 
to be any fou l playw in M ichael's disappearance, and they further 
stated that they did not believe tbat Michael was involved in any 
illicit activity. 
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Follow-up . 
lii August 2011, 1 took a trip to Michael Hearon's weekend resi­

dence .. Another investigator and 1 found the home abandoned and 
decided to take a nearby road and contact a neighbor. We were quite 
forlllliafe to meet Ken and Irma Blythe. They were an older couple 
who were very hospitable and welcomed us into thei r rural home. 1 
explaiiled we were there to Jearn more about M ichael 's disappear­
ance, a_nd they were happy to in form us about what they knew. 

lt:ma explainecl th at she was Michael's aunt and had always 
been.close to him. She and Ken had lived in thei r home for the last 
nineteen years. S he said that she routinely saw M ichael cometo hi s 
housc'to dQ weekend maintenance and the addit iona l maintenance 
on other. family homes in the area. Shc sa id that Michael liked to 
hike and kn<;:w the aren very well. 

1 asked _lrma if she could explain what happened the day thal 
1ichael disappeared. She gladly offe red to show us the exact 

locatiot~ where his ATV was found parked. It was qu ite different 
than whal news articles had explained. 

Michael had left his residence on Bell Branch Road and waved 
at.residents as he drove toward Happy Valley Road. He made it lo 
Happy' Valley, turned east, wenl five hundred feet, and then turned 
nortl' oi1 Happy Valley Loop Road. Tbis is a gorgeous rural road 
with Jush-surround ings. Michael drove approx imately one thousand 
feet: a'nd 1he road made a right turn and hended east again. He was 
expe~ted to travel another four hundred feet lo a locat ion where 
he \\ias golng to check on another residence he was watchi ng for 
friencl.s. F01: some unknown reason, Michael made an al most imme­
diate left turn and hended up a rural road (well maintained) th at lec! 
sli!!htly uphill toa very nice home located one-eighth of a mi le up 
th; r.oad on the west side. Michael turnecl his ATV into the driveway 
of lhe ·residence and disappeared. The only notable gcographical 
landt.nark in the area is a creekjust east ofthi s locat ion. 

lrma ~nd Ken showed us the locations and explained how the fam­
ily and Micbael's children were still devastated about the disnppear­
ance. They stated they appreciated our interest and quick ly left the 
area.,They .made it clear that it made them nervous bei ng in this arca. 

1 
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The other researcher and 1 spent ti me in the area ofthe disappear­
ance going over the possible options of what happened to Michael. 
We came to the conclusion that Michael was driving up Happy 
Val ley Road, made the right turn, and surprised someone .doing 
something. The turn in the road is quick, and a drive,r could sur­
prise someone on the roadway. 1rma and Ken stated that if Michael 
hacl seen someth ing unusual, he would have gone to investigate. He 
probably did. He clrove up the road and turned into the residence 
where something unexpected and overwhel ming happened. · 

The Abrams Creek entrance to the Great Smoky Mountairls 
National Park is just two thousand feet southeast of where M!chael 
disappeared. The park participated in the search along with ~eputy 

sheriffs and SAR teams, but they dicln 't fi nd anything. -·· 

Case Summary: 
There are a few deta il s about Michael Hearon's disappearance 

thnt seem unusual. lf Michael knew beforehand that he was going 
to meet someone up Loop Road he would have taken his ~ruck. 
The truck would offer add itional protection and safety frorry the 
elements and any possible con frontation , but M ichael obvjously 
wasn' t goi ng to a meeting li ke this. What if Michael saw some­
thing unusual as he was driving up Loop Road near hisfriend's 
residence? The condi tion of the ATV almost ind icates that he was 
accelerati ng up the hill when he came off it, somehow. The ATV 
was still in high gear and was only stopped by the kili switc,h. Wh'at 
took him offthe ATV is thc key question. Michael was not <! small 
man. Whatever took him was strong, quick, and determ ined. There 
are 500,000 acres in the National Park that Michael could b.e.wan­
dering, or worse. 

**Anot her very strange coincidence occurred when we went to 
Michael's nunt's home. Just prior to meeting with the Blytl~e.s, we 
met with Wi ll iam Martí n at his residence about the disapp~arance 
of his son, Denni s. The Martin s had a very unusual doorki1ocker. 
very colorful and dcsigned so you would pu ll a string downward 
and the woodpecker's nose would bang on the wall. Wben.we went 
to the front door of the Blythe's residen ce, they had the exa<:t same 
doorknocker. We were fl oored. 
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Brad Lavies 
Missing 03/28/93, Great Smoky Mountai ns National Park, TN 
Age at Disappearance: 13 years 

131 

Brad Lavies was taking a day hike with his fam ily and friends 
on the trail to Rainbow Fal ls on the Mt. L~conte Trail inside the 
Great Srnoky Mountains National Park. The waterfall is located 
at approxi rnately the 3200-foot elevation on the 6,593-foot tall Mt. 
Leconte. Sometime in the late afternoon whi le walking up to the 
waterfall, Brad became lost and separated from his family and 
fr iends. Th is was an un usual disappearance beca use the trail is 
clearly marked. . 

Parents Randy and Nancy Lavies realized that thei r son was not 
with them, stopped their hike, and returned down the mountain to 
noti fy authorities. 

NPS officials contacted Fort Campbell Kentucky for the assis­
tance of armed forces and got it. Five helicopters with infrared sen­
sors were used in the six-day search, along with 150 backcountry 
experts. An April 2, 1993 article in the Times Daily identified the 
search area: "The primary search area is on ly about a half-mile wide 
and 2.5 mi les long. The search has been underway since shortly 
after Brad's disappearance on Sunday." This explained a very 
defined corridor in which NPS was looking for Brad, not a lot of 
area to be covered. 

Brad disappeared at approximately the three thousand-foot ele­
vation on M t. Leconte. On the sixth day of the search Brad's body 
\\;as found. He was found in a steep and rugged area one-half mi le 

.offthe Rainbow Falls Trail. The Times Daily on April 4 ran the fol-
lowing description ofwhere Brad was located: "Cave (NPS Official) 
said the boy's body was found by a park volunteer anda coworker of 
Randy Lavies at the base of an unnamed cighty to one hundred-foot 
waterfall on a tributary of Leconte Creek about two thousand feet 
offthe Rainbow Fa lls Trail." 

Later the article added the following: 

C are so id searchers were surprised al h01v far and how high the 
hoy had 1roveled. He wos.found al the upper limits that we searched 
m abo111 4800 feet. The area is so steep and so thicketed that the . . 
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possibility of him going that far was something that surprise~ 
everyone. 

Remember, the NPS is claiming that Brad climbed an addi tional 
1600 feet after he was lost; he essentially climbed to his death, their 
claim. 

The NPS has publicly stated that they were surprised where 
they found Brad; his fam ily was probably very surpri sed. The Times 
Daily story on Apri l 4 also had thi s: "Park officials were conduct­
ing an investigation at the scene late Saturday afternoon, and the·· 
body had not been moved, Cave said." This tells me that whatever 
the park service found at the bottom of the waterfall was perplex­
ing. The N PS stated that the parents chose not to travel to the' scen~ 
because of the difficu lty ofthe trip. Park officials stated that the boy 
died of head trauma. 

Imagine you were the investigator on Brad's case. You find 
the boy in an area that defies common sense. lt appears th at the 
boy travels out onto a ledge in icy conditions and supposedly slips 
and fal ls almost one hundred feet to hi s death. When you get to the 
body, something at the scene concerns you, and an investigation 
is conducted-sounds fa irly thorough at this point. A copyrighted . 
Associated Press article on Apri l 4 had the fol lowing: 

The boy died from a massive head injury and mult iple traumas, said 
Lisa MeNea/, spokeswoman jor University óf Tennessee Medica/ 
Center. No autopsy 1vas pe1jormed. MeNea/ soid o visual inspec­
tion was dec/ared sati!>factory by doctors lo pronounce the cause 
of death. 

1 had to read this las/ statement three difieren/ times-no 
autopsy? An attended death is when a physician can sign a 
death certificate when the victim is directly under the doc­
tor's care. In an unattended death, someone dies not under 
the care of a ph~sician , and an autopsy is automatically 
conducted to ensure there is no fou l play. Brad died with­
out any witnesses under very odd ci rcumstances; l cannot 
believe an autopsy was not conducted. Knowing what 1 

·'. 
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know about the region where Brad disappeared, knowing 
' how· many children have disappeared and not been found, 
1 ~·annot pelieve that the NPS didn't demand an autopsy­
unless th,ey didn't want thi s informat ion disseminated and 
publjcly available .. 

Eloise Lindsay 
Missing 11 /4/89, Table Rock State Park, SC 
f\ge at Disappearance: 22 years 
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This · i~ definitely one ofthe strangest stories in th is book. This 
was in.d'uded in the Great Smoky Mountains section because the 
event,started 'Jess than fifty mi les from the par k border. 

T\' .. ;enty-t.wo-year-old Eloise Lindsay planned a detai led 43.3-
mile hike along the Appalachian Trail starting at Table Rock State 
Park in.'far northwestern South Carolina on November 4, 1989. She 
\\'as goÍng tlie first seven days alone and then meeting a friend to 
refresh supplies and get companionship. The third day into her hike, 
Eloise 'stated that she knew she was being followed by a group of 
men that meant her harm. A November 21 article in the Symcuse 
Journal ·quoted Lindsay's feel ings about the hi ke: "1 was terrorized 
the whole ti me.'' 

After severa! days ofbeing chased, Eloise says th at she ditched 
herbackpack and much ofher supplies and left the trail in an attempt 
to lose.the men. She stated that she never saw the men, but she did 
hear ~h.em regularly. 

El0ise missed meeting her fr iend at the seven-day interval and 
that friend called law enforcement. For the next nine days after 
authorities were notified, Eloise says she was in complete fea r of 
being caught by the men. She stated that many nights she didn't 
sleep and did everything possible to avoid them. On the sixteenth 
day aft~r being declared missing, Eloise was found by a hunter fi ve 
miles offthe trai l and deep in the woods but still inside Table Rock 
State Park. She was escorted back to law enforce ment where she 
gave a complete statement. 

One.of the best interviews of Eloise was written in "The ltem" 
on November 21 , 1989. Eloise stated that she doesn' t ha ve any evi­
denc~' that she was chased, but "1 just know 1 was terrorized for two 
week~." Later in the article Eloise clari fied: "On Tuesday (November 
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7) 1 felt li ke 1 was being chased through the woods by a group of 
men. Up until thi s morning 1 felt li ke 1 was being chased. "Siie was 
found the morning ofthe interview. 

During Eloise's chase through the woods, she stated that she 
did find two pieces of pound cake and stale doughnuts hiddeó in 
the trunk of a tree. How Eloise found the food in the trunk of a tree 
wasn't explained. 

There were people in law enforcement that didn't believe all 
the details of her story, but in reading the various articles, he,r story 
stayed consistent. 

In the last art icle quoted, reporters al so interviewed Elóise's 
mother. Gayle Lindsay stated, 'Tm not sure what she .saw." This 
statement from Eloise 's mother i m pi ies that Eloise d id see soine­
thing cven though shc claims she didn' t sec the men. My question 
for Eloi se and her mother is what did the girl see? Her mothe~ indi­
cates she saw something ·and what she saw is someth ing that' she 
obviously does not want to make public, for whatever re·ason. · 

Case Summary: 
1 am inclined to bel ieve what Eloise states. Nobody dit.ches 

thei r backpack so they can run faster unless they are in serious fear. 
When a hi ker leaves her backpack, she also may be leaving her life 
behind. She didn't have her sleeping bag, food, water purifi~(lt ion, 
or personal hygiene material. 

A November 23 article in the Aiken Standard had an interview 
with law enforcement personnel about Eloise: "1 think she became 
extremely paranoid for whatever reason, said Ti m Margan, Assistant 
Sheri ff of Pickens County." The article la ter stated, "Aithough 
there was no clear indication the mysterious men meant harm, 
Miss Li ndsay said: '1 could tell there was no good intent involved.' 
Eloise stated that when she was found by the hunter, '1 was kind of 
del i rious. ,. 

The state ofbeing delirious or semiconscious is a recun:ing fact 
among people who are found after being lost in the woods. There is 
something about thi s physical state that needs to be exami ned m~re 
carefully. 

1 would like every reader to refer to the Denni s Martín síory in 
th is chapter, specifically, the statements m a de by retired N PS Ranger 
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Dw~ght McCarter about "wild men" in the Smoky Mountains. Whi le 
law en forcement seemed to doubt Eloise's story, McCarter seems to 

' confirm that this event probably occurred. McCarter claims there 
are wild men living in the mountains surrounding the park who 
have done illegal things in the past. McCarter specifi cally told us 
about an NPS ranger who was brutally attacked by one of these wi ld 
men who was never apprehended. You may be asking yourself why 

· the N PS and local law en forcement do not acknowledge the exist­
ence of the wi ld men? lf the NPS and sheriff deputies admit that 
the men exist, they must also admit that they cannot be controlled, 
monitored, or apprehended, as McCarter explained when we met 
with him. 

Evangeline Lorimer 
M issing 6/08/51, Unknown Time, Great Smoky Mountains National 
Par k 
Age at Disappearance: 21 years 

Evangeline Lorimer was taking a summer vacation with her 
fathe r in the Great Smoky Mountains Nationa l Park. Evangeline 
was a student nurse at Cincinnati's Jewish Hospital. Mr. Lorimer 
had traveled to the park from his home in Seattle. 

On June 8, Evangeline told her father that she was going to take 
a hike from their camp in the area of Cades Cove. Evangeline was 
wearing a coat, low profi le shoes, and pants and walked into the 
forest. When Evangeline didn't return to camp, Mr. Lorimer called 
authorities and a search was initiated. 

In the days after Evangeline disappeared, canines were used 
as well as a plethora of law enforcement agents, local state and 
regional personnel. As the canines were coming in, rainstorms 
were hammering the park for severa! days. The canines were not . 
having any luck fi nding Evangeline. 

The search continued for twelve days. In the middle of the 
search, officials fou nd Evangeline's coat hanging from a tree limb 
fh·e mil~::s from where she disappeared. 

On the thirteenth day Evangeline was missing, the park super­
visor's son fou nd Evangeline walking down a trail on Chilhowel l 
Mountain. The g irl had swollen ankles and insect bites but was in 
relatively good condition. When she was interviewed, she stated 

· that she drank water from brooks and ate huckleberries. 



136 Missing 411- Eastern United States 

When Evangeline came out of the woods, Grcat Sn1oky , 
Mountains rangers had an opportunity to intervrew her. A June 22 . . 
1951 article in the Titscaloosa News stated, "They [rangers] stated. 
'The girl was .. vague" and seemed confused."' There were some 
people who believed that Evangeline may not have been lost but it 
was a staged event. From the interview with the ranger it would 
appear that her confusion is consistent with people missing in this 
area ofthe U.S. As you read on in this book, you will find that ma1iy 
people who are found after being missing for severa! days are con­
fused orare delirious, a recurring theme. 

Dennis Lloyd Martín 
Missing 6/ 14/69, 4:30 p.m., Spence Field, 
Great Smoky Mountains National Park 
Age at Disappearance: 6 years 
Last Seen Wearing Red Shirt, Pants 

The facts behind Dennis's story come 
directly from newspaper accounts, NPS 
documents obtained through an FOJ A 
that 1 initiated, and from a personal inter- · 
view I conducted with Mr. Martín at his 
residence and Dwight McCarter (Retired 
NPS Ranger) also at his residence. Another 
investigator and 1 have also spent many 
days in the area where Dennis disappeared, 
attempting to understand the terrain and 
the associated possibilities of what reall.y 
occurred. 

Dennis Martín was vacationing at the Great Smoky Mountains 
National Park with his father William Martín, grandfather Clyde 
Martín, and his older brother Douglas, nine years old . They had 
spent the night of June 13 ata cabin at the Russell Field Shelter, two 
mi les west of Spence Field. On June 14, they hiked to Spence Field 
and spent the day playing in the meadow. 

Spence Field sits on the divide ofTennessee and North Carolina 
and is part of the Appalachian Trail. The fi eld is grassy and runs 
in an east to west direction , with the north drainage going into 
Tennessee and south going into North Carolina. 

GSM Missing People by Dates 137 

As WÚiiam. and Clyde Martín were sitting on the grass with 
Dennis ~nd Doug (two brothers), another famil y met them in the 
meadO\v"'aJld a~ked whether they could join their boys in pl aytime. 
In on'e ofthe more coincidental parts of this case, this other fa mily 
was also niuned "Martín ." 

As both Martí n clans were sitting on a grassy spot just to the 
southwest of the Anthony Creek Trailhead, the Wi lliam Martín 
bovs and tl1e t~o other young Martín boys were playing in the fi elcl 
and sneaking üp to the adults. lt was a great atmosphere for the ~hil­
dren to enjoya national park setting. At one point, the boys dec1ded 

10 split up and' play hide and seek. Dennis was last seen ~n .the 
Tennessee side of the field, fift y feet from where Clyde and Wllllam 
were sitting. After three to fi ve minutes of not seeing Denn~s, Mr. 
Martin 'became concerned ancl began calling out loud for h1s boy, 
but then! was no answer. Clyde Martín saw his son's concern and 
got up al)d started to join the search. lt was approx imately 3:3? p.m., 
and Wi1liam Martin's life was about to change forever. Dunng the 
next severa! hours, the Martin s, rangers, volunteer searchers, and 
various 0ther volunteers covered every trail in the immediate area. 
They se~tched behind every plant and tree on the field. Dennis 
Mar¡in had vanished. 

AccÓrding lo a July 21, 1969 articlein theKnoxvi/le Ne11·s Sentinel , 
the Harold Key fa mily was visiting a region five lo seven miles from 
where Dennis.Martin disappeared the same day sometime between 
.uo and 5:30. p.m. The Key fa mily was in the area downhill from 
where Dennis disappeared in a region known as Sea Branch Creek 
near R<:>wans Creek in Cades Cove (Sea Branch Creek fl ows into 
Rowans. Creek near the val ley). The Keys had asked park rangers 
where they could go to see a bear and were directed to lhat location. 
The family exiled their car and walked one-half to three-tourlhs of 
a mile ~phill when they heard an "enormous, sicken ing scream." 
The oroup walked two hundred additional yards, and Mr. Key's son 
hadj:1st rold Mr. Key that he had heard a bear somewhere in front of 
them. li1 .an article on the same date in the Mm yvi/le Alcoa Times, 
Mr: Key states, "But it wasn't a bear. 1t was a man hiding in some 
bushes. He was definitely trying lo hide from us.'' M r. Key stated at 
the tim.e that he didn' t realize a boy was missing. Mr. Key read about 

j 
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the disappearance of Dennis Martín and then called th,e FBl. two. 

days later. . . 
At approximately 8:30 p.m. heavy rainstorms had moved, mto 

the nationa1 park and were great\y hampering search efforts. There 
was an estimated 2.5 inches of rain before midnight, rain that con-
tinued almostnonstop for two weeks. , . .' . 

The Great Smoky Mountains National Park was starting to ini­
tiate one ofthe largest searches in the history ofthe NP?, and they 
were starti ng to cal! for major rei n forcements. 

June 15, Sunday . 
NPS personnel searched all major drainages in the area of 

Spence Field. Thirty Boy Scouts on an outing were used as .se~rc~­
ers along with fifty-one ranger students who were on a field tnp 
in the area. Special approval was requested from Tony St.ark, the 
recrional ch ief of Visitor Protection lo hire a helicopter to tran~port 
eq:ipment and establish a base camp at Spence Field. ·This was 
approved. Various North Carolina rescue squads were co_ntacted 
and started their response. Two Huey helicopters from the Atr Force 
were requested and dispatched. Forty Special For~es (G~·een . Berets) 
from the Thi rd Army Headquarters in Fort Bennmg, Georgta, were 
requested and dispatched. Remember that thi s was al! in proces_s 
Jess than twenty-four hours after Dennis di sappeared. Forty addl­
tional Green Berets would arrive later in the week. 

After reviewing dozens ofNPS missing persons cases; )"never 
found one that came close to the immediate massive response for 
searchers as was reque~ted in the Dennis Martín case. 1 ~pplaud 
the effort and the response, but it was almost as tho~gh s~meone 
knew th at this case was going to be different. 1t was goi ng to be 
one ofthe most difficult in the history ofN PS. In researchin.g hun­
dreds ofmissing people, 1 have never seen this leve! ofresponse for 
someone missing less than twenty-four hours. The fact that'Green 
Berets were dispatched almost makes it seem as though tl~ey '~ere 
up agai nst something very unusual, and someone k1_1ew 1t. lt 1s a 
very rare event in missing person cases when Spectal F~rces are 

di spatched. 
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··.. June 16, Monday 
,:: · A grid search of Spence Fielcl was conducted. Rescue squads 

were being organ ized and given assignments. The Tennessee Air 
National Guard sent seventeen men to Cades Cove. Many of the 
mÍi itary personnel were calling for assistance without any prompt 
from scarch personnel. A hel iport was established at Cades Cove 
to accommodate the air traffic supporting the SAR. Total force for 
June 16 v.·as three hundred N PS, rescue squads, National Guard, 
volunteers, ·and student foresters. 

The ncxt four days showed more intensive search ing anda huge 
inrerest in assisting by the public and the military. The number of 
searchers swelled to almost eight hundred on June 20. On June 21, 
the• searchers numbered 1400. The area around Spence field was 

' saturated. Drainages were searched inch by inch. Armed Special 
Forces personnel were looking for tracks, broken twigs, anything 
leading toward ev idence of where the boy may be. It was at this 
point that the ch ief ranger contacted the media to advise the public 
that no more searchers were needed; they were reaching a saturation 
and support point, which they could not accommodate. lt was from 
this date forward that the number of searchers started to diminish. 

On June 24, the NPS hada meeting with FBJ Special Agent Jim 
Rike. The circumstances of the disappearance of Dennis Martín 
were explained to the a gen t. lt was unclear per the N PS reports why 
the FBI agent arrived or who called the agency for assistance. There 
were no reports in the FOJA documents stating what was discussed 
in this meeting or any documents outlining why the FBI was on site. 
Almost everything about the FBI's involvement was absent from 
:\ PS reports. 

On June 27, Mr. Ecl Crabtree, one of William Martin's neigh­
bors in K noxv i lle telephoned Tennessee Senator Howard Baker 
and asked for three hundred additional federal troops to search for 
Denn is. The Coast Guard had committed two boats to Fontana Lake 
to search for any possible evidence, even though the lake was out­
side the park boundary and was miles away. 

On June 29 at 5:00 p.m., a meeting was held with the Martins, 
NPS personnel, and the FBI , with the NPS posing the question which 
way the search would go from here. The FBl stated that absent any 
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evidence ofa kidnapping, the FBI cou ld not launch a full-sca le inves­
tigation, but they would continue one agent on site to monitor activ­
ity, that one agent was Ji m Rike. The N PS told the Martins that they 
were willing to continue the search for thirty to sixty or ninety days. 
with three of the best park services m en. Dwight McCarter was one 
ofthe personnel they committed. At 6:00p.m., the SAR operation on 
Spence Field was officially closed down. A totaJ of 13,240 man-hours 
were expended on the search for Dennis and 200 hel icopter a ir hours. 

Mr. Martín was n draftsman for an arch itectural company and 
took weeks off of work to assist with the search for his son. He was 
a man possessed by fi nding the hoy. The amount of guilt that poor 
man must have felt would bring tears to anyone's eyes. He gave 
severa! interviews during and after the formal search. He was con­
vinced that Dennis was abducted, but he couldn't convince the FBI. 
or the local FBI had orders not to be involved. lt was unclear what 
path the FBI was taking or the motivation or reason for its interest 
in this case. 

The NPS and the FBI did conduct interviews on many periph­
eral issues associated with the disappearance of Dennis. One of 
the more interesting and unusual interviews was with Harold Kev 
of Carthage, TN. One of the fasci nating parts of thi s interview i.s 
that Mr. Key had volunteered to come to the párk and meet with 
investigators. This did not happen. FBI agent Jim Rike intercepted 
Mr. Key and met him away from the park to have the debriefing. 
Mr. Key later told the press that he was near Rowans Creek in 
the Sea Branch area with his family when they heard, "an enor­
mous, sickening scream." The newspaper stated that a few minutes 
later he saw a "rough looking man stealthi ly in the woods near 
where he had heard the scream." Key did not know the boy was 
missing until the next day and at that point he contacted authori­
ties. Park officials discounted the li kelihood that this sighting 
was involved in the disappearance because they felt it wns too far 
from the point Dennis disappeared. They wouldn't even go to the 
area and investigate. One interesting side note to this observa­
tion is that Mr. Key's· son had stated to another newspaper that he 
had heard or seen a bear in thi s same area just as they saw some­
one or something darting between the trees. This seems a bit too 
coi ncidental. 
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Owigl)l Mc9arter was an NPS ranger at the ti me and partici-
. pated in .the sea rch. Many years later McCarter did give an inter­

view about the event and specifica lly addressed the scream and 
siuhtimz near Rowans Creek. McCarter stated that Sea Branch is 
d;\\·nhill 'from the location that Dennis disappeared and it wns hi s 
opinion that a physically fit man could carry a small boy between 
the two ppints. Nobody ever did address the huge screnm that was 
heard. 1 did meet and interview McCarter on this point ancl will 
address tl~is issuc later. 

On juJy 17, 1969 the N PS received a letter from the ESP 
Reseorch 'Associates in Little Rock, Arkansas. Harold Sherman, the 
president of the organization, authored the letter. Mr. Sherman had 
some notoriety· nt the time for authoring severa! books and being 
accurate ·on his premonitions. The following letter was in the pnges 
of documents sent from the FOIA request. 

Mr. s·herman wrote an extensive letter that defined an area 
where Dennis may be located. The last three paragraphs of the Jet­
ter are v~ry' discomforti ng: 

1 am imP._etled to ask you ifyou know whether or not there ha1•e 
been. or· are, cmy questionnble characters in this region. Camping 
ow in tire wild in this orea? Like hermits, squatters'! Such an indi­
ridurd ¡¡¡ay not be connected with the boy 's disappearance at al/, 
but 1 jeel that a sex maniac, so called, does exist in the vicinity and 

could hove trailed the boy. 

1 hesita;e to write anymore as my conscious mine/ is trying to reject 
such a.feeling. .J see something red and :wmething being carried ur 
clraggerJ. Are there cmy caves inlhe vicinity? ¿1 streammay even 1'1111 

through lt, 01·part ofit. 

1 nm C[lways tormented when impressions come lo my c:onscious 
mind trying !ó !el/me !ha! they couldn't possibly be lrue, bw 1 gel 
a fi?e/ing of suelden panic on lhe parl of Dennis. What happened 
10 him occurred suelden/y, unexpec!edly, and he cou/d not, or did 
1101 cry o;'a. He seems 10 be struck down by some1hing. .. 1he area is 

rugged. 
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As a remi nder, Dennis was wearing a red shirt, and there are 
mines in the area where Harold Key and his family made. their 
observation. 

On Ju ly 21, 1969 the Knoxville .Journa/ ran an article ._t~tled 
'Toul Play Suggested in Martín Boy Mystery." The paper had a f~r­
mal interview with Harold Key; the article had many more details 
than were available through the NPS reports. Mr. Harold. Key is a 
highway engineer, and his cousin is Baxter Key, who ':as the ~ttor- . 
ney general for the district. lt was his cousin who convtnced h,nn .to 
make bis information public. 

Key stated that his family went to Cades Cove, ~n area below 
the regían where Denn is Martín disappeared. They were t.l~ere the 
arternoon the boy disappeared. Key stated that the famtly ~ent 
looking for bears. The family parked their car and started to htke. 

Key stated, 
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·~·· : .' /lfr 1:-ije and daughter did no/ go far wilh us. We had gane a half 
· · mi/e or so ll'hen 1ve heard an Olvfiil scream that so1mded like some­

nne in trnuh/C'. There \Fas a slrC'am lhere. As we were going up lo 
ir. (JI/e of m y boys said, "Look daddy lhere ~· a bear." 1 looked. 11 
lrG.m'r a,hear. 11 ll'as a man. 1 didn '1 gel a godd loo k al him because 
he seC'IIIC'd lo he trying 10 stay hidden behind bushes. 

·· Larer in the article Key again explains the scream they heard: 
··He described the sound they heard as 'One long, loud, painful 

.::·· · · scream.'" As a former twenty-year law-enforcement veteran, l'd 
·. ·. like to know what transpired when the FBI interviewed Mr. Key 

·away from the park, but it appears we wil l never knO\·V. The FBI 
has refused my FOJA request on this case and the NPS either never 
\\·rote a repon or fa iled to supply the report to my FOJ A in regards 
to'the interview with Mr. Key. What was it about the appearance of 
th.e subject that the Keys observed that caused thei r son to believe 
.they were witnessing a bear? 1 fi nd it nearly impossible that NPS 
investigators never wrote a report about the interview with Mr. Key. 
This was probably one of the most important developments in the 
disappearance of Denn is, and the NPS is claiming that they never 
documented this interview-unbelievable! The idea that a witness 
would mistake a hairy bear for a human doesn' t make allot ofsense 
unless the human was very hairy or they were wearing a shaggy 
large coat. 

' In an NPS document tit led Appendix F under "Suggestions," 
there is the following paragraph: "On June 26, Carson Brewer 
of the Knoxville Netvs Sentine/ called and forwarded a sugges­
tion received from a lady telling searchers to start looking in 
nees and tree tops and stop looking on the ground.'' There was 
no other explanation. You will read about a missing girl later 
in this book that disappeared and was found high in a tree-a 
coi nc idence? 

There were several letters in the N PS fi le about the observation 
made by the Key fami ly. Mr. Martín was quite upset at one point 
because the NPS went public with the Key family observation and 
hadn't informed him of the finding or of the FBI interview away 
from the park. Mr. Martín met with Mr. Key and heard fi rsthand the 
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story and felt that the FBJ and the NPS had misinformed the press 
of the actual facts of the observation. That Jetter is in the file. Mr. 
Marti n also felt that the FBl and NPS were purposely trying to keep 
the Key family observation from him. 

In the summer of 2011 , l m a de a special trip to Tennessee to 
visit the Great Smoky Mountains National Park, to observe loca­
tions ofthi s event where people have disappeared , and to interview 
people who were witnesses. 

On a Sunday morning in Augusl 2011, 1 went to the Martín 
residence in Knoxville. This was the same residence that was 1isted 
in wanted posters in 1969. The Martins had never moved and ne,·er 
changed their phone number. 

Another investigator and 1 knocked on the front door and 1 
immediately recognized Mr. Martín as he ca meto the door. The man 
was still in exceptional physical condition and very recognizable. 

Mr. Martín answered the door, and 1 explained 1 was a researcher/ 
investigator and writer working on his son's case for the last three 
years and wanted to ask him a few brief questions. J al so stated thatl 
deeply admired him for his refusal to give up the search for Dennis. 
lt was a great effort on his part. Mr. Martín very politely stated that 
his family has lived with the disappearance for a li fetime and has tried 
not total k about it. I explained 1 had traveled from Californ ia and only 
wanted to ask a very few questions. Mr. Martín now closed the front 
door and stepped onto the porch. 

J asked Mr. Martín how far he was from his son on Spence 
Field when he disappeared? He stated that he could have thrown a 
rock and hit Dennis where he was hiding; he was no more than fifty 
feet away behind a few bushes. He reminded me that Dennis was 
wearing a bright red shirt, a shirt that was never found. 1 asked if 
Dennis's brother, Doug, had seen or heard anything strange while 
he was hiding. Mr. Martín stated that he had not. 

1 told Mr. Martín that 1 was familiar with the statements made 
by Mr. Harold Key and his sighting in the area of Sea Branch and 
Rowans Creek. Mr. f\1arti n stated that he eventually got to speak 
with Mr. Key and was told things that you won't read in a newspa­
per. He stated that he was so concerned that he and a National Park 
Service Fire Prevention Officer hiked from Spence Field to the area 
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ofthe Key sighling in ni nety minutes. They didn't find anything, but 
they diq prove that the hike could be made in the time frame ofwhen 
Dennis disappeared and the Key fami ly sighting. 

1 asked Mr. Martín what Mr. Key had told him that was not in 
the papers. Mr. Martín stated that th e Keys had thought they saw a 
dark figu red man running along a ridgel ine carrying something on 
his shoutaer. 1 agai n asked Mr. Martí n to explain what hejust stated. 
1 was in shock. Mr. Martín agai n stated that the Keys had seen (the 
paper originally stated that the son thought they heard or saw n bear) 
and later· reported the sighti ng as a dark-figured man running along 
a rid~e carrying something on his shoulder. 1 asked Mr. Martín why 
the news a.nd the park service had never reported this in for mation. 
Mr. Martín stated he didn't know. 1 asked Mr. Martín if he telt that 
the park service was withholding information from him. He paused 
at this point. Mr. Martín stated that the head of the park service 
''as a m.ere figurehead , and there were times information ftowed 
smooth ly, and·other times it did not. Jt appeared that Mr. Mart ín was 
contcmpl'ating saying something additional so 1 again asked ifthere 
was something el se 1 should know? M r. Martín hesitated severa! 
seconds;. was looking at the ground and slowly raised his head to 
look atine and stated, "Do you know Ji m Rike?'" 1 stated yes, he \-vas 
the lead .FBI agent on severa! of the missing chi ldren cases in the 
mountains around the time Dennis disappeared. Mr. Martín stated, 
·-oo you khow he committed suicide?" 1 was speech less lor severa! 
seconds. 1 asked him ifhe felt that the suicide had something todo 
with the ·cases of missing ch ildren, he stated he didn' t know. 

Many weeks after meeting with Mr. Martín, 1 read what 1 had 
written ·and reviewed my notes of the interview with Mr. Martín. 
lt was ·iny opinion and the opin ion of the second resea rcher who 
was present that M r. Martin's staternent that the head of the Great 
Smoky . Mountains National Park was a "mere figurehead" was 
important.' lt appeared that he was implying that another adminis­
trator somewhere else in the NPS system was dictating thc orders, 
and the · superintendent was barking them out. The real question 
is why ·~he NPS and the FBI were not being open and honest with 
Mr. Marfin- why be evasive? What was it about Dennis's di sap­
pearance that caused the federal govern ment to withhold information 
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from the Martin's? lt would appear that the FBI and the NPS did not 
want the information from the Key fam ily made public, specifically 
the part about see something being carried on the individuals .shoul­
der. This information is not in any official documents that w~re for-
warded tome. . 

One of the last two items 1 asked William Martín was what 
he believed happened to his son and were there any other strange 
events in conjunction with this case that were never repor~ed? Mr. 
Martín stated that he believes that someone took his .son <?ff the 
mountain . He says that there was no way his son could have gotten 
away as fa st as he did without people finding him. · · ·. 

In my years of interviewing people under a multitude of circum­
stances, that was one of the hardest face-to-face meetings !!~ave ever 
had . Mr. Martin's eyes were watery. 1 had tears in mine. 1 sho~k.l~i'S ha.nd 
and told him he did everythi ng possible to find his son. 1 ~ew .it, and 
his son would have bee11 proud ofhis father's effort 1 thariked \\[.illiam 
Martín for his time. 1 walked to our car shaking and teary-eyed .. , 

1 fyou were Dennis Martín, you would have been veryproud of 
the intensity and effort William Martín placed in getting him back. 
The man hiked valleys and stayed with the search long after every­
one el se gave u p. He was a man consumed with findi11g hls, boy. 1t 
appeared tome that he hada very good hand le on the P.oliti~.s' ofthe 
sea rch and effort s made by certain groups. Will iam Martin.should 
forever be commended for the effort he made in finding Dennis. He 

should be admired. 
The more 1 dug i11to thi s case, the more questions se~med to 

pop u p. 1 n October of 2011 , 1 had developed more quest\o'ns. t,han 
answers and decided to again return to the park and attempt to mter­
view Dwight McCarter, retired NPS Ranger a11d author of l,os1!: A 

Ranger 's Journal ofSearch and Rescue. . . . · ;.. . . 
Dwioht 's book was about his work recovering mtssmg people m 

o 
and around the Great Smoky Mountai11s Natio11al Park. lt was also 
about bis failure in findi11g some ofthose missi11g. Dwight McCarter 
retired from the NPS as one ofthe premier trackers ever to \Valk the 
park. H is knowledge is vast, and bis tracking skills probabfy one of 
the best in North America. . : 
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J\nother researcher and 1 found Dwight at h is residence just out­
side the park boundaries. He was working 011 a car for bis son when 
we walked up to his garage. We introduced ourselves as researching 
a book 011 missi11g people a11d asked ifhe wol]ld11't mind answering 
a few questio11s about his years oftracking. Dwight stated, "Sure." 

1 started our conversation with Dwight explai11ing that we had 
imerviewed Dennis Martin's father and that he had givenus specific 
insighr th c.r was not found in any other public documents. 1 told 
0\\·ight that 1 was specifically interested in the Key family obser­
vatiqn in Rowans Creek where they saw someone darting between 
trees carrying someth ing over his shoulder. Dwight started his 
response by explaining that he felt that it was very possible that a 
man could carry a boy between the point that Dennis disappeared 
and the Rowans Creek location in the time frame of the disappear­
ance and the observation made by the Keys. 1 asked why the FBI 
an'd the N PS downplayed the sighting. Dwight stated that it was the 
FBI thar told the publ ic and the NPS that this wasn't feasible and 
10 discount rhe event. He stated that the FBI knows nothi11g about 
people moving through the woods and time frames ofpossibili ties, 
~;el they told everyone involved that the Key family sighting was not 
rele,·ant. Dwight went into an explanation of how he has made the 
walk from Spence Field to the area of Rowan's Creek and knows 

.'for a fact rhis can be accomplished in the time allotment that was 
made from when Dennis went missing until the Keys made their 
obsen·ation. 

, 1 asked Dwight what he thought had made the sicke11ing scream 
heard by the Keys. He stated it might have been Dennis. 1 advised 
_o,,·ight that the description ofthe scream by the Keys appears to be 
.too loud for a small boy to have made. There was no response. 

1 asked Dwight if he and other rangers were armed when the 
Dennis Martín disappearance occurred. He stated, "No." The vast 
majority ofN PS rangers were not armed until the 1970s. 1 the11 asked 
\\'hether he thought it was odd that the Gree11 Berets came into the 
park. set up their own communicatio11s and went out into thc woods 
armed. Dwight stated that he did think it was a little strange, but 
he,also stated that it was the mi litary. Then he hesitated and stated 
that when the National Guard has assisted in the past, they were 110t 
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armed. He stated that the Green Berets really acted on thei r own and 
didn't interact with the NPS. 

1 asked Dwight why one of the children of the Keys would first 
state that he observed a bear and then hi s father stated they sa\\' a 
man? Dwight hesitated for several minutes and then said that in and 
around the park there are "wild men." He stated that there is more 
than one. They are hairy, dirty, and one even had an old bearskin 
that he wore. Dwight was carefu l with his words but did state that 
these men lived in the wild and were essentially living off the land 
in and around the park. 1 asked if he thought Dennis was taken b~ a 
"wild man." He stated that at the time he rea lly gave it little thought. 
The only wild man he knew in the park at the time lived at the other 
end near the Cataloochee Valley and didn' t venture into the area 
where Dennis disappeared or the area of Cades Cove at the bottom 
of Rowans Cree k. 

Dwight McCarter made it clear that the "wild men" he was 
speaking about were humans who decided to live in the wild . They 
had little contact with humanity and they appeared as the name 
implied, wild and unkempt. This was the first, last, and only time 
I have ever heard anyone mention "wild men" inside of the Great, 
Smoky Mountains National Park. 

Case Summary: 
Dennis Martín avoided the efforts of over fifty county SAR 

teams that converged on the park to fi nd him. The U.S. Green 
Beret Special Forces had almost eighty personnel at the park for 
ten days searching for the seven-year-old boy. They couldn't fi nd 
him. Canine units from across America responded with blood­
hounds and German shepherds. They couldn't sni ff hi m out. The · 
li st of emergency personnel responding and assisting on this event , 
ran three pages, single-spaced, on an NPS document. The response 
was phenomenal. 

The Dennis Martín incident should be a case study every 
SAR commander revi.ews. Many elements of this event- the ini­
ti al response, the inhibition of the search by rain, the organiza­
tion of search resources, federal law enforcement 's response, the 
organization of the law enforcement investigation, the decision to ·· 
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D-ENNIS LLOYD MARTIN 
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Di 1oppoo·r~d on Junc 14, 1969 ot Spcnco Ficld, in thc Grcat Smoky Mou nta ins 
Notionol P.ark. Altor cxtensive seorch offorts, no trace has bccn found. 

•. Ase 
Hoi'ght 
Wcight 
Hoir 
Eycs 

.7 ! Barn June lO, 1962 • 
Ap proximo tcly 4 fcct 
Aoproximotcly 55 pounds 

.Dork brown ond wovy 
Oork brown with long cyeloshcs 

Fomily n~mcs: Fothc r, Bill Clydc 
Mothc r, V io lot 
Brothcrs, Ooug los and Michael 
Sister, Soroh 

Ocnni< hq·~. a Gerlnon Shepherd dog collcd ' lady.' 

Anyonc 'h'o.'in9 inlormo tion rcgording thc whcrcobouts of this young•tcr, picase 
,Iocr your local low en forccmcnt o gene y or: 

Williom C. Martin 

terminal~ the search, and the subsequent long-term investigation­
should b~ analyzed and understood for their effectiveness (or lack 
of effectiveness). 

1 do no( believe that more resources and more searchers would 
have chai'lged 'the outcome of this evenl. There was something dif­
ferent- about th is search. lf SAR leaders would open their minds, 

' undersu\nd that they don' t have all the answers, and allow new ideas 
and strategies to enter their minds, a d ifferent method for addressing 



150 Missing 411- Eastern United States 

search and rescue could take place. The best method for changing a 
paradigm is through brainstorming sessions with enlightened lead­
ers-leadcrs not involved in daily issues related to SAR, but rather 
people who can see the issue from a different perspective: Decisio~s 
about searching, how people could move through the ~oods, dts­
tances people could travel, etc, those opinions should be rendered 
by people li ving and working the parks, not by the FBI. lt appeared 
from Mr. Martin 's statements that some type of behind-the-s~en~s 
politics was taking place and that the park superintendent ·~astú 
really in charge. ' . 

1 n all ofthe SARs 1 've read, it 's a rare event when Special Forces 
are u sed to fincl a child outside of the Great Smoky Mountains. The 
NPS literally turned much of the SAR for Dennis over to Special 
Forces, as is described in a June 20, 1969, article in the R.ock Hi/1 
Herald: "The search can be compared toa military operatiori com­
plete with a headquarters, a commandi ng general, squad leaders. 
and a mass of privates." This was truly a unique search-jt used 
resources never before used to look for a small boy. What is more 
amazina is that the Green Berets entered the park, ~rmed them­
selves ~ncl then conducted a search without coordina.ting efforts 
with NPS trackers. They had thei r own communications sy~tem and 
their own camp, and th~y seemed to want to work iodependently 
and away from others. Very unusual. ... 

Park officials seem to have used every available resource to fi nd 
Dennis, yet the efforts failecl to find one single clue o!'. hi s. ~~her~a­
bouts. This fact should tellus something. In one ofthe moresurpns­
ing twists to the SAR, it was discovered that the park service.closed 
Cades Cove Loop Road for three days, without explanati_ón. The 
area was closed just after the Kcy fa mily had made ~heir <;>bserv~­
tions near Sea Branch and Rowans Creek in Cades Cove .. There ts 
nothing in the documents 1 received explaining why the c~ve was 

closed. . . · 
1 believe that one change in strategy could have alte~ed the 

course of events in this SAR. Once leaders understood ..that the 
Harolcl Key fam ily hada viable sighting, SAR command~r~· should 
have immediately expanded the perimeter ten mil7s int.o Ca.des 
Cove and searched outside-in , starting at the farthest .point out from 
where Denn is was Jast seen and searching towa rd where he ~as seen 

. , . 
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by the Key family. 1 actually believe this happened, and that's why 
Cades Cove was closed. The real question is, why wouldn't SAR 
commanders admit to havi ng expanded the perimeter and to includ­
ing Rowans Creek and Sea Branch in the se~rch area? 1 believe that 
the Green Berets were given this task, and th is is why they had spe­
c ial communications that did not interact with NPS radios and why 
their helicopters were landing at the cove. Everything the Green 
Berets diJ. what they saw and how they proceeded was veiled in 
secrecy beca use of the lack of communication between their group 
and NPS. 

1 am very interested in what transpired in the meeting between 
· FBI Agent Rike and Harold Key away from the park-was his story 
buffered in some way? Mr. Key's son stated that he had heard and 
observed a bear, whi ch was Jater changed to his father saying that 
he saw a human. A bear normally walks on four feet, not two. What 
was the difference in the sighting that changed the description? Why 
wasn't the fact that the Keys saw someone carrying something over 
his shoulder in any NPS document, any newspaper article, or in any 
government documents ever released? Dwight McCarter confirmed 
·he knew ofthis fact and didn't know why it was never made public. 
lt almost sounds as if Special Agent Jim Ri ke knew the Keys had 
an unusual event happen to them, so unusual that he didn't want 
them coming to the park . He met them twenty miles away. It 's obvi­
ous rhar the FBI and park officials never wanted this information 
made public, but why? The FBl still does not want this information 
rcleased, and 1 believe this is why they refused my FOJA request 
for documents on the Mnrtin case. Even if Dennis was abducted . ' 
wasn't it in the best interest ofthe park and the FBI to conduct a full-
fledged investigation and aclvise the public of the threal that existed? 
The park and nearby communities generate over $700 mill ion for 
.\he state and nearby cit ies; therefore, maybe the NPS and local com-

. munities didn't want specific in form ation released. 
A major concern that !'ve developed over the years l've investi­

gated thi s case is what is in the FBI file, and why won't they release 
it? \\'hat did FBI Agent Jim Rike document that could be so damn­
ing fifty years after the event that our government cannot tell the 
public? The information that agent Ri ke accumulated through hi s 
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investigations ofch ild disappearances in the Great Smoky Mountain 
are a are part of a very large file ofhundreds of cases that the FBI has 
accumulated over the years that have no doubt made their way to the 
profiling unit and now sit in a large fil ing cabinet. 

lmagine you read a storyline like this: 

Little boy disappears in meadow at National Park within 
fi fty feet of parents. 
Searchers scour park for weeks with no results. 
Eighty Armed Green Beret Special Forces brought imo 
park to search. 
Strange screams reported by a fam ily in park. 
Something similar to a dark-figured man is seen running 
through the forest in park carrying something over shoulder. 
Psychic tells of seeing boy in cave-l ike setting. 
Another psychic tells ofseeing a boy possibly in a tree. 
No trace of the boy ever found. 
Eleven people have disappeared under unusual circum- ' 
stances at or near this park. 
The lead FBI agent on this case commits suicide. 

Doesn't this sound like something someone would make up for 
a movie? Unfortunately, al! ofthe elements listed above are fact. 

Most of the people involved in this case have retired or passed 
away. Mr. Key died in 2010. J would li ke to know why there is not ·· 
one mention in any park service document about the interview with 
Mr. Key or why there is no mention of someone carrying som~thing . 

over his shoulder in the woods. Does this seem likc sorne type of cen­
sorship? lt almost sounds as though the FBI and NPS was trying to 
manage Mr. Key's statement before it was heard by the media and Mr. 
Martin. 1 did file a second FOJA request asking for a review ofthe file 
to ensure that Key's interview and statement weren't missed in their 
original search. The park service responded stating that they did not 
have any such documer'!t. 

1 would gladly assist any congressional investigation into the 
NPS and its censorship of documents and its failure to meet FOJA 
requ i rements. 
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Let's pray that the Martin family has happiness and peace in 
their lives. 

Thelma Pauline Melton, AKA "Polly" 
Missing 9/25/81, 4:15p.m., Great Smoky Mountains National Park 
Age at Disappearance: 58 years 
5'11", 180 lbs 

The information regarding thi s case was gleaned from NPS 
documcnts retrieved vi a an FOI A request, review of arch ived news­
paper a·l'ticles and interviews with potential witnesses and part ici­
pants in "the search. 

Thelma and Robert Melton were married and li ved in 
Jacksonville, Florida. Every summer since 1958 the Meltons would 
pul! their Airstream trailer to the private park and spend severa) 
weeks camping in the Deep Creek Campground in Swain County, 

orth G~;·olina. There were usually severa! other older couples that 
also camp~d in the same area enjoying the summers in the National 

· . park'sitting adjacent to their parking lot. The couples hada soc ial 
gatheril1g that .included cookouts, card playing, and general social­
izing that goes with a group setting. 

· The · p.eopl~ camping in the Deep Creek Campground came to 
the ~rea because they loved the outdoors. Pauline Melton and her 
friends tegularly wa lked the trails in the area and knew the park in 
that region quite well. 

. ·September 25 started like every other day in rhe Deep Creek 
CampgtO\-(nd for the older sect vacationing in the are a. At 10:45 a.m. 
Pauline.and- Jack Cannon arri ved at camp and started to arrange 
their hottsing ·area. At 11:15 a.m. Pauli ne Melton helped Pau line 
Cannott .. cut up apples tor drying. At noon, Pauline Melton had lunch 
with her hushand and then napped in their trailer. 

At 3:)5p.n~. Pauline Melton, Trula Gudger, and Pauline Cannon 
started .·on .a hike from their trai lers onto the Deep Creek Trail. The 
trail par.nllels Deep Creek and is a smooth grave! road for the major­
ity and·.then has a gate that limits vehicular travel. Once inside the 
National Park' (th is area was located on the fringe of the park), the 
road becomes essentially a trail, and vehicles cannot enter- just 
pedestrians . . The women took a leisurely hike, talking and enjoy­
ing the beauty that exists in the Great Smoky Mountains Park. The 
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group saw a few horseba'ck riders when they first started and· a few 
people wading in rhe creek. As th e group reached a · spring near 
Jenkins Place, Pauline Melton commented to the group that sh~ was 
thirsty but didn't want to leave the' trail to get a drink. The other 
women asked Pauline if she wanted to turn around, but she·politely 
said, "No." The group made it to the turnaround point when'Pauline 
started to accelerate her pace and pulled away from the other 
women. Pauline Cannon stated to Pauline Melton, "1 wouldn't want 
to be in a foot race with you, Polly." Ms. Melton turned and l~ughed 

but kept her pace, walking straight ahead down the trail. 
At thi s point in the group's hike back to their trailers, Pauline 

"Poli y"' M el ton was approximately seventy-five yards ahead of the 
group and approaching a slight rise in the trail. The group was .2 
miles above Hammer Branch; this was the last time Pauline~elton 
was ever seen. 

The two women arrived back at their trailers and no.tified ~obert 
Melton that they had not seen Polly on their return. Robert stated 
that she hadn' t come back down the trail. lt was at this point that 
the group ser up their own search parties to look in the· obvious 
places that Poli y would go. After an extensive search of the.camp· 
ground and trail, the group went to the ranger station at 6:~0 p.m. 
and reported Polly missing. '. 

The NPS committed fifteen men the first day to the search for 
Pauline Melton. The following fi vc days saw four different canine 
sea rch teams from a variety of agencies (i ncluding the FB.I} comb 
the area around where Pauline was last seen, but noth ing was found. 
Dennis Barnett was the NPS supervisor in charge of the search for 
Pauline. On October 2, Mr. Barnett made the followi.ng st~tement : 
" lfshe had been in the park, dogs would have found her." 1 find this 
is a very bold statement considering the history of canines tlnding 
lost people in the Great Smoky Mountains National · ~ark ; it hasn·t 
been an ovcrwhelming success. Maybe Polly wasn't in 'th.at exact 
area they had been searching, but to say that she wasJl' t in the park 
is bold , very bold. Maybe Mr. Barnett should have read the ~ase file 
on Dennis Martín that occurred twelve years earlier than th~' Melton 
incident. Canines never found Dennis. In fact, canines never found 
;¡ majority ofthe people listed in thi s chapter. 
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Case Summary: 
This is another case in wh ich a person goes missing inside the 

Great Smoky Mountains National Park, almost in the presence of 
others and is never found. Not only is Pauljne never found , noth­
ing belonging to her, shoes, scarf, jewelry, nothing is ever found. 
The campground where the group was staying is located in North 
Caroli na near the far eastern end of Fontana Lake and just west of 
the OcoJ~ aluftec lndian Vi llage. Deep Creek is the first valley west 
of lndian Creek at an elevation of 2200'. Pauline disappeared on a 
trail directly next to Deep Creek. 

Robert Melton had a heart condition, and once he realized that 
Polly was missing and wasn't quickly being found, he had to be 
hospitalized. 

Abraham Lincoln Ramsay 
Missing 3/11 / 19,3: 15 p.m., Dunn Creek, Tennessee 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years 

Only three sources 1 could find described the events regarding 
the disappearance of Abe Ramsay. 1 used these sources, and they 
essent ially told quite similar stories. Both of the books are excel­
lent. and 1 encourage anyone who has an interest in the topic toread 
t.hem. They mimic each other as far as the story. 1 have also used spe­
cial sections of each book in the detail 1 have chron icled on severa! 
other mi ssing people in the Great Smoky Mountains National Park 
are a. The thi rd source is an article in the A llanta Conslilution, dated 
March 20, 1919: "3-Year old Boy Van ishes in Smoky Mountains; 
Posses Va in ly Search.'' The article states that Abe was attempting 
to fo llow bis sisters to a local country store when he was turned 
back. The boy took a mountain path back to the house and not the 
road. Hundreds looked for Abe for days. They did find his footprints 
many mi les from the location he was last seen, and th is con fu sed 

· searchers. ·'The mysterious disappearance has aroused the entire 
moumain section," per the article. The article states that searchers 
did find the boy's footprints, but they "end so abruptly asto mystify 
the experienced mountaineers who are lead ing searchers." 

Los t.': A Ranger :s Journal of Searc/1 and Rescue, authored by 
Dwight McCarter and Ronald Schmidt, is one source 1 used for this 
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disappearance. McCarter spent twenty-five years as a backcountry 
ranger and participated in many ofthe SARs that occurred in the Great 
Smoky Mountains National Park. Dwight's book is an excellent account 
ofmany cases in which people have disappeared into the mountains. 

Unsolved Disappearances in the Great Smo.ky Mountains by 
Juan itta Baldwin and Ester Grubb is another book 1 have used as 
a source. The two women have chronicled many of the disappear- ' 
ances in the Smoky Mountains and ha ve authored a very good book. 
The following is the general account that mi mies facts presented in 
the two books: 

Abe Ramsay was a healthy and happy three-year-old who was 
li ving with his family in the Cosby section of the Great Smokv 
Mountains. The fami ly lived on the boundary of Sevier and Cock~ ·· 
Counties where forty-one-yenr old John Ramsay had established a 
small ten-acre farm that barely kept the family in vegetables in a , 
good year. There were seven children in the fa mily, with the oldest 
living at home being fourteen or fifteen. · 

The morning of March 11 was a nice da y. John Ramsay left the 
home and went to work at bis still (John was a moonshiner), and his 
school-age ch ildren started the walk to the schoolhouse. The tiun­
ily owned a "giant rawboned hound" (Unso/ved Disappearances, 
p. 1 15), Motley, that stayed at the fa mily home and acted as proteé­
tion. On the morning of March 11, Motley suddenly took off across 
the porch and ran into the woods. Mot ley ran off j ust as a number 
of dogs started barking up the hillside. Just as this was happening. 
there was an "explosion ofmuffled barks" up the hillside (Unsolved 
Disappearances, p. 117). 

At approximately 3:00p.m. Abe put his coat on and ran around 
the yard and then down toward Dunn Creek in an effort to find 
Motley, who had still not returned. Abe's mother was now call­
ing for Abe to come back as she walked onto the porch and looked 
under the house. As she looked under the house, she was surprised 
to see Motley, frozen in a whimpering stance nnd not moving. She 
looked at the dog with a firm stare and could see that it had bcen in 
some type offight. 
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An hour after Abe disappeared, the fnmil y's other children 
· started to arrive home from school. They were sent out to look for 

Abe. 
Duril·;&·rhe following four days every inch of every piece ofland 

in a three-mile radius of the Ramsay farm was searched by con­
' ·cerned neighbors and friends. There was only one unusual report 

that was for\.varc!ed to the Ramsays. There was a footprint of a bare­
foot child thnt was fou nd in the dirt roadway quite a di stance from 

· their house,. but it was never known whether it was Abe or anything 
·related to.his disappearn nce. In 1919 there were no formal search 
and rescue teains. There were no official responses to such a loss, 
and Jol111 Ramsay was probably concerned that if law enforcement 

' did start to look around, thcy might find some stills. John did !ove 
Abe a lot. J:ie talked to almost everyone about his son's disappear­
ance. and . it was obv ious thnt the disappearance haunted hi m f'or 
decades! 

There were• many stories and theories about what happened to 
Abe. but ·n.othiúg was sol id, and there was no evidence supporting 
any spec.jnc thepry. 

Case Summary: 
1 do .find one aspect of this disappearance as being un usual and 

not consistent with the normal behavior of a family guard dog, and 
that was the behavior ofMotley. 1 also find it unusual that the behav­
ior of the. dog and the other dogs barking coincided with Abe's dis­
appearance. B¡g family dogs are not afraid ofbears. Bears are afraid 
of dogs. This wasn't a bear that took on a group of dogs and caused 
Motley to run and hiele under the house. Whatever caused Motley's 
injuries. ~d the disruption of the other dogs on the mountain was 
probably·somehow related to the disappearance of Abe. 

M ichae! Eugene Reel 
Missing 7/2/83, 9:30a.m., Roan Mountnin State Park, TN 
Age at Disappearance: 8 years 
3'10", 65:lbs 
BIOJ)de 1-hiir 

~*Tbe disappearance of M ichael Reel and Larry Davenport both 
occurred in Roan Mountain State Park. Reel disappeared from a 

·~ 
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campsite on July 2, 1983, and Davenport disappeared from a cal11P­
site on July 17, 1983. Ves, it is peculiar that both males vali ished in 
the same park within fi fteen days of ea eh other. Once you read the 
speciñcs of each case you wi ll understand why there is much more 
to these two stories than just the disappearance. There i ~ no doubt 
that rhese two incidents have a viable connection. Roan Mountain 
State Park is located just north of the Great Smoky Mountains 

National Park. 
M ichael was at a campsite with h is mother and one sister. He 

told hi s mother that he was going to retrieve water for the site· and 
took a bucket and started to walk up the road. That was the last time 
hi s mother saw him for ~even days. Once Michael did not i~nme­
diately return , his mother started to search and then. ·calleQ law 
en forcement authorities. 

In the day after Michael disappeared, the weather turned to-rain, 
which hampered search efforts. From the beginning of this search, 
law enforcement was frustrated with the lack of any viable clues·as to 
where the boy may be. 

On July S, 1983, M ichael's mother m a de a statement to the 
press about bis disappearance, and this was documented _in the 
Daily Hera/d on July S, 1983: "The boy's mother said she Jeared 
he had been kidnapped." Later in the same article was the follow­
ing: "Carter County Sheriff Bill Crumley sa id there was no i·eason 
to suspect foul play, but Bob Carey, Toecane District Ránger_ for 
Pi sgah National Forest said, ' l've been on a lot of searches; thmgs 
seem a little ñshy."' · , 

The search continued not to produce results, and it was al this 
point that thirty paratroopers from Fort Bragg came into the ~ark 
aboard four Army helicopters. These troops scoured the park m a 
very defined way to ñnd the boy. An article in the July 8, f983 edi­
tion of the Star News said that Michael's father told the press that 
he felt his son had been abducted. Temperatures in the park.at night 
were now in the low twenties and our Army still could ,not find 

Michael. 
One hundred and forty Green Beret troops arrived al the park 

and divided into two-man teams. They searched speciñc ~reas of 
the park and used their special skills and night vision eqttipment 
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to attempt to find M ichael. Bloodhounds and canines were brought 
into the park dai ly to supplement the search, and nothing seemed 
to be worki ng. The Green Berets knew these mountains well, they 
spent two weeks search ing 20 miles south for Dennis Martin. 

On July 10, 1983 the Hutchinson New; had a story indicating 
that M ichael had been found exactly one week to the day and hour 
from when he disappeared. The article stated, "Bailey said that res­
cuers found the child two anda half miles from the campsite where 
he disappeared last Saturday." The article stated that Michael made 
a few interesting statements: "Taylor Bailey, one of the men who 
found the boy, said Michael indicated he spent part of the week in a 
deserted cabin that was not searched by the Army trackers or Green 
Berets and hundreds of others who joined the hunt. But park super­
intendent Glen Hatfield said he found it hard to believe any cabin 
was missed in the exhaustive week-long hunt." Rescuers stated that 
they had found the boy in an area searched many times before, as he 
was in a blackberry thicket. 

Orher articles stated that Michael described events to rescuers 
that seemed i ncredible: 
Rescue squad members said the hoy talked o.f having spent time 
1ra1ching te/evision with his grand.father, but they believed he had 
hallucinatec/. Doctors said he was a/ert and oriented by the time he 
reached the hospital, but beca use o.fthe boy's conji1sion, authorities 
lwdn'l been ab/e lo learn how he spent the past sevenlo eight days. 

. In later interviews with Michael's mother, she stated that she 
found Michael's stories amazing, especially since he had no recol­
lection of ever meeting either grandfather, as both were deceased. 

Michael 's mother did say that Michael explained to her that he 
had spent time on the mountai n with someone on Friday night, but 
he was unable or refused to say who or what. On July 11 , 1983 the 
Tusca/oosa News ran a story with the following regarding Michael 's 
story: 

The hoy a/ so said he had seen his mother Thursday near the camp­
siu? and ca/led lo her so he "wou/dn '¡ get los/ again. " Michael said 
!:e had seen ··an ald man gelling dnmk on Budweiser beer anda 
go/1011 o.f bourbon. ·· He said he didn 't seek the man 's he/p beca use 
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he doesn'ttalk to strangers. Michael olso so id he'd eoten bacon a11d 
eggs with his grandfather Saturday morning. But a relative sc.id .. 
both his grandfathers are dead, and the boy remembers neither of 

them. 

Severa! of the articles 1 reviewed for th is story indicated that · 
when Michael was fou nd, he appeared well kept nnd hi s hair seemed 
to be combed and or clenn. His clothes were dirty and torn , and he 
did have mnny scratches around the ankles. Doctors who examined 
Michael were amazed at bis condition, given the number of days he 
was missing. 

Case Summary: 
Parents usually know their chi ld ren and associated behnvior 

When both of Michael's parents stated that they telt their boy had 
been abducted, maybe law enforcement should have taken them 
seriously. One forest ranger did make a statement about the inciden! 
being " fi shy." 

Jt seems highly unusual that Michael was gone over seven days 
in temperatures that got quite cold at night and did rain, yet he was 
found in a fa irly neat and clean state. 

Some of the doctors and searchers clai med that Michael was 
hallucinating about meals with hi s relatives, seeing fam ily mem- . 
bers, etc. Why would a healthy young boy in good shape be hallu­
cinating (especially hallucinating about people he'd never met)? He 
had made statements that he had eaten fruit, berries, etc. and then 
Iater made a statement abotlt having a full breakfast. 

1 find it incredible that the best soldiers we have in our military 
could not find Michael on Roan Mountain, yet that is exactly where 
the boy was Iocated at the end of seven days. There are many stories 
in this book that document searchers looking in a specific area for ·a 
Iost individual and then that person appears exactly in the area previ­
ously searched. 

I believe that the family was very fortunate to get Michael back 
alive. The huge response from military and locals was the catnlyst 
for a healthy recovery ofthe boy. 
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• Larry Da'venport 
~ lissing 7/17/83, Evening hours, Roan Mountain State Park, North 
Carolina · 
Aue at Disappearance: 20 years 

- Lnrry wa:; camping with friends on the Western Peak on the 
\onh c·arolina side of thc Roan Mountnin Sta te Park. Just like the 
Great Stúoky Mountai ns National Park , Roan Mountain slraddles 
both No{·~h Carolina and Tennessee. The Roan Mountain cases are 
included in this section because they are just north of the Great 
Smoky. .. Mountains National Park and are located in the same con­
tinuous mountain range. 

On .july . 17, 1983, Larry was sitting at a wooden table with 
fr iends ·when he got up and headed to the woods. Nobody at lhe 
1able lhou!!.ht 1'nuch nbout Lnrry leaving. Some thought he was going 
10 empty hi s bladder. When Larry didn't return, friends obtnined 
assistan~e fr~m the Forest Service and park rnngers, and a search 
ensued . . 

The three-day effort to find Larry was very unevenlful, and 
searchers found little evidence ofwhere he might be located. ll wns 
near the end of the third day that searchers got a cnl l to respond 
eiuht miles from Larry's campsite nea r an nbnndoned home where 
witnesse's saw a man wandering. Search teams went to the area and 
found L(\rry naked except for a curtain wrapped around his shoul­
deJ'S. Larry had scratches covering his ent ire body, and he seemecl 
lo oe incoherent. He would ramble and make statements that made 
little sense. He didn't know where hi s clothing was but dicl state he 
found the curtains in an old cabin. 

Bloodhounds and hundreds of trained searchers had failed to 
find L.arry-'the same as what happened with Michael Reel. Larry 
was transported to an area hospital where he was treatecl for ··acute 
brain ~y'nd rome" and held. The hospital stated that Mr. Davenport 
was confused when he arrived, and the facility did admit him. 

Case Summary: 
In both the Davenport and Reel cases, the males walked nwny 

from a ~ampsite setting to immediately go missing. Both males were 
found confused, hallucinating, and making Iittle sense. Davenport 
was found naked, which fol lows many cases cited in thi s book 

l 
l 
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where people shed clothing when they are lost. 1 do not believe that 
these are both random occurrences with random males. Twb 'miss­
ing peoplc exhibiting similar physical and mental trait~ all 'qi~ap­
pearing at the same pa rk in a two-week time span- there has to be 
a connection. 

Jay Charles Toney 
Missing 05/25/82, 1:30 p.m., Clingman's Dome, Great S 1~10ky 
Mountains National Park 
Age at Disappearance: 17 years 
6' 1", 175 lbs 
Diabetic 

Jay Toney and fou r friends took a short vacation anó we~ll to 
the World's Fair in Knoxville, TN. Once the group was done. with 
the fai r, they headed for the Great Smoky Mountains Nation~ l. Park 
and Clingman's Dome. The Dome is the highest point in the park at 

6,643 feet. The m en parked the car and took the one-mile. hike to the 
summit and then headed back clown. On the way down the paved 
tra il , Jay told the group th at he was going to take a shortcut through 
the woods and would meet them al their car. He never arrived. 

The group was very concerned for Jay because h~ was <\.'dia­
bcti c and nceded insulin. They immediately contacted the Nati.onal 
Park Service anda search was in itiated. lt was approx imately 1:30 
p.m. when th ey 1ast saw Jay. · · 

The fi rst night that .Jay was missing a torrential rainstorm hit the 
pnrk and the surrounding area, and that was followed by very th ick 
fog. This is a fa miliar theme: people disappear and a storm i1í1me­
diately bits the area of the disappearance. The storm comp\etely 
cleaned much of the scent from the a ir and also removed any foot­
prints that were in the di rt. The fi rst day ofthe search dicln't produce 
sign i fica nt resul ts, and searchers felt frustrated. This scenari9 ¡¡t this 
point was almost identical to the disappea rance ofTrenny Gibson. 

The second da y of the search tbe park service broughr in six 
different can ine teams and spread throughout the arca. At 2:39p.m. 
one search team was over eight miles from the last location.at wh ich 
Jay was observed, and they were searching a creek bed when they 
saw a body lying on the ground near the creek. Searchers ."yalked 
up to Jay Toney and found him unconscious. Rescuers stated that 
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)ay had an ashen-colored face, and when he was shaken, he stated, 
: ··1 want out of the Smokies." A n article in the Milwaukee Joumal 
datecl May 28, 1982 stated the fol lowing: 

A ream o,(lracking dogs combing a remole seclion of the 518,000-
acre park .found Jay Toney, 17. o.f Mounds, Oklahoma, along a 
srream Thursday aflemoon. Rescuers slaled Toney 1vas IVearíng 
Oll~\' one shoe and a tank top shirt 1vhen found. He slipped into 
111/(:0nsciousness in the .four hours it took lo ferry him by helicop­
rer .from a rugged section of the park to University o,{ Tennessee 
Hospital in Knoxvi/le, 35 miles nortlnvesl. 

Jay was placed in intensive care and did survive. 
Several articles made note of the "mysterious" disappearances 

of several people in the Great Smoky Mountains National Park and 
named names. 

Case Summary: 
The obvious question comes to mind in the Jay Toney case­

\\'hat happened to his clothes? There was never any notation that his 
clothes were f0l111d. Thcre were many notes in several articles about 
two torrential rainstorms that hit the arca since .lay disaprea red nnd 
a thick fog that appeared. Jay was found eight miles from where he 
was last seen. That seems li ke an extraordi nary di stance for him 
to 11·avel in one-plus day. The fact that .lay was found unconscious, 
lying in a creek bed and missing clothing is bothersome, as these 
circumstances mimic those of prior incidents cited in both books. 

Chapter Conclusions 
1 want readers to bookmark the first page of th is chapter that 

lists the missing people. I want you to look at the times listed for 
the missing people. Jt is extremely significant that six people disap­
peared in or di rectly near the park and that they al l disappea red in 
a time span between 3:00 p.m.- 4:30p.m., ninety minutes. The odds 
that six people would d isappear over a ninety-year time span nnd 
that they all disappeared with in a ninety-minute window are astro­
nomical. What is it about thi s ti me window? 
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1\nother very odd fact is that all three women disappeared on a 
Friday. The closest two disappearances by date were Trenny Gibson 
and Mark Hanson, seventeen months apart. The disappearances of 
Gibson, l-lague, Hanson, and Martín were immediately followed by 
extrerncly bad wcather. SAR teams madc note of the wcnther in 
every report and indicated that the weather played a major role in 
the search. 

Each of the rank-and-fi le searchers in these incidents should be 
commended for their personal sacrifice and extreme effort to find the 
missing. The top administrators at each park are ultimately responsible 
for all operations occurring inside thei r system. 1 can tell you from · 
personal knowledge that rangers are similar to police officers. They do 
their job because they like serving the public, and they will make great 
sacrifices in an effort to save a life. We are blessed to have people of 
this character working in public service. 

Ohio 165 

Ohio 

Missing Pedple in Ohio by Date 
Seven of eight people on this Ohio list are males. The 

missing rytting ~he criteria in this book in Ohio is confined toa fifty 
eight-yenr span between 1902 and 1960. Jt seems a bit unusual that 
there are ·four consecutive cases in Ohio where al l went missing in 
the firs t hal f of August. 

·ame 
Riley An~sbaugh 
E.C. Jones, 
Johnnie Lembke 
\\'illi'am Pitsenbarger 
Caro1yn Peterson 
Jerry Lee Huffman 
Randy Moy 

Date Missing•Age•Sex 
07/25/ 1902•55•M 
ll / 12/1903•NA•M 
08/ 12/1910•15•M 
08/07/31•61•M 
08/20/47•20MOS•F 
08/05/48•3•M 
01/08/60•3•M 

Det~i l s regarding Lembke can be found under the "Berry 
Pickers" chapter. All others except Peterson and Hoffman can be 
found in the "Farmers" section. 

Carolyn Peterson 
Missi ng 08/20/47, 11:00 a.m., ten miles s/o Marion, Ohio 
Age at D(sappearance: 20 Months 

The .location of the Peterson residence was ten miles south of 
Marion and adjacent to the Delaware Wilderness Aren and Delaware 
l.ake. 1t was a rural location with few homes or ca rs in the area. 

On August 20, 1947, Carolyn was placed in her yard by her 
mother and told she could play. A short time after Carolyn was placed 
in the yard, M rs. Peterson went out to check on her, but couldn't fi nd 
her. A search was made of the surrounding farm nrea, but the g irl 
could not be located. The Petersons contacte~ law cnforcement and 
neighboi·s who soon arrived and started a formal search. 

The Marion County Sheriff's Office was the primary law 
enforceníent agency lead ing the search , and Sheriff Leroy Reterer 
was the person on scene heading the eftort. 
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Soon aftcr Carolyn disappeared, the Marion area was:inund~ted 
with two severe thunderstorms that dropped severa! inches of r(}in. 
Searchers were temporarily impeded in their e[forts by th~ rai'n but 
did complete dragging of Ququa Creek, mowing fields, and probing 
old wells, all without finding Carolyn. At the height of the search, . 
the sheri ff stated that over one thousand people were combiúg. the 
area looking for the little g irl. . .. 

After a short forty-eight hours of searching, Sheriff .Reterer 
terminated the search claiming that he felt the girl had been.kid­
napped. The sheriff did not believe the girl could be 'in the· are~ 
dueto the extensive searching and her inability to move a long dis­
tance because of her age. An article in the Telegraph Heralc{ date,d 
August 22, 1947 had the following: " Her father, Charles Peterson, 
and Sheriff Leroy Reterer believed that the tot was kidnapped, .pos­
sibly by a childless couple who were attracted by her beauty.".''.' 

On Saturday,August, 23, 1947, a local farmer, Samuel 
Almendinger (seventy-five years of age) was walking a perit~eter 
path ofhis fa rm and heard a faint voice in a briar patch. The farmer 
cou ldn't believe someone would be in the patch, but he stru.ggled 
his way through the thickets and found Carolyn Peterson, aliv~ .. The 
girl had blackberry stains on her hands, but whet~ found ~he. wa.s 
sitting on the ground with her hands through a wtre fence, and tl 
appeared she had been playing. He picked the girlup and too~ her 
back to the Peterson farm. 

Carolyn was taken to the hospital for an examination. She· was 
found to have dozens of small scratches throughout her body. She 
was in remarkably good condition. Doctors couldn' t explain how the 
gi rl had been missing over four days and hadn't suffere~ sunburn. 

.l erry Lee Huffman 
Missing 8/5/48, 6:00p.m., Philo, Ohio 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years . . . 

Philo Ohio is ten miles southeast of Zanesvtlle and ¡¡pproxt­
mately si ~ ty mi,les west of the Pennsy1vania border. The town .sits 

011 the Muckingam River and has a population just shy of etght 

hundred . 
On August 5, 1948, Jerry Lee Huffman was playing with ·l~is pet 

co1lie " Laddie'' in the yard of his fami ly's farm on the outsktrts of 
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Pililo. At 6:00 p.m., Jerry's father, Dan Huffman, went to look for 
the boy 'and could not 1ocate him or the fa mily dog. Mr. Huffman 
searched thc perimeter area of the farm and did find the chi1d's 
cl.othes at the far end of his property. Mr. Huffman was very con­
cerned for .Jerry's safety and ca lled authoritiés for assistance. 

The local sheriff and state police responded to the .1-Iuffman 
residen ce and started to formal ize the search process. O ver two 
hundred neighbors responded to look for the boy and immediately 
set out into the fields of corn looking and yelling for Jerry Lee. The 
search for the boy continued through the night nonstop. 

, At 6:00 a.m. the morning after Jerry Lee di sappeared, the 
family Colli e, "Laddie," walked up to the fa mily residence. Mr. 
.Httffman calmed the dog and then asked it to take them to Jerry 
·Lee. Mr. Huffman anda neighbor followed the dog for a mile anda 
half across an adjacent cornfield toa wire fence. At the wire fence 
the men found Jerry Lee with hi s foot caught in the fence anda wi ld 
grapevine wrapped arou nd his neck. The boy was semiconscious 
and turning blue. The temperature outside was fifty-five degrees 
and Jerry Lee was naked. 

Jerry Lee was transported to Bethesda Hospital where he was 
. foqncl to be in satisfactory condition. Jerry Lee never explained why 
he 1eft or what he did during his night in the fields-or why he 
removed his clothes. 

Randy Moy 
:-.1 issing 01 /08/60, 3:30p.m., Vernon Township, Ohio 
Age at Disappearance: 3 yea rs 

Randy and hi s fam ily lived in a rural community just outside 
of Vernon, Ohio. On .lanuary 8, 1960 at approximately 3:30 p.m., 
Randy was outside with his two dogs when, for an inexplicable rea­
son. the dogs went running straight into the woods. Randy followed. 
\\ 'hen RanCly's mother came out onto the porch, other chi1dren told 
her what Randy had done, and she started the search for the boy. 

rour hundred people responded to thc request for searchers for 
Rancly Moy. Law enforcement obtained the assistance of helicop­
ters, bloodhounds, civil defense workers, and off-duty foremen in 
the search tor Randy. Seventeen hours after the boy disappeared, 
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t wo searchers were one and a hal f mi les from h is residence and 
found the boy in a briar patch near a stream. 

Police officers were called to the area where Randy was found 
and were asked to transport him immediately to the hospital. The 
Gazelle Mai/ ran a story describing the trip on January 10. 1960: 
"He (Randy) was gasping and his eyes rolled back into his head.'' 
The boy made it to the hospital and was listed in satisfactory condi~ 
tion with shock and exposure. The boy was admitted to the hospital 
"groggy and sleepy" and was released two days later. 

Two days after being found, Sheriff Wayne Mumma stmed 
that he tried to question Randy about his journey, but he refused to 
talk. Randy's father John Moy described it as a miracle that Randy 
survived. One of Randy's dogs was found in the general region in 
which searchers found the boy. 

Randy's condition when found is very similar to many children 
when they are located. Severa! ch ildren have been found deceased 
in fields, and it may be assumed that Randy would have died without 
being found when he was. 

Pennsylvania Region 169 

Peimsylvanía Regían 

Pennsylvania offers a wide diversity in missing person cases. 
The reader should be aware that Pennsylva nia had more 

childre.ri disappear from 1934-1957 than anyother state. The factors 
behind ench .di sappearance were quite similar, and the geographic 
proxin}ity to each other should not be ignored. Pcnnsylvan ia has 
had rüore children under the age of ten disappea r (twenty-eight) 
than any other state or province; no other location is even close. 

With eight two-year-olds, ten three-year-olds, and fl ve four­
vear-olds missing, everyone should take a deep brcath whilc read­
ing this chapter. Some cases occurred just over thc state lines but 
are in close geographi cal proximity to the cases within the state; 
thus, they are includecl in this chapter. Something very pecu liar was 
happepingin Pennsylvania in the early to mid-1900s. You will see 
the sii11il arity in cases. Some seem like cookie-cutter cases, almost 
identic~l to each other. 1 did not look for cases that mimicked each 
other-they presented themselves. 

1t1' 1968 \he profi le ofpeople who went mi ssing in Pennsylvania 
changed- they got olcler. lt 's al so noteworthy that the last se ven 
cases in thi's state were all men. The profilc of people who went 

~ 
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missing changed, but there was also an eleven-year gap of people 
reported missing prior to that change taking place. The big question 
is why there was an eleven-year gap in people who went mi ssing in 
Pennsylvania. 

Missing People in Pennsylvania by Date 

N ame 
Stephen Ford•• 
Wolfe 
Bachman 
Da vis 
Mary Sholtas 
Augustus Staneker 
Si mpson 
James Glass 
Geraldine Markline 
Else Flothmeier 
Rita Lenl 
Marjorie West 
Donnld Farrington 
Emma Steffy 

. Ronald Rumbaugh 
Rudy Kunchick 
Eldridge Albright 
Betty Bossier 
Joseph Prato 
Alvan Diggan 
Eugene Shue 
Jimmy Sensor 
Ronald Collier 
Billy Abbott 
Billy Clever 
Oti s T. Mason 
Anna Thorpe 
Jackie Copeland 
Em ma Bowers 

Date Missing•Age•Sex 
08/05/ 1880•9• M 
07/08/1882•IO•M 
06/ I0/1883•4MOS•M 
05/091 1888•30MOS· F 
04/21/1897•3•F 
04/21 /1897•4•M 
05/2711901•3•F 
05/12/15•4•M 
I0/26/29•2•F 
02/24/32•22•F 
ll /22/34•2•F 
05/08/38•4• F 
09/ JI /38•3•M 
07/ 18/39•75•F 
09/ J5/40•2•M 
10/21/40•4•M 
05/21/41•3•M 
06/25/41•3•F 
10/25/41•1 9MOS•M 
05/30/42•3•M 
1 0/20/46•3•M 
04/06/47•4•M 
07/02/48•23MOS· M 
02/18/49•3•M 
04/26/49•3•M 
IO/ ll /49•6•M 
05/05/50•6•F 
05/ 14/50•2•F 
07/22/53•5•F 

· . . 

. . 

.. 
1 • · • • 

•, 

Fred Hol mes 
Candida Streeter 

Karen Cooney 
Harold Mott 
Duane Scott 
.Ion Dabkowski 
Greg Minarci n 
Emerson Carbaugh 
Michael Malinoski 
Charles Seltz 
Total Cases= 39 
Females= 14 
Males='25 

Pennsylvonio Region 

05/25/55•23MOS•M 
1 0/03/57•2•F 
**Eleven-Year Gap 
07/08/68•15•F 
03/02/76•12•M 
07/27/78•31•M 
Ol/14/82•11•M 
O 1 /14/82•10•M 
I I/ II /85•64•M 
1 0/24/96•37•M 
06/07/05•56•M 
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... Refer to " Berry Pickers" Chapter for in formation about the 
Stephen Ford di sappearance. 

.Largest group ofmi ssing by age: 
· ~-Yea r Olds = 8 
3-Year Olds =1 O 
.t-Year Olds = 5 

P~nnsylvania Missing by Month 
·Month Total Missing 
· January 2 
February 2 
~·1a rch 

o\pril 4 
M ay 9 
.lune 3 
July 6 

· August 1 
September 2 
October 7 
~ovember 2 
December o 
Total 39 
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!'ve put many hours of thought into why more people go miss­
ing in May than any other month, and 1 can' t develop a rational 
reason. lt is one of the first months that people can get into the out­
doors after a long winter, but that should not account for such a large 
number. 

Years with the most missing: 1941 & 1949, with three missing. 

Unknown First Name, Wolfe 
Missing 7/8/1882, Girard Manor, Pottsvi lle, Pennsylvania 
Age at Disappearance: 1 O years 
*Deaf:.Mute 

A massive periodical search th rough multiple databases allowed 
me to locate a July 19, 1882 article in the New York Times outlini ng 
what happened to the ten-year-old boy. The ~trticle describes the boy 
as the ten-year-old son of a wea lthy fa rmer named George Wolfe. 
The family's residence hada high fence surrounding their home and 
yard. The family li ved in a rural area described as being three miles 
east of Girard Manor in the Catáwissa Va !ley of Pennsylvania. 

Al some point in the late afternoon , the door in the yard fence 
was open and their son somehow left. The family didn' t recognize 
the boy's disappearance for severa! hours. 

The family immediately gained the assistance of local neigh­
bors and twenty-five people combed the woods near the house. The, 
search continued for six days and included 250 searchers by the 
sixth and final day. Searchers had to walk through swamps filled 
with snakes, forests, fields, and many other obstacles. 

On the sixth day of searching, George Wolfe found his son sit­
ting on a rock five miles from his farm . The boy was in ·horrible 
condition, per news article. The article states that he had snake and 
insect bites and numerous scratches and bruises. 

The last line in the article states, "His cloth ing consisted of a 
night shirt only." 

Unknown first name, ]Jist name Bachman 
Missing 6/10/ 1883, PM, e/o Pottsville, Pennsylvan ia 
Age at Disappearance: 4 months 
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John Bachman, his wife, and their two children took an after­
noon walk to thei r favorite spot. The Bachmans had left their four­
month-old son (unknown na me) in a crib inside their unlocked home. 
The l10use was in a very rural area in the Tumbling Run Va lley of 
eastern Perinsylvania, four miles east of Pottsv ille. The home was 
left protected by the family guard dog. 

The fami ly was gone just a matter of minutes when they heard 
their dog howling in a way that made the fa mily very uncomfort­
able. The'BachJi1ans rushed back to their home and found thci r baby 
missing, but all of their val uables in the home· were left untouched. 
The family searched into the night and could not find the child. 

The~ay after the disappearance the famil y went into Pottsvil le 
and asked for , the assistance of the sheri ff and local residents. 
Another search was initiated, and the baby was still not found. 

The qisappearance ofthe "Wolfe" boy was in close proximity to 
the disappearance of Bachman. 1 never found another article indi­
cating the child was found. 

ünknown First Name-Davis 
Missing 5/9/ 1888, Boicevi lle, New York 
Age at Disappearance: 30 months 

The.re. was one article abour the di sappearance of Mi llard 
Davis's daughter from the family's residence in Boiceville, New 
York, in ·tbe Catskill Mountain s. The article was in the New York 
Times, May 1s: 1888. 

Millard's daughter disappeared, and a search wenr through the 
night looking for the girl. The day after she di sappeared, a trout fisher­
man two l.i1iles from the family's residence was in a deep ravine and 
spotted the girl standing in the middle of the brook. The fisherman 
took the girl ro ~he parents where she was questioned about her ordeal. 

·' . 
The lirrlegirl ivas never knownlo re/! srories and in jacr is roo yuung 
cmd ¡mwcelll lo practice deceit. When her játher asked her where 
she lwd sl~pr all11ighr !he /iule une an.nrered, ""111 rhe lvoods 1rirh a 
big bear, papa." She was close~v quesriuned bu11he child adhered 
ro her srory rhar she lwd slepr ll"ilh a bear i11 rhe 1roods, ami people 
in Boiceville believe rlwt rhe /iule girl clid real/y meet ll'ith a hear 
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and 1¡ot kn01ring ll'hat it 1vas, wenl up to it, andfor some reason.the 
beasf refrained.from hurting !he wanderer. 

This story is very similar to other stories in this book of chil­
dren claiming to be abducted by a bear. Sometimes they sleep with. 
the bear, and sometimes they are merely carried away. 1 n all !Jf the 
instances that are cited, the victim is never seriously injured. : 

1 find thi s and other stories about bear taking ch ildren highly 
suspicious. 1 believe that the children beli eve what they are saying; 
1 question whether it was really a bea r. . · . 

1 have placed the Davis incident in the Pennsylvania sectton 
beca use it occurred just thirty mi les east of the eastern border ~fthe 
state, and it matches other cases that have occurred in this chapter. 

Readers need to take note of where the Davis girl was found, 
standing in the middle of a creek, a location where no tracks of 

footprints will be found. 

Mary Sholtas, 3 years 
Augustus Staneker, 4 years . 
Missing 04/21 /1897, Hazleton, Pennsylvania . · . 

Mary Sholtas and Augustus Staneker were living in a small vtl­
lage called Hazle Brook, two miles west of Hazleton. Qn Ap.ril 21. 
the two children were playing behind thei r home and apparently 
wandered away and into the woods. The parents of the ch~ldren 
soon realized that the kids were gane and started lo search>.The 
local community had on ly a dozen homes in the area. The resi~ents 
all assisted in the search. . .. 

The area where the children lived was very swampy with a 
smallmountain just to the northwest. The search !asted several·daxs' 
and combed the small mountain that was near the residencé .. The 
children were not found after the search , and it was felt by the.c~m­
munity that the children must have been abducted. In the ~o.ll~wmg 
months, fami lies ofthe children \Vent as fa r as New Yqrk tn sea~ch 
of possible informal ion and sightings of their ch ildren,. but nothtng 

e ver panned out. . . .' 
On July 6, 1897 a berry picker was on the mountam behtnd t~e 

residences in Hazle Brook and found the bodies of tl:e t.\W chtl­
clt·en. The bodies were in an advanced state of decompositiqil, but 
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they were identified. One article stated that volunteers had heavily 
searched the area that the children were fou nd. 

Two mi les southwest ofHazle Brook is Sheppton. In 1940 Rudy 
Kunchick disappeared from watching his fat)1er work with coal. He 
was found after a fift y-one-hour search. 

1 find it almost unrea l that two children disappear at the same 
tiine and then are found cleceased in the same area. It is rare that 
people disappear and die together especially when the climate isn't 
severe, such as in April. A cause of death was never established, 
but this is another case in which berries play into the location ofthe 
missing ancl the missing were found in an area that was previously 
searched. 

Unbknown First Name, Simpson 
Missing 5/2711 901 , Cresco, Stroudsburg, Pennsylvania 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years 
· This is another case in which the article did not give the first 
name ofthe missing chilcl. The May 28, 1901 New York Times article 
mer'ely stated that missing gi rl was the daughter of Frank Simpson. 

The art icle states that the girl was playing with family members 
when she walked into the woocls for some unknown reason. The 
chi ldren triedro lure her out, but she disappeared. The fami ly sum­
moned neighbors ancl fri encls to search the woods but could not find 
the girl. 
, l c9uld not fincl any other articles about this incident, but there 

,\•as one sentence in the article 1 found that was di sturbing: " ls 
bel ieved to ha ve be en carried off by a bear in the woods near here." 
There is no explanation why the fam ily believes the child was taken 
b) a bear. 

James Glass 
. \1issing 5/ 12/1915, Greeley, Pennsylvania 

Age al Disappearance: 4 years 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Glass and thei r son Jimmie left their resi­

dcnce in New Jersey and headed for a summer cottage just outside 
Greeley, Pennsylvan ia. M r. Glass was an auditor for the Erie Railroad 

. ahd enjoyed his summer weather with a jauntto Pennsylvania. 
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One day on vacation, Jimmie accompan ied his mother to the 
Greeley Post Office. The post office was three hundred feet from 
their summer home and was an easy walk. Mr. Glass watched as 
Jimmie and hjs wife made the short walk, and Jimmie disappeared 
beh ind a tree enroute todo the mai ling. Mrs. Glass deposited their 
letters turned behind her and realized that Jimmie had disappeared. 
She immed iately searched the area and then ran back to get her 
husband. Befare too long, the entire neighborhood was looking for 
Jimmie. It wasn't long before the police were involved in the search 
for the boy, but no leads could be found. 

In the weeks that followed the di sappearance of Jimmie Glass. 
his father made severa! statements that he felt hi s son had been. 
abducted. He stated that he didn' t think the boy could disappear that 
quickly without someone taki ng him (This same language repeats 
itselfth roughout both books on several cases). 

During the next few years the search for Jimmie Glass went 
across the United States. The Glasses traveled near and far on 
reports that their son had been found or someone look ing like their 
son was found. 

Eight years after Jimmie Glass disappeared, a hunter was in the 
wilds of Pike County, Pennsylva nia, and found a smal l skeleton in · 
the middle of a swamp among a thorn thicket. One shoe was found , 
next to the body, and that was identified as Jimmie's. Mr. Glass 
adamantly stated that his son did not wander off and die, as many 
law enforcement officers stated but that bi s boy had to have been 
abducted to get to the locat ion where hi s body was fou nd . There was 
no way Jimmie could have walked to that location in the swamp. 
The location in the swamp was approximately two miles from the 
farmhouse that th e Glasses were staying in when Jimmie disap- ·· 
peared. There was on ly a small buckle, a few bones, and the shoe 
found at the location where Jimmie was discovered. 

What happened to Jimmie Glass? Well, someone or something' 
took him to the thorn thicket. A December 6, 1923 article in the · 
Toledo B/ade had the following: "The father reiterated his beliefthat 
the boy did not wande; away and die of starvation, as Pennsylvania 
authorities believe. Jimmy was either murdered by kidnappers or 
dicd of exposure, and hi s body was thrown into the swamp." 
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Puta mark~r on this page, as the facts surrounding where this 
boy was fou nd wil l appear severa! times in this book. 

Geraldiné Mark line 
\ 1lissing 10/26/29, 3Yí Miles northeast of Hanover, Pennsylvania 
Age at Disappearance: 2 years 

Hanover is located approximately fifteen miles southwest of 
York and is located in the southeastern portian of Pennsylvania. 
The city. is surrounded by severa( large and smal l bodies of water 
with significant open space. Approximately three mi les northeast 
from Hariover is the Pigeon Mountains. The mountains rise from 
the val ley floor atan elevation of 600 feet and rise to the summit at 
1200 feet. The' hill s are stil l covered with lush vegetation and ¡¡ re 
surrounded by farms. At the northeast corner of the hills is Lake 
Pahagaséo. The Markline farm was located approximately halfway 
between.Hanover and the Pigeon Hills and twenty miles north of the 
Maryland border. 

On O,ctober 26, 1929, Mrs. Markl ine needed to travel to Hanover 
on business and decided to put her oldest boy (Luther) in charge of 
the chi ldren while she was gane. After Mrs. Mark line left, Luther 
took ~he c~ildren into the backyard, and they started to collect leaves 
for the bún. He put Geraldi ne in a sitting position in the backyard at 
the bottom of a large tree and told her to stay put while he ran into 
the liouse to get food. Aftcr a very short time, Luther returned and 

. . found Gera_ldine was missing. The chi ldren and Luther searched for 
their sist.er bl,lt could not find her. When M rs. Ma rkline returned 
from her excursion, Luther told her Geraldine was missing, and she 
conta"cted authorities. 

· There were dozens of sea rchers scouring the wooded trails and 
hillsides ne:ir the Markli ne fann befare it became dark on October 
26. Many searchers were yelling for Gera ldine and couldn't find 

' any evipence of her whereabouts. The searchers qu ickly became 
very co~·cerqe'd because the Markline farm was in a very rural area 
and pea rthe heavy woods ofthe Pigeon Mountains 1.5 miles to the 
northeast." 

Searchers started the second da y with the assistance of Hanover 
police and wen; baffled by where a two-year-old girl could go 
withoui· b.ei ng. detected. On October 28, 1929, the Pillsburgh Pos! 
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Cazette ran the following article: "While sorne feared that an aban­
doned waterfield quarry near her home held her body and her fathe~ 
thinks thc child kidnapped, thousands of persons last night scoured 
the Pigeon Hills in a hope offinding a trace ofGeraldine Markline, 
2, missing si nce Saturday." Imagine thousands of searchers ~cour­
ing a very confined area for a missing two-year-old child, a:child 
who can' t run, can barely walk, and the searchers are finding .noth­
ing. This is another case in which the parents know their ch~ ld ; they 
know how far she can travel, and they start to believe that sear~hers 
are not findino her in an area where she should be located, so they 

~ . ' 

conclude that she must have been kidnapped. 
On Monday, October 28, searchers were working the area in 

the Pigeon Mountains and up in elevation from the Markline Farm 
and found Geraldine. The girl was missing her coat, hat, ·one set 
of leggings, and one shoe. None of the clothes was ever' found. 
Geraldine had numerous scratches over her body but was in very 
good condition. , . · 

Geraldine was unable to explain what happened or where she 

was during the search . 
There are other disappearances of people in close proximity 

and just south of Hanover. Geraldine's d isappearance was really t~e 
modern-day start to disappearances of chi ldren and young ad,ults tn 

Pennsylvania that continued from 1929 unti l 1957 and then inexpli-
cably stopped. . · . . 

Else Flothmeier 
M issing 2/24/32, PM, Near Burholme Park, Fox Chase, ~ennsyl vania 
Age at Disappearance: 22 years · · 

Reverend Frederick Flothmeier had taken his daught~dElse} 
to a parishioner's home for a visit. When the reverend_ wen.t inside. 
Else stated that she was going to take a walk in the park acróss the 
street. A fter a short visit, the reverend ente red the par k and couldn't 
find hi s daughter. A fter a short search of a small area near B.ur~olme 
Park, the police were called. · · .· . 

The police determined thal Else had made her way .to near fox 
Chase and an area of heavy undergrowth near a river•that flows to 
the Delaware River. A February 25 article in the MeridenRecord 
quoted a witness near thc area where Else was eventually ~o~nd: 
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.\.frs. He/en So/tes, whose home is abo u! 200 yards from where the 
hoc~1 · wasfound !old po/ice abou! 7 o'clock /asl night (February 24) 
she heard a woman scream and then anorher sound that migh! hove 
be en a man's voice. lt seemed lo come fromtbe direction o.fthefield; 
she said it was so dark she decicled notto investiga/e. 

Approximately twenty-four hours after Else disappeared, two 
men searching with the assistance of the police found Else's nude 
body inside a clump of blackberry bushes. She was found face 
down, her head resting 011 her right arm, and her fist clenched. The 
pol'ice searched the area and found her clothes hanging on a black­
berry bush two hundred yards from her body. 

The police made an initial statement that they found scratches 
on Else's face, back, and legs, which indicated to them that she had 
been dragged on the frozen ground . The police changed their story 
a day later when Else's father asked whether she was attacked. They 
stated, "No, she died of natural causes." 
. An autopsy was conducted 0 11 Else's body, and the cause of 

death was li sted as "exposure." In an interesting note, the doctor 
stated that Else was suffering from a small temperature at the time 
of her death. 

Case Summary: 
Police went to great lengths lo develop an explanation for Else's 

death . A Reading Eag/e articl e dated February 26, 1932 quoted 
Dr. Thaddeus Bolton, a psychologist from Temple University who 
stated that El se died of "Moon Madness ." He stated she was driven 
insane by the rays of the fu ll moon. Yes, really, the doctor stated 
.. :-.. loon Madness." 

·Else was a college student, bright, attracti ve, and energetic. 
The night she disappeared was a brutally cold winter night in 
Pennsylvania. Someth ing happened to Else, highl ighted by the 
scream and "other noise" heard by M rs. Sol tes. 1 'm not su re how the 
police ignored Mrs. Soltes's statement or how they retracted their 
statement about El se being dragged. 
· Read each ofthe Pennsylvania cases and make your own deci­

sion-are there similar itics? 
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When humans ha ve temperatures that are above normal, it makes 
us hot, and we sometimes shed clothing. There are a few cases in 
which physicians made statements to the press that the missing per­
son was found with a slight fever. A majority of cases in tl~i s book 
indicate that the victims never saw a doctor after they were found , or 
they saw the doctor long after they were recovered and maybe didn't 
exhibit a fever. In conversations with other researchers, we started 
to question whether many ofthe missing in this book that shed cloth- . 
ing may have somehow developed a high temperature, shed their 
clothing, and for some unexplained reason the temperature started · 
to subside near the time they were located, or, they never took their 
own clothing off. The temperature is a theory based on a very small 
numberofthe missing in which the doctortold the press about a minor 
temperature. 

Rita Margaret Lent 
Missing 11 /22/34, Noon, North Richmond Township, Ohio 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years 
Blonde Hair 
**This case is from Ohio but it happened less than five miles 'from ' 
the Pennsylvania border, thus will be included with Pennsylvania. · 

On November 22, 1934, Rita was playing in her yard in a rural 
area of northern Richmond Township. The area is spotted with 
small and large farm s and wet and marshy areas. lt was near lunch­
time and Rita's mother looked out the window of her home and saw 
Rita playing with her German shepherd police dog (Buddy). Tl)e 
mother checked again fi fteen minutes later and didn't see Rita or 
Buddy and went into the yard to search for them. 

Mrs. Oliva Lent (thirty-four years) walked out to her farm and 
could not locate Rita or the dog. She called the child's name sev­
era\ times and did not get a response. Rita immediately summoned 
neighbors and law enforcement for assistance. Within hours after 
Oliva discovered Rita missing, dozens of searchers were combing 
the grounds of the farm and the surrounding areas. 

Oliva was legally" separated from her husband, Rita's father, 
Darrell. The father lived outside ofRichmond in Conneau lt but spenl 
considerable time around the farm looking for his daughter. Seven 
days of searching did not produce one lead in Rita's disappearance. · 
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' 
lt was at this point that Ol iva stated that she felt her daughter had 
been kidnapped. She stated that the area had been extensively 
searched and didn't believe that she could have walked further. 

Duting the search for Rita, one very odd occurrencc did hap­
pen-J?uddy returned. lt had rained the night that Rita disappeared , 
and Buddy returned home late that night, but Buddy was completely 
dry, sOJj)ethiqg that promoted the idea that a kidnapping may have 
occurred: · 

Ji)uring the initial investigation, police were convi nced that 
somethihg unusual happenecl to Rita . They called Oli va and her 
ranch himd into the police station ancl questioned her for hours. lt 
was obv.ious that the police felt that Oliva knew more than what she 
was say~1ig, and they were trying a tactic to get her to say something 
incriminating. The on ly thing Oliva said was that the police held her 
for an unreasonable amount oft ime, they wouldn ·t let her lea ve, and 
she. fell a~\eep exhausted while being questioned. 

Not~ing happened on the Rita Lent disappearance for almost 
threc m01iths. On February 16, 1935, a farm hand two miles from 
the lent farm \.vas wa lking through a cow pasture and saw some­
thing bu! ky OQ the ground in a large mud puddle. He wa lked to the 
pudd lc ancl found the body of Rita Lent. The body was moderately 
decomposed and it was missing a shoe, but it was Rita. The body 
was foübd thn!e hundred feet from a barn in a very muddy arca near 
the edge ora ditch. 

The.' fincling of R ita's body causecl e ven more concerns to law 
enforcement. The farmer and ranch hand that found the body made 
statemenis indicating that the body may have been therc for months, 
but they" doubted it. They stated it was an area where they would 
normally pass; and they didn' t thi nk they had ever seen the body 
befo re. 

A F~brua1:y 18, 1935 article in the San Antonio Express stated 
the follpwing: "Coroner Watson said he does not believe the chi ld's 
body had lain in thc mud hole in wh ich it was discovered since last 
November. lts good state of preservation indicates to me that it had 
been in a cool place, either a cellar or basement and only recently 
placed in the mud hole where it was discovered, Watson stated. 
There ar~ severnl mystcrious circumstances surrounding thi s case, 
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stated Sheriff Benson." The article didn't list one other possibi li ty 
of where the body m ay ha ve been located, a cave. 

A Fcbruary 16, 1935 article in the SI. Joseph Press stated. 
"Deputy SheriffR. M. Blancha, who led the search, said he believed 
Rita had been kidnapped." 

A February 16, 1935 article in the St. Petersburg Times Sté\ted 
the following: 

The mother was brought to Je.fferson for queslioning. She ali~r­
na/e~v wept and discussed the case in an analytica/maniw·. "The 
child was kidnapped . .. stated Mrs. Lent. "There is no doubt 1~101 

Rita 1vas kidnapped and placee/ !11ere. How could the lilfle rhing 
have walked that.far? Why, she wou/d hove had to hove wa/kedfour 
mill's and crossed a creek to gel lo the place where she was.found." . 

1 believe that Mrs. Lent was talking about the route that ·Rita 
must have walked, four mi les; the location where she was found~was 

two air miles from the Lent front yard. 
Rita's body was sent to a train ing hospital where the coroner 

requested that all interna! organs be analyzed for poisons: They 
even kept Mrs. Lent in custody wh ile the testing was completed. No 
poisons were found in Rifa's body. ..·, 

The final death report indicated that Rita's body did not sh~w 
any inflicted violence, and it was felt that she died ofnatural causes. 

Case Summary: 
Th is is probably one of the best-documented cases 1 ha ve .ever 

read in newspaper articles. There was a massive search by two hun-. 
dred people; many felt the area where Rita was eventually f~und · 
had been thoroughly searched. Months went by without Rita being 
found. The girl was eventually found on a nearby farm. Coroners 
believe that she had been moved to the location where she was 
found ; she didn't die in the muddy ditch. 

Many questions arise from the police and coroner's investiga­
tion. 1 f Rita's body was placed in the cow field , it was placed the're to 
be di scovered, but why? The coroner stated that the body had been 
kept in a cool place. Could th at have been in one of thousands of 
caves throughout Pennsylvan ia and Ohio? Ifthe coroner detem1ined 
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· that Rita died ofnatural causes, why would someone have concealed 
the body for months? 

The last majar question deals with Buddy, the fami ly dog. The 
canine was a trained police dog, yet it left Rita alone and came 
home. why? • 

1 do agree with Sheriff Benson that there are severa! issues with 
th is case that are ver y mysterious, but,many or the facts surround­
ing th is di sappearance can be found in disappearances ofother chi l­
dren in Pennsylvania. lt wou ld almost appear as though Rita's body 
fell out of the sky. 

Marjorie West 
Missing 5/8/38, Marshburg, McKean 
County, Pennsylvania 
Age at Disappearance: 4 years 

Mother's Day in 1938 started with a 
religious service for the West family. They 
attended church in their hometown of 
Bradford. The parents decided to take a forty­
minute drive into a region called "White 
Grave!" where they would have a picnic, fish, 
and pick wildflowers. 

·As the family arrived, Marjorie and her eleven-year-old si s­
ter, Dorothea, wa lked off to Iook for flowers wh ile her father stood 
nearby fi shing in a creek. The mother stayed in the family car and 
enjoyed the gorgeous scenery. The girls were warned to stay away 
from severa! large bou lders, as their father was concerned about 
rattlesnakes. 

At 3:00 p.m., Dorothea left Marjorie momentarily to go to 
the vehicle and speak with her mother. As Dorothea returned, she 
couldn't fi nd Marjorie. After an initi al search, the mother Jeft to ca l! 
·police while the father stayed at the scene frantically searching for 
Marjorie. 

Bloodhounds responded to the site and started to tmck. They 
went around the boulder where Mrujorie was last seen, and they 
stopped near a dirt roadway. That's where the trail ended. 

The two weeks fo llowing Marjorie's disappearance had the 
state of Pennsylvania in turmoil. Hundreds of Native Americans 
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assisted in the search ofthe remote areas near the location Marjorie 
was last seen. There were dozens of isolated hunting and fishing 
cabins, all checked without finding any ev idence of the young girl. 
Several hundred volunteers, the CCC, law enforcement, and fi re­
fighters part icipated in the search for Matjorie, but she was never .. 
fou nd. The governor of Pennsylvan ia sent a group of one hu ndred 
state policemen to search for Marjorie. A loca l mayor made a pas­
sionate plea for one thousand able-bod ied m en to wal k the brush for · 
ten miles in every direction from where Marjorie was last seen. lt · 
was an unprecedented sea rch. 

There were rumors that Matjorie was nbducted and transponed 
across the state, but these were never confirmed. 

The Wests were in a fa irly remote area of the Allegheny 
National Forest without significan! veh icul ar or pedestrian traffic. 
The idea that a predator was lu rking behind boulders is qu ite scary. 
The intense search that was conducted essentially eliminated the 
idea that Matjorie was lost in the wil d. 1 f nn abduction did take 
place, the suspect had to be fast and strong so that the parents and 
Dorothea never heard Marjorie's screams. 

There is a consistency among some ofthe missing person cases 
cited in both books. lt seems that large boulders play some role 
when a person disappears. When there are boulders in the aren, the 
person is rarely ever found. 

Donald Farrington 
Missing 9/11/38, 8:00a.m., Holland, New York 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years 

This case is being included in the Pennsylvania section because 
of its proximity to many ofthe northeast cases. 1 n one ofthe articles 
I fou nd on Donald Farrington, law enforcement officials stated that 
many of the facts surrounding Donald's disappearance matched the 
circumstances in the Matjorie West disappearance, including the 
fact he disappeared forty-five mi les north of Marjorie. 

Holland, New York, is about forty mi les north ofthe Pen nsylvan ia 
border near the northwest section of the state. On September 11 , 
1938, Donald was walking around the side of his home headed 
toward the barn the last time that his father, Emmett Farrington, 
saw him. When Emmett hadn't seen the boy for severa! min utes, 
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he started to look for the lad. After severa! minutes of searching, 
Emmett callecl for more assistance. 

Witl1in <~n hour of Donalcl's disappearance, therc were police, 
,·olu ilteers, and other farmers combing the Farrington farm look ing 
foi· Dona lcl. Searchers worked through the ni ght look ing for the boy 
and found t1othing. 

Early it~ the morning of the ftrst full day that Donald was missing, 
search~r Ray Becker was in a gully with a small creek two miles from 
the Fat:Í.-íngtpt1 farm. Next to the creek was a berry patch from which 
Ray, th~ugh t he heard a noise. The searcher wal ked toward the bush and 
found J.it1le Donald Farrington sitt ing deep under the briar bush. Rain 
had bee.n falling hard since Donald had disappeared , and 
the bush and the area around the boy were very wet. 

Ddnald was found '·badly scratched by thorns·· and suffer­
ing from exposure but was otherwise in good shape. 1 n total, over 
three hundred people had searched for the boy since the time he 
disappea;·ed: , 

Ronald Rumbaugh 
Missing 9/ 15/40, 2:00 p.m., Scottdale- Dawson Rd. Scottdalc, 
Pennsylvan ia 
Age at Disappearance: 2 years 

s ·e.fore going into the specifics of the Rumbaugh disappear­
ance, 1 want to put a wi ndow fra me around thi s region. Rona ld 
Rumb~ugh's di sappearance occurred within a ten-mile radius of 
three o.thers: 

N ame 
Stephen· Ford 
Anna Thorpe 
Emma Bow~rs 

Date Missinu•Age 
08/05/1880•9 
05/05/1950•2 
07/22/1953•5 

Stephen Ford disappeared sixty years before Ronald Rum baugh 
did, but the two disappearances occurred with in two miles of each 
other. Considering that Pennsylvani a has 44,816 square mi lt:s ami 
that tl)e state's dimensions are approx imately 280 miles wide by 
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160 miles long, the statistica l odds oftwo children disappearing in 
essenti ally the same place is mind-boggling. · 

Ronald was outside his rural home located on the road bet~een 
Scottdale and Dawson, Pennsylvan ia. On September , 15, 1940, 
Rumbaugh's father walked to a nearby baseball game and léft'·his 
fi ve ch ildren in the yard. lt is theorized that Ronald must ha ve .tried 
to follow his father to the game and became lost. The father returned 
from the event after a short period of time and, when he .couldn't 
ñnd Ronald, he called the Pennsylvania State Po! ice. 

The area where Ronald disappeared is a region that was s tart­
ing to become a hub for child disappearances in the ensuing 'th ir­
tecn years. The state pol ice officers responded to the incid~nt and 
did the normal search-and-rescue functions that were commonplace 
in 1940. They had equestrians, hikers, police ofñcers, sheriffs; and 
state police officers combing the area. There were cor.J~ñelds that 
needed to be searched, and Jacobs Creek needed to be swept. Near 
the thi rcl clay, thc police gathered hundreds of volunteers, and t.hey 
searched the ñelds row by row to ensure they didn't mi ss the young 
lad. In total, 1700 people searched for Ronald Rumbaugh for 'three 
days. and they didn't find one trace of hi m. · · 

State police officials stated publicly that they didn't feel tl~at a 
two-yea r-old could survive the elements for three days, and they 
were going to termínate the search efforts. : .. 

Just as the state police were terminating the search, local pllot 
and volunteer David Patterson and spotter Paul Vrholla were ftying 
over a cornfield almost three mi les from the Rumbaugh rcsidence. 
As they ftew over the center of the corn, they spotted a boy.lying 

011 stalks. He was not moving. After a second fly-over at low alti­
tude, the boy started to m ove and sit u p. Patterson k new he ha.d just 
spotted Ronald, and he lowered the plane and did a slo:V ftyover 
the Rumsbaugh property while Vrholl a yelled at the fa mlly below 
where their boy was located. In a scene reminiscent of an !'-lfred 
Hitchcock movie, the Rumsbaughs and state pol ice ofñcers raced 
to the cornfield , ran through hundreds of rows of corn , and found 
Ronald alive and groggy. The boy was transported to C?nnellsville 
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General Hospital, where he was found to have various scratches and 
bruises but was generally in excellent health. 

Head lines in the Evening lndependenl newspaper on September 
19, 1940 said, "Lost Baby Found, Officers.Still Believe He Was 
Kidnapped." 

. ' Officers stated that the cornñeld where the boy was located was 
searched row by row the day before he was found. They did not 
believe there was any way that they could have missed him in the 
location where he was found. The same art icle stated 

The boy showed 110 i/1 ejfecls expecled ({he had wandered through 
. H'Oods and .fields coalless sin ce vanishing .from his home Sunday 

({(temoon. Johnson [po/ice q{ficer} said lhe boy's ligh1 jumper suil 
H'OS 1101 soiled much or lorn, anda new pair o.fwhile shoes he wore 
for lhefirsl l ime Sunday did nol show lhe wear and lear o.f an outdoor 
tramp. The sergeanl said he believed rhat someone had snatched the 
child, lhen, .frighle/IC'd hy !he hu e and cry aroused, had le.ft him in a 
sqle placC'. lhe con1field. where he would soon hC'.found. 

The loca l police stationed an ofñcer at Ronald's room for the 
two days he was hospital ized for observation. The officer reported 
that he tried to question the boy severa! times about the disappear­
ance, but it was nearly impossibly to get a coherent answer to any 
question. 

Mr. and Mrs. Rumbaugh were questioned about the kidnapping 
theory, and they agreed that someone grabbed Ronald and sheltered 
him during the days he was missing. In a Geuysburgh Times inter­
' iew published September 19, 1940, the boy's father stated that his 
son ··could not have walked that far and stayed almost three full days 
and lived.'' 

A police sergeant (Johnson) investigating the case made one last 
pointed remark: "Whoever brought him back knew the terra in and 
was careful to leave him where he would be found." 

Case Summary: 
This is another incident where quality investigators and police 

officers saw the subtle signs of kidnapping versus someone being 
lost. 1 am extremely conñdent that a vast majority of the cases 
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in Pennsylvania have the same factors in them as was appar­
ent in Ronald's event-law enforcement just didn't recognize the 
indicators. 

1 realize that it's difficult to understand how two disappearances 
sixty years apart can be related, but the disappearance of Stephen · . 
Ford and Ronald Rumbaugh have too many similarities in geogra­
phy alone not to be considered somehow related. 1 am in no way 
blaming anyone in law enforcement for not connecting the dots on 
these cases in Pennsylvania-there are decades between cases and 
simply too many missing people. Without scanning technology, the 
Internet, and newspaper archive sources, these incidents and the 
clusters would never have been identified. 

Rudy Kunchick 
Missing 10/21/40, Sheppton, Pennsylvania 
Age at Disappearance: 4 years 

Rudy Kunchick disappeared from his borne in Shepptort on 
October 21, 1940. The residen ce was in a rural area, and nobody 
saw the hoy wander away. Rudy was watching his father scre~n coal 
when he disappeared. 

After a fifty-one-hour search by police officers and forestry 
officials, searchers found the four-year old hoy lying under a rock. 
overhang. Rudy heard people calling his name and was able to call 
out. Searchers found Rudy's arms and legs very swollen, suppos­
edly from extensive exposure. A doctor who examined Rudy called 
bis condition "miraculous" considering the length of time the hoy 
spent in the woods. 

The area in which Rudy was found was described as heav­
ily wooded. lt was nearly two miles from where he was last seen. 
Several canines were used to search for Rudy, but none could pick 
up bis scEmt. 

Eldridge Albright 
Missing 5/21141, 2:00p.m., Woodstock, Maryland** 
Age ~t Disappearance: 3 years 
(**Note: This case was placed with Pennsylvania because of its 
close proximity to other cases.) 
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Mrs: Albright was staying with her son, Eldridge, at their grand­
motller's house in rural Woodstock. It was approximately 2:00 p.m. 
wheri Eldridge was playing in a creek hed 300 yards behind the 
home~::fhe hoy was with two family dogs while his mother took a 
nap. The grandmother, Cynthia Miller, was on the back porch when 
she heard tl~e distinctive scream for help coming from Eldridge in 
the ~reek bed. S he started to m ove toward the creek when she heard 
a secQnd scream for help coming from further down the creek and 
even"fa.rther away from her. Seconds after the second scream, she 
heard a muffled third scream coming from still further away. 

Miller ran into the creek bed and looked for the hoy, hut she 
didn't- hear or see anything. She ran a little further and found one 
dog in a nearby meadow looking further down the creek. She called 
for the dog, but the dog didn't flinch. It stood, rock-solid, staring 
dowri· the cree k. There was no sign of the óther two dogs that were 
with Eldridge. 
· C.ynthia ran back to the home and woke Eldridge's mother. They 

again·ran to the creek and searched, but they found nothing. Cynthia 
callect"the police. When they arrived, she told them she believed 
that"El4ridge was abducted because he was continually calling for 
hele · ~nd the calls kept getting further and .further away until he 
vani~hed. 

Soon after Eldridge disappeared, many people volunteered to 
help· search for the young hoy. State police came up with only one 
theory ·that made any sense: a tramp from nearby railroad tracks 
musi: have taken the hoy, but they had no proof. Bloodhounds were 
brought to the farm, but they too were unable to find the boy. 

Searchers did find sorne tracks for Eldridge, but as a May 22, 
194f~ article in the Telegraph Herald states police said tracks of the 
chi~d were found in the sand by a stream for about fifty yards and 
'''then ~ysteriously disappeared." 

.Searchers scoured the area around the farm, and for the first 
twenty~four hours they didn't find anything. Another search team 
had'been working since 4:00 a.m. and was slowing edging toward a 
swa~py a·~ea four miles from the residence. The team was making 
a lot.ofnoise when they thought they he~rd a slight whimper com­
ing· .from under a roe k ledge near a swampy growth of weeds. They 
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approached and found Eldridge. He was groggy and appeared. tp b~ · 
trying to wake up, although it was now about 3:00 p.m. The boy. y.'as 
lying on a bed of leaves, protected frorn the elements by the"rqck 
ledcre. · .·· 

o Eldridge was found without shoes, and his clothes :-rete. tor~ 
badly. When searchers and fa mily rnembers asked Eld'ndge ·what 
happened and how he got to the rock ledge, he wouldn'Cor ~9\~ld!~' t 
explain anything. When his p~rents asked w~at he had seen.: be.sa•,~ 
only one thing, " twains," wh1ch everyone mterpreted .as l~ams, 

from the nearby railroad tracks. That was all the boy sa1d. . .' 
Many missing people are found in or very near creek ,beds, 

Eldridge disappeared in a creek bed. Creekbed~ and. swam~s are 
two locations in the wi ld where, if you are walkmg du·ectly · ~ the 
rniddle of the creek or in swampy water, you will rarely lea~e a 
track. 

Betty Bossier . 
Miss ing 6/24/41,10:30 a. m., Altoona, Pennsylvama 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years 

' . ... 

Blande Hair · 
Betty and her parents had traveled to their s~mmer home fhree 

mil es north of Altoona, Pennsylvania. The fam lly was spend111g a 
holiday there, and Betty went toan adjacent f~rm t~ play witl.1 local 
children. At some point while Betty was playmg w1th the chlldren. 
she wandered off. Nobody saw her leave. · .. . 

Volunteers and loca l law enforcement searched for Be~ty for 
over twenty-four hours without finding the girl. .s.tate police or:gan­
ized the sea rch effort and were assisted by local CJtJzens,and reg.JOnal 
sheriffs. · ·· . 

Twenty-eight hours after Betty disappeared, she \~as foun.d Slt­
ting on a rock in dense brush in the woods. surr~und111g th~ farm. 
Canines had failed to find the gi rl ; it was an Jntenstve ground ·search 
that eventually located the young lady. She was taken toa local doc-
tor who deemed her to be in satisfactory condition. . 

' Why can't canines seem to track the missing people that are 
written about in these books? 

• .. 
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Joseph Prato 

Missing 10/25/41 , 12:30 p.m., Bald Eagle Mountain, Williamsport, 
. Pennsylvania 
· Age at b isappearance: 19 months 
Blond Hai r 

At 2008 feet, Bald Eagle Mountain is the highest peak in the 
area of Wi lliamsport. The residence where Joseph Prato li ved was 
near the base of the mountain. On October 25, 1941 , Joseph wan­

·dered from his residence at 12:30 p.m. and disappeared in the area 
· ofthe mountain. There was concern from the searchers that Joseph 
could wander into water from the many sources that are near the 
residen ce. 

Many" people did not beli eve that a nineteen-month-old boy 
could wander far from a house, and thus many thought he was kid­
napped. Searchers did scour the bottom of the mountain and the 
hillsides, without fi nding anything the first night. Searchers were 
hindered beca use the area of the mounta in near the Prato home had 
thick vegetation. 

At approximately noon lhe fi rst day that Joseph was missing, 
his brother Pete and other searchers were searching the base of the 
mountain approximately two miles from the fa mily residence; they 
found Joseph lying on the ground not moving. The searchers ran to 
the boy and found him asleep, yes, asleep at noon. The boy had his 
pants, shoes, and socks removed even though the temperature had 
dropped to below fifty degrees the prior night. 

Joseph Prato couldn 't explain what happened to him because 
he was on ly ni neteen months old. 1t is not understood how the boy 
traveled over two mi les, stripped hi s clothes off, and still survived 
an overnight ordea l. 

Case Summary: 
Readers should look at the Rudy Kunchi ck case in this chapter 

for simi larit ies. The disappea rance of Joseph Prato occurred one 
year almost to the date from the disappea rance of Rudy Kunchick. 
The disappearance of Alvan Diggan in May of 1942 occurred in 
very close prox imity to the Prato disappearance. 



192 Missing 411- Eastern United States 

Alvan Diggan 
Missing 5/30/42, Montgomery, Pennsylvania 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years 
Blonde Hair 

Montgomery Pennsylvania is approx imately eight 111 iles easl 
of Bald Eagle Mountain, the location where Joseph Prato disap­
peared in October of 1941. The locations are on the same side of the 
Susquehanna River, which fl ows th rough the region. 

On May 30, 1942, Alvan was with relati ves who were work­
ing a wild strawberry patch approximately one mile from a farm 
where they were employed. Alvan had gone along and somehO\~ 
became lost while his parents were picking. Not long after the boy 
disappeared, the civil air patrol, local police, and sheriffs were all 
searching for the young boy. Bloodhounds from the local pen iten­
ti ary responded to the search but were unable to pick up the boy's 
scent or refused to track- we don' t know which. 

Many of the articles stated that there were many poisonous 
snakes in this region, and most of the searchers were wearing snake 
boots. The state police stated that 1hey killed two copperheads as 
they were conducting the search. A total of 150 searchers partici­
pated in looking for Alvan. 

A fter two days of not find ing the small boy, Montgomery resi­
dents two miles from where Alvan was last seen, heard someone 
sobbing in a small pine grove. Mrs. June Reed walked into the grove 
and found Alvan sitting on the ground sobbing. Alvan was naked 
and lying on the ground. 

Mrs. Reed transported Alvan to Muncy Valley hospital where 
hi s condition was listed as satisfactory. Alvan had been cut by bri­
ars from head to toe but was otherwise fine. There was very little 
information on Alvan after he was located. The boy's clothes were 
never found. 

Eugene Shue 
Missing 10/20/46, 2:00p.m., Manheim, Pennsylvania 
Age at Disappearance:"3 years 

Eugene Shue lived in rural Lancaster County with his mother, 
Mrs. Martha Shue and his grandparents. The family lived north of 
Manheim in a rural location surrounded by swamps, forests, and a 
very rural environment. 
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On ·october 20, 1946 at approx imately noon, Martha fed her 
son a sandwich ancl sent him into the ya rd with the fam ily dog, 
\Vhitey". Mrs. Shue had to leave the residence for a short time. When 
shc retú1:ned, Eugene and Whitey were both gone. She searched the 
y;~ rd and the bordering woods but founcl no trace of either. 

By late in the afternoon on October 20, searchers were scouting 
the woods near Eugene's resiclence and could not fi ne! one trace of 
the boy or the dog. Teams were looking at two creeks near the prop­
erty. They \~ere shallow and did not reveal any clues. Teams were 
more"concernecl about adjacent swamps. 

Tf1e second da y of searching had crews moving further and fur­
ther from the residence. One team was four miles from the point 
Euaene was "!ast seen ancl were at the top of Cornell Lookout. Th is 

o 

location is the highest point in the region and is approximately six 
hund red feet up from the Shues' residence elevation . At the bollom 
ofthe Jookout, searchers found Eugene. The team made special note 
that they were shocked to see that the boy did n't have any scratches, 
even though he had wandered through thick woods for tour miles to 
reach his presenl location. They were also su rprised lO see Eugene 
on top of the highest mountain in the area, qu ite a feat for a three­
year-old. In a very odd twist, Whitey was never found. 

**There are twelve disappearances in the 1940s of children 
acres two to six in Pennsylvan ia, an astronomical number compared 

o . . 

to any othe( state. 

.l immy Senser 
Missing 04/06/47, Loch Lomond Rd, Phil ipsburg, Pennsylvania 
Age iit bisappearance: 4 years 

William Senser and hi s family lived in an extremely ruralloca­
tion outsicle of Phi! ipsburg, Pennsylvania. On Easter Sunday in 1947, 
Jim my (four years) was play ing outside with his brother Sylvester 
(seven years) and his sister Leona May (five years). Jimmy's mother 
and fnt.her were work ing in the house preparing a trnditional Easter 
dinnei·. 

At approximately 5:00p.m., Jimmy's mother came outside and 
told ~he cli ildren that dinner was ready, and they should come inside 
and get clean. lt was at this point that the fa mi ly real ized that Jimmy 
had disappeared. 
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During the next seven · days. over one thousand people. arr.iy~d 
at the Senser house to assist in the search for Jimmy. Aircraft were 
called in; trucks with loudspeakers were used along with·'sherif~s, 
firemen, and volunteers. : ·:· 

Many of the articles describe searchers finding Jimmy~~ _'red 
sweater five hundred yards from the home, lying on railroad tr~~ks 
in an area having small barefoot tracks. Searchers also found .. a · 
watering hole that had bare.foot tracks around one si de. Bloqñhou~.~s 
were eventually used but were unsuccessful at pulling up a sc~~t 
and tracking. The inability for canines to track even with· t~e. p~es-
ence of barefoot tracks seems very odd. . ·. :··.:. 

Articles in various papers described the area in which Jim~y 
disappeared as "Exceptionally treacherous as it is partly str.~pped. · 
from coal mining operations and is. pitted with abandon.ed .c?:a.l-
holes,. (Lewiston Evening Journal, 4/8/47). . · :. . ~ · · 

On the last da y of the formal search, searchers comb~4 }he . 
banks ofMoshannon Creek apd failed to find any trace ofthe hoy. 

Ronald Collier : .... ~'·· 
Missing 7/2/48, p.m. hours, Somerset, Pennsylvania ··· 
Age at Disappearance: 23 months . :. ·< ... 

Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd Collier decided to take a short va~a~1~n. 
Lloyd was a coal miner and enjoyed tim~ in ~he woods ,áw_ay ~r~m 
his job. The family went to vacation cabms JUSt one ~~~~. nor~ of 
Kooser Lake on the perim.eter ofKooser State Park, whtch ts ~~~~ted. 
approximately eight miles northwest of Somerset. Lush forc~ts,_an~ 
state parks surround the entire area. . . ·. 

On July 2, 1948, Mrs. Collier was outstde wtth Ron~~d, ~~~.for 
a short time, and then realized it w.as time for his aftemoon bo~le. 
She briefly left the boy to enter the cabin to retrieve the .bottl~.and · 
thought that her husband ·was close by. When she retume~ fro~·the 
cabin, the boy had vanished. A call was mad~ to law en_f~rce~ent 
and almost immediately search teams forrned m the area. Hun4reds 
of police officers, firefighters, rangers, game wardens, and ~~lun-
teers swanned the region looking for young Ronald. . .. _.. . 

On July 5, SheriffKarl Ha re stated, "The boy can no~ be. ~tthm 
Y: mi le of this cabin, we thoroughly searched shoulder to shou.lder 
~ith more than 100 men through thick brush, he isn't here." · 

. ·,. 
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This search had strange undertones as 1 read articles that con­
.: · · timu;~d to describe activity. At one point the sheriff asked the parents 

to take lie detector tests about the incident. It was apparent that the 
·. ·. · ; . sheriff was frustrated that he couldn 't find tia e hoy, and he felt that 

·, 

· his. parents knew more than what they were saying. The parents 
passed the polygraph test and were not under any further suspicion. 

· · , An article in the July 9, 1948 Pitlsburgh Gazette stated the 
following: 

: The possibility that a bear had attacked 23-month o/d Rona/d 
. Collier was discounted Thursday by District Attorney Thomas 
: Lcmsberry. "1 have ta/ked to.forest rangers and game wardens and 

. . . nu~y al/ agree that there are no bears in the vicinity where the boy 
disappeared. '' 

. ~ .. ~·:·· ... · Poli ce stated numerous times that they could find any evidence 
. '' .. ·.:. ; ;.. <?fa kidnapping and no motive. Mr. Collier did not have significant 
· .... · ·, . ·: ·re,sources, and there was nevera demand for cash. 
. ,~ :. · ·' Ronald was never found. 

·. ,~· .. ·: . · . Billy Abbott 
. ~: ·~· ·Missing 2/18/49, 4:40p.m., Laureldale, Pennsylvania 

~~ ; · Agc at Disappearance: 3 years 
·· The Abbotts lived at 3525 Oak Street in Laureldale. The home 

was at the base of Mt. Laurel, the tallest mountain in the area at 
:. :.: ... 

one thousand feet in elevation. The mountain used to have a smal1 
· · ski resort, and that's where Billy and neighborhood friends went to 

· play in February of 1949. Somehow Billy became separated from 
· ·· ··his' friends, and when they carne home, they told his mother that he 

was missing. Billy's mother promptly contacted local authorities, 
. and a massive search was conducted. 

The first night ofthe search firemen from four local communi­
tjes directed bright spotlights onto the mountain where Billy was last 
seen. They used bullhorns to call his name, and hundreds searched 
the forest area on the mountain. The searchers were unsuccessful in 
finding Billy that first night. 

It was after the first night that the parents of Billy Abbott ada­
mantly told authorities that their son would never walk off and not 
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come directly home. They stated that he was a very good boy, some­
what ti m id, but knew that he should be home. The parents strongly 
believed their son had been abducted. 

The first morning Bi lly was missing search parties formed and 
searched Mt. Laurel. They combed every inch of it meticulously. 
At 1:00 p.m. the searchers reorganized and again started to comb 
the woods. Approximately five blocks from Billy's home, in a 
thick wooded area rich with deep leaves, a searcher saw somethin!! 
red lying in the trees. The searcher walked to the red object and 
saw Billy lying on the ground sleeping; it was approximately 1:30 
p.m. The searcher screamed for assistance, which woke Bi lly. The 
searcher tried to carry the boy, but he stated that he'd rather wa lk. 

When the searchers and Billy gol back lo their home, police 
officers at the residence made a note that the ground and the area 
ofthe search was quite wet, yet Billy's boots were almost dry. They 
also noted that Billy was not hungry, seemed in very good spi rits, 
and hi s clotring wasn't dirty, as you would expect from a young boy 
in the woods the entire night. 

Detectives tried to question Bi lly about his experience but were 
confused over his answers. He did state that he followed a neigh­
bor's dog into the woods, but wouldn't state anymore after that. 
He later saw one of the lawmen with a lighter and stated that he 
had played with one of those last night. The detectives asked him 
where he played with the lighter. Billy stated , "At the house where 1 
slept." Billy didn't elaborate on where he stayed and, in fact, almost 
stopped mak ing statements at that point. 

Case Summary: 
The specifics ofthi s incident that everyone should considerare 

listed below. 
Billy was with his neighbor's dog walki ng toward the woods 

at approximately 4:00p.m. when he di sappeared. A massive search 
with spotl ights and loudspeakers didn't locate him. With all of the 
noise and lights, why wouldn't Bi lly have responded? Billy stated 
that he stayed ata "hoüse." What did that mean? Bi lly stated that he 
p1ayed with a lighter. Where did thi s occur? The lawmen were so 
perplexed by hi s answers that they couldn't tel l whether he was k id- . 
napped, fabricating a story, or was merely lost. There are too many' 
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consistencies with Bi lly's disappearance and the disappearance of 
other youngsters in thi s book to ignore what the boy is say ing. He 
was obviously in a location that was covered from the weather and 
appeareérto be similar toa home. lt could also be deducted that Bil ly 
was at a ~location fnr enough from the search, noise, and 1 iohts that . o 
he didn't hear searchers calling for him. 

Bill)r Clever 
Missi ng 4/26/49, p.m. hours, Mercersbu rg, Pennsylvn ni a 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years 

Mrs. Harry Clever took her son to the outskirts ofMercersburg 
on a hunt f01: mushrooms. The couple was near Cross Mount ai n 
when they st~rted their journey. At some point during their search, 
Mrs. Clever lost sight of her son. The mother immediately went 
home and retrieved the other fifteen children, and they all started to 
search rhe mountain area for Billy. 

Ldcal police officials were noti fied of the missing ch ild, ancl 
they responded with bloodhounds. The dogs were unable to pick up 
any scent for the boy. At the height ofthe search, three hundred area 
residents and, law enforcement officers searched for the boy. 

At 9:00a.m. the first morning that Billy was missing, a searcher 
found ihe boy three mi les from where he disappeared. The boy's 
cloth ing was torn to shreds, but he was otherwise in fine shape. 

\Vhen a. rescue worker wa lked up toward Billy, he turned and ran 
from tlie man. The searchereasi ly overtook the boy and too k h i m back 
to his m.other. Billy was taken to the hospital and found to be in good 
condition . 

Otis T. Masoi1 
Missing 10/1-1149, 5:00p.m., Colesville, Maryland 
Age at Disappearance: 6 years 
Blande Hair 

Otis Masen was last seen by his mother playing in a sand pite 
in the f¡ont of his house with the family's three dogs. Otis had five 
brothe_rs·and sisters, but they were not in the yard with him when he 
and the··.dogs inexplicably disappeared. At 5:00p.m. Otis's mother 
had ca l l~d him for dinner, and when he didn't answer, she went into 
the yar~ to look for the boy. Once the mother couldn' t find the boy, 
she called authorit ies. 
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The Mason famil y had lived in their large home for eleven · 
months, and the children knew the area well. They also knew the 
rules about not leaving the immediate area of the home. Severa! 
hours after Otis di sappeared, two ofhi s dogs returnecl to his home. 
The thircl dog was still missing. 

Aft er Otis had been gonc twenty-four hours, searchers 1iear 
a vacant home two miles from the Mason resiclence thought t.hey 
heard a stra11ge, muffted sou11d from an underground area. Searchers 
pulled the lid off an empty septic tank and found the dog in~ide. 
Searchers couldn't explain how the dog managed to entcr the tank, 
especiall y since the lid was on it. 

Searchers scoured the woods behind the Mason l~ome .. The 
woods were a conglomeration of heavy timber, swamps, ~ncl ~hick­
ets. The search extended almost lwo miles a11d couldn'l find any 
evidence of the boy. Nearing the end of the second day 'of séa(ch­
ing, a police officer working a creek that had heen searched severa! 
times befare looked under a bank and found the boy's body. ~eople 
were shocked. The speci fic area where the boy was found had· bee1~ 
searchcd severa! times without finding anything. The c!·eek was 
very shallow except for the one four-foot-deep hole whe1;e the ~ody 
was found. , 

There was an autopsy 011 Otis's body, a11d officials nile9 th'at the 

cause of death was drowni11g. 
The fact that Otis knew 11ever to leave the yard and lhat h~ left . 

with two of bis dogs makes this case mimic others from th_is same 
area. lt would be easy to discount this case and state it 'Yas Ill_érely 
a drowning, but 1 do11't know. The facl that his dog was found c?n­
fi ned in an empty septic tank makes it seem as though som~th1.11g 
unusual happened. Dogs don' t enter septic ta11ks and close the hds 

behind them. 

A11na Pearl Thorpe 
M issing 5/5/50, Dunbar, Pennsylvania · · 
Age al Disappearance: 2 years . · : · 

Anna Thorpe was playing at the edge of the woods near her 
home on Friday, May S. Anna's molher was inside the home when 
she heard a sharp scream from the direction of Anna. Mrs. Thorpe 
ran into the backyard and could not fi nd the girl. She yelled the 
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child's name and immediately searched the area bul could not fi nd 
her daughter. An11a's two brothers assisted in the search but cou ld 
not locale her. lt was at this early point that the Thorpes called local 
police for assistance. 

Hundreds of sea rchers converged 011 "the Thorpe property 
by early the next morni11g. SAR leams scattered over the snake­
infested woocllands looking for the young girl. Searchers were 
covering the area inside of one mi le from her house, as they didn't 
believe she could gel much further. One group decided lo search 
much fu rther away from the residence. Approximately twenty-four 
hours after she disappeared, Anna was found a phenomenal three 
miles from her home, tucked under a blackberry bush. The girl was 
naked except for one shoe. Her sweater and clress were lying on the 
gro~11d near her. 

Anna was taken to a nearby physician who stated that she had 
not been molested and only had minor scrapes a11d bruises. She was 
in almost perfect condition co11sidering the amount of terrain she 
coverecl in twenty-four hours. 

A May 7 ar ticl e in th e Los Angeles Times had the following 
pa'ragraph: '·State police took the child's clothes for fu rther inves­
tigation•. There is some myslery as to how she got over 10 picket, 
barbed wire, ancl stone fe11ces that separate the wooded area from 
the field in which she was fou nd." 

Case Summary: 
1 wanl readers to go to their computers and pull up Google 

· Maps. Look at "Kooser Lake," Pennsylvania and compare that to 
· Dunbar, Pennsylva11ia. My estímate is that the distance between the 
rwo locat ions is approximately ten miles. Ten miles and twenty­
six month s is the di fference between the disappeara11ces of Donald 
c'ollier and An11a Pearl Thorpe. There are many similarities between 
tbe two cases. The ti me frames are much too close to be ignored. 

In between th e two locations where the ch ildre11 disappeared 
are lndian Creek Va l ley and two large stale parks with massive ope11 
areas. There are no large cities between the two spots where the 
children disappeared. 

1 bel ieve the state poli ce took Thorpe's clothing because they 
knew she had been abducted. There is no way a two-year-old girl 
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is going to travel lhree miles and over ten barbed wire fences in 
twenty-four hours-no way! There would be no reason for police lo 
take the clothing ifthis was merely a missing person case. 1 could 
never locate a fol low-up article explai ning the police theory ofwhat 
might have happened. There is the possibility thal police found 
something on the girls clothing that caused them concern. 

Jackie Copeland 
Missing 5/ 14/50, 1:00 p.m., Pleasantville, Pennsylvania 
Age at Disappearance: 2 years 
Blonde Hair 

Jackie, his three sisters, and parents went to a picnic at an oil 
company's property outside of Pleasantville. The fami ly was social­
izing with others when Jackie's seven-year-old sister told their father 
that Jackie was gone. At 1:00 p.m. the family started to look for the 
boy and could not locate him. lt was at this point that everyone at 
the picnic started to participate in the search for Jackie Copeland. 

In a very short period of time, the state police had arrived, 
and they called for a team of bloodhounds. The oil company 
called for additional volunteer searchers until there were hundreds 
of people looking for the boy. It was evident by late in the even­
ing that the bloodhounds could not pick up a scent (or refused 
to search) and ground searchers were not having luck finding 
the boy. 

At 8:00 a.m. the morning following Jackie's disappearance, 
a man named Bevier was searching outside of the main area in a 
location where an oil repressuring plant was located. The aren is 
completely surrounded by what many newspaper articles cal led 
"impassable swamps." As Mr. Bevier anda crew of searchers were 
walking through the swamps, he accidentally saw Jackie looking 
around the side of a tree, al most peering. Bevier called his name 
and Jackie answered. Jackie was found over two mi les from the 
picnic and across swamps that were deemed impassable by search 
coordinators. 

1 

Jackie was transported lo the hospital where he was met by his 
fa mi ly. A fter bei ng ex ami ned by doctors, 1 he y stated that the •boy · 
hada number ofscratches but that he was in general ly good health. 
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An "article in the Logansport Press dated M ay 17, 1_950 had an 
interview with the Copelands and heard Jackie's renditton of what 
occurrcd during his night in the woods. The press wanted to h~ar 
how the boy got to his location in the swamp, what he had to dnnk 

:~ d how he kept warm. Jackie first was asked why he left the or eat, an . . . . f' 
picnic ancl here is bis quote: ·'He saw somethrng peenn~ at h1~11 1.0111 
behind ~ big tree. When he approached, the creature sc,unpcl.ed 1nto 
the brtlsh." Jackie didn ' t explain anything more about leavrng tl~e 
icnic at that point. The article later explained more of what Jackte 

~tateci :··"[He] recountecl in child talk his ad venture in ¡~ n awfu l black-
. Jed by a great throbbing giant anda tall fnend ly tree and ness, peop e . . • 

wi ld animals howling in the distance and the unfam1har shouts of 

slrangérs p~owling nearby." . 
Jac~ie Copeland's explanation of wl:at occur.red to hun co~ld 

be a very sobering narrative of what m1gh~ pos~1bly .be occurnng 
with the··plet,hora of missing children outlmed 111 th1s boo~ from 
the Pennsylvania area. Jackie had gone through a very fnghten­
ing experience. In the safety of his parents' presenc~, he was able 
to recount certain elements of what happened. He d1d say that l~e 
believéd he slept through the entire night in the woods. How Jack1e 
was able to sleep under conditions he describcd is a true mystcry, 
yet many young children are found by searchers in a groggy and 

~em ico'n'scious state. 
The qu~stion 1 pose to each and every reader: .wha~ w~s t~e 

"creature'' peering at him from behind a tree? 1 th tn k 1t 's tron1c 
that Ja'ckie 1;1imicked the behavior of the creature when he was 
approa.~hed by a searcher. How could a two-year-old boy traverse 
in1passable swamps without the a id of so me type of mam ma.l? 

1 know that many people will discount Jackie's explanat1on and 
sa;; th~t it was a fantasy. The location wher~ J.ac~ie w~s found ~as 
not .fa'r)tasy. The description Jackie gave ofh rs 111C1dent 1s somethtng 
tl)al we·should all ponder and attempt to understand. 

Emmá Bo\vers 
Miss!ng 7i22/53, Noon, Mili Run , Pennsylvania 
Age a.t Disappearance: 5 years 
**De.~f M1,1te (Per newspaper article) 

1 
! 
~ 

1 
i 
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The Bowers lived in a region that had very few homes and ~as 
in a rural setting. At noon on July 23, 1953, Emma was playing with 
three other children while two went to a nearby spring; she lagged 
behind and was lost. Mrs. Bowers realized that her deaf-m'ute 
daughter was missing from her residence and started to scream for 
help. S he called law en forcement officers, who responded en masse. 
M rs. Bowers described her daughter as "frail" and small for her·age. 

Two trucks that had very powerful ftood lights came to the area 
ofthe residence and scoured the region for the girl. Searchers stated 
that th ey were baffted that the girl wasn't in the immediate área 
because they had sea rched every conceivable place she would nor­
mally be. In two days searchers had covered nine squar~ m: les \~ ith- . 
out finding the frail girl. Mr. Bowers stated that he d1dn t bel_1eve . 
that his small daughter wou ld go far in the thickets that surrou,n~ed 
the home. 

Bloodhounds were brought to the search site and could not·pick 
up a scent or refused to search. Rain fell for eight straight h~~rs 
shortly after Emma disappeared and this hampered se_arch effor ts_. 

Sixty hours after Emma disappeared sea rchers folll:d the .g1rl 
sitting and eating wild berries on a ledge near the Baltunore.apd 
Ohio Railroad tracks over two miles from where she was. last s_een. 
The girl had " thousands" of scratches over her body, and hedeet 
wcre described as "raw," but she was othenvise in very good con­
dition. In a July 25 m-ticle in the Reading Eagle, Private -An_thony 
Sywinski of the Pennsylvani a State Police sta.ted, "She w_as. pn ly 
two miles from home, but how she got that far tn these ternble for-
ests, 1 ' 11 never know." The girl was found naked. - · · ·. 

Case Summary: 
When 1 initially rev iewed this case, Emma's age see1ned sl'ightly 

older than other chi ldren who went missing in Pennsylvanía. Ir 
wasn' t until 1 read that Emma was a ''deaf mute," co~ldn't .. ~alk 
or hcar, and she was descri bed as frai l did her profil e match bth­
ers. Many of the ch ildren missing in this chapter couldn't _speak 
(they were too young) and couldn't walk well beca use of tl.1e1r ,ag.e, 
racts also attributed to Emma. The child ren rea lly couldn't explam 
what happened to them, and they couldn't exactly sprint for s~fety. 
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beC~Illse or their age. The statement from the state police officer is 
very revealing. 

Fred "Tookie" Hol mes 
Missing 5/25/55, 9:00a.m., Grahamsville, New York 
Age at Disappearance: 23 months 
**Blande Hair 

This case is placed with Pennsylvania based on its proximity to 
the state's border. 

The Holmes lived in a rural home on the border ofthe Catskill 
Mountai ns in Grahamsvill e, New York. On May 25, 1955, Tookie 
was home at their farm with bis mother wh ile his five other brothers 
and sisters were at school. At approximately 9:00a.m., Mrs. Roderick 
Holmes was out in her yard tending the garden, and Tookie was 
soinewhere in the yard playing. Mrs. Holmes stated she lost sight of 
the boy for ten to fifteen minutes, and he disappeared. Mrs. Holmes 
called neighbors and the police for help, and they responded. 

Searchers believed the blonde-haired, twen.ty-th ree-month-old 
Tookie would be found quick ly and close to the farm. They were 
in for a shock. Within two days, there were three hund red people 
searching for Tookie in the remate mountains of Grahamsville. 
Searchers were very frustrated because there were no clues about 
where the boy may be. 

On May 27, 1955, an article in the Oneonta Star stated the 
follow ing: "State Police orderecl the search continued (for Tookie 
Holmes) until the boy is found dead or alive." Police ordered an 
Army hel icopter from Chicopee Falls, Massachusetts to a id in the 

. sea rch. 
The fi rst day after the boy disappeared the weather turned bad 

and heavy rain fell in the area. Bloodhounds were brought in to 
search, and they couldn' t pick up a scent, or refused to search. 

· The area where Tookie disappeared was one mi le from Rondout 
Reservóir, one mil e from Neversin k Reservoir, and three miles 
from the Ashokan lndian Reservation. The fami ly li ved on Denman 
i0ountain with an elevation of 2900 feet. 

Police were convinced that something very strange happened 
with the disappearance ofTookie and asked Gertrude and Roderick 
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Holmes (Tookie's parents) to take polygraph tests. They did and 
they passed. 

After two weeks of formal and informal search efforts, Tookie 
was never found . There have been many articles written about this 
disappearance, and it is still puzzling over fifty years later. ' 

Candida "Candy" Streeter 
Missi ng 10/3/57 at 5:30 p.m., Pottstown, Pennsylvania 
Age at Disappearance: 2 years 

Candy was playing in the front yard of her residence with her 
seven-year-old brother Middy. Middy came into the house and told 
his mother that Candy wasn't outside. Mrs. Streeter went into the 
yard and could not find the young girl. 

Mrs. Streeter called her husband, John, at his place of employ­
ment at Fels Planetarium, and he came home. Local and state police 1 

officers responded to the residence and combed the woods sur­
rounding their farm's two hundred-acre property. 

Searchers scoured the property owned by the Streeters and also 
checked brooks and creeks in the area. Bloodhounds were supplied 
by the state police. The dogs supposedly entered the woods and 
were unable to find a scent on the young girl, or refused to track. 

The following morning at 8:00 a.m., a sixteen-year-old girl ·· 
getting ready for school at a nearby farm saw something by their 
chicken coup. The girl walked out to the coup and fou nd ~andy 

1 

Streeter wet and cold standing by the chickens. State Police would 
not identify the farm where Streeter was found but did state it was 
in the general area of the Streeter residence. 

The police were called and Candy was reunited with her family. 

Case Summary: 
There are many questions about th is case that wi 11 never be ade­

quately answered-mainly, why didn't Candy walk toa farmhouse 
where she saw light? Why would she stay by a dirty chicken coup 
instead of going to a farmhouse to seek warmth and assistance? 
What caused the girl to leave her property, property that was two 
hundred Iarge acres? Why couldn't or wouldn' t the can ines !rack 
the girl down? 
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Karen Cooney 
Missing 7/8/68, Corry, Pennsylvania 
A!!e at bisappearance: 15 years 
~ The ·cooney fa mily lived in a rural setting adjacent lo a small 

county :highway approx imalely twenty miles west of the Allegheny 
ational Forest. On the morn ing of July 8, 1968, Karen was asked 

by her n1other lo go to the rear yard and hang clean clothes. The girl 
happily, did the chore and was in the backyard for a few minu~es 
when her mother and her brolher heard her scream. The two famtly 
members ran to the backyard and found that Karen had vanished. 

Th~.'cooney fami ly quickly searched the yarcl and then called 
the shel·iff and state highway patrol. Within hours of the first cal! 
for assistance, bloodhounds and scores of searchers were working 

' · the farnJ area looking for K aren. The local sheriff told severa! news 
teams thai he .felt Karen had been kidnapped and that lhe FBI had 
beep requested to assist. The Pennsylvania State Police was the lead 
agency for the invest igation, and they used their helicopler, canines, 
horses,. and many volunteers. 

T''~e'nt y-seven hours after Karen disappeared, a state police 
hel icopr~r was patrolling the sky three miles from the Cooney resi-

' dence when they saw Karen walking along the banks of Leisure 
Lake. The helicopter called for ground teams to converge in lhe area 
and Kar\!n \vas picked up. The girl was described as ''dazed" when 
she was met by sea rchers. 

Ká)·en was taken to a hospital for observation and later ques­
tioned ·~ooui her ordeal by her parents. In a July 10, 1968 article in 
the 'rir(úville .Herald Mrs. Cooney explains what her daughter lold 
her: ''Mrs. Cooney said her daughter was still hazy about what hap­
pened, but she remembered being chased from the house by a big 
man with a knife. He chased her for a long ways through the woods 
unlil she ·said-she fell asleep." 

Case Sumr:pary: 
Remember, the police were absolutely adamant at the start of 

this investigat ion that Karen had been kiclnapped- maybe she was. 
lt does :seem. unusual that someone would be so bold to en ter her 
backyard and take the woman near her own home. The description 
thal Km·en used was "big man"-he must have been very big if he 
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was going to force a nfteen-year- old girl into his custody in the mi.d­
d le of the woods. 

It 's interesting that she stated that she was chased until she fell 
asleep and then was Iater f9und as being "dazed." This would s~.em 
to be a consisten! condition for many missing people whe.n they. are 
Iocated. 

The disappearance of Karen Cooney matches the circumstan .. ces 
ofmany young children in this book. The di fference in this case is 
that the girl can parti ally explain what happened. . 

This case is not the only case in which strange looking ~en . 
are described in the woods associated with a di sappearance. Eloise 
Lindsay describes being chased for many days in Table Rock ·State 
Park (G reat Smoky Mountains Chapter) by men that she cannot 
describe or won't and a witness in the Dennis Martin disappear­
ance de~cribes a sickening scream and seeing a stealthy loo~ing 
man in the woods (G reat Smoky Mountains Chapter). I.t's ~n odd 
coincidence that both Eloise Lindsay and Karen Cooney describe 
being chase by men and they don't or won't supply descriptipns, 

w~ • 
Karen Cooney went missingjust forty-five miles west ofwhere 

Marj orie West disappeared and was never found. Karen's residence 
is just forty mi les west of where Harold Mott disappeared. ·. · 

Harold Mott 
Missing 3/2176, 5:00p.m., Corydon Township, Pennsylvania.· . 
Age at Disappearance: 12 years 

1 

: 

**Special Education student . . . 
On Tuesday March 2, 1976, twelve-year-old Harold Mott at:nved 

at bis rural residence after school and decided to look for the. fam­
ily dog, Snowball, which had been missing severa! days. ~arol.?, his 
brother, and a neighbor went to a hill behind the Mott restdel)Oe and 
decided to split up and look for the family dog. This was ":'hen ~arold 
disappeared. . 

Once the boys realized that they couldn't find Harold, they went 
to Harold's parents and explained the circumstances, and everyone 
started to Iook for the boy- it was now 5:00p.m. In a stran~e and 
odd twist to the story, as the family was searching for Harold ·and it 
started to get clark, Snowball arrived back at the house. One mi ssing 
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party is found and another goes missing. Soon the fa mily realized 
they couldn' t find the boy, and they called the state police. 

Corydon Township is located just four miles from the New York 
State line in far northern Pennsylvania. The Jown is just two miles 
from the Allegheny Reservoir and sits adjacent to Willow Creek. 
The woods around the town are very lush and thick with almost the 
consistency of a wooded area that had never been logged, with few 

· home sites ·and almost no land that's been cleared. 
Harold vani shed just five miles west of the location where 

Mmjorie West disappeared while on an outing with her family on 
May 8, 1938. Marjorie was never found . 

The state police committed significan! resources to the effort to 
fi nd Harold. Local sheriffs and other law enforcement officers came 
to the area along with other farmers and families that volunteered 
in the search effort. There were equestrians, helicopters, all-terrain 
vehicles, and even psychics assisted in the effort. 

On Wednesday and Thursday violent thunderstorms rocked the 
region around Corydon, dropping severa! inches of rain. Canines 
were unable to pick up Harold's scent and couldn't locate the boy. 

On Friday afternoon at 12:30 p.m., two searchers were nine 
miles from the Mott property, walking a rarely used trail when they 
looked up and saw Harold. A March 6, 1976 article in the Brad.ford 
Era had the following statement from the searcher, Monty Edel, who 
found Harold,: "He (H arold) just ca me out of nowhere." Harold was 
walking with a walking stick and seemed to be in very good health. 
Harold immediately asked if Snowball had been found and then 
.continued walking with the searchers back toward their vehicles. 

Harold was taken to Bradford Hospital by a state police officer. 
The hospital stated that Harold had a slight fever, was groggy, and 
ti red and would be kept the night for observation. 

Case Summary: 
This case is fascinating because two fa mi ly members were 

missing at the same time under two separate incidents. Snowball 
hacl been missing for severa! days when Harold disappears looking 
for the dog. The dog appears the same night that Harold goes miss­
ing-quite a coincidence. 
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The fact that Harold disappeared in such close prox imity to . 
the di sappearance of Ma1:jorie West is something that can't be 
overlooked. 

This is another case in which a missing person is located in 
good health but has a slight fevcr. Why did Harold have a fever? 
The disappearance of Harold five miles from where Marjorie disap­
peared cannot be ignored and should be a clue to this disappearance. 

Duane Scott 
Missing 7/27178, Camp Tree Farm, Fombell , Pennsylvania 
Age at Disappearance: 31 years 
5' 7", 140 lbs 

Duane Scott was a moderately disabled man who needed 1~1edi- ' 
cation to control hi s physical disability and his ability to walk. He· 
was described by relatives as frai l and weak. 

On July 27, 1978 Duane attended a dance at the Camp Tree 
Farm just outside of Fombell. The camp was operated at the time by 
the Allegheny County Chapter of the Pennsylva nia Association of 
Retarded People. The camp had operated since 1970 and had over 
12,000 disabled people attend its events and the camp never experi­
enced any type of inciden!, until now. 

Jt is confinned that Duane wns at the dance, and when peo­
ple arrived to pick him up, nobody could find him. Camp docents 
attempted to Jocate Duane and eventually knew they needed addi­
tional resources and called the state police. The Pennsylvania State 
Police called local law enforcement for assistance, and with the 
added assistance of camp counselors and volunteers, hundreds were 
scouring the rolling hills and forests that surrounded the camp. The 
state police used helicopters, canines, equestri ans, and hi kers to call 
the man's name and search the countryside. 

Camp Tree Farm was located approximately twenty miles north 
ofPittsburgh, and it was in a very rural setting. 

The search for Duane continued for almost two weeks until 
eventually state pol ice adm itted they couldn't fi nd the man. 

Ninety-four days <'lfter Duane Scott went missing, two hunt­
ers were two miles from Camp Tree Farm when they di scovered 
a decomposing body on a hillside. lt was Duane. The coroner con­
firmed that Duane did not have any broken bones, and it was a 

·, , 1 
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puzzle \~h·y he had died. The biggest question in the d isappearance 
is how Dllane got to the location where he was found. 

Searchers had confi rmed that they had scoured the lower eleva­
tions where Duane was found but were turned back by the steep­
ness and the tl1orny brush that was shredding their clothes. Duane·s 
parents. had apprised searchers that Dunne was a frai 1 and weak 
man ano coúldn't cl imb any hi llside that was steep. Th is hillside 
wa~ quite steep. A November 1, 1978 article in the Pittsburgh Press 

' hadan iriterv iew with Mrs. Scott: "The place where they found him 
was afmQst- impossible to get to," she said. ' '1' 11 never, ever bel ieve 
he went in th~re by himself." Duane's sister, Karen, also assisted in 
the scar~h effort and made this statement about the location of the 
body: "But they couldn't have made it to where he was without hav­
inu their skin torn off." 
~ · For .·Duane to get to the location where he was found , so me 

search~rs believed he had to hike three and a half mi les, a near 
impossjbil ity for the man. Robert Neikin was the di rector of the 
association running the camp. Neik in stated that the man either 
walked the níiles to get there, ·'Or he got there sorne other way.'' 

A Noveinber 2, 1978 article in the Tyrone Doily Herede/ had 
one last interview with Mrs. !na Scott, Duane's mother. The an i­
cle states, "M rs. !na Scott said she did not think her son (thirty­
one-year-old Duane Scott) could ever have made his way into the 
nearly impenetrable brush where his body was found, 'The place 
they fmmd hi m was al most impossible to get into."' 

The coroner didn't find any obvious cause of death and no seri­
ous cuts or bruises, making it more confusing how the man got into 
the location. 

Case Summa ry : 
Th·i ~ case is yet another example in which fn mi ly members 

believe there is fou l play involved in the di sappearance and subse­
quént dcath of thei r loved one. A fam ily knows the abilit ies of its 
chi ldren, lfMrs. Scott states that her son could not have made it into 
that position, l believe her. A common-sense question is why would 
anyone voluiltari !y enter an area so rough and thorny? 

~lie coroner stated that he could not determi ne a cause of 
death another common element when missing people's bodies 

'· 

r • • 
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are eventual ly found. lf Duane didn't have cuts and brui~es on bis 
body, how did he manage to gel into the thorny bushes where !~e 
was found? Many people who go missing are eventually foun? 1n 
thickets and berry bushes-why? 

Jon Dabkowski 
Missing 1/ 14/82, Tarentum, Pennsylvania 
Age al Disappearance: 11 years 
4' 10" 72 lbs · 

J~n and bis friend Gabriel Minarcin were residents ofTarent~J.m . 
On January 14, 1982, Gabriel had dinner at Jon's house. At 5:_30 r.m. 
the boys fini shed dinner and walked outside to make the tnp three 
houses clown the street to Gabriel's residence. They were never s_~en 

again. . 
The homes border the Allegheny R1ver, and there was s_om_e 

beliefthat the boys fell in. There were tracks in the area, but no~~-~dl­
cation that there was an ic~ break. An extensive search ~f th~ ~wer 
could not find either boy. Dabkowsk i had been counseled by hts par­
ents to stay away from the river and his friends state that he ob~yed 
that rule. p 1' 

8 oth boys are still considered missing, and the Tare1:tum o tce 
still have an open case file. The city is surrounded by thtck woods .. 

Gabriel Minarcin 
Missing 1/ 14/82 , Tarentum, Pennsylvania 
Agc at Disappea rance: 10 years 

4', 60 lbs . . · 'd 
1

: 
See the Dabkowski case above for detatls on th1 s mct en · 

Emerson Carbaugh 
Missing 11 / 11 /85, Robertsdale, 
Pennsylvania 
Age at Disappearance: 64 years · 

.... 

5'9" 190 lbs · . 
Emerson and his longtime hunting 

partner Ralph lsett, his brother-Í1_1-Ia~v, 
went turkey hunting. On November 1 ~ -
1985, the two men drove state route 913 
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approx imately two miles south of Robertsdale. They started their 
day late, 3:00p.m., and immediately split up. Emerson was carrying 
a Remi ngton 870 shotgun. The men had agreed on a meeting loca­
tion and time, but Emerson never arrived. l!¡_ell did happen to meet 
an off-duty firefighter who was al so hunting, and they both searched 
for Emerson. As they were searching, a cold rain started lo fall, and 
that rain lasted through the night. They never found Mr. Carbaugh 

Emerson was hunting on New Grenada Mountain, also known 
as Robertsdale Mountain, adjacent to the state lands designated area 
just off the highway. A long ridgeline rising fi ve hundred feet runs 
the entire length of the state game area. The ridge has a road that 
runs its entire length, north to south, and either side is dotted with 
dozens of farms. 

State police participated in a massive search for Emerson with­
out fi nding him or any of his property. 

lt does not make any sense that Emerson became lost. He knew 
that he could walk on either side of the ridge lo find a farm. lf he 
walked west, he hit a road. Something happened to Emerson that 
took him from this area. Emerson's family made the following 
statement: " l think he was taken out of the woods. I don't think he 
is al ive." Ida Carbaugh , Emerson's wife, was at the search site for an 
entire week as locals, firefighters, and law enforcement participated 
in the search. 

Ida waited the required seven years and then had Emerson 
declared legally dead by a local court. The Pennsylvania State 
Police still have a missing persons file on Emerson. 

Michael Joe Malinoski 
;...1 issing 10/24/96, Gaines, Pennsylvan ia 
Age at Disappearance: 37 years 

· West Chester, Pennsylvania, sits very near Pennsylvania's Grand 
Canyon, otherwise known as Pine Creek Gorge. No, it doesn't look 
li ke the Grand Canyon in Arizona, but it is a deep gorge with great 
views. West Chester hosted a psychology con ference the week of 
October 21, 1996 that attracted the attendance ofMichael Malinoski. 

Malinoski was a divorced father of one. He was a clinical psy­
chologist whose ex-wife and son lived in San Francisco. He was a 
very caring father who communicated regu larly with his son. 
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Malinoski attended the confercnce on men's issues' and ' 
then traveled to the Pine Tree Lodge near Gn ines, Pennsylvania. · 
Malinoski had stayed at the lodge in the past and knew the area. 
The lodge was built in the 1930s and was surrounded by thou­
sands of acres of state and federal land and sits in the middle of 
Pennsylvania's wild country. Every cabin has a covered porch, and 
the lodge advertises that it is known for fishing, hunting, festivals. 
photography, and genera lleisure activity. 

Malinoski checked into the lodge, turned on the heater, and appar­
ently spent the night. He called hi s roommate that night and advised 
him thathe was safely in the room and said good night. Malinoski was 
scheduled to spend an additional night and never showed back at the 
lodge after that first night. The lodge worker cleaning his room saw 
that his bed was not made and that he had left items in the room. He 
called the police after he didn't show up the second morni ng. 

On November 2, 1996, a Pennsylvania forestry worker found 
Mal inoski's 1995 Nissan Sentra parked at a trail access point at 
Barbour Rock Overlook of the Pine Creek Gorge. There was a pair 
ofhiking boots lying on the floor of the car along with a box ofhalf · 
eaten snacks and water. Malinoski's cell phone was in a backpack 
on the seat, and there was a classical tape in the stereo. 

Malinoski's disappearance was immediately acted upon by 
Tioga County law enforcement. The county searched with helicop­
ters, canines, volunteers, and trained SAR teams. They found noth­
ing. SAR supervisors felt sure they would find his body below the 
overlook; they didn't find any evidence that Malinoski was outside 
his car. 

The commander ofthe Tioga County SAR team stated that this 
is the first time in their history the team didn 't fi nd the missing. He 
stated that they always find at least the body. 

Law enforcement people were interviewed for severa! articles 
I reviewed. It was a fifty-fifty split on whether Malinoski was still 
alive or dead in the woods. Some people felt that Michael went to 
San Francisco lo start his life again. Others felt he took a walk and 
never came back. The" last idea on what happened to Michael is 
that he was the victim of a violent e rime. He was a very meticulous 
person, and some things about his room and car didn't match with 
his personality. Others say this isn' t so. 1 don't think Michael took 
a hike, as his boots were found in his vehicle. 
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The.searc)1 for Michael Malinoski is registered as the biggest 
and most expensive search in the history ofTioga County. M ichael's 
credit catds and social security number ha ve not shown any activity, 
and his··son has not heard fron1 his dad. 

Case Summary: 
Th~ disappearance of Malinoski is very simi lar to the disappear­

ance of Nita Mayo on August 8, 2005 in an overlook turnout outside 
Sonora, Cali forn ia (Missing 411 - Western United States). The woman 
stopped and appeared to be tak ing photos and vanished. Her car was 
found locked in the parking lot of the turnout. Nita Mayo was never 
found . . 

Charles Beltz 
Missing· 617/05, Clear Creek State Park, Pennsylvan ia 
Age at pisappearance: 56 years 
5'10", 220 lbs 

There are varying stories as to the last Jocation that Charl es 
was seen. The most credible information indicates that Charles was 
in Spring Creek Township ata campsite at Clear Creek State Park, 
the')ocation where his 1992 Plymouth Caravan was located. Clear 
Creek Park is located in the north centra l portion of the state in the 
Allegheny National Forest. Dubois is the largest and closest city, 
approximately ten miles south ofthe park. 

Once it was determined that Charles was missing, law enforce­
ment officials claim that they searched for two weeks in a 200-m ile 
radius ofthe park without finding Charles. Charles is from Pitcairn , 
approximately 150 miles southwest of the park. 

Seltz disappeared approxi mately forty mil es south of Mott and 
West. · 

There are no other detail s on this case. 

Chapteí· Summary 
Pen nsylvania is the only state in North America where there 

are .large numbers of missing juveni les, twenty-eight of thirty-ni ne 
missing people in the state are under ten years old. From 1880 
through 1968, eighty-eight years, there are thirty-two missing 
people; twenty-eight of these people are juveniles ten years old or 



214 Missing 411- Eastern United States 

younger, an amazing statistic and coincidence! No juvenile (under 
ten) who nts the criteria in this book had been reported missing in 
Pennsylvan ia si nce 1957, why? 

lt would appear that sornething drastically changed on July 8. 
1968 whcn Karen Cooney disappeared. This was the turning 'poin~ 

when young people no longer went missing in the Keystone· St~te. 

lt wou ld also seem odd that immediately after Ms. Coo!1ey disap­
peared, there was not another missing person in the state for eight 
yea rs. 

lt 's important that you read all of the cases in this book like 
you are the investigator trying to salve a majar crime. Many ofthe 
di sappearances in this chapter have law enforcement alluding ·.to a 
possible kidnapping. Some directly state they believe ~he person 
was kidnapped/abducted. How can so many supposed kidnáppers 
be Jurking in woods and rural settings? 

The disappearances of Anna Thorpe in May of 1950 (two years), 
Ronald Rumbaugh in September of 1940 (two years), Ronald Collier 
in July of 1948 (twenty-three months), Emma Bowers in July of 
1953 (nve years) and lastly berry-picker, Stephen Ford in Aug.l!st of 
1880 (nine years) all occurred in a seventy-mile radius. Read these 
cases carefully and then look ata Google Map ofthe region. Bowers, 
Thorp, and Collier al! disappeared in a fi ve-year time spati while 
Ford happened in the 1880s. As l've stated throughout this book, 
missing people is nota new issue. It has been happening f<;>r hundreds 
of years. Whatever paradigm you have about missing ·people .. \vi ll 
probably start to change. 

, .· 
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West Virginia 

M issing People in West Virginia by Date 
Each case in West Virgi nia is a male except for Shirley 

Ramsburg and Shirley Sherman. 

N ame 
. Shirley Sherman 

Shirley An n Ramsburg 
Johnny McKinney 
*38 Year Gap 
Víctor Shoemaker 
Joseph Moore 

Shirley Sherm an 

Date Missing•Age 
04/ 18/54•3 
12/27/57•3 
03/ 17/58•5 

05/01/94•4 
03/ 11 /00·22 

Missing 04/ 18/54, 1:00 p.m., 29 miles n/o Franklin, West Virginia 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years 
. Shirley Sherman was with her parents visiting her grandparents 
m a rural area outside of Franklin, West Virginia. Jt was Easter 
afternoon when Shirley wandered away from the residence with­
~ut anyone immediately reali zing. An article in the April 21 edi­
llon of the Daily News described the initial event: "Her absence 
was detected when the family set off to look for ramps, a pungent 
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onion-li ke plant that grows wi ld in the aren." This is an interesting 
aspect of the case. Many children go missing when berries becollle 
ripe in an area oftheir residence; Shirley went missing when ramps 
came into season. 

A substantial search for Shirley included local law enforce­
ment, neighbors, friends, canines, and SAR personnel. Canines 
did attempt to track Shirley but could not locate her. Four hundred 
people participated in the SAR for Shirley. Forty-eight hours after 
Shirley went missing, and one and a half miles fron1 her grandpar­
ent 's residence, Shirley was found lying in Wi ll Run Creek, adjacent 
to an apple orchard. Doctors evaluated Shi rley and fou nd she had 
numerous cuts and bruises but was in good condition. · 

Shirley was found in an area previously searched, and law 
enforcement officers wanted to understand what happened with her. 
Shirley stated that she never heard any searchers and made no other 
statement. 

Time after time, SAR personnel find missing people in or near 
creeks in a sleepy or groggy state. 

Shirley Ann Ramsburg 
Missing 12/27/57, 5:00p.m., Charles Town, Wesl Virgin ia 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years 

Mr. and Mrs. Robert Ramsburg lived in a rural area ofCharles 
Town. On the afternoon of December 26, 1957, the winter weather 
was cold. Little Shirley Ann was playing in the fami ly's yard with 
her mongrel dog "Brownie." Shirley had been in the yard for approx­
imately one hour when her father went to check on her. Robert 
couldn't find the girl but did see Brownie running clown the moun­
tainside behind the family home. Brownie was alone, and Sh irley 
was not in sight. 

Robert ran clown lhe street lo lhe nearest neighbor, and lhe t wo 
men searched the nearby hillside. The Ramsburgs and nearby neigh­
bors did not have a phone; thus, authori lies were nol notified as the 
two men did not want to stop searching. The men searched through 
the night with torches and stil l could not find Shirley. It was at this 
point that the neighbor drove into town and got assistance from law 
en forcement officers. 
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Within hours after police were notified, over one hundred 
searchets were combing the hi ll side for Shirley. Searchers brought 
in bloodhounds that tracked the girl from her home yard lo lhe 
Shenan.doah River, indicating to sea rchers that she must have 
drowr1ed. The searchers used another bloodhound and that dog also 
tracked to the sarne spot in the ri ver and then walked severa! feet 
into th~ river and slopped, again, indicating the girl went into the 
river, one way or another. 

·. Almos! two days to the hour after Shirley disappeared, search­
ers were walking a path over two miles from lhe fami ly residence 
when they found Shi rley lying next toa tree. The gi rl was missing 
her shoes, coat, and socks, even though the temperature outside was 
very cold. The girl had scratches on her face and arms and was 
quiet:Shirley was transported to the hospital where doctors stated 
she was. suffering from exposure. SAR coordinators told the press 
that Shirley was found at a location where sea rchers had passed 
many times during the last two days. 

An a~ticle in the Dispatch dated December 30 stated, "By late 
lasl night she hadn't said a word, just cried and cried." 

Du.ring my years of reading SAR and missing person reports 
there have been many lhat indicated a canine trackcd a scent lo a 
river ai1d stopped . Many of the handlers ha ve taken the dogs reac­
tion tb ·mean that the missing drowned: 1 think th is action by the 
canine could be misinterpreted. Another logical explanation is that 
the mlssing person wtmt to the river and crossed, somehow to the 
other side. There have been too many instances where dogs tracked 
toa river or creek and the missing was found days later alive. 

Case.Summary: 
11 ~ould appear from the behavior of two different bloodhounds 

thal Sh irley Ann had traveled to the Shenandoah Ri ver and had 
eilhe(crossed or entered it. The noses of two blooclhounds, espe­
cially two tr:acking to the same location do not líe. How Shirl ey 
got into and across the river has only one answer: she was carried. 
Creeks and rivers seem to be a location that repeated ly is a center 
poi nt for many missi ng people. 
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It would also appea r from the path th at Brownie was seen taking 
home (down a mountain behi nd the house) that Shirley left walk.ing 
up a hillside, arare event for a young child. 

.John Wayne McKinney 
Nickname "Johnny" 
Missing 03/ 17/58, 3:00p.m., Gallipolis Fcrry, West Virgin ia 
Age at Disappearance: 5 years . . 

Paul and Elizabeth McKinney lived on a dairy farm adjacent to 
the Ohio River in fa r northern West Virginia near the Ohio Border. 
The farm had 1300 acres, hundreds of cattle, and beautifu l pastun\s. 
The farm was just four miles north ofthe Crown City Wi ldlife Ar~~· 

On March 17, 1958 in the afternoon hours, Johnny McKil}ney 
went outside to play with his two dogs. The fami ly had on ly'Qné 
dog up until just ten days before the disappearance when. a Col!ie 
appeared on the fa rm. The fam ily described the dog as "~earless," 
and nobody knew where it came from. Johnny loved playing with ' 
hi s canine friends and would often wander the nearby pastur.es to 
have fun . At 3:00 p.m. a fa mily member went outside to .look Jqr 
.Johnny, and he could n't be found . The inability to fi nd Johnny 'set 
in motion a six-day search that would rival any in West Virginia to 
th at date. . 

Jmmediately after Johnny went missing, both dogs also dÍsap­
peared, a strange coincidence. The collie returned after dark the ~ay 
of the disappearance, but the smaller dog, Spitz, didn't co~e home 
until4:00 a.m. the fol lowing morning. The first day that Johnny was 
missing, severa( hundred searchers combed the farm and adja~·ent 
woods for the boy. During th at first day of searching, over three 
inches of snow fell , hampering the search effort. By the fourth day 
of thc search. there were over \200 searchers and 300 cars párked 
at the fa rm. Every inch of the area was being combed, but nothing 
was found. 

The sixth day that Johnny was ni issing, a farmer th~ee miles 
from the McKinney property was walking in a remote area of 
his farm with his daughter. They were making their way slowly 
through a region they rarely walked when they came upon a small 
body clothed in a T-shirt, overal ls, and shirt. The body did noth~ve 
shoes, and the shoes were never found. Johnny McK inney had been 
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'found, found in an area that was not previously searched because 
· .· the search teams never thought he could have made it that far and 

over that many fences. The coroner ruled that Johnny died from 
· exposure probably the fi rst night he was missing . 

'In the middle of the search for Johnny Mcki nney, severa] theo­
ries' were floated by law enforcement. One of the most prominent 
thoughts was that Johnny was kidnapped. Maybe he was, and the 
.kidnapper kept the shoes as a trophy. The farm pastures in this area 
were huge, and anyone would understand that being in the woods 

·· . . would be disorienting, yet to find the way home, a person would just 
:· . cross the fi eld. John ny never did. 
' . 
. •' 

· ' 

Víctor Dewight Shoemaker, Jr. 
Nickname J. R . 
Missing 511 /94, Augusta, West Virginia 
Age at Disappearance: 5 years 
4', 40 lbs **Blande Ha ir 
Wearing Red Shirt 

The case of J. R. Shoemaker ranks 
in my top ten as one of the most strange 
and unusual disappearances 1 have ever 
researched. 

Augusta, West Virginia, is an 
unincorporated community located in 
the northeast corner of the state. lt is a 

·. very small and isolated community approximately forty miles west 
, ' of Martin sburg, Virginia and thirty miles east of the Hampshire 

county seat of Romney. According to the 2000 census, Augusta 
· . had a population of 4,728 with 8 churches, the Hampshire County 
. Fairgrounds, Augusta Motor Speedway, and the Short Mountain 

Wildl ife Management Area just south of the main portian of the 
.city. 

On M ay 1, 1994, Víctor and Nettie Shoemaker, a long with their 
sole t:hi ld, J. R., were at their grandfather's house south of Augusta 
near the Short Mountain Wildlife Area. Four times ayear the famil y 
gets together so that the cousins can play and the fa milies can recon­
nect. 1t was a Sunday when J. R. and bi s two cousins headed into the 
forest to play as they had dozens oftimes befare. They would play a 
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hunting game and walk the woods looking for wildli fe. After a few 
hours they would get ti red, and the three boys would make their way 
back to grandpa's house a11d eat. This day was going to be different. 

J. R. and his family made the drive from Leesburg, Virginia, 
while his two cousins were coming from Pennsylvania. The entire 
famil y was eager to see g randpa, Osear Wolford. He had lived on 
the property near the base of Short Mountain for many years and 
had accumulated a lot of old cars, construction materi al, old smaller 
homes, and a variety of stuff that 1 ittered the property. There was 
one neighbor in the area, but the long, winding, and steep road 
leading to the Wolford house kept outsiders away and the family 
isolated. 

On Sunday May 1, 1994, J. R. and his cousins made their way 
into the forest and toward Short Mountain. This was a state wildlife 
area and known for turkey hunting. It was a Sunday morning, and 
110 hunting is allowed on Sundays in West Virginia, but that didn't 
matter to the cousins because they were just "play" hu11ting. 

After a few hours in the woods, J. R. blurted out that he was 
hungry and hended back toward his grandpa's house. The other boys 
didn 't think much about it and didn't follow him. After approxi­
mately an hour, the other boys decided to go back and eat. When 
the boys arrived at grandpa's house, J. R. was 110t there. He never 
arrived. J. R.'s father immediately went outside and asked the boys 
to show him where they last saw J. R. After an i11iti al sea rch, a call 
was made to the police. l11side of two hours there were doze11s of 
people searching for the five-year-old. 

111 an unfortunate turn of events, a freezing rainstorm moved 
into the area of Augusta just hours after J. R. disappeared. The tem­
perature dropped to near freezing the night of the disappearance. 
The county sheri ff and state police were 011 the scene interviewing 
the cousins, parents, and relatives during that first night. 

The search for J. R. formally continued for five days. Up to 
350 people searched a two and a half-mile radius from the Wolford 
home, finding no evi~nce of J. R. Searchers used a heat-sensing 
FLI R-equipped helicopter, the Appalachian Search and. Rescue 
Team, local and regionallaw enforcement, and every volunteer they 
could muster. Nobody fou nd any ev idence of J. R. 
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On ·M ay '4, 1994 the Free Lance Star Ne1vspaper had the fol­
lowing account of what searchers found on May 3: "About 7:00p.m. 
they found a spot where they believe the boy mny have slept, sa id 
his adult cousin , Va leria Cooper. Three rocks were arranged in a 
tri:mgle, with a stick in the middle, three logs on the sides and dirt 
freshly di sturbed, Cooper sa id." lt 's interesti ng that police and SAR 
\\·orkers didn ' t state the find to the news but that a cousin tole! the 
papers ábout the rock formation and stick. The article didn 't state 
where the rack formation and sti ck were found other thnn it was in a 
search. location. I find it also interesting that the stick and rack for­
maiion was even ment ioned. Could it have possibly been an arrow 
indicating where the boy mny have been? 

The region of Short Mountain and the wildlife area would 
remind you of a pencil lying on the landscape if you looked at it 
from the ai r. The land around the mountai n has an clevation of2000 
feet, wl1ile th~ top of the long nnd th in moL.mtain rise to 2400 feet. 
The ai-e'a is very thick with heavy timber, and there is ample fresh 
water throughout the area. 

Five dnys after .l. R. disappeared a num ber of news crews were 
at the' Wolfor•d residence and attempted to intervie'vv family mem­
bers. The reports indicated that the fa mily looked exhausted and 
depressed. Law enforcement had stated that the two cousins were 
intervie\Ved ,severa! ti mes, and they did not believe any foul play 
occurred. In a very ocld twist to the law enforcement slatement, 
one news reporter asked one of the cousins what he bel ieved hap­
pened to J. R. The cousin stated, ··somebody hiding behind a tree 
got up and grabbed him." Wow, if there is one oun ce of truth to 
that statement how could law enforcement say there was no fo ul 
play involved? A more volatile quest ion is why d id law enforcement 
officers termí nate a search after only fi ve days if they didn' t believe 
fou l piay was involved, and why was the search area set nt only a 
two aÍ1d a half:.mi le rad ius? 

As· someone who has read thousands of nccounts of search and 
resrues, a five-day search for a little boy lost in the woods isn't a 
very long search. Again, maybe law enforcement offi cers knew more 
than they were releasing to the public-we don't know. Remember, 
the Wolford property is deep in the woods, isolated, and with thick 

·' . 
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vegetation surrounding the property. Who would be prow1ing the 
woods in the hopes that a young child would wander by? It doesn~t 
sound plausible. The statement that someone was hiding behin~.a 
tree and grabbed J. R. is still rattling around in my head. . . 

After the initiallaw enforcement search was terminated, W:est 
Virginia State Trooper C.J. Ellyson stated that he did noi. belieye 
that J. R. was the victim of a hunting accident, a question that had 
lingered at search headquarters. ' . ··. ·. · .. 

The disappearance of J. R. got worldwide attention and pr~~s. 
The informal search for the hoy continued for weeks through .y~l-
unteer assistance. 

On November 22, ·1994, Investigator Robert Cooper ~f .~he 
West Virginia S tate Bureau of Criminal ldentification (BCI) •.n~de 
a statement to the press saying that there was no sign of fo~l playjp 
the disappearance of J. R., but the state did ask the FBI to enter.~he · 
investigation for assistance. As 1 have stated before, the FBI .has· a 
formal policy that they do not assist on missing persons cases. Th~y 
have made this statement repeatedly to the press on m~ny other 
cases. Why join the J. R. case six months after the event? Wha~ ·*as 
it about this case that triggered their interest? · · :. 

On May 3, 1996, Sgt. ~avid Burkhart ofthe West Virginia.~~CI .. ' 
was again interviewed and asked to comment on the J. R. dtsap­
pearance. The sergeant stated,"lt's something that's cons~antly;~n. 
m y mind." · · .. :: ·. 

Let's recount what law enforcement has stated: this isp't a h~nt- : 
ing related accident where the hunter may have buried _the ·h?,dy . .'· 
Police do not feel that foul play is in volved, so there h~sn'~· b~en 
an abduction, kidnapping,. or murder. l then go back to one o~.~ny. 
original questions for law~ enforcement officers-why i~ ttw: .. ~·~¡ 
involved? lt would appear from all of the law enforcement. et.a~e­
ments the lone conclusion is that J. R. was still roaming t.he l~nd­
scape ~hen they called off the search, a hor.rible scenario: Lookin~· 
at an aerial view of the region where J. R. dtsappeared, he wou.~dn t. 
have had to walk an exorbitant distance to eventually walk. -~~0 ~ 
road. lfhe'd been on the mountain, the visual would have giveri him 
ample opportunity to pick a location, farmhouse, or ranc~an~·~alk 
to it. · ·. :. 
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The idea that J. R. got lost and died in the environment is not 
· plausible to me; there were too many roads and bornes in proxim­

.... · · ity to where he was playing. He ha d. been to grandpa's house many 
times, walked the woods with his cousins mapy times, and knew the 
landscape.' It's hard to fathom that a perpetrator was watching the 

. :.· boys, waiting for an opportunity, and took J. R., but 1 believe that 
· .: this is what happened, per bis cousin's statement. The portion ofthe 

statement "He got up" is particularly intriguing because it's hard to 
iti~agine someone sitting or kneeling behind a tree. The words "he 
got up" indicate he was on the ground or kneeling, an odd visual but 
something the cousin said that still resonates with me. 

. ·. ; To drag or carry a hoy a long distance, keep him quiet, orto 
· ·-': . · carry him that same distan ce requires significant strength and 

• · ~ e~durance, yet that is what this perpetrator must have done. I would 
..... hope that law enforcement contacted and searched every residence 
·, in a five-mile radius, notan improbable task when you look at the 

. op~nnes,s of th~ area. 
· There is one other case with vague similarities to Victor's cous­

. in's description of someone hiding behind a tree. The disappearance 
.. .: 9f· Jackie Copeland (5/14/50) in Pleasantville, Pennsylvania, and 

··· · . J~ckie's description of the incident does have similarities. When 
. ··. · · Jackie was found he stated that he saw someone peer at him from 
· · · ·. behind a tree and follow him into the woods. He described a ~'Great 

. . ~ ' . ,·. 

· ~ ~. ·:-:": ·:. Throbbi~g Giant." Refer to the Pennsylvania chapter for details on 
. • ~ · ·.: · .._: , the Copeland case. 
· · , ... · J. R. is one of a number ofboys who have disappeared wearing 
· : : ' · · a red. sh i rt. 

i .: 

• •• o ~·. 

, .... · 

•: ·. , . 
.. · .• 

; J. R.'s father made a statement to the press justas the last day 
of the formal search was concluding: "1 just don't understand why 
orhow.'~ 

.~ couldn't agree more, Mr. Shoemaker! 

Joseph Allen Moore 
Missing 3/11100, Charleston, West Virginia 
Age at Disappearance: 22 years 
.5'8~', 174 lbs 
. , Moore was last seen approximately eight miles northeast of 

· Charleston in an isolated area near 360 Mill Creek Road, about one 
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mil e south of State Highway 79. The location of this disappearance 
is also just one thousand yards from the El k River. This location is 
in the middle of heavy woods and is fairly desola te. 

The Kanawha County Sheriff is the lead investigative agency 
on the Moore case and has released few details. 

Chapter Sunimary 
The disappearances of Shirley Ramsburg (12/27/57 at 5:00 

p.m.) and Johnny McKinney (3/17/58 at 3:00 p.m.) occurred .three 
months apart and within two hours of each other. Geographtcally 
there is approximately 150 miles between disappearances. The 
Monongahela National Forest sits almost in the middle of the two 
Iocations. This is another one of the cases that repeatedly happens 
in this book where time and space of the disappearances cannot be 
ignored. ls there a common thread here? It would appear that many . 
of the children in this book disappear in close proximity to parks, 
rural habitat and lonely places with few people, an ideallocation for 
a predator to 1 urk. 
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Kent"~cky 

Debbie Greenhill is the only female missing from Kentucky 
~~eting the criteria in this book. lt's unus~al that everyone 

missing from Kentucky who fits the criteria ofthis book is between 
the ages of two and four. Ronnie Weitkamp disappeared in Indiana 
but is 'included in this chapter because the location ofhis disappear­
ance ís in close proximity to Kentucky. 

Débbie Greenhill disappeared on August 9, 1958 in Stamping 
Grou~d, Keritucky. Frank Downey disappeared August 16, 1999 in 
Olive ·Hill, Kentucky, approximately fifty miles east of Stamping 
Ground. Considering that the state of Kentucky is huge, having the 
last twa··.chi·ldren missing in the state disappear within fifty miles 
of each other, both in the month of August, is an odd coincidence. 
It's eveti' more unusual that three ofthe four missing people in this 
chapter disappeared in August. 

Name·~·· . 
Eddie J>'rigley 
Ronnie. ~eitKamp 
Debbj~ Anrt'Greenhill 
**41-y~ar gap 
Fran~ Downey 

Eddi~ P.rigley 

Date Missing•Age 
08/22/1874•3 
10/11155•3. 
08/09/58•2 

08/16/99•4 

Missirtg 08/22/1874, 6:00 p.m., Crothersville, Indiana 
Age átt>isappearance: 3 years 

Ori.A.ugust 22, 1874 at approximately 6:00p.m., Eddie Prigley 
was left inside his residence adjacent to the family cornfield. Mrs. 
Prigley '·~ntered the field for a few minutes and then returned to find 
Eddie wás m.issing. An immediate caJI went:into the area for volun­
teérs tQ·. search for the hoy . 

: Dtidng the first night that Eddie was missing a severe storm hit 
the ar~a 'ihat caused the river adjacent to the farm (Muscattatack) 
to rise·'·several feet, flooding the adjacent fields. When Eddie could 
not·b~foÍ.md the next day, Mrs. Prigley attempted to commit suicide 
by drowning herself in the river. A neighbor saved her Iife. Mrs. 
PrigleS~:~as extremely depressed over her son disappearing. 
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Seventy-six hours after Eddie disappeared, a hoy named Isa~c. 
Warner was on the opposite si de of the river from the Prigley fa~~' 
hauling stones. The hoy was four miles from the Prigley's honie 
when he heard a moaning sound and walked toward it to find Eddie. 
lying on his back. An August 30, 1874 article in theNew York T(m~s 
had the following: "lts face was turned up and presented a pale ~~~ 
ghastly appearance. Warner went up to the poor little thing a?d 
took it in its arms. It moaned piteously and it was nearly dead fr~m 
fatigue, hunger, and exposure." When Eddie was found, t~e r~~er 

1 

had gone back into its banks and was able to be crossed. Eddte ev~n: 
tually recovered from his poor health. . ·; 

The Iast few paragraphs in the Times article have the following:" 
It appears al so that the search for the child was made on the si de ,of 
the river on which the Prigleys' house is located, no one dreamü1g 
that the boy had crossed over in the bottoms on the other side oft~e 
river." No, I do not believe that little Eddie had the ability to crQss 
the river, even ifthe water was low. It was a river, nota creek. Ed~ie 
also was too young to navigate in a boat-that idea would be ri~icu~ 
lous. We will probably never know how Eddie crossed the river .. o~ 
how he survived three days. ' . · ... 

As I've stated in previous cases, when children disapp~ar t~~y 
often cross a creek or river, somehow and probably with t?e ai.a ~f 
someone. 

• l. 

Ronnie Weitkamp 
Missing 10/11/55, Noon; Crane Depot, Indiana .. ·· · 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years · · · ...... 

The Weitkamp case i~ included in Kentucky because,·h~·W~~t 
missing on nearly the same longitudinal lin.e as Greenhtll. a.~d 
Downey. The disappearances occurred approxtmately one h~~1~ed 
miles from ea eh other. . ·. :·· 1 

Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence Weitkamp lived on the Crahe N~~al 
Depot in Crane, Indiana. ~awrence was a civilian inspector at ·~he .. 
depot, and they had lived in a three-~edroom hom~ on the ba.se r~r 
eight years. The family had three chtldren. Crane ts surround.e.~!·J>y. 
heavy woods and swamps and sits within one mil e of Greert~~od . 

La k e. 

.. 
·.· 

,t.· 
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On October 11, 1955 three-year-old Ronnie was playing in the 
·'' yard of a neighbor across the street from his residen ce. At approxi­

m~tely noon Ronnie wandered into the thickets behind the borne 
:. · without saying anything. Ronnie's four-year-old friend (Debbie 

Gallagher) told her mother of Ronnie leaving the yard, and a search 
. . was started immediately. 

1 

• Because Ronnie and his family lived on Navy property, the 
Navy h~d the right to do many things that could never happen in 
a normal city. The Navy locked down the entire base, and it gath­
ered thousands to assist in the search. Airplanes, helicopters, and 
masses of military personnel all assisted in the search for Ronnie. 
The search went on for weeks without searchers finding any clue of 

1 
where the hoy may be. 

On October 14, 1955 after three days of a massive search, the 
Hera/d Examiner ran a story that stated the following: 4'Police are 
convinced now that brown-eyed Ronnie Weitkamp was abducted at 
play." Later the article · adds: "Commander Richard Turner, Depot 

· ·: · . : Executive Officer said: 'We are convinced the hoy didn't m ove away 
·. · · underhis own power. He must have had sorne assistance, and that of 

~ .. course is kidnapping."' 
. . · An October 15 article in the Spokesman Review stated that the 
·: ·. · con1t,lander had ordered four hundred bornes on the base searched 
. .'· · . · and to leave no stone unturned. This could never happen in a city, 

·. ·.· ;lbutbecause the Navy owned the homes and the land, every borne on 
: .· the base was searched. Nothing was found. 

. · Searchers encompassed many problems during the weeks 
•1 " · •· 1 o,f searching. The grounds around the base are swampy and wet. 

Gréenwood Lake is located one mile north ofthe depot. In total, a 
· tent.square-mile area was covered multiple times by searchers with­

, · ·: · .~out the hoy being found. The statement by the commander believing 
1 that Ronnie was abducted was partially attributed to the extremely 
. rough thickets that Ronnie would have to travel to get out ofthe area . .. : : ·· .... 

. . . . ·. Nobody believed he could have removed himself from the area. 
Fifty-four days after Ronnie disappeared, three boys play-

·. ,: i.ng in the weeds one-half mile off of the base and one anda half 
. :·· ... · · miles from Ronnie's residence found the boy's body. Ronnie's 

·~ : .. ~. ·:;: b~dy was severely decomposed and one strikingly strange twist. 

··:· . . , 
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Ronnie's overalls were removed from his body and sat six feet 
away. This despite the fact he disappeared on a cold October 
afternoon. · 

The coroner investigated the incident and examined Ronnie's 
body. It was reported that Ronnie had scratches on his legs, mean­
ing he had walked or was carried through the thickets without his 
overalls. The coroner made a determination that Ronnie died of 
exposure. 

Case Summary: 
You will find no other case in this book where there were more 

searchers, more organization, and more controlled con~ainment 
than the Ronnie Weitkamp case. 

Remember, the base commander and police officials were abso­
lutely adamant that Ronnie could not have made his way oÜtside 
the search perimeter without aid. Officials stated to the press that 

1 

they were sure that the hoy was kidnapped. The FBI was brought 
into this case near the beginning. The newspaper articles stated that • 
officials believed that Ronnie took his own overalls off. Why would 
a boy who, according to the coroner died of exposure, take his over­
alls off? Ifthe officials were correct that Ronnie was abducted, who 
did it? If Ronnie had taken the overalls off, this meant he walked 
through the thickets carrying the overalls and getting his legs cut 
and scratched and then laid the pants next to him and laid down and 
died. This scenario defies logic. 

This is another in a long line of cases where the FBI has the data 
and has probably a far better understanding ofthe phenomenon then . 

1 1 

anyone, and they don't share. 

Debbie Ann Greenhill 
Missing 8/9/58, 8:00p.m., Olive Hill, Kentucky 
Age at Disappearance: 2 years 

S aturda y August 9, 1958 was a huge da y in the Iife of the fam­
ily of Mr. ·and Mrs. Earl Greenhill. The family was moving imo 
its new residence one thousand feet from a beautiful fifty-four-acre 
reservoir on the outskirts ofOlive Hill, Kentucky. The borne sat two · 
miles down a rut-filled dirt road and in the mountains alongside the 
city's water supply for Olive Hill. 
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The. family had a long Saturday moving into its new rural home. 
Another· family was already living in the home, and that family 
would stay in the home with them a few days during the transition. 
While·the move was taking place, Debbie Ann was playing on the 
side ofthe house alone. Mrs. Greenhillleft D~bbie Ann alone at 7:45 
p.m. r~r, t~enty minutes. When she returned, she coul~ not find her 
dáught~r: A search of the area was made by everyone 1? the ho~se, 
and th~y could not find the girl. Residents were screammg for ltttle 
Debbi~Ann, but they did not receive a response. One member ofthe 
house talled the local police who also called the sheriff's depart-
ment ·who in turn called the state police. · 

· Aftér' the full second da y of searching, law enforcement officials 
felt.th~t Debbie Ann must have been kidnapped because she wasn't 
inside. :t1w cohfines of the search area that was covered. Searchers 
didn'f'liave an easy. task; there were two violent rainstorms imme­
dia~ely .:~fter De:hbie Ann disappeared. The storms greatly hampered 

' · · search~rs ~ efforts. 
Th·e area.ofthe search was composed ofrugged mountains with 

very thJc'k berry bushes, trees, and brush. The home sits i? a St~all 
valleftwo miles outside of town and surrol:lnded by rolhng htlls. 
The hi'Üs· and the surrounding area were dotted with ari occasional 
home/but the population in that area was sparse. 

. ·Ort ,the third day ofthe search, locallaw. enforcement was ada­
rrtant ·that Debbie Ann had been kidnapped. They were convinced 
that t~ .girl was not in the hills near her home. Local law enforce­
ment O:aÜeo the FBI for assistance. On August 12, 1958, the Tri City 
HeraTa'had the following paragraph: ~~special Agent Charles Weeks 
said in. Louisville that FBI Agents have no evidence that Debbie 
was kÍq~apped. But he said four agents would offer FBI facilities to 
hetp ip .. the search." This was an interesting aspect to the search. The 
FBI doe'sn't get involved with searches for missing people, yet they 
are so.mewhat assisting. lt was an interesting twist. Other articles 
confitmed that the FBI had four agents on the scene the entire time 
of the search, a very large number considering the agency wasn't 
inve~iigatitig the situation. 

ti~ring ~his point in the search, the local reservoir was d.ragged, 
but searchers found nothing. Bloodhounds were brought tn from 
Lexington, and they failed to pickup the scent. 

·. 
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On August 13, one da y after the majority of searchers ha.d left,.a 
National Guard searcher working approximately three-fourths. ofo a 
mile from Debbie's residence heard a small girl crying. T~e ~ea~c~­
ers followed the sounds and found Debbie Ann Greenhtll cr~m.g. 
She was found 150 feet up from the reservoir with a berry-sta~n~d 
fa ce sitting on the ground. S he was carried down to the water .and 
taken by boat to a waiting ambuhmce. . . . · · ·. : 

Debbie Ann was examined by a p~dtatnctan who gave thel91-
lowing statement to the Park City News on August 13, 19~8: 9r. 
William Schnitzker, Ashland Pediatrician said she .[D~bbte .A:~n] 
must have lived on berries, which grow thick and wtld •.n the ~a. 
There was little evidence ofmalnutrition, although Debb1e wa~·v~ry 
hungry." Debbie Ann had been missing for ni~ety hours; wtthout 
food or water, and the doctor stated she was m remarkable .~·?n­
dition-how? The doctor also stated that Debbie had lots of c~ts 
and abrasions. An article in the August 14, 1958 Charleston. Gaz~tle 
stated, "The child was naked, her blonde curls matted. ~nd · b~dy 
scratched, bruised and insect bitten but she was declared m req¡~~k-
ably good condition." . : ... · _ 

Debbie had moved into her new res1dence the day she dts~p 
peared, how did she know the berries were eatable? · · · 

Case Summary: ~ . 
The Debbie Ann Greenhill case is like many, many ·o~he.rs. •? 

this book. Law enforcement officials strongly believe the vtcttm. ts 
kidnapped, yet he or she is later found in ~n area that ~ad. bee~ 
previously searched. Is Iaw enforcement so mco~petent that t~etr 
assumptions are that wrong? 1 don't want to thmk so. T~ere. ·.~re 
so many consistencies in the stories th~t t~ey cannot be tgn~r.ed. 
As with many other children who go mtssmg and are later ~ou~d, 
Debbie Ann was found missing clothing and had scrat~h:s over .~er 
body. Berries seem to be involved in many of these mtssmg P.e~~on 

cases. 

Frank Downey S c. oqhty, 
Missing 8/16/99, 8:30 p.m., Stamping Ground, cott 

Kentucky 
Age at Disappearance: 4 years 
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The Downeys 1 ived in an extremely rural section of Scott 
County, Kentucky, north of the small town of Stamping Ground·. 
It's an area of rolling hi11s, very thick woods, and few people or 
residen ces. 

1t was approximately 8:30p.m. on August 16, 1999 when Mrs. 
· · Frank Downey was home with her four-year-old blonde-haired son, 

Frank. Near 8:30p.m., somehow, Frank got the door open, and he 
and his two German shephard dogs wandered outside . .1t was a 
highly un usual act for the little hoy, especially sin~e it was nearly 
dark. Mrs. Downey immediately started to search for the boy and 
then cal led her husband who was at work. The husband carne borne, 
and law enforcement was called. 

Scott County Fire Chief Billy Willhoite responded and was one 
ofthe authorities in charge ofthe search. A Lexington Hera/d article 
dated August 18, 1999 stated the following: "Rescuers chose the 
one-mile radius distance, Willhoite said, because that's how far a 
hoy Frank's age should be able to travel." Searchers focused their 

· . efforts inside the one-mile perimeter. 
· At .approximately 8:30a.m. the morning following Frank's dis­
appearance, there was a major break in the case. A farmer was tend­
ing his grape vines when he thought he heard a boy's voice. The 
farmer walked a few hundred yards and found Frank Downey and 
his two dogs. An August 19, 1999 article in the Harlan Daily stated, 
"Strong [farmer] said he had never seen the hoy before. Strong's 

. , farm .is about six miles from the boy's home by road, or about three 
miles if going straight through the woods, Scott County Sheriff 
Bobby Hammons said." 

How did Frank Downey get at least three miles from his home 
and three times the distance that search professionals believed he 
could travel? 

Frank was checked by a doctor and found to have severe. 
scratches. He was not wearing shoes when found, and bis feet were 
scr~tched. 

It's an interesting coinciden ce that Debbie Ann Greenhi11 disap-
.. -. • • ó peared August 9, and Frank went missing August 16, ifyou believe 

.~. >. . .. . . · in coincidences. It just so happens to be the approximate date that 
- berries become ripe in this area ofthe country. 
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New England Missing People 

For purposes ofthis book, New England includes the states ofNew 
Hampshire, New York, Delaware, Maine, Massachusetts, and · 

Connecticut. Missing people in these areas fall into specific clusters , 
that are easily identified, thus the grouping. 

There are two distinct groups ofmissing people in Maine. There 
is a group in the northwest section ofthe state and another group in 
the south. The northern group includes a case a long the same latitu­
dinal lines of Halifax, Nova Scotia. 1 have also included two cases 
just across the western border of Maine and into Quebec. The point 
of incJuding cases in Canada is to show that the issues surrounding ·· 
missing people do not stop at our border. The facts surrounding ali 
ofthe cases are quite similar. 

The group in southern Maine also includes Patrie McCarthy, ' 
who di sappeared from a location close to Maine in New Hampshire. · 

Look at the dates of the missing people closely and you will 
notice that there are clusters. First, there is March, 1934-July, 1934 
then October, 1947-June, 1950 and July, 1956 followed by June, 
1971 , September, 1975 then Ju ly, 1983, and Ju ly-August 1986. 
1 don't believe these groupings are random occurrences as the.y 
appear at other locations across North America . 

The northeast sector ofthe United States has more missing chil­
dren under very similar circumstances than any other location in the 
continent. Read carefully the sections on Bobby Connor and Claire 
Benson. They went missing eighty miles and nine days apart. Both 
children were exactly twenty-one months old when they disappeared. 
Common sense and my law enforcement background indicate these 
cases have to be related. l don' t believe in coincidence. 

New England Missing People by Date 

N ame 
Horace Marvin, Jr. 
Elsie M. Davis 
Edward Gately 
David Brown 

Date Missing•Age•Sex 
• 5/411907•4•M 

07/30/11•24•F 
1 0/27/17•2•M 
l i/ 18/22•5J•M 

' . 
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Mertley, John:;on ll /18/22•24•M 
Kenneth·Swanson 08/24/30•2•M 
.. c larénce Clark I0/ 17/32*62•M 
Ald~n Joh nson 03/27/34•4•M 
Bobby Conn6r 07/ 13/34•21 M OS• M 
Claire Benser\ 07/24/34•21 MOS•F 
Louis Dunton 10/07/47•3•M 
Michaei Fontaine 05/30/49•6•M 
Nicole Renaud 06/03/50•3•F 
••Gary .Bai ley 07/ 17/54•3•M 
Diane Abbott 07/06/56•2•F 
B~enda Jean Doud 07/06/58•5•F 
Douglas C.'. Chapman 06/02/7 1•3•M 
Dougl,ass Legg 07/ 10/71 •8•M 
Kurt R. Newton 09/01/75•4•M . ' 
Andrew Warburton 07/01 /86•9•M 
Patrie McCarthy 1 0/13/03•10•M 

uOetails on the following di sappearances can be found in the chap­
rers ne.xt to the indi vidual's names. 
Clarence Clark: Farmers 
Gary ~ailey,: Berry Pickers 

Horace Mar'vjn, Jr. 
Missing 3/4/1907, Kittshammock, Delaware 
Age at pisappearance: 4 years 

Thi.s is pt~obably one ofthe highest profi le missing persons cases 
ever ii1 ~he United States in the early 1900s. Dr. Marvin had rccently 
moved his family from Jowa to Delaware. Shortly after they arri ved, 
little Horace Marvin disappeared from the yard at the farm. There 
were few initial details on the case, and many thoughts of kidnap­
ping and other bi zarre theories proli ferated at the beginn ing of the 
investigation. From the first day the boy went missing, the search 
in~ta ntly became massive. There were searchers carryi ng torches 
on the-pi·operty every night for over one week. lt was a twenty-four­
hour effort. 
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Dr. Marvin was raising wheat on his farm. After days ofsearch~ .. 
ing for Horace without having success, a decision was made to.bui:_n· 
the fields in an attempt to locate the boy. When the search was twQ 
weeks old, local authorities became frustrated and wanted to ter~. 
minate search operations. Dr. Marvin got the governor an~ local 
federal authorities to intervene. The U.S. Secret Service actually 
got involved in the case along with other law enforcement juris~ 
dictions. Authorities were so convinced that Horace Marvin was 
taken against his will, there were headlines stating the hoy .U'as ~¡~~ 
napped. The doctor stopped working for months and conc~ntrated 
exclusively on search efforts. Every inch of the farro was examined. 
in minute detail, with no evidence found. . .. 

Dr. Marvin hired Pinkerton Detectives to interview ranch 
hands, locals, and even law enforcement personnel. No leads devel­
oped. Local law enforcement officers sent detectives to Iowa. ~o 
research the. family history to ensure the kidnapping wasn't a ~a~-
ily issue-it wasn 't. . · 

Exactly two months after _Horace Marvin, Jr. disappear~~' 
a local hunter was crossing the Marvin farm and was wal~i~g . 
tluough a hog when he saw a small bulge. The hunter went to ~~e 
bundle on the ground and found the decomposing body of Hor~ce 
Marvin, Jr. lt would be fair to say that everyone involved in· the 
search was shocked at the discovery. The exact área that the body 
was found had heen searched and the are a combed dozens .of ti11_1es, 
with searchers never finding the body. The coroner had an inq1:1~st. 

. There were no broken bones on the hoy, but the coroner ·a}so 
stated that the body showed over forty hours of privation. This 
meant that the hoy was alive for at least forty hours after he. w~nt 
missing, but this doesn't make sense. lt also didn't make· se~~~-·to 
searchers that Horace would lie down to die in that spot. An art.icle 
in The Telegraph on May 6, 1907 stated the following: · 

To hove reached the spot where the body was found the boy.inust 
have walked across frozen and snow-covered fie/ds in the face of 
a driving wind and then climbed two high embankments besides 

crawling through a barbed wire fence. 

'·. 

' .. · 
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The official cause of death for Horace Marvin, Jr. was listed as 
: "e~haustion." There was no uniform acceptance of any theory about 
what happened in this incident. lt doesn't make sense that Horace 
~ould leave the confines of bis farmyard and head into atrocious 

. winter weather and die in the bogs. lt also makes no sense that the 
· · · · ~ody wasn't located when searchers were scouring the area, yet it 

appears months later. 

'·. 
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Elsie M. Davis 
Missing 7/30/1911, Noon, Howe Hill, Maine 
Age at Disappearance: 24 years 

: 5'6", 1351bs 
· Elsie was a beautiful, young organist at the church in Bethel 
~aine. On Sunday July 30, 1911, Elsie attended and played at ser~ 

. · VJces and then went to her home in Howe Hill. Sometime around 
.. n9on Elsie vanished. Elsie's parents looked for the young woman 

and couldJft find a trace. lt was generaJJy felt that she must have 
wandered off into the woods behind her house. Because of the par­
ents' concern that Elsie may be lost, a search was initiated. 

· A volunteer group found Elsie's comb and severa] footprints in 
: the hills behind her home. Over eight hu~dred people volunteered in 

the search for Elsie, hut no significant progress was being made after 
the .initial ~nd. At the end of the third day of searching, a Portland, 
Mame, clatrvoyant hand wrote a note indicating where Elsie was 
going to be found. She stated that she would be in a tree, deep in the 
woo~s, and that searchers needed to look up to find her. 

· Late in the afternoon.on the fifth day ofthe search, volunteers 
combed an area almost three miles into very rugged and thick 
woods. The group found a number ofElsie's personal items (hosiery, 

· coat and shoes) scattered on the ground. The search continued fur­
ther into the woods until they heard a stick break. The searchers 
continlied deeper into the woods and under a large pine tree they 
thought they heard something above them. Twenty feet up into the 
tree searchers saw a scantily clothed Elsie Davis. 
. Searchers called to Elsie, hut she did not answer. Searchers made 
their way into the tree and found the woman unable to speak and 
seemed to be quite confused. They were able to bring the woman to 
the ground, and her father eventually made it to a point where they 
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understood each other. S he didn 't say anything to her father but did 
lay her head on his shoulder. 

An article in the August 2, 1911 Lewiston Daily explained what 
happened when Elsie got to her home: 

At her home tonight where she had been put to bed immediately 
after she arrived, Miss Davis was questioned briejly regarding her 
movements. S he seemed able lo re cal/ only a little. In fact her meln­
ory appeared to have lapsed shortly after she reached the woods 
Sunday until she was discovered in the tree today. Miss Davis said 
she remembered leaving the church Sunday morning. 

The Syracuse Morning Herald ran a story on August 6, 1911 
explaining the condition that Elsie was found in by doctors: 
"Miss Elsie Davis will probably recover, although slowly from · 
the remarkable fever and delirium of which she has been a vic­
tim." Again, a missing person is found with a fever and various 
other symptoms that match many others. In an interesting twist, 
this same article describes searchers finding "the bed of opine 
boughs." How would El si e have known to comfort herself in that 
manner? 

Through all of the questioning, investigators were never able. 
to determine how Miss Davis lived for the five days in the woods. 

Case. Summary: 
Many of the children you will read about in this book are fóund 

after being reported missing and are too young to speak or have a 
disability and are unable to speak. Sorne children who are found are 
reported to be in a state of confusion or choose not to speak. The 
Davis case exemplifies the condition that is found in very small chil­
dren when they are missing. The people seem to lose their memory 
at the point they go missing and then recover once in the presence 
of people. It's almost as though the missing are under sorne type of 
spell that eliminates memory and the ability to speak. If searchers 
had not specifically been looking up in the tree, it would appear that 
Elsie would not have been able to call to them because she could 
not speak. Elsie's case has every element that we have seen in many 
other cases: loss of clothing, inability to remember what happened 

. . ~ 
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to them,. disappearance from a rural area, knowledge of the area 
in whic~ they disappeared, fever,and found in a state of confusion 
about what had just happened. 

Psychics in the past have offered assistance to searchers and 
specifl.eally )lave told them to Iook in trees for Iost eh ildren. See the 
Gr~at"Smoky Mountains section. · 

Edwar~ .. Gaiety 
Missin8 10/27/17, 10:30 a.m., Brighton, Massachusetts 
Age atD.isappearance: 2 years 

O.n .October 17, 1917 there were two children that comprised 
the Ga~.ely family. Edward was two years old, and the family hada 
new ba~y who was still not walking. At 10:30 a.m., Mrs. Gately put 
Edward .in th'e backyard with his apple and told him to stay on the 
step while she took care of the younger one in the house. Edward 
was w~aring a Iarge overcoat, diaper gators, pants, and shoes that 
were tightly tied on his feet. 

Mr.s:.Gately checked on Edward just minutes after she put him 
in her rural ·backyard and found that he had somehow disappeared. 
She im'r)lediately started to yell for the hoy, but received no answer. 
She cai.Ied the police, and a search soon started. 

Th~· Gah~Iy residence was within four blocks of Brighton High 
School. ·and large quarry that contained water. There was also a 
la~e ~~~ndqned and vacant lot near their borne that was thoroughly 
searched early in the SAR process. The article in the Boston Globe 
stated .. that the area around the quarry and vacant lot could Iook like 
a wild.erness area in a child's mind. 

A~·the ~ight and search proceeded on, a thunderstorm hit the 
area at :approximately midnight, wiping out all tracks of the child. 
The SE:~~·ch was getting desperate, and more poli ce were .brought to 
the res.idence in the early morning hours. At 6:30a.m., Sergeant M. 
J. Muldoon was looking through the outskirts of the vacant Iot near 
the quárry and found the child calling, .. mama." The Oct~ber 29 
article !~ the Boston Globe stated, 

Sergec.i.~~ M~ldoon hllstened to a c/ump upon the j(wm of Tedc~y 
(Edward) stark naked and blue from exposure to the elements. 
Clqse:by'the little form was a pi/e ofbaby c/othing-overcoat, hat, 
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undershirt, underwear and drawers, pair of overal/s, shoes; .-.·bnd' 
stockings drenched ji·om the heavy thunderstorm show~r ivl~~~h 
broke shortly before midnight. · . • >·. 

·! .. 

The article also stated that the child was delirious an~ ta~en--to_ 
the hospital for a two-day.stáy. . . ·~·.· · 

Edward (a.k.a. Teddy) and his clothes were taken to hts pa.r.~?ts! 
The parents saw the pile of clothes and adamantly ~tated t~at ~liere 
was no way that he could dress himself or remove hts clo~~mg.:·The 
mother found the T-shirt inside out and the shoes pulled offthe-~eet. 

The Gatelys demanded án investigation ofthe incident hec~use · 
they felt that Edward had·been forcibly abducted. The lot whe~~- he 
was found was thoroughly searched the night before he wa.s fo~~d, 
and then he was found exactly where searchers had already .~een 

lookirig. -· · · d 
It's apparent from this case that someone took Tedd~, 111~ve 

him stripped him ofhis clothes~ and then gently placed l;nm. ~nder 
the ~over of bushes. There was never a mention of molestatio~, so 
the question is why were his clothes removed? 

David Brown, Age at Disappearance: 51 years · . 
Mertley Johnson, Age at Disappearance: 24 years 
Missing: 11/18/22, Big Bog Dam, Maine . . 

One of the most dang~rous jobs in any law enforce~ent c~~sst­
fication is that of a game warden. Wardens are commonly con~ront­
ing people with legally loaded firearms in tl~e middle of now~ere, 
and many times the law enforcement officer ts alone. . .... 

There are numerous incidents in which wardens are conf~o.ntmg 
people who legally cannot possess fireatms because they a~~,~on­
victed criminals yet don't believe they will ev~r see some~~e t~ th~ 
middle of the woods. Other times people are tllegally takmg game 
and never believe a law enforcement officer will ~ate~ _the.tr1. In 
almost any instance in which a warden confro~ts an tn~tvt~u~t, the 
warden does not have back up for tens ofmiles m any dtrectt~n, and 
sometimes the next law enforcement officer. is over an_hou~.aw.ay . ., 

The biggest news in the northeastern U~Jted States tn1922~ 192J 
was the case oftwo Maine wardens who dtsappeared on.N~vember 
18, 1922. The wardens (Brown and Johnson) h~d been b~tefed .. ~bout 

. ,· 
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an ongoing case of beavers disappearing. Commissioner Willis 
Parsons of the Maine wildlife department felt that Canadians were 
illega11y crossing the border and taking the beaver, and he wanted 
the violations to stop. lt is unclear from all .articles 1 've read why 
Parsons felt Canadians were doing this, but it is clear that beavers 
were disappearing. 

Parsons sent two of the best wardens in the state of Maine to 
camp in an area near Big Bog Dam sixty miles north of Kineo 
· Station. David Brown and Mertley Johnson were hand picked by the 
·chlefGame Warden from Maine to work the beaver incident. Both 
men were known to be extreme! y tough, very safe and dependable, 
.and knew the outdoors. Several people stated that the men knew 
never to walk on ice when it was melting. They would never unnec­
essarily risk or put themselves in a dangerous situation. They were 
true professionals. 

The plan was to put several wardens into the area of Big Bog 
· .' Dam during the winter months on a surveillance assignment to catch 

. the culprits. Brown and Johnson went into the area November 13 and 
were last seen at Desroches Half-Way Camp on November 14; both 
were to be out by November 18. When the wardens didn't appear 
back at the office, law enforcement teams went into the area to search. 

Commissioner Parsons made several statements to the press 
that he felt that both wardens had met with death at t.he hands of 
Canadian poachers. He enlisted the assistance from detectives in 
Quebec and their own warden force. Parsons also stationed six 
teams ofthree wardens each into the Big Bog Dam area inthe inid­
dle ofwinter to help search for the bodies and to catch poachers. 

Wardens investigating the disappearance ofBrown and Johnson 
were able to find and interview people who stated that they saw the 
wardens enter the area ofthe supposed poaching. After the wardens 
entered, witnesses stated they heard severa) shots in rapid succes­
sion. The failure ofthe wardens to arrive back at the location oftheir 
meeting on November 18, coupled with the witness's statements of 
hearing several shots, bolstered Parsons's belief that the wardens 
were shot and killed by poachers. 

The six teams that Parsons placed at the dam searched daily for 
Johnson and Brown. They did not find the bodies, and they never 
saw any poachers. 
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After the spring thaw, on May 2, 1923, wardens were patrol­
ling the area of Big Bog Dam and were advised by witnesses that 
they thought they observed a body stuck in the spi llway. Wardens 
investigated the reported sighti ng and fou nd the body of Mertley 
Johnson. Johnson was transported to Moosehead Lake and later to 
state medica! examiners. A May 4, 1923 article in the Bidde.ford 
Journal stated, "Commissioner Parsons advised that it [the body) 
was in an excellent state of preservation. No comment was made on 
the cause of death." The very next da y another report was forwarded 
to wardens that someone thought they saw a body on the west 
branch of the Kennebec River. Wardens responded and found the · 
body of David Brown, approximately one mi le below the Big Bog 
Dam location where Johnson's body was found. The initial exam i­
nation of both bod ies did not disclose any sign of bullet wounds. 

8oth wardens' bodies were transported to the Somerset County 
Medica! Examiners office where doctors Sawyer and Stinchfield 
conducted their exams. A May 5, 1923 article in the Bosron Dai~r 
Globe stated: 

/t seems likely that both wardens were drowned in Aboconel Bog 
last November when proceeding norlh lo 1he Canadian Boundary 
country lo searchfor Canadian beaverpoachers. The bodies will be 
broughtto Greenville tomoJTOIV for burial. 

A joint decision made by two medica! examiners determined 
that both wardens died from drowning. This decision caught many 
of their peers completely off guard and quite surpri sed. Brown was 
one of the most cautious and experienced lawmen in Mai ne and 
knew the dangers of icy water; the idea that he died by falling into 
the river or lake had few be! ievers. 

No poachers were ever found or prosecuted in relation to th is 
inciden t. 

Case Summary: 
The wording in the paragraph above is very tell ing. " lt seems 

li kely" aren't the most affi rming words a physician can use to 
describe the cause of death oftwo seasoned wardens. 1 read articles 
that specifically stated that these two men were very safety conscious 
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and wotild. never walk on thin ice; they wou ld not risk themselves 
unnecessarily. ·Many questions have never been answered in rela­
tion to the death of these two fi ne lawmen. 

Wha_t did Johnson and Brown confront when they went into the 
woods tliat cat1sed them to fire thei r weapons in rapid succession? 
lfthey .~ere alive immediately after that event, why wouldn't they 
have asked for more assistance and called for backup? 1 can almost 
guarantee that if lawmen had confi·onted somethi ng that caused 
both to tlre in rapid succession, they would have lert, reponed the 
incident; and asked for assistance. 

8oth bodies were fou nd within a mi le and almost inside of 
twenty-fo~r hours of each other. Whatever happened to each man 
probably .. happened simultaneously. 1 believe that it 's telli ng that 
eighteeen wardens ente red the Big Bog area looking for poachers and 
for six 1n~nths nothing was found and nothing was seen. Why didn't 
the wardens find the bodies of Johnson and Brown while they were 
in that specifi"c area look ing for the bodies and for poachers? While 
it's possible that both bodies were preserved because of the freezi ng 
river conditions, it doesn't seem probable that others wouldn't fi nd 
the botlies unti l May, considering the number ofwardens blanketing 
the area, or at least fi nding the canoe they were supposedly in. This 
case mimics many others in this book. Searchers are in the area where 
people drsappear yet cannot fi nd the victim. Months, days, or hours 
:~fter the:incident, the victim is found in the exact area they originally 
disappeared. 

All ofthe articles specifically stated how knowledgeable Brown 
and· Johnson were and they were known for their professiona lism. 
The articles also stated that these two men were h·and chosen for 
thei r knowledge and thei r abil itics. 1 don't believe that Johnson and 
Brown'died accidental ly. Something happened in the woods to both 
of these fine men. The shooting of bullets in rapid succession is 
proof tli.at t he~e two wardens con fronted a v.ery dangerous predator 
and lost. There were never any statements about the cond ition or 
their fi rearms or the number ofbullets they were found carrying. 

1 believe another factor needs to come into play, the missing 
beavús. Who or what was tak ing the beavers? lt 's ha rd lo imagi ne 
that eighteen wardens in a small, confined area could not catch a 
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predator taking beavers. The area whe•:e the war~ens disappea~~d 
is very desolate in winter months. 1 beheve there •; probably s01:ne 
link between the missing beavers and the wardens deaths, .a~d the 

predator may be one and the same. · 

Kenneth Swanson 
Missi ng 8/24/30, Noon, Colebrook, Connecticut · ... 
Age at Disappearance: 2 years . . . . .: 

Kenneth Swanson and his mother went to vtstt thetr ~r.~n~-
parents in rural Colebrook, Connecticut. K~nneth. was 'Piaymg tn· 

the yard with hi s pet collie, Prince. When dtnnert~me camea1ong, 
Kenneth's mother called him for dinner, and he dtd not . ans~er: ~ 
search of the yard found that the collie and Kenneth w~re. ~11tSS­
ing. The police were quickly called, and a search was tmt·t~~ed. 
Kenneth's father was at thei r house in Barre, Vermont, at;Jd he ?rove 

to the grandparents' home. . . . . 
Two days of searching produced no evtdence ot where ~tttle 

Kenneth might be. One witness did arrive at the house- Pnnce, 
the coll ie, walked into the yard without Kenneth. The dog a~peared 
at midnight, tirecl and hungry and unable to offer any clues .~bout 
where Kenneth might be. . . · 

George Swanson, Kenneth's father, assisted in the se~r~h for 
h is son through the swamp and woods of the grandfather .s, prop­
erty. Many theories were floated about . where the b~y tmght ~e, 
and one of the most prominent dealt wtth an abduct10n ~cet.1ano. 
Searchers continued to scour the region and found no ev tde~ce of 
where the boy could be. Bloodhounds thoroughly s~arched the area 
where Kenneth was last seen, but they could not ptck up the scent, 

or refused to track. .. 
Two months after Kenneth Swanson van ished, a hunt.er was 

in the woods in mid-October and found a crumpled bundl~·on the 
ground approximately two miles from th~. grandp~rents .farm. 
There were very few details about the condtt!On of the boóy.at the 
time of the discovery other than it was decomposed. The coroner 
did an autopsy and confl rmed the bundle was the body of ~enneth 
Swanson. The coroner al so found there were no broken· ·bones 
or other signs of violence. Many searchers. felt the boy could not 
ha ve wandered that fa r and died of exhaustton or exposure . . To la\\ 
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etitorcement it did not make any sense. The area where the body 
w'as follnd was thoroughly searched, and nothing of evidentiary 
value was located. 
.. Kenneth Swanson 's grandparents were so distraught about the 

boy's death they abandoned the farm and never returned. 

· .Alelen Johnson 
.· Missing 3/27/34, 3:30p.m., North Rehoboth, Massachusetts 
Age at Disappearance: 4 years 
**Bionde Hair 

, Alden lived with his fam ily in a rural area of northern Rehoboth. 
The area around the residence was filled with swamps, lakes, and small 
creeks, with sign ificant ground cover. 

On March 27, 1934 Alelen was playi ng in the side yard of his 
residence with his sister, Jeanne, (five years) and another friend. 
At 3:30 p.m. a large thunderstorm hit the area, and Alden's mother 
called the.children inside. Alelen didn't come in. Alden's mother, 
Mrs. Lee Johnson, went into the yard and searched for ten minutes 
and then cal led neighbors for assistance. In a matter ofa few hours 
rhe local and state police were on the scene, and soon hundreds of 

. se~rchers were scouring the forests and swamps looking for Alelen. 
For the twenty-four hours after Alelen disappeared, there had 

been continuous sea rch efforts by hundreds ofvolunteers. The state 
pol ice had placed an airplane in the sky and had sent two blood­
hounds to search. They never did find a scent. 

Twenty-six hours afte r Alelen disappeared and more than two 
miles from his residence, searchers were adjacent to a turkey farm 
and found the boy in a swamp. A March 28, 1934 article in the 
Bastan Globe had the following statement from the searcher: "J 
\\'aS walking al ong and came to the swamp. 1t was very deep in the 
center and it was decided that we would sweep in both sides. 1 was 
on the left. 1 came into the clea ring and saw the boy. He seemed to 
be in a daze." A Id en was carried to his residence and placed in his 
mother's arms. 

Alelen was home only minutes when his mother exclaimed, "He 
is dying." Alden had become unconscious, and a doctor was sum­
moned. The doctor ordered the boy to the hospital where he stayed 
for two days. 
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When Alden was found, all of the bodies of water in the area 
had a light freeze, and it was quite cold. Searchers stated that A~den 
had scratches on his face and arms and was wet from the waist 
down, yet no mention was ever made that he was cold or freezing. 

Case Summary: 
Alden made statements to the searchers that he had not slept 

during the night and he had not seen any lights. The search party 
had built a giant bonfire that would have been visible tens of miles 
away, so, searchers believed that Alden had slept. It is also a mys­
tery why Alden was not freezing when found since he was wet and 
it was late in the aftemoon (5:30 p.m.). 

One ofthe major questions was how Alden got into the location 
in the swamp where he was found. Searchers and his parents tried 
to question Alden about his experience, but he couldn't answer what 
was posed. He was found in a "daze," and he did become uncon­
scious after he was at his home. Doctors did not know why this 
condition occurred. 

Bobby Connor 
Missing 7/13/34, 6:00 p.m., Hartsdale Manor, Greenburgh, New 
York 
Age at Disappearance: 21 months 
**Blonde Hair 

The Connors lived in a suburban neighborhood of Greenburgh, 
New York, called Hartsdale Manor. Mr. and Mrs. Connor had four 
children. Hartsdale Manor was considered an upper-end area · of 
nice homes and fairly wealthy people. The neighborhood was on the 
edge of a forest with lots of water and heavy timber. 

On July 13, 1934 Bobby Connor was with an older neighbor­
hood friend playing at their residence. At 5:00p.m. Bobby's inother 
called the friend's home and stated that it was time for Bobby to 
return. While enroute home, Bobby stopped ata sand pile adjacent 
to an abandoned automobile and started to play. The older playmate 
told Bobby that he haa to go home, but Bobby refused. The older 
playmate went to Bobby's home and notified the mother that shé 
would have to come out and get Bobby. When ~rs. Connor arrived 
at the sand pile, Bobby had vanished. 

New England Missing People 245 

·. Fa,~ily ·and neighbors searched for Bobby until dark and then 
notified local and state police. Police brought in bloodhounds and 
volun~~ér searchers. Searchers combed the area around the home 
for a ·ane-mile radius, but they found nothing. The bloodhounds 
couldil't find a scent. . 

At the end ofthe first eighteen hours of searching, police made 
severa).public statements about the lack of clues and lack of evidence 
about-wi1ere the boy may be. Law enforcement felt that Bobby might 
have·be~n abducted. Police actually scoured the neighborhood for 
Ieads ·~nd did arrest a suspicious peddler for the disappearance and 
held hhn in custody. 

Searchers continued to look in the woods for Bobby but couldn't 
find tracks or other evidence that he was in the tbrest behind the 
hous~: As the search days went from the third, fourth, and onto the 
fifth day· of searching, police started to believe that Bobby could not 
surviye ·.in the cold rain hitting the area and continued to privately 
think tl1e hoy was kidnapped. 

On the fifth day at 2:45p.m., searchers were going over an area 
th.at h~d .be.en covered many times in the past. They carne to a wall 
in a btamble thicket where the grass appeared to be trampled down. 
Lying·on hi.s back under the brambles was 'the small body of Bobby 
Com)ór. The searchers picked up the groggy boy and did find him 
alive, :nearly three-tburths of a mi le from his residen ce. Bobby was 
taken.,to his,residence and then to the hospital. In a July 17, 1934 
article in the Milwaukee Sentinel, police described their thoughts on 
Bobby being found: 

·,¡ ·, 

BabyBobby Connor found scratched but smiling in a nearby woods 
after'Ji~.had been missingfor .five days /ay serious~y i/1 qf e)..posure 
and st~rvation tonight while po/ice expressed the beliefhe had been 
abduci~d and then.freed. "1 am.forced lo the conclusion ir 1-vas a kid­
nappfi:!,g, ,· said Capta in Philip J. Mcquillan, head ofthe Greenburg 
Po/ice~· !'J jeel the baby was placed in the woods (which had been 
searc~ed frequentl)~ in the last twenty-jour hours. 1 don't think he 
cou/~·~~ver¡rawled or walked that .far back into the woods." 
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Bobby was transported toa hospital where it was found that.be 
had severe cuts on his face and was suffering a low-gradefever."An 
article in the Meriden Record, dated July 19, 1934, titled "Mysterioús 
Angles in the Connor Case Puzzle Poli ce," states, "Dr. C,harle~·· L. 
Suttles pointed out an absence of mosquito hites and sunburh." Bo~h 
ofthese items are important and go to the police department's opin-. 
ion that Bobby was harbored somewhere where he woulp nof get 
sun, and mosquitoes would not bother him. · ... ·· 

As is a current theme ofmany ofthese cases, Bobby was fou~d 
without his shoes and socks. One shoe was found high o~ a· bu~h, 
thirty feet from wbere he was found. Officers couldn't explain.~.ow. 
the shoe got toa point so pigh off the ground. Grapevine.s. a. shprt 
distance from where Bobby was found concealed the second ~h~.~· 

Case Summary: · ... ·::·. 
This is a special case, probably the most investigated case ~~m 

a law enforcement perspective in this region during this time in ~is­
tory. TI'Íe local police actually had the FBI involved beca use oftbeir. · 

· belief of a kidnapping. Even after Bobby was found, law. enfo.~c~­
ment still believed that he was kidnapped based on th~ ~~~~ion· 
where he was found and the lack of sunburn or mosquitoes bj~es . .'· . 

1 want all readers to· pay close attention to the case thaffol- .: 
Iows this one, Claire Berison. Claire disappeared just eleve~ ~ays· 
after Bobby and eighty miles north of his location. Claire w~~: ~ls~ 
twenty-one months old arid disappeared under circumstance~: yery 
similar to Bobby's. As I've stated before, 1 don't believe. in co~.ci-
dence. There is more here that we need to comprehend. · ' ;·· .' 

Claire Bensen 
Missing 7/24/34, Cromwell, Connecticut 
Age at Disappearance: 21 months · .·· ·,~ · . 

Mr. and Mrs. G. M. Bensen lived in a rural area of Crom'Yell, 
Connecticut. Mrs. Bensen allowed Claire to sit and pl~y in :·~1eir 
backyard while she ran into the borne todo a few errands. She ~ame 
back to check on Claire and found her missing and notifie~ ~~igh- · 
bors and poi ice. · · .::. · 

M rs. Bensen called poli ce, who then summoned bloqdh?~nds 
to conduct a search. Within hours of the disappearance, doze.~s of 
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. . . people were searching the area, yelling the girl's name, but not getM 

..... ting a response. . 
·. ·. . · Approximately twentyMfour hours after Claire disappeared, a 

bloodhound took his trainer to within twenty feet of the girl, but 
Claire wasn't discovered then, or she wasn't there. The handler was 
a l~ng distance from the girl's home and in an area of a massive 

.,. · ·. swainp. The handler initiaiJy did not believe the girl could get to this 
.. · , area and then survive beca use of the swamp and the vast amount of 

~. · · .· . .' ~ater in the area. Hours later, another young searcher went back to 
.. the same area and found the young girl sitting naked on moss in the 

,. . . ~wamp. The girl did not have on the sunsuit she was wearing when 
• · • s_J1e disappeared. 

· Searchers la ter stated that Claire was found over two miles from 
. , . . ·. hei· ·honte. and they never explained how she got into the swampy 
· .. : · : location._ The sunsuit was never found. 

·· : Case Summary: 
.. · . ·. · · The similarities in the Connor and Bensen cases are striking. 

·· Both children are twentyMone months old (the age fact is odd by 
·· •· ~tself). Both children live in a rural area near swamps. Both were 

. . . found in areas where searchers cannot understand how they got 
. : .. :. : ;,. t~ere. Both children were missing clothing. Both were found in 

· · · ar~as that were previously searched. 

Lquis Dunton 
· .!Vlissing 1017/47, 6:00p.m., Fitzwilliam, New Hampshire 

Age at Disappearance: 3 years 
.The city of Fitzwilliam, New Hampshire, is in a rural area 

approximately three miles north of the Massachusetts border and 
ten miles east of the Green Mountain National Forest. Dozens of 
lakes are in the immediate area of the Denton residence, and the 
region would be described as very swampy and wet. There are five 
·state forests within eight miles ofthe victim's residence. 

'On October 10, 1947, Mrs. Arthur. Dunton was getting her 
twelve children seated for dinner when the family realized that 
.Louis wasn't in the house. The family checked the báckyard where 
he was last playing and could not locate the boy. A call soon went 
out to the Cheshire County Sherifffor assistance. Law enforcement 
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from the enti re region responded in force, including the state pol ice 
and local law enforcement. There were nearly one hundred search­
ers looking for Louis by 10:00 p.m. People were walking with 
torches and yelling throughout the countryside for the boy, but there 
was no response. 

At approximately 1:00 a.m., County Sheriff Arthur Jen nison 
responded to the Dentan home with his newly acquired and recently 
trained bloodhound, Queenie. The sheri ff all owed Queenie to sniff 
an old pair of Louis's shoes and off the bloodhound ran. The path 
the dog took wasn't easy; it was directly through a nearby swamp. 
for two straight miles. lt was an arduous trip that took al most an 
hour for the sheriff, the dog's trainer, and a news cameraman who 
went along for the story. 

At almost 2:00a.m., Queen ie found a small game trail , walked 
a few feet out of the swamp, and stopped next to a large group of 
bushes. A short distance off the trail , the sheriffshined bis light into 
the area and saw little Louis Dunton sitting naked under the brush. 
At the exact moment that Louis was found, the newsman snapped 
a photo ofthe boy sitting in the leaves. This photo actually won an 
award in 1947 for one of tbe best news action photos. 

The photo of Louis Dentan is worth discussing. There is abso­
lutely no doubt the boy is completely naked. There were severa! 
news reports that stated he was found partially clothed, missing¡ 
some clothes, etc., but, no, the boy was completely naked. Another 
interesting comment about the picture is that Louis's legs are bur­
ied in the leaves to just below the left knee and half buried on the 
right Jeg, almost as though the leaves were keeping hi s feet wann 
as insulation. 

In the newspaper the Evening lndependent (October 9, 1947) 
there was the following comment on thi s story: "Sti ll somewhat of 
a mystery however was why he [Louis] removed his clothes. The 
only theory 1 have, says Sheriff Jennison, is that when it got dark he ' 
thought it was time to go to bed so he took hi s clothes off." 

This statement ma!<es zero sense since hi s clothes were never 
found and the temperature in the area was plummeting. A Times 
article also dated October 9, 1947 had the following regarding thc 
missing clothing: "Still somewhat of a mystery, however was why 

New England Missing People 249 

he [Lo~·is] removed his clothes. Little Louis just smiles when they 
attempt to pry the information out of him. To him it seems a big 
joke." The on ly statement that any article attri butes to Louis is that 
he mn~e a statement about collecting blueberries wh i le he was miss­
ing ( Youngsrown Vindicaror, 1 0/8/47). 

The greatest question to me, and one that was never asked or 
answered in any article, was how Louis got through two miles of 
swamps in the eight hours he wns missing. Many articles did state 
that the'.boy had cuts and bruises and the pl1oto shows that the boy 
appears dry, but it doesn 't answer the question about how he man­
aged t?,·get th rough the swamps. 

Michael Fontitine 
Missing 5/30/49, Eastman, Quebec, Canada 
Age at D~sappearance: 6 years 

The Fontaine case is placed in this chapter because Eastman, 
Quebec, is only twenty-five to thirty miles from Chain of Ponds, 
Maine, ·and the location where Kurt Newton disappeared and was 
never found. 

Michael Fontaine was on hi s fam ily's farm pasture when he dis­
appea~ed. Police Chief Edmond Rioux was leading the sea rch tor 
Michael and had the assistance of almost one thousand volunteers. 
For one week they found nothing. A June 7 art icle in the Ollawa 
Citizen had tl\e following: "Small footprints were found in the bush 
late yes.terday. They appeared relatively fresh said the chief and it is 
not believed other chi ldren could have been in the area .'' This was 
the only lead searchers had for many days. 

The Ottmva Citi=en on June 11 ran an article stating that rumors 
were n\nning wild throughout the farmland about the disappear­
ance ofthe bóy. The rumors were never explai ned in the paper, and 
1 have·no idea what they may have been. Chief Rioux did make a 
statrmen.t on June 11 , a statement 1 wish 1 heard more SAR com­
manders ~n ake: "The search is strictly local now but it will continue 
until the boy's body is fo und ." 

. On.June 15 the Saskatoon Srar had the following update regard­
ing Forita~ne: 
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The emaciated body of little Michael Fontaine was found Tz¡~sdt;~Y 
in a swamp two mi/esfrom hisfather·sfarmhouse. Provincial po~i~e 
e ame upon the body partly buried in damp, spongy ground tlip!. 'is 
thick with ta/1 reeds and bulrushes. ' 

Michael's body was recovered and given to a pathologisf.for · 
examination. The verdict was that Fontaine died of exposureand 
exhaustion, possibly the first night. The same Saskatoon Star article 
stated, "To reach the pond the boy apparently was walking ayi~y 
from the house. He must ha ve passed through pasture land · and 
across a bridge before entering small bush." Law enforcement .o~c­
ers estimated that Fontaine walked in excess oftwo miles befor~ he 

''fell in the swamp." ··· 

Case Summary: ... · 
1 'm not gullible, and 1 don 't believe the vast majority of~he pti~lic 

is either. 1 don't understatid how a six-year-old boy living on a·f~rm, 
knowing the landscape, knowing his home pasture can ·get ;¿~m­
pletely turned around, lost, and then purposely walk into .a sw~mp 
and die. Yes, he had to purposely walk toward the swamp Qec~use 
tall reeds surrounded the swamp. l could not find any rep~~is· on 
the details of the body other than the article stating he was "~~rtly 
buried in the damp, spongy ground." A six-year-old child· ·k~ows 
when he enters ta11 reed~ and grasses that he's not heading h~lne. 
A six-year-old knows what pasture land looks like versus a s~~~P· 

During the research for this book, I have read too many s~~rtes 
¡

11 
which children and adults are found in a swamp, and ~e·.~~pla­

nation given for their death is "exhaustion or exposure." Likfl've, 
stated befare, l don't think physicians use "exhaustion" as a.:au~~ 
of death nowadays. · · · . · 

Articles I reviewed for this story had searchers looking.~~ :f~r as 
five miles away from the farm. In fact one searcher got lost. M!~hael 
was found two miles from his father's pastureland and in a· S\Yam~·· 
Imagine your chi1d at six years old; could he or she ~ave.~~lk~~ two 
'miles, over a bridge he or she has never traveled, mto. htgh. reeds, 
past a farmhouse that had its lights on? ':'es, there was a ~ar.~·house 
with its lights on within si te of the locatton where Font~me ~ ~odf 
was found. Why wouldn't Michael have gone to the ~rmhou~e 1f 

/. 

:.· 
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he had the ability to do it? If ~e died from exposure, as the doctors 
state, he must had been in a very serious and severe state and thus 

· his passing the safety and warmth of a farmhouse to contin~e int~ 
reeds does not make any logical sense. We are led to believe that the · 
hoy bypassed safety to walk into the one location anywhere near the 
farm that was concealed and the most dangerous. 

Nicole Renaud 
'Missing·6f3/50, Bourg-La-Reine, Quebec 

· Age at Disappearance: 3 years 
Nicole and her mother were staying at their surnmer horne in 

Bour-La-~eine. The home backs up to open space and heavy for­
ests. Nicole's parents had explained to her the dangers ofthe woods, 
a~d she absolutely knew never to go into the forest alone. 

On July 3, 1950, Nicole was· visiting the home of a friend and 
~l~ying in the backyard. At sorne point, for an unexplained reason, 
~tcole walked into the woods. Nicole's friend ran into their house 
and. screamed at the mother, "Mommy, Nicole has gone into the 

· ~oods!" The mother ran into the backyard and immediately ran 
mto the woods looking for Nicole, but she could not find her. The 

:. ·. . · · mother now ran to Nicole's home an~ got her mother to help in the 
..... ·. ~earch. The two women searched for alrnost an hour and then called 
. . . . autliorities for assistance. 

' . Almost one thousand people searched the woods behind the 
R~nau~'s neighbor's home for three days. The only thing of value 
tha:t was found were alleged bear tracks 1500 feet back into the 
woods. Searchers never saw a bear, and there were no tracks any-

. where near the homes. Regardless of this fact, a June 6, 1950 article 
. .in the Edmonton Sun stated the following: "Police definitely decided 

. that little Nicole Renaud was devoured by bears and are abandoning 

. the sea~ch for the 3 year old child." Residents stated that bears had 
· been seen in the past but none recently. The police questioned about 
the history ofbear attacks in the greater Quebec area stated, "There 
have been no bear attacks in recent memory in the Quebec area." 
' On June 8, 1950 in the Saskatoon Star, Phoenix, Nicole's rnother 

ll}ade the following statement: "Mrs. Lorenzo Renaud stated that 
.· she believes her daughter was kidnapped." 
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Case Summary: 
When researching this case 1 was deeply saddened for the 

Renaud family. The police in Quebec made several catastrophic 
mistakes in the investigation of the disappearance. The first major 
mistake was to assume that bears ate Nicole. The police had no 
evidence that she was eaten. They did not find any blood, tissúe, or 
clothing ofNicole's in the woods or recent bear scat. There were no 
bear tracks anywhere near the homes, and neighbors had not seen 
bears in months. The police force made a public statement that they 
hadn't even hada bear attack in anyone's memory in the Quebec 
area. The police also stated that they had black bear only in the area 
around Quebec. Black bear are not known as fearsome creatures

1 

that regularly attack people; in fact, it's arare occasion when sorne-· 
one is attacked by a black bear. 

Mistake number two by the police was calling offthe search for 
Nicole Renaud after three days. Even with all the manpower that 
they could absolutely muster, three days is too short of a period to 
call off a search for a three-year-old girl. lt is confirmed that two 
thousand searchers scoured the woods for Ni col e in addition to low­
ftying airplanes and support teams. 

A June 6, 1950 article in the Schenectady Gazette stated th~t . 
search crews found a small piece of cloth that they believed carne ' 
from Nicole's dress. All other articles that 1 researched stated that 
searchers did not find any evidence in the woods. 

1 believe that.the greater question that police needed to under· 
stand is why Nicole Renaud went into the woods and why Nicole's 
mother felt she was abducted. Not finding any viable evidence in the 
woods, not finding any evidence of bears in the woods, and know­
ing that parents were in the woods searching and calling for her ·· 
minutes after she walked into the woods, makes it very difficult to 
understand how a bear could have grabbed her when she walked ,· 
into the forest. There is no way Nicole could have walked 1500 feet. 
in the time it took parents to get into the woods. She would have had 
to have been walking ~nd heard the calls ifthe bear option was still 
viable. 

In the many articles 1 reviewed for this case, there was never one 
mention of the poli ce utilizing hounds to track down the supposed 

... 
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bear. 1f there· was a bear involved in the disappearance, hounds 
would ~nd the closest bear, police never tried this tactic, probably 
beca use they knew a bear was never involved. 

... · 1 béli~ve Nicole saw something, something that didri't scare her 
but smnething that intrigued her, but something that eventually took 
her life.: · 

Diane Abbott 
Missin~. 7/6JS6, Hebron, Maine 
Age at· Q:isappearance: 2 years 

· At 2:00 p·.m. on July 6, Helen Abbott heard her daughter Diane 
crying··.:in:the, backyard. She couldn't go to her immediate aide, as 
she wás· _assisting another child in the house. Once done with the 
chil~ iJl.. the ·house, Helen went outside and couldn't find Diane. 
The oth~r · Abbott children were asked to loo k for Diane, but they 
couldn't·immediately find her. Once it was determined that Diane 
wasn't.· ~n th_e property, the sheriff was called. 

Trye.~bbotts lived in -an extremely remote area. They lived on 
the K~i;l.e Pu!kinen farm, located at the end of a dead-end road and 
more thari one mile from the nearest neighbor and more than three 

, · . miles f~Q~ a~y development. Anyone apprm\ching the farm would 
be seert.~:and n.obody was observed driving the road. Swamps, heavy 
brush, a~d forests surround the residence. ·. 

: W~t~~n die first twenty-four hours, one thousand people were 
search~pg._.the Maine woods for Diane Abbott. The searchers could 
not ·believe that the girl hadn't already been found because of the 
hu~~ repponse from volunteers. In the lengthy archive search 1 per­
formed, '1 could never find any information that Diane was found·. 

Brenda;)ea~ Doud 
Missit1_S· 07/06/58, Eagle Pond, New York 
Age a(Disappearance: 5 years 

R~_ider& should first take note that Brencia disappeared exactly 
two. ye~p~ ~fter Diane Abbott vanished from Hebron, Maine, almost 
exactlyope hnndred miles directly east ofDiane's location in Maine. 
. Ea~le_Pond is located in far northern New York, approximately 
stxtee~··mtles south of Malone, just outside the Titusville Mountain 
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S tate Forest. This ·is a very rural and rugged area with many lak~s, 
creeks, and rivers. 

Eagle Pond is approximately 1500 feet long and 750 feet wide .. 
Mr. and Mrs'. Robert Doud took their daughter Brenda with ·~hem 
to ·the pond to build a small camp for vacation purposes. Somet~.i:ne 
on July 6 Brenda disappeared, and her parents called local .. ~.aw 
enforcement officers. . : 

The day after Brenda disappeared the area was hit by heavy 
rains, which caused searchers additional problems. Bloodho~n.ds, 
two hundred volunteers, two helicopters, and two Army Natj.onal 
Guard Units searched two days without finding the yourig girL'At. 
the fiftieth hour of the search, and two miles frorn Brend~'s ca)rip, 
searchers were covering a swampy region with numerou~ downed 
trees and thought they saw something odd. The men appro~ched 
the object and found Brenda. The girl was missing her shirt, shhes, 
socks, and pants and was wearing just panties. She was in ;S<?Od, 
condition. . 

Searchers were attempting to understand how Brenda disap-
peared for such a long period oftime and how she managed:to e~~:and 
drink. Brenda was very quiet about her experience except to exp.lain 
what she observed. A July 11, 1958 article Ít:l Stars and Stripes'.~ad 
the following: "Scott said Brenda enjoyed telling ofher experience. 
S he e ven had seen three bears, two asleep and one awake, he .said." 
I've hiked hundreds ofmiles in the woods and have never walk~d·up 
on a sleeping bear. What did Brenda really see in the woods? 'What 
happened to her clothes that were never found? How did this young 
girl eat and drink when she was missing? · · · 

Douglas Chapman 
Missing 6/2171, Alfred, Maine 
Age at Disappearance: 3 years ·. ,· 
3', 35 lbs . 

lt was 10:00 a.m. on June 2, 1971 when Carole Chapman·looked 
out onto her front yard and saw her son, Douglas Chapm~n, .Pll\ying 
in a sand pi le. Caro le never knew this would be the la~t. tin1~ .. she 
saw her son. ··· 

At 10:30 a.m. Ca role Chapman looked outside and co~lpn't 
see Douglas. She went to the yard and started to call· out r?~ the 

\· .. 
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·:. .; 

. . ·hoy-no answer. Carole walked the perimeter ofher property and 
couldn't fiild any sign of Douglas. Carole now started to get quite 
worried and called police. 

; : .. 

. t •. 

. '•. 

' ~: . 

-~ ~ .. 

At the peak point in the search for Douglas, over one t}Jousand 
·.- law enforcement officers, game wardens, volunteers, and family 

scoured the swamps, forests, and farms for Douglas. Searchers 
didn't even find a footprint. 

Police brought tracking dogs into the search and they did pickup 
a scent that they traced through a field, past.an apple orchard, onto 
a farm, and then down a driveway. People in those areas were inter­
viewed and did not see any strange people or vehicles. 

This case was reopened by Jaw enforcement in 1993; there has 
been no resolution, and there are no known suspects. This is one of 

· t~ree cases in the southern Maine/New Hampshire area in which 
children have vanished. 

Douglass Legg 
Missing 07/10171, Newcomb, New York 
Age at disappearance: 8 years 

This .case is an example that even the wealthiest families can 
, be victims ofhorrific incidents as in the disappearance ofDouglass 
. Legg. His family was vacationing at the 13,000-acre estate ofrela­

tive · and Syracuse banker Crandell Melvin. The property. sat just 
north ofthe smaiJ hamlet ofNewcomb in a very tranquil and remote 
setting next to a Newcomb lake. This was a very prívate setting with 
a large lodge to house the owner and all of his guests. The location 
was not open to the public-family members only. 
· William Legg told law enforcement officers and the press that. 

: ·.·· ,. 
Douglass was going hiking with his uncle (Myron Melvin, Jr.) and 
.arrÍV.ed on the trail wearing ·a T-shirt, shorts, and tennis shoes. 

. . . . Myron told him that he would catch poison oak if he wore those 
· ;, · .. _·· ·. clothes and told him to head back to the lodge to change. As they 
·i ". : · were just at the entrance to an overgrown logging trail, Douglass 

· · .. started back to the lodge. A July 17, 1971 article in the ·Gadsden 

, .. 

· Times described the event as the hoy left the trail: 

. Legg sa'id the boy was walking back along a ridge near the proper­
. ties Newcomb Lake ·when he saw sorne other children on the beach 
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below. The others shouted to Doug lo jo in them, and he said that he 
would take a short culto meetthem going down the other side ofthe 
ridge. That1vos the las/time he was seen. 

Douglass's fami ly spared no expense or effort in the search for 
the young boy. The family ftew out specially trained SAR dogs from 
Washington State and a twenty-man SAR team from Cal ifornia. 
This was a methodical search using rapes to mark quadrants and to . 
ensure not one inch of ground was missed. 

The bloodhounds and canines in this search appeared to find ' 
Douglass's scent and started tracking even though what they were . • 
doing seemed unbelievab1e to SAR team members. The dogs tracked 
the scent north into an area of the Ad irondack Mountains called 
"High Peaks." The "Peaks" is an area with mountains reachi ng to 
5000 feet in elevation with hundreds of smal l lakes and streams in 
a very rugged and remate setting. The canines tracked through the 
peaks and then went around the city of Lake Placid, a huge journey 
for a man, Jet alone an eight-year-old boy. A July 21, 1971 art icle in 
the Wellsville Daily had this comment on the canines' searclr "lf, 
the missing boy had indeed walked through the outskirts of Lake 
Placid, officials sa id, he would have had to have traveled at least · 
30 miles." The path that the canines took was directly through the 
roughest and most difficult terrain anywhere in the region and then 
back around the periphery of a city environment. 

Fourteen days after Douglass disappeared, the search was again 
given a spark by the addition of a detachment of Green Berets from 
Fort Devens, Massachusetts. 1 couldn' t find any in formation on who 
requested the team or why a special-forces group would be used 
on th is search. Why a special detachment of highly trained Green 
Berets would be utilized instead of normal Nationa l Guardsmen 
unit is a majar question in my mind. 

The military continued to add support to this SAR as the 
Plattsburgh Air Force Base contributed airplanes with infrared 
equipment to spot heat signatures on the ground, while others 
brought helicopters and ground support. 

The search for Douglass captured the heart and soul of nearly 
every county resident. One local man searched for the boy for 
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thi rty-eight days and found just one track in the moss near a shal­
low creek mi les from the lodge. Eventually people had to go back 
to thei1: famil ies and work, and the SAR was terminated. Articles 
were written about this event decades later and described a num­
ber ofhunters and hi kers who have disappearecl in the Ad irondacks 
under ·'.'~!·y perplexing ci rcumstances, Douglass Legg being the 
most um~sual. 

Case Summ~ry : 
The'idea that Douglass wal kecl north i nto h igher elevat ion th rough 

the rugged ''Peaks" and then back down into Lake Placid, circling the 
city: seeths unrealistic. 1 do not doubt that the canines were tracking 
his scen~; too many dogs were involved for it to be mistaken identi ty. 
The real·question is, why was the scent in those locations? Who called 
the Green Berets and what was thei r role in the search? This case is 
ve(y remíni scent of the Dennis Martín Search. 

Kurt Rcinnl~ Newton 
Missin$ ·8/31/75, Chain of Ponds, Maine 
Age at Disappea rance: 4 years 
3'8 ... 4S 'lbs . . ' 

.lt wa~ Labor Da y weekend in 1975 when Ji 11 and Ronald Newton 
took thelr si x~year-old claughter and four-year old son Kurt to the 
Natanis ·Point Campground in Chain of Ponds, Ma ine, for a week­
end ge~away. The Newton's hacl made the drive from their home in 
Manchester. -

The ·campground is located at the far western end of two large 
ponds and is located less than one mile from the Canadian borcler. 
There isn' t n'luch in this area, and there are no large towns for many 
miles. The entire area around the campgrouncls and the lakes is 
heavi ly .wooded. 

On Sunclay, August 31 in the morning hours, Kurt was riding his 
tricycle .in a loop around the campground when his parents theorized 
that he became confused and lost. An article in the May 30, 1985 
Leu·is/~7 Daily states: "A girl who passed him on a narrow road near 
the campsite asked him ifhis parents knew where he was. Whcn he die! 
not respond, she kept walking. The boy was never seen aga in." Kurt 's 
tricycle\.~as found on an adjacent dirt road near the campground. The 
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game wardens and state_police used every available search o~tio~for 
Kurt Newton. Eglin Air Force Base in Florida actually sent a pl~~e 
with an infrared sensor to Maine to fly the skies and find heat-prod9c­
ing entities on the ground. Two hundred volunteers and law enforc~­
ment personnel combed the countryside for six days with no'suc~ess. 

The night the search for Kurt started it was immediately con1-
promised because heavy rains hit the region and obliterated m~ny 
tracks and took the scent off the ground that canines would h~ve 
followed. Heavy rains again hit the area on Tuesday that "rought a 
halt to the search. Area lumber milis closed operations on.Tuesday 
ofthat week to allow its workers to assist in the search. At th~ pe.ak · 
of the SAR nearly one thousand people participated in lookin~·.for 
Kurt Newton. Searchers coñcentrated on an eight-square-mile. ar~a 
near the campsite during their search. The SAR for the hoy cul~i-. 
nated the week of September 8 without finding any evidence o_f;his 

location. ·. 
1 n M ay of 1976 the search for Kurt was put into gear agai~~ A 

one-day SAR that covered ground previously searched was sear~hed 
again. Warden Inspector Duane Lewis headed the effort and státed 
in the Lewiston Daily ofMay 12, 1976: "We are convinced thát ~urt 
Newton is not here." .. .' 

Case Summary: .. · .. 
1 would agree with inspector Lewis. Kurt was propably .. not 

inside of that eight-square-mile area where they were concentrating 
their efforts.lfKurt were abducted, he would have been many_~iles 
from that location. If Kurt had simply gotten lost and walked a':vay, 
a cadaver dog should have been used on the 1976 search.: No .notes 

show that this occurred. . .. . 
1 

The remo te location of the Natanis Point Campground make~ the 
idea of a serial abductor driving along a lonely dirt road lookingfor a 
victim seemludicrous. There aren't that many people camping ~tthis 
location in September to make abduction a feasible option for a i:oad­
way predator. Witnesses in the area would see someone.d~iving;.~~rk­
ing, who hadn't been camping. lf an abductor was dnvmg thr~~~h 
the area and had been seen taking Kurt, the ability to appfehe~~-htm 
would be much easier than in an urban setting. There is only._one 
road to the location, Highway 27. You either leave the campground 

• 1 
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· · · and drive southeast to leave or go northwest. Both are easy paths to 
1 put roadblocks up to stop a kidnapper. I don't think that the predator 

would go northeast; the Canadian Border checkpoint is just down the 
road, and that left one escape path, southeast~ Kidnappers don't like 
locations where there is only one path to escape. This Ieaves only the 
forestas a location to look for Kurt. 

Andrew Warburton 
Missing 7/1/86, Beaver Bank, Tucker Lake, Halifax, Nova Scotia 
Age at Disappearance: 9 years 

This case is submitted in this section beca use of its proximity 
. to Maine. 

.· Cana~ians spend their summers traveling and visiting friends 
m the same manner as people in the States vacation. The summers 
for most Canadians are a little shorter ofwarmer weather than in the 
States, and beca use of that they spend a great deaJ of time outdoors 
when the weather is warm. 

Tom and Doreen Warburton took their nine-year-old son 
Andrew with them when they went to spend a few days with rela­
tives in Beaver Band ten miles outside ofHalifax, Nova Scotia. This 
location would be approximately seventy-five miles from the Maine 
border . 

_The family was staying with relatives who lived near Tucker 
Lake, a body of water approximately one-fourth of a mil e long and 
a thousand yards wide~ This location has hundreds of small Iakes 
with homes now scattered around many ofthem. In 1986 there was 
Iess development than today, but there was still scattered housing 
among the very flat land. 

The Warburtons were visiting friends when their children 
stated they were going to swim in the nearby lake. Andrew asked 
~f he could go, and the parents obliged. The main group of children 
left befare Andrew was ready, but the path was very ·clear, and it 

1 was a short distance to the lake. Andrew was wearing tennis shoes 
and a swimming suit when he left following the other boys by just 
a short distance. 

After ·swimming and getting cold, the boys headed back to the 
house and realized that they had never met up with Andrew. Parents 
were notified, anda search was immediately started. Inside of one 
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hour, law enforcement officials was notified, and RCMP officers 
were in the vicinity ofTucker Lake. Within hours over one hundred 
people were scouring the woods near the path to Tucker Lake for 
Andrew Warburton. They were calling his name and .searching the 
marshy area for the boy. 

Within twenty-four hours almost one thousand searchers were 
completely combing the Tucker Lake area, almost bumping into 
each other looking for the hoy. An article on July 5, 1986 (Saturday) 1 

"in the Winnepeg Free Press had a very strange statement made by . 
a spokesperson for the RCMP: "He is spooking; he is just running 
around like a little animal." The article states that two searchers 
believed that they saw the hoy, but he ran so fast through the bush 
that they couldn't keep up with him. Remember, almost one thou­
sand people were searching a very confined area, and helicopters 
and canines were assisting in the search. Is the RCMP implyitig 
that canines couldn't keep up with someone running from them? . 
Searchers were also hampered by inclement weather that hit the 
Beaver Bank area. On Wednesday it started to rain and the tern­
perature plum meted to forty-nine degrees. 

lt appears that RCMP and searchers started to become frus­
trated that they couldn 't find the hoy and requested the assistance 
of the military. On Sunday the Canadian Armed Forces deployed 
troops in the marsh area and started a systematic SAR. On Tuesday, 
July 7, near midday, military personnel found two tennis shoes near 
Tucker Lake. The shoes were shown to the parents, and they con­
firmed that they did belong to Andrew. A more intensive effort con-. 
centrating two hundred yards outside the primary search area found 
Andrew's body at 5:30p.m. A July 8 article in the Ottawa Citizen 
stated the following: "The body was found in an alder thicket in 
a gully of marshy ground three kilometers from the Beaver Bank 
home of relatives the Warburton family was visiting." Andrew was 
deceased, and the body was transported to Nova Scotia's Chief 
Medical Examiners Office for an autopsy. Dr. R.Dland Perry stated 
on July 10 in the Lethbridge Herald, "The youngster probably died 
sometime between Frh:lay and Sunday." This means that Andrew 
was alive for three days with searchers standing almost shoulder to 
shoulder searching for him? 

¡·. 
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•.· 
Case Summary: 

Th¿·¡.e··· are many facets about this disappearance that are worth 
review and a'nalysis. 

.A~drew disappeared on a Tuesday and a search was immedi-
, ately sÚ\rted. His parents were yelling his name~ yet the hoy never 

answe~ed. 1nside of twenty-four hours hundreds of people were 
searching~ and Andrew still was not found. One group of two 
search'ers felt they saw the boy~ but he ran so fast they couldn 't 
keep u~. Th~· question is, did they actually see Andrew? 1 f the hoy 
was nílssing and inclement weather hit the area and he was cold, 
it seems' reasonable to believe that he would ha ve come out if he 
could. S'éarci1ers had canines with them-why weren't the canines 
used t~:tr~ck the person who was running from the searchers? 

Hów ·could one thousand searchers miss tennis shoes that were 
found:.b~ miÚtary personnel seven days into the s~a~ch? lt almost 
seem~ as· though the tennis shoes may have not ongmally been at 
the lo~átion· where found. lf it were cold, as is quoted in the arti­
cles, why w~uld Andrew take his shoes off? How could searchers 
claim: to ha ve seen Andrew "running like an animal" on Saturday 
and the. medical examiner state he was deceased between Friday 
and Súhday? If Andrew wasn't the one running, who was eluding 
search~rs? If Andrew was the one running, how did he manage to 
run th~~~gh. alders and thickets without shoes so fast to elude adults? 

It i.s a fact that the weather turned bad immediately after Andrew 
disappeared. lfhe were alive in the time frame from Tuesday-Friday 
(ata t~inimum) why would he lie in a gully ofmarshy ground? Ifit 
was coid, if he was cold, 1 don't think the hoy would purposely lie 
in';wet iliarshy ground when dry ground was nearby. 

It'~ amazing when 1 review statements of searchers and facts 
conc~rn·ing cases that law enforcement officers purposely refuse to 
address 'are~s of concern. Tom and Doreen Warburton were very 
concetnéd about the facts surrounding this case and asked for a 
legahnagistrate associated with the Canadian government to open 
an inquiry into the death of their son. Four months after Andrew 
was found, the request was denied. The magistrate stated that '"this 
was merely·a case of a hoy getting lost in the woods." l don't think 
so. 1 don't think Canadian armed forces are brought into a routine 
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case of a missing boy; something unusual was at play in t~is inci~· 
dent and that's why the military was requested. · 

Patrie McCarthy 
Missing 10/13/03, White Mountains, New Hampshire .. 

· Age at Disappearance: 1 O years ...... 
4'10",851bs · . · :.~ 

Steve McCarthy and his family were vacationing near the.Lopn 
Mountain Ski Resort in the White Mountains ofNew Hampshtre·<?I' 
October of 2003. The family was stayingat their condominium:in_ 
the Clear Brook development. > 

On the afternoon of October 13, Patrie was playing with ·~.~s 
stepbrothers, Gabe and Noah Fritz. The boy~ were appro~im~t.ely 
four hundred yards from the eondo when Patne challenged thet~:~o 
a raee baek to their residenee. The boys agreed to the challenge ~nd 
started to run through the woods baek toward the eondo. Patrie took 
what he thought was a shorteut. ·'. :. _··.: 

Noah and Gabe made it back to the eondo, but Patnc never 
arrived. The boys notified Steve that Patrie was missing, .ang.' a 
search was started almost it;nmediately. Simultaneous to Patne ~~s­
appearing, wind and rain started to hit the _area of the s~árch, ·~nd 
it seemed that this was one of the first maJor obstacles t~ fin~hng 
Patrie. . ! 

Five hundred people participated in the search for th~ hoy. 
Eventua1ly, on da y four of.the search, Patrie was found on the: b~ck 
side of White Mountain, dead, over two miles from the con~o;_ ~s. 
I've stated many times, children who are lost usually walk ~own-
hill. Patrie seemingly walked 1400 feet uphill. . . .-.-: 

The medica} examiner checked the body and determmed.:·that 
Patrie died of hypothermia, as the temperatures in the are~ .. got 
down to the thirties and forties at night. : .. 

Patric's parents doubted the medical examiner's opi.nion from 
the onset. They couldn't understand how Patrie got so far :rrom 
the condominium or how he got so high in elevation. l;'here·~e~e 
also rumors that a witness carne forward and claimed that ~a!rtc 
was murdered. Steve McCarthy went to the FBI and asked ~hem to 
investigate the case. Patric's body was found on federalland, .~~t the 
state has jurisdiction. · 

.. ' 

.... 

· ... 
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·: .. There are people not related to the McCarthy family who believe 
·: ·:. , Patrie was murdered. As ofthis point it does not appear that federal 
.···. · :. authorities are going to override the decision of the state investiga~ 

·· ·. ·:: tors, and Patric's death is still classified asan a,cident, hypothermia. 

·. Case Sum1nary: 
1 agree with Steve McCarthy. This case needs to be reexam~ 

ined, and new faces need to look at the evidence. 1 don't believe that 
. · .. Patrie would have walked 1400 feet higher than he was in an effort 
:. · . to find his condominium. Something pul1ed Patrie from his path, 

· arid that something needs to be identified. 

· · ·chapter Summary 
. . : .. · There are twenty~four people listed as missing in this chapter. 

The largest group of missing is twelve boys under ten years of age. 
The most unusual oceurrence on the missing list for New 

England is the following: 

M- Bobby Connor (2lmos) 07/13/34,6:00 p.m. 
F ~ Claire Bensen (21 mos) 07/24/34, p.m. 

Bobby and Claire were exactly twenty-one months old' and dis~ 
appeared just eleven days apart. They are the only people Jisted in 

· . · New England who are exactly twenty-one months old and who both 
.,. went miss.ing in a very short time period. 

The reader should now be getting a clear understanding the 

. ":"" 
•'' 

number oftimes a child has gone missing, the parents believe there 
was an abduction and the FBI was caBed. It is a guarantee that the 
FBI has a very large and aged file on missing children under very 
suspicious circumstances, a file we will never see. 

...... 
:~ : .. . ~: 

... 
•: 

., : 
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Vermont Missing People 

The cases listed below all occurred in the far southwest corner of 
the state. ln the years of research on thi s project, 1 ha ve never seei1 

such a condensed and consistent grouping of missing people as has 
occurred in the Bennington area. Many of the incidents occurred 
on Glastenbury Mountain, and many items 1 've read ha ve stated 
that Native Americans consider this area a forbidden zone where 
they will not travel. 1 can' t confirm this is true as J've never spoken 
with Native American Elders from the area; however, it does appear 
there is something very uncomfortable about the Bennington area 
during the t ime fra mes outlined below. 

It 's an amazing fact that six of the seven missing people went 
missing in the months of October to December, months in Yermont 
when people rarely spend extensive time in the outdoors. 

N ame 
Alfred J. Bishop 
Alice Baker 
Carl Herrick 
Middie Rivers 
Paula Welden 
Paul Jepson 
Freída Langer 

Alfred J. Bishop 

Date Missing•Age•Sex 
1 J/03/26•Unk•M 
08/16/37•20 mos•F 
ll /26/43•37•M 
ll / 12/45•75•F 
12/0J /46•1 8•F 
I0/12/50•8•M 
1 0/28/50•53•F 

Missing 11 /03/26, Reading, Yermont 
Age at Disappearance: Unknown 

Alfred Bishop and bis friend Morri s Gallagher left their resi­
dence in Felchville and traveled a short distance to their hunting 
area in a region near Reading, Yermont. The m en arrived early in th~ 
day and decided to split up and meet back at their cars atan agreed­
upon time. Alfred never came back. Once Morris rea lized his friend 
wasn't going to arrive, he searched the immediate area of their cars 
and then headed to Spcingfield to get addit ional assistance. 

Approximately twenty-four hours after Alfred disappeared, 
searchers found bis body under very, very strange circumstances. 
On November 4, the Lewiston Dai~)l ran the following description 
of the scene: 
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Bishop's. body was jound beside an abandoned road in !he ll'oods 
11ear the summer camp ofA 11om e y General Jo/m G. Sargen!. There 
1rere e1·idences [shjof a terrific struggle in the S/1011', ll'hich 1vas 
beaten doH·njiJr a distanc:e of 60 paces about the hut~r. Stre11·n 
obo/11 in d([{e.rent directions were Bislwp's r(f/e, CO{If, and glo1·es. 

' 

The article also staled, ·'The state's attorney said he was puz­
zled by tJ1e lack ofblood stains in the snow. A preliminary examina­
lían disclosed no wounds on Bishop's body." 

Alft'ed's body was sent for aulopsy. The Bridgeport Telegmm 
had an article on November 6 that described the autopsy result: 
''A n autopsy was performed today on the body of Alfred Bishop of 
Felchville and f'ai led lo dispel the mystery of' the young man's death 
during a hunting trip Wednesday. No ex lern al marks of violence 
were di$olosed on the autopsy." Later in the same article it had this 
des~rib.ing the area where Alfred was found: ''The snow had been 
trampled over a considerable area and there was every evidence of' 
a terri fic struggle." 

Thirty-five miles southeast of Reading is West Townshend, a 
locatiotJ where an equally baffting death occurred with some paral­
lel elements, the case ofCa rl Herrick, identified later in th is chapter. 

. 
Alice L·órraine Baker 
Missing 08/16/37, Bald Mountain, Bennington, Yermont 
Age al Disappearance: 20 months 

Mr: and Mrs. Kimball Baker were from 1-ludson Fa lis, New York, 
when tlley chose to spend a summer vacat ion al a Bald Mounta in 
cabin fi.ve mil es north of Benn ington, Vermont. The Bakers had 
lhree children, Alice being the youngest at lwenty months. The 
vacation cabin was located on an isolated side road approxi mately 
one mile from Highway 7, which links Benn inglon and Rutland. 

Late in the nfternoon on August 16, Mrs. Baker needed to go to 
a neighbor's house and left Ali ce alone at lhe cabin. She relurned 
ten minutes .later to fi nd Alice missing. She quick ly searched the 
aren ar~und ~he cabin, yelled her name several times, and did not 
gel a r~sponse. Mrs. Baker went back to tl1e neighbor's house and 
requested addilional assistance and asked that law enforcement be 
nolifi ed. 
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After two intensive days of searching for the twenty-month;.;~~~ 
girl law enforcement officials made several interesting statem~~ts·. · · 
On 'August 18, 1937 the Telegraph rana story carrying. a s~ries et. 
quotes. The first statement is from the local constable m .t?e ar~~~ 
Ralph Young: ••Maybe Alice didn't wander away alone mto ·-~~e 
woods. l'm afraid somethin·g else happened to her." County Sh~_rlff 
Clyde Peck stated in the same article that he felt Alice Bake~·.h:~_d 
been kidnapped. . . · .·: .. : .. 

Weather in the area during the search had turned qutte c~l~ at 
night with occasional showers. On August 19, 1937 The .Met~i~~n 
Daily ran a quote from Sheriff Peck: ''The child could n~t~pos~t~ly 
have survived the cold and exposure of the past two mghts. ~e 
went on to say that searchers are continuing to look for Alic~ a~d · 
have found nothing. The sáme article stated, "Searchers contt~u~d 
to tramp the woods about the Baker's summer home today, but.t~_ey · 
were not hopeful after failure of three bloodhounds to find a s.~e~t 
yesterday.H · . 

1 

• : 1 : •• ·: 

· The search for Alice was going to be termmated on Augus~ __ 20 
when something drastic happened. Volunteers searching ·a s~l.~qm 
used logging road thought they heard moa?ing: ~he searchers br~.~e 
through thick undergrowth and found Ahce sttt~ng under· a sp~u:e 
tree. The girl was naked sitting on her on~-ptece blue sun . ~~1t. 
Doctors later examined the girl and and stated that she would.b~_~P 
and playing in a few days. There was no statement about.del~ydra-
tion or her appetite. · .. ,. :. . 

This case has many similarities to the disappearance of K~vm 
Ayotte ¡11 Sugar Bush, Minnesota. Both kid~ were ~lose in.age. Both 
disappeared while their parents were outstde thetr vacattOn ~o1~1e. 
Both vacation bornes were in very remote areas. · · · .. 

Case Summary: . . .. · . 
Wow! 1 wish 1 had be(m a criminal investtgator m Bennn~gton 

in the late 1930s to early 1940s. Again, high strangeness·stri_ke.s the 
Bennington area. The disappear~nce of Alice. has .lef~ niany u~a~ .. 
swered questions, and l'Jn surpnsed the shenff dtdn t make ~ddt-
tional statements after she was found. : _. 

lt's obvious from the articles and quotations that law enforce-
ment felt that something abnormal occurred to Atice. lt's·· also 
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·.. . ó~·vi~us from the quotations that nobody thought she would be 
· .: .. found alive. Remember the rationale behind people's beliefthe girl 

. ~ould not be found alive-cold weather and her age. She was found 
.:-::· ·· naked. Does this sound Hke a person who was supposed to die from 
. . ::· . .. · · exposure? 
-·~. :~.~ . SheriffPeck made a statement that he felt Alice had been kid­
: , · .. ~· napp~d. He made that statement because she was nowhere near the 
... · ·' cabin, and she was onJy twenty months oJd. The sheriff knew the 

:: . g~tl could not have gane far because of her size and age; she also 
·: -~· · dtdn't have the ability to withstand in the wilds alone. How did 

· · · Alice sürvive if she didn't have assistance? 
The last item of interest on this case is the Iack of success by 

· the bloodhounds. In almost every case in which small children 
.,
1 

: .. : :. 1
• disappear, and are found at a distan ce from their original location 

... :·> where Iaw enforcement officers don't feel they could have gotten on 

.. . their own, canines can't seem to find a scent, or won't track. This 
.'! ~.:_:. .. j.s ap issue that SAR.officials wouldn't understand unJess they have 

1 researched hundreds of cases with similar canine behavior. · 
. ... ~ . •' ' 

Carl Herrick 
1 .Missing 11/23/43, West Townshend, Vermont 

Age at Disappearance: 37 years 
West · Townshend is approximately ten miles northeast of 

.. Bennington. It's a rural area with thick woods surrounding the com­
. munity. The town is on the east side of Glastenbury Mountain, the 

· ··· · · · location where Paula Welden disappeared. 
.1. 

.•... 
On November 23, 1943, Carl Herrick and his cousin Henry 

Herrick went to West Townshend for deer hunting. At some point 
during the hunt, the Herricks got separated, and Carl never arrived 
at camp. Henry notified law enforcement almost immediately. In an 
unfortunate turn for searchers, snow started to fall th~ first night 
_that Carl was missing. 

The ·search for Carl continued for three days without finding 
any trace of the man. Late on that third da y, Carl's cousin, Henry 
found Carl on the mountain lying on the ground, motionless. Henry 
walked to the body and found Carl's face black, with minor scratches 
on the arms and hands. There were sorne alleged "huge" bear tracks 
on the ground in the area. Carl's rifle was found Jeaning against a 
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tree seventy feet away. There was one expended round lying on the 
ground near the rifle. 

A November 27, 1943 article in the Dunkirk Evening Obser ver · 
had the following: "Acting coroner Carlos Otis said the bear had 
cuffed (scratched) Herrick about the hend but killed him by squeez­
ing. The victim's lung was punctured." 

Case Summary: 
After conducting thousands of hours of research and reading 

countless documents about a person's cause of death, 1 have never 
read about a bear that squeezed an adult to death. Many of the arti~ 
eles surmised that Carl shot a bear, placed his rifle against a tree, 
and walked up to the body to find the bear still alive. All hunters 
are trained to keep their weapons with them, walk to the body, and 
touch the eye with the barre! to ensure the animal doesn't flinch . lt's 
hard forme to believe that Carl placed hi s rifle against the tree and 
walked seventy feet toa downed bear. 

Henry had told searchers that the pair were hunting deer, not 
bear. Even if Carl was charged by a bear, the likelihood of him 
shooting a huge bear only once and immediately dropping the ani­
mal would be mini mal. A hunter would fire multiple times to ensure 
a wounded bear wasn't running around in the wi ld. 1 fa bear charged 
Carl, 1 seriously doubt he'd lean hi s rifle against a tree just before 
his demise. 

lt's also extrernely hard to believe that a bear would graba per­
son and try to squeeze him to death , especially black bears in the 
United S tates, which are not that large. 1 fa bear grabbed a per­
son, it would bite and claw him. There was not one mention on any 
report of asevere cut, bite or wound to Carl, only minor scratches 
and no bite marks. The coroner stated that Carl had a broken rib 
that punctured his lung. The force it takes to break a rib and punc­
ture a lung is exceptional , and 1 don' t believe that a black bear in 
North America could accomplish this on a grown adult male with­
out inflicting severe parallel injuries that would make it clear it was 
a bear. 

Carlleft behind fi ve small children. 
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Middie Rivers 
Missing 11 /12/45, Glastenbury Mountai n, Benninglon, Vermont 
Age at b ,isappearance: 75 years 

. Middie Rivers li ved almost his entire lite in the Bennington 
area. He truly enjoyed the outdoor lifestyle and devoted every free 
minute ofhis time to hunting and fishing the area. Middie was lucky 
lo blend a hobby into bis job. He became a game guide. 

On November 12, 1945, Midd ie was taking four hunters onto 
Glastet1bury ·Mountain. They spent the da y on the mountain and 
were ~t) their way back clown. Midd ie had made this trip hundreds 
of1imes; he knew thi s mountain like you know your backyard. As 
the group was returning, Middie got slightly ahead and somehow 
never arrived at their vehicles. 

A s·earch was conducted, and the path that the group look was 
retraced. The only item that searchers fou nd was one bu llet next 
10 a cre.ek along the path that Middie was traveling. The newspa­
pers printed the foll owing answer about the di scovery of the bullet. 
"Middie leaned down lo get a drink and it fell out of his pocket." 

· Searchers never found Midd ie, never fou nd his supplies, rifle, 
coat, hat, nothing. 

Case Summary: 
Middie \Vas 1he one individual in the Benn inglon area who 

would 1iever get lost. The idea thal sea rchers could n'llocate his bodv - . -
means·that he was taken from the area; there is no other explanat ion. 

Fi nding the bullet next to the creek could have one othcr expla­
nalion,. Middie may have been walking near the creek, saw whal 
appeared to be a lhreat, removed a bullet from his coal, and as he 
was trying to load hi s firearm, was overpowered. 
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Paula Jean Welden 
Missing 12/ 1/46, Glastonbury Mountain, Bennington, Vermo'nt 
Age at Disappearance: 18 years 
s·s··, 122 lbs 

Bennington sits at the far southwestern portion ofVermont, two 
miles from the New York border and six miles from MassachÚsetts. 
Thick woods surround the city with the Green Mount~in National 
Forest just to the northeast. Glastenbury Mountain is locate·d just to 
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the J~orthea.st of~he mai n portion of Bennington and approximately 
an e1ght-mlle dn ve up H1ghway 7. Somerset Reservoir sits just to 
the east of the mountain. Glastenbury Mountain has en elevation of 
approx imately 3600 feet. 

On December 1, 1946, Paula Welden was a sophomore at 
Bennington College. It was a Sunday, and Paula had worked the 
breakfast and lunch sh ifts at her di ning hall. She went back to her 
do.nnitory room and told her room mate that she was going on a hike 
to.Giastenbury Mountain. S he put on blue jeans, sneakers, and too k 
her red pnrka. 

A motorist who was passing Paula picked her up and dropped 
h~.r ~~ ~ong Trail at the base of the mountain. Somewhere along 
th1s trall Paula met fate and was never seen again . Her roommate 
:eported her as missing a day after Paula went to the mountain, hop­
!ng she would return. She never did . 
. ~aula's father, W. Archibald Welden, was an industrial engi­
neer 111 Glastenbury and her mother, Pamela, took care ofthe house­
hold duties. Once news came of Paula's di sappearance, her parents 
responded to the campus and stayed onsite for al most two weeks 
while the search was conducted. There were many false leads and 
ru'mors that ensued dur!ng the fourteen days. In short, nothing was 
.found, ~nd no leads were developed. The police did find the person 
who gave Paula a ride to the mountain, and he did confirm he did 
give the ride. Police al so found a person who was hikino down the 
mountain and who did see Paula at approximately 4:00 p.m. The 
man sta.ted that Paula asked him how long it was to the top of the 
mounta111. The man stated that he was slightly concerned because it 
got to be dusk at 5:00p.m., and then it started to snow (three inches 

. totí11 the fi rst n ight). 
Searchers scoured the mountain un ti 1 weather started to dete­

riOJ·ate. After two weeks, al! SAR operations were terminated for 
1946. 

On May 26, 1947 there was an article in the Meriden Daily 
Jo11rna/. The article explained that another two-day search for Paula 
was conducted over twenty-four-square miles. The following state­
ment appeared in the article: 
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Among spots investigated by searchers were Bickford Hollow area 
where a. "strong odor" at first believed to be that of an animal 
or human body was detected Saturday and the swamp section in 
Manchester where screams of a young girl were reported on the 
night that Paula disappeared. 

Law enforcement did have reports of a woman screaming in the 
swampy area that they were now searching again. The two days of 
search efforts did not produce any other positive results. 

Hundreds ofpeople participated in the search for Pauta Welden. 
The search was touted as one of the largest ever conducted in the 
area. 

Case Summary: 
At the time ofPaula's disappearance, there was nota state police 

department in Vermont, and this lack of a coordinated effort may 
have hindered the investigation. 1 do believe that Paula was mur­
dered and/or abducted or she would have turned up somewhere by 
now. There was never an inkling that Pauta was anything but a good 
student and a caring daughter. 

A December 17, 1961 article in the Sunday Herald hadan inter­
view with the Vermont State Police, now an established law e~force­
ment organization and still working the Welden case. The article 
stated that the Vermont investigators had cometo sorne definitive 
conclusions about the Pauta Welden case: "Pauta was either dead 
somewhere in the white vastness of Glastenbury Mountain or she 
had been carried away and killed." The last part of the previous 
statement has me a bit perplexed: "Carried away and killed"-by 
what? A normal-sized man would have an extraordinarily difficuli 
time carrying someone down off the mountain, Jet alone carrying 
her without being seen. 

One portion ofthis investigation has me very concerned. Many 
people who have disappeared and were subsequently found were 
found in swampy areas. Law enforcement did state that a witness 

· heard a female scream•in the swampy area of Bickford Hollow the 
night Paula disappeared. Bickford Hollow is a location off Long· 
Trail Road and probably a thousand feet from the end and to the 
north. The hollow is at the end of a long ridgeline that has its start ' 

.· 

1 ' 

. . :' •. 

·., 
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near Glastenbury Mountain. The elevation at the hollow is 1500 feet. 
Ifwe follow the evidence in many missing person cases listed in this 
book, ·.~here is a reasonably good likelihÓod that Paula Weldon is 
locate4 in the swamp. 

The.last issue of concern is what Paula was wearing, a red coat. 
lt would seem that the brighter the coJor of clothing the better the 
chance that searchers would find a missing person, almost the oppo­
site is .the case. It may be that the bright colors attract predators but 
it alsÓ. seems that many people who have disappeared ha ve been 
wearing red. 

Paul Jépson. 
Missi.ng: 10112/50, City Dump, Bennington, Vermont 
Age at ·oisappearance: 8 years 

N~ncy and Paul Jepson were schoolteachers in Schenectady, 
New )'ork, when they decided they wanted a rurallife for their fam­
ily. Pa'ut· goe'a job as the local tax collector in Shaftsbuty, and the 
family. bought a ranch ín that city. The Jepsons had two children, 
Nanc)f; ~even years old, and Paul, Jr., eight years old. 

The '.Jepson family was an energetic ·group who had several 
finandal interests. While Paul took ca re of the tamily farm and the 
tax coÜections, Nancy was responsible for their sixty-five pigs that 
they left at the Bennington dump. Every day Nancy would go to the 
dump:· ~nd ·relocate the pigs to a different plot at the si te. The dump 
was Iocated·at the base ofthe Bald Mountains. 

· O.j' .October 12, 1950 Nancy took the family truck with Paul, Jr. 
iri the.frpnt seat and drove to the dump as she usually did every day at 
3:30 p. m~ She parked the truck near the forest and adjacent to a ravine 
and st~rted the thirty minute process of moving the pigs. At the end · 
of th~ t1iove, Nancy carne back to the truck and found that Paul was 
missirn~: She ran to the woods calling Paul's na.me, then ran toward the 
ravín~ ~nd lóoked into the gully. S he didn 't see the boy. S he now went 
to the dump office and called her husband, who then called the sheriff. 
lnside:.~f.two. hours, deputies and wardens had responded to the dump 
and were: starting a search. 

1 
Pa~~.r Jepson felt his son might ha ve gone into the woods beca use 

1 

• • he hacl a. fascination with the forest. There was also a concern that . 
m~ybe:there was a slight landslide in the dump and the boy was 

·' . 
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buried. That possibility was checked and confirmed it did n~t oc~\1[· . 
The sheriff brought in a canine and attempted to track the bty s 
scent. The dog appeared to follow a scent down a road, onto ano ~er 
oad and then seemingly stopped. Al1 of the homes along t~.~se 
~oad~ were contacted, and nobody saw the boy. . . _.- · 

On October 16, 1950 the North Adams Transcrzpt ran the f~l-
lowing paragraph: ••sheriff Maloney said today tha~ he has· ~_ts­
carded for the time being any theory that the hoy mtght ha~e. ~~t 
with foul play." As the search continued, a Coast G~ard ~ehc~P,~er 
was brought to search the mountains for Paul. They dtd not have a~y 
luck in finding him. Professional and volunteer searchers l~oke~. for 
Paul Jepson, Jr. for almost two weeks, but they found nothi.ng .. · .. :. 

Case Summary: · · ·:~: 
The disappearance ofPaul Jepson occurred sixteen ~a~s be .ore 

the disappearance of Freída Langer. Langer and Jepson dtsap~e;red 
within miles of each other. Paul, Jr. disapp_eared at the base.-.o .. ·.the 
Bald Mountains. Alice was found on an old logging roa~ bet~;.en 

d Bald Mountain An investigator could not tgnor~. the. 
spruce an · . ·. 
geographical similarities and timelines between these cas~.. . =· 

A very important similarity between !he Baker, Weldón, Jepson. 
and Lange cases is that they disappeared m the woods. :~ese ~~-~ple 
did not disappear on a city sidewalk. Paul Jepson beheved ~~~~ son 

d d . to the woods. This is where 1 would have focu~e~ .my 
wan ~re . ~naving knowledge of many missing children in tp~· far' 
enerhgtes. ·t' f the U· S my gut would tell me that Paul ef\ded 
nort ern pot ton o · ., . . , 
up high on Bald Mountain, somewhere, somehow. . .. ·:· .. 

.. ·':'· .. 

Freida Langer · ·. 
Missing 10/28/50, Somerset, Vermont . .. 
·Age at Disappearance: 53 years . · · \. d 

Mr. and Mrs. Lang~r left their residence m North ·Ad~~s a~ 
roceeded to their hunting cabin in Som~rset, Vermont, ~~~~~ fo~r 

~niles east of Benningtón. Max and Fretda br?ught ~hetr. ~~~s~n 
Herbert Elsner with them to hunt. The group arnved_at.the c~b_m m 
the woods and unpacked their supplies. They were m an are~ that 
was known quite well to the Langers. They had owned an~- ,vaca-

tioned at this cabin for fourteen years. · 

.. :. 

.·:.· 
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On October 28, 1950, Max woke up with a very sore knee and 
told Freída and Herbert to go out and hunt and he'd stay behind at 
the camp. 
. Freida and Herbert got out of camp late- and were walking for 
almost ail hour when Freida tripped and fell into a small creek, get-
ting wet. She told Herbert that she would get cold and wanted to 
walk back to camp to change clothes. The two walked in the direc­
tion of ca~np for severa) minutes and then decided to momentarily 
split up but later meet back in camp; it was now 3:50 p.m. An article 
i~ the Lowe/1 Sun dated October 31, 1950 stated: "When last seen 
she (Freida Langer) was drenched from a fall in a brook and was 
within 150 yards of the woodland cabin she and her ·husband had 
o~ned for 14 years.'' 

· At 4:45 Herbert arrived back at camp and Freida had still not 
arrived. It was at this point that Max and Herbert decided to go 

· · ; o~t and search for Freida. The men were con cerned because Freída 
· :: . ' ·knew the area very well; there was no way in their minds that she 

· ~ould have been Jost, not this close to the cabin. 
The men did not find Freída the first night and obtained assis­

tance from wardens and law enforcement. A week-long search for 
F~eida c,ould not find the lady, and efforts were eventually suspended. 

Nothing further was developed on the search for Freída until 
." May 14, 1951. James Renton and Herman Lincoln were fishing in a 
: .s~ot three miles from the hunting cabin where Freida and Max were 

... : · s.taying. This area had been thoroughly searched when Freida had 
:·· · · .initially disappeared. The men saw something in high weeds at the 
..' ·.: ·end of a swampy area near a flood da m. The m en walked into the 
.. :. ·reeds and swamp and saw a body, the body of Freída Langer. A cor­
. ··:~.· oner_'s report indicated that Freída died from accidental drowning. 

· · Case Sumrnary: 
In reading the articles associated with the Freida Langer case 

.1 was shocked that there was not an inquest into her death. The 
·woman. was 150 yards away from a cabin that she had owned for 
fou~teen years. There is no way she was lost. This woman knew 
exactly where she was griing. S01nething very bad happened to her. 

The key to this and many other cases highlighted in this book 
is the location of the body. Freída was found in a swampy area in 
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high weeds, a description very similar lo many other locations 
where bodies in this book have been found. You cannot convince 
me thal people seek out swamps to walk into and die. Jt makes no 
sense! Freída knew thi s area as well as Kory Kelly new northern 
Minnesota (See Chnpter "Minnesota") when he disappeared, Kelly 
was found in almost an identical area as Freída. Jf a predator wanted 
to take a person into an area where they wou ldn' t be seen and a 
person wouldn' t walk up on them, a swamp with high reeds would 
be ideal. 

Chapter Summary 
A time span of twenty-four years represented all of the mi ss­

ing people in Vermont that met the criteria for thi s book. From 
1926-1950 seven people disappeared in Vermont and not another 
si.ngle disappearance in the wild-seems very odd. Something 
htghly unusual was happening in southwest Vermont durino those 

. o 
years, and tt then appears to have moved on to Pennsylvania. Ves, 
lhere was significant activity in Pennsylvania before 1950, but from 
1950- 1957 there were five di sappearances. There was a similar pat­
tern of disappearances in New Jersey and New England. . 

The disappearances of Paul Jepson, Jr. and Freída Langer six­
teen days apart cannot be ignored. Jepson, an eight-year old male, 
and Langer, a fifty-three-year-old female, both disappear in very 
rural settings and neither was ever found. Common sense diclates 
much about how an investigation is conducted. These dates are too ' 
close together and in too geographically close proximity lo each • 
other to think they are not somehow related. 

The million-dollar question is, what changed in this region after 
1950? 
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New }r;rsey Missing People 

A ll ofthe people missing from New Jersey are males. Two of the 
tht:ee people missing in New Jersey were exactly six years old 

al the t'ime o~ their disappearance. 

N ame 
Barofsky 
George "Bilty" Dansey 
Richard Peterson 

Barofsky, Unknown Fi rst Name 

Date Missing•Age 
07/01 / 1892•6 
10/08/ 19•30 MOS 
11 /05/82•6 

Missirlg 7/1/1892, Bridgeton, New Jersey 
Age at Disappearance: 6 years 

Ne\~Vspaper articles in the late 1800s and en rly 1900s usually 
didn't·.prü1t the first names of young children who were missing or 
who were victims of crime. lt was a rare occasion to find a ch ild's 
fi rst na.me; in this case no first name was listed in any article 1 found. 
The articles did indicate that the family did lose their "boy ... 

The Barofsky boy disappeared in a rural area where he lived in 
Carmel, New Jersey, three miles east of Bridgeton and four miles 
northw~st of Mi llville. The area of the disappearance is rich with 
swaníps·and 'water and is just west of Un ion Lake. 

Teams of searchers scoured the swamps for tour days for 
, . Bat¡ofs~y. There were heavy thunderstorms during these days that 

made th~ se:úchers face treacherous conditions. There are few facts 
surroui1ding ·how the boy disappeared, other than it was from the 
aren of l.1is residence. On the fourth day of searching, nearly eve­
ryone. ha~ given up find ing the boy except a beehive hunter, David 
Carmér . 

Mr. Carmen was over a mile from the Barofsky residcnce in 
very tl1ick swamps when he heard a fa int cry. The Weeklr /-lemhl 
hád an article about thc di scovery of the boy in its July 8, 1892 
editiot'l: · · 

The cf1i/d H'l/S found lwnging o11er a bush. There was al leas/ t11·o 
fe el oj\vate/surrounding it. The bushes withinthe cllild 's reacll /wd 
be~11 g!wwed and eaten. and the clothes were tom .fi'om 1lle /in/e 
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one, while blooJ strca111ed.fi·om rl1e II'OIII1ds and gasl~cs on its b~d;: 
and legs. The skin and.flesh on its /egs were torn off, TIS hands b~dl; 
lucerated and shrunken. · 

Doctors examined Barofsky and felt he may not sun.' ive be~a,use 
f Onl·a There were 110 follow-up articl es about hts condtn.on. o pneum . . . .. 

Case Summary: . . . -
All readers need to now reread the statement made tn the a..' tH;le. 

b 
e d "Hanging over a bush." 1 doubt he thrust hunself 

The oy was !Ottn · f' h ·'ctdl 
onto the bush to hang there. 1 doubt he placed himsel m t e m.t . e 
of the swamp. lt almost appears tome ~s th?ugh the boy. was bemg 
carried through the swamp thickets bemg npped and sctatched. As·. 
searchers got closer, the boy was placed safely on the top of a p~tsh, 
and the suspect escaped. 

George William " Billy" Dansey . 
Missing 10/08/ 19, Unknown Time, Hammonton, New Je¡sey 

Aoe at Disappearance: 30 months . . . 
o ¡

11 
July of 1919 Hercules Dansey a~d hts fam.t!y mov~ to 

Hammonton from Pittsburgh, Pennsylvama. The famtly ~ettled. ·tl1to 
a rural residence adjacent toa Dahlia Field and swam~s.. . . •) 

O O t '· 8 1919 thirty-month-old George Wtlltam (Btll) n e oüer , ' . d 
Dansey asked hi s mother i f he and Jack c~u ld go lllto ll~e y~r t~ 
1 1 k was Bi lly's three-year-old fax terner. The two were msep 

p ay .. ac ' 'd . . 
arable. Mrs. Dansey said they could go ou~st e. . ·. . 

After a short time, Mrs. Dansey went tnto tl~e yard and cm:~dn t 
fi nd Billy or Jack. She walked toward the dahlta field a.nd .th~ sur­
rounding swamps but couldn't find the pair. lt .was at tht s tun~ that 
Mrs Dansey called Hercules and the local poltce. . .. :· · 

Over the next severa! hours, police .requested, al! . avatla~le 
resources. From the start of the search, poltce were trust·! ate~· \\ tth 
the lack of clues or tracks. lt wasn't until late on the flrst day ~hat 
1 k 

lked back into the yard. The family took the dogback ~?\\ard 
. ac wa d "Wh · B' l\y?l' The doo 
the dahlia field and swamp and aske , ere ts 1 • . . • :::-

Jooked down and refused to move. . 
TI first night of the search the weather started to turn pad at.1d 

stayed1~ad off ancl on for many days. Severa! times rain f~n very 

hard in the search area. · · 
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One of the searchers working in a remote area found one of 
Bil ly's toys that was described as "smashed." They also found 
an abandoned home deep in the woods where someone had been 
sleeping. 

In the early days of the search, police made severa! statements 
that they believed Billy had been kidnapped. They stated that the 
evidence didn't add up, and they felt the boy had been taken. Posters 
printed about the boy were clistributed throughout the United States 
indicating there was a $1400 reward for his location and return. 

Police actually arrested an owner of a nearby farm in regards 
to Bi lly's disappeara nce. The theory behind why and how the man 
killed Billy didn' t make a lot ofsense, and it appeared as though that 
the pol ice wanted a quick e11ding toa case that disturbed the com­
munity. The man was later released after the parents publicly stated 
that they doubted the pol ice theory. 

Police followed leads across the continent, some very frustrat­
ing. There were people who stated they had the boy, but they didn't. 
There were some very cruel hoaxes pul led on the Dansey fa mi ly. 

Six weeks after Billy disappeared, a hu 11ter was deep in the 
swamps and came across what appeared to be a body. The hunter 
notified police, and they determined that Billy Dansey had been 
found. He was located in an area surrounded by one- to two-foot 
deep swamps in a very rough and thick location. Pol ice imme-
9iately stated that Billy had been abducted and dumped at the 
locat ion, as they did not feel he could get there under his own 
power. 

Portions of Bi lly's clothes were hung 011 bushes near the body 
but he was essentially naked except for a sh irt he was wearing. The 
body did not suffer bone fractures but the flesh had been eaten off 
the bones. The bones were in a formation showing that they had not 
been disturbed significantly from the time of death. A November 
23, 191 9 article in the New York Times had the follow ing: "There 
was no, blood fou11d and 011 that account there can be no bacterio­
logica l tests made of any of the clothi11g. Jt is a pity that the corpse 
was not found earl ier." 
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So, clothes were found off the body, and there was no blood on 
the clothing, meani ng, the clothes had been removed prior to the 
body being ravaged by animals. Later in the same article is this: 

Detective Wilson this afternoon told me tlrat he 1vas cerlainlhat the 
boy never gol into 1he woods where he wasfound by himself, beca use 
it would have been necessary for him lo force Iris way lhrough the 
quagmire and underbrush, and it would have exhausted hi,c; physi­
cal strength. The boy in the judgment of Wilson was carried to the 
place where he met his death. Wilson has not.fozmd a mark or bw­
ton which would be of assistance in unraveling this myste1y. 

On November 29 there was a coroner's inquest into the death of 
Billy Dansey. The inquest rehashed the points made by Detective ' 
Wi lson and added one additional important point. The inquest 
revealed that it was known by the fam ily that Billy cou ld not undress 
himself. Billy's clothes were found inside out. He couldn' t do this. 
lt was also revealed that ten days befare Bil ly disappeared, his dog 
had received sorne type of head injury while playing 'by itself The 
exact cause of the injury could not be determ ined, but they did not 
know ifit was related to the disappearance. 

Case Summary: , 
The only difference in the Dansey case and dozens of others 

cited in this book is that detectives understood that the factual cir­
cumstances surroundi ng the disappearance were odd and didn't 
make sense. Billy was fou nd in the middle ·of a swamp, li ke many 
other children in this book. Bil ly's clothes were removed, like many 
other chi ldren in this book. Billy died, like many other children 
cited in this book. Billy's clothes were removed by someone other 
than Billy, something that has happened to other chi ldren in this 
book but probably wasn't addressed by the press, search and rescue 
personnel, or law enforcement. 

This case was very public, and the facts surrounding it caused 
many to be concerned." Poi ice needed to sol ve the Dansey case and 
settle the community's concern, but the case was never solved. 
Communication in the early 1900s was not nearly what it is today. 
1 f law enforcement offi cials had known the number of eh ildren who 
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.. 
had disappeared under frighteningly simi lar c ircumstances to Billy 
Dansey,· this case would still be under investigation. 

l \~Ol!ld li ke every reader to puta book marker on this case and 
go back through each book and find the number of disappearances 
similar .to Billy's. You will be shocked at the number. 

There is one friend of Billy's that probably knows the enti re 
story apout his disappearance, Jack the fox terrier. Jack lost his bes! 
friend and probably harbored a horri fic story. 

R icharcJ: Peterson 
Missi~g 'Jl /5/82, 3:30p.m., Delmom, New Jersey 
Age at Disappearance: 6 years 

, . On friday, November 5, 1982, Richard and Bryan Peterson 
were vísiting .their grandparents' home in a rural area of Delmont, 
New Jersey. Delmont sits two miles north of Delawart! Bay nea r 
the sloLighs a'nd less than one mile from the Heislerville Fish and 
Wi ld life Management Area and one mile from Bel leplain State 
Forest. 'fhere are very few homes in the area, and it sits in a region 
with acres of standing water. The entire area around Delmont is 
very wild and filled with open space and wildlife. 

Ri <;:h_ard and Bryan were playi ng in the yard at their grand­
parent~' when the grandmother realized that both boys had disap­
peared. 'She d.id a cursory search of the yard and the immediate area 
and co4ldn't find either boy. Searchers started to arrive at the house 
at 4:00.p.m: and by 5:30, Bryan had been found one-halfmi le from 
thehouse in a wild and remote region. Searchers started to accum u­
late an·d expand the search without finding Richard. Over three hun­
dred s~archers had joined the hunt for Richard by Saturday morn­
ing. The searchers included soldiers frorn Fort Dix and surrounding 
armed forces·· bases. 

Se~ i'chers were getting very conccrnecl for Richard's welfare, 
as ir was. a '{ery cold stretch of weathcr in New Jersey. On Sunday. 
a hunter, Frahk Madden, decided he was going into the woods to 
check hi s hunting blinds. At 8:00a.m., he thought he henrd a slight 
moaniqg sou.nd. Frank stopped and listened and heard nothi ng. He 
started .walking aga in and then heard a sound similar to crying. 
Frank fol lowed the sounds to an area near an nbancloned sawmill 
and found Richard ly ing naked on the grou nd. A November 8, 1982 
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article in t\'1e Philadelphia Daily News had the fo\\owing st;:¡.tem~nt 
from Frank Madden: · 

He couldn't raise his head. 1 guess tl-lat 's why he couldn 't ho/Úir 
loud. Madden said. The boY was glassy eyed and weak and ins 
pants and shoes wete missing, Madden said. 1 tried to tal k to _hiin 
but he was, just staring way off The only thing 1 could understand 
was, in the woods al/ night, or something like that. : 

Madden checked and found the boy did not have broken bon,es 
and then wrapped him in a blanket and carried him to the nearest . 
home. The boy was transported to the hospital and placed in a w~rm 
bath to raise his body temperature. · ·.-

Richard had scratches over his entire body, and bis clothing ~as 
not found. .·. 

Case Summary: 
Readers need to remember that this occurred in Noveinber 

in New Jersey, a very cold region at that time of year. The idea 
that Richard stripped himself of the clothing does not make sense. 
Richard was found in a daze, as many children are fourid in ~his 
same situation. It's an interesting scenario that both boys went Jll~SS­
ing simultaneously and that the articles do not state the conditiqri of 

Bryan when found. .. 

Chapter Summary 
New Jersey was excluded from the New England section, b\lt it 

could have been included. The only people missing in this secti~n 
are three boys~ all under age six. 
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LISTS 

. I am including two specific lists l used in evaluating the miss-
_mg-person phenomena: " · 

Children Under Ten Years 
Master Missit1g Person List 

I. enc~urage. all amateur sleuths to study the na mes, dates, and 
locatiO~s to see tf you can identify trends. 

M1ssing Children Under JO Years 
F-Kati~ Fly~n MI-----3--.. ---.. -06/1868-Unk 
M-EddJe Pngley IN-----3--------08/22/1874-Unk 
M-Stephen Ford PA-----9---.. ----08/05/1880-Unk 
M-Bachman PA-----4M-----.. 06/I0/1883-PM 
M-James Vaughan ID-.. ---18M---08/20/1883-10·00 F o · . a.m. 

- avJs PA-----30M----05/09/1888-Unk 
M-Barofsky NJ 6 . ----- --------07/01/1892 .. Unk 
F-Mary Sholtas PA-----3 .. -------04/21/1897-Unk 
M-~ugustus Staneker PA-----4--------o412111897_Unk 
F -Stmpson PA-----3--------05/27/1901-Un k 
M-Horac~ M~rvin Jr. DE---- 4--------05/04/1907-Unk 
M-Roy Btlgnen WI --2---------10/2111910-Un k 
M-James Glass PA-----4-----.. --05/12/15-Unk 
M-Edward Gately MA----2---------10/27/17-10:30 a.m. 
M-Abe Carroll Ramsay GSM--3-------~03/11/1919-3:15 p.m .. 
_M-Geo~~e Da~sey NJ---.. -30M---10/08/1919 .. Unk 
M-Eddte Hamdton SASK-2---------07/06/28-Unk 

' F-Geraldine Markline . PA-----2---------10126129_Unk 
M-Ke~t~eth ?wanson CT-----2--------0S/24130_Noon 
F-Cectha_ M~tchell CA----3--------05102132_12:30 p.m. 
M-Wesley Ptatote WA----7---------0S/04/32_PM 
~-Frank Lobears ID-----7---------06125133_Unk 
M-Alden Johnson MA--- 4--------03/27/34-3:30 p.m. 
~-Betty Wolfrum MA N- 4--------05/15/34-Unk 
l\1-Bo~by Connor NY----21M--07/13/34-6:00 p.m . 
F-Clatre Bensen CT----21M-07/24/34-PM 

;· •. 
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F-Rita Lent 
F-Thelma Ann Wilke 
M-Jack Pike 
M-Harold King 
M-Charles Warren 
F-Alice Baker 
F-Florence Jackson 
F-Marjorie West 
M-David Baumgarten 
M-Albert BeiJhartz 
M-Donald Farrington 
M-Jerry Hays 
M-Teddy Thompson 
F-Helen Chenoweth 
M-Simon Skogan 
M-Ronald Rumbaugh 
M-Rudy Kunchick 
M-Murray Upshaw, Jr. 
M-Eldridge Albright 
F-Betty Bossier 
M-Joseph Prato 
M-Ronald McGee 
M-Alvan Diggan 
.M-Lloyd Hokit 
M-Mike McDonald 
M-Dickie Suden 
F-Katherine Van Alst 
M-Eugene Shue 
M-Jimmy Senser 
F-Greta Mary·oale 
M-Wayne Bowers 
F-Carolyn Peterson 
M-Louis Dunton 
M-Donald Collier 
M-Jerry Lee Hoffman" 
F-Janet Federer 
M-Rickey Tankersley 

PA----3-----11/22/34-Noon 
WI----21 M--05/03/35-PM 
MAN-5------09/05/35-Unk 
WI----3------09/07/36-Unk 
AR----2------12/20/36-PM 
VT----20M--08/16/37-PM 
AR----4-----09/06/37-PM 
PA----4------05/08/38-Unk 
CA----2------05/11/38-Noon 
C0----4-----07/02/38-8:30 a.m. 
NY----3------09/11/38-8:00 a.m. 
AZ----5------11/10/38-Unk 
NCA--4-----01/29/39-PM 
IL-----3------03/28/40-6:00 p.m. 
MAN-9------07/02/40-Unk 
PA----2------09/15/40-2:00 p.m. 
PA----4------10/21140-Unk 
GA----2------11/08/40-Noon 
PA----3------05/21/41-2:00 p.m. 
PA-----3------06/25/41-1 0:30 a.m. 
PA----19M---l 0/25/41-Unk 
AZ----2------02/07 /42-AM 
PA----3------05/30/42-Unk 
OK----9------1 0/21/45-3:00 p.m. . 
AZ----2------1 0/30/45-AM 
CA----3------11/01/45-9:00 a.m. 
AR----8------06/16/46-2:30 p.m. 
PA-----3------1 0/20/46-2:00 p.m. 
PA----4--··--04/06/47-5:00 p.m. · 
NCA--30M--06/29/47-1 0:00 a.m. 
CA----3·-----07 /05/47-Un k 
OH-·--20M--08/20/47·11 :00 a.m. 
NH----3------10/07/47·6:00 p.m. 
PA----23M--07/02/48-4:00 p.m. · 
OH----3------08/05/48-6:00 p.m. 
WY----6-·-----09/29/48-1 :00 p.m. 
AL-----2-------02/16/49-4:30 p.m. 

... 

,},., 

. ; 

•·' a 

·, •, 

. · . M-Billy:Abbptt 
M-Billy Clev.er 
M-Daryt· Webley 
M..:Michael Fontaine 
M-La-~ry.·Coleman 
M-btis· T. ·Mason 
F-Anrta Thorpe 

' M-Jackie Copeland 
F-Nicole ·Renaud 
F-Sus~n ·sweely 
F-Lorra.ine Sinith 
M-Paul Jepson 
M-Larry McGee 
F-Janet~McGee 
M-Stev~n. Cross 
M-Raymond Hall 
M-Keiih Pa~kins 
M-Joey Barkley 
F-Patty. ·A-nn Mclean 
F-Geraidin~ Huggan 
F-Emma Bowers 
F-Shirley Sherman 
M-Gaty Bail.ey 
M-Jess :oavis 
M-Fre.d.. Hohnes 
F-lda May Curtis 
F-Nora',Moore 
M-Ron'ttie Weitkamp 
F-Dian~ Abbott 
M-Toniq-ty Bowman 
M .. Dav'id Allen Scott 
M-Richard Craig 
F-Candida Streeter 
F-Min·ni.e Haun 
F-Jill Hatch · 
F-ShirÍéy Arm Ramsburg 
M-Joh,n McKinney 
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PA-----3-------02/18/49-4:30 p.m. 
PA------3-------04/26/49-PM 
WA-----2-------04/30/49-4:00 p.m. 
M E-----6-------05/30/49-Un k 
MN-----3-------08/20/49-Unk 
MD----6-------10/11/49- 5:00p.m. 
PA------2-------05/05/50-Unk 
PA------2-------05/14/50-1 :00 p.m. 
ME-----3-------06/03/50- 3:00 p.m. 
IL-------2----·--08/09/50-7:00 p.m. 
ALB---2-------09/02/50-5:00 p.m. 
VT-----8-------10/1 2/50-3:30 p.m. 
NM-----7-------06/07/51-3:00 p.m. 
NM-----5-------06/07/51-3:00 p.m. 
NM-----3-------06/07/51-3:00 p.m. 
BC-----6-------06/09/51-Un k 
WA-----2-------04/1 0/52-Noon 
CA------2-------03/11 /53-1:00 p.m. 
MT-----3-------07/04/53-2:30 p.m. 
ONT----5-------07/05/53-10:00 a.m. 
PA------5-------07/22/53- Unk 
WV-----3-------04/18/54-1 :00 p.m. 
ME-----3-------07/17/54-Unk 
OR-----2-------05/08/55 -A M 
PA------23M---05/25/55-9:00 a.m. 
MT-----2-------07/04/55-6:00 p.m. 
AL.;.----7-------07/18/55-4:00 p.m. 
IN------3-------1 0/11/55-Noon 
ME-----2-------07/06/56-2:00 p.m. 
SCA----8-------03/23/57-7:00 p.m. 
YOSE--2-------07/13/57-l :00 p.m. 
WA-----5-------08/15/57-1 0:00 a.m. 
PA------2-------10/03/57-5:30 p.m. 
GSM---3-------10/08/57-1 :00 p.m. 
CA------7-------11/02/57- 11:00 a.m. 

WV-----3-------12/27/57-5:00 p.m. 
WV-----5-------03/17/58-3:00 p.m. 
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F-Brenda Jean Doud 
F-Mary Gay Bent 
F-Debbie Ann Greenhill 
M-Kenneth Scott 
M-WiJiard E. Jones, Jr. 
F-Carol Van Hulla 
M-Richard Herman 
M-Randy Moy 
M-Martin Ryan 
M-Bruce Kremen 
F-Lisa Schackelford 
M-Ciaude Goodwin 
M-Bobby Panknin 
M-DonaJd R. Griffen 
M-Dennis Lloyd Martin 
M-Richard Spyglass 
F-Bonnie Lee Edwards 
F-Christine Woollett 
M-Dennis Johnson 
F-Diane Prevost 
M-Kenneth Coon 
M-Danny Greenwood 
M-Douglas C. Chapman 
M-Douglass Legg 
M-Jimmy Duffy 
F-Jennifer Klein 
M-Jeffrey Bratcher 
M-Yehudi Prior 
M-Kurt R. Newton 
F-Megan Ginevicz 
M-Larry D. Krebbs 
M-Richard Ray Barnett 
M-Kevin Jay Ayotte 
M-Richard Peterson 
M-Tyler lnman 
F-Nyleen Kay Marshall 
M-Michael E. Reel 

NY-----5-------07/06/58-Unk 
MT-----5-------07/13/58-3:00 p~.m. :. · ·: 
KY------2--------08/09/58-8:00 p.~. . ... 

· MI------4-------09/28/58-2:00 p.m .. ·:·~ . 
M0-----3-------01/17/59- Unk . 
MI------3-------06/28/59-6:00 p. in. ·.~ · .. ·· 
WA-----6-------08/30/59-Noon . ·:·· 
OH------3-------01/08/60-3:30 p.m;· ·:. 
OR------8-------06/30/60/PM · · ·: :· 

. SCA----8-------07/13/60-Unk' .. · '· 
IL-------3-------07/10/62-11:00 a.m ... · 
WA-----8-------06/16/63.-Unk ' 
WA-----4-------08/03/63-Unk .. 
YOSE--4-------08/22/63-8:30 a.rn· .. ··· 
GSM---7-------06/14/64-4:30·p.m ... · 

. SASK--5-------08/05/64-7:00 p.m ... . 
NC-----9-------0 l/09/65-4:3~· p.m.~. 
WA-----2-------05/1 2/66-8:00 p.m! 
WY-----8-------07/12/66-1 :30 p.m . . : 
ONT----2-------09/17/66-Un k . 
sc~-----2-------04/28/67-Unk ... · 
AZ------5-------06/08/67-1 :00 p.~; . 
ME-----3-------06/02171-1 0:30 a~ m ... 
NY-----8-------07/10171-Unk 
WA-----2-------10/19/73-Unk p. 

UT------3-------05/25174-Unk 
WA-----7-------06/15/74-6:30 p.1n~ 
BC------2-------09/23174-Unk : ·: 
M E-----4-------09/0 1175-Unk 
MT-----2-------04/30/80-U.nk .. : .. , 
OK------2-------06/30/8()-5:30 p.¡p .• 
WA-----2-------08/31182-7:00 a.m. 
MN-----3-------09/30/82-PM 
NJ------6-------11105/82-3:30 P:nj; 
WA-----3-------12/21/82-Unk .-
MT-----4-------06/25/83-4:00 .p~. · 
GSM---8-------07/02/83-9:30· a.m. 1 

' 

'. 

.. 
•• •• t 

.M-Andrew Warburton 
... ·· F-Lynn Mari e HiJiier 

1 F-Colleen Tourtillott 
' M-Nathan Madsen 

1. M-Travis Zweig 
M-Victor Shoemaker 
f:-Ashley Krestianson 

.. M-Bryce Herda 
- · ... ·. · .' M-Ruben David Felix 

·.; •• : : • 1 • M-Derrick Engebretson 
,·.· ·: . · M-Frank Downey 
.· M-Jaryd Atadero 

F-Leeanna Warner 
. M-David Gonzales 

• ~ • o 

M-David Tippen 
M-Evan Thompson 
M-SamueJ BoehJke 

. t 

F-Hannah Klamecki 
M-William Pilkenton 

. · !Vf-Wyatt LittJe Light 
~... M-Avery .B. Blakeley 

M-Joshua Childers 
·· F-Madyson Jamison 

·~· 

,: . 

.. 

·" . 

i 
1 . 
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ME-----9-------07/0 1/86-Unk 
BC------2-------07 /24/86-Unk 
WI-----18M----07/03/88 .. 6:00 p m 
OR-----9-----.. -10/22/89-2:30 p.~.· 
CA------2-------03/1 0/93-1 0·30 
W 

. a.m. 
V----4-------05/0 l/94-Noon 

SASK--8-------07/14/94-Unk 
WA-----4-------04/09/95-Un k 
ID------2-------02/23/97-Unk . 
OR-----8-------12/5/98-3:00 p.m. 
KY-----4-------08116/99-8·30 p .. m. 
C0-----3-------1 0/02/99 Unk 
MN-----5-------06114103-4·30 p 
e . .m. 

A------9-------07/3J/04-8·00 a 
G 

.. m. 
A-----4-------08/0 1 /04-AM 

C0-----8-------05/27 /06-AM 
OR-----8------- J 0/04/06-4:00 p.m. 
IL------5-------06/13/07-Urik . 
BC-----7-------02/15/08-JO·OO 
M 

. a.m. 
T-----2-------12/23/08-Unk 

ID------2-------03/26/09- 1:30 p.m. 
M0-----3-------05104109-1 1 :45 a.m. 
OK-----5-------10108109- 2:00p.m. 
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Children Missing by Month 

Jan-4 
Feb-5 
Mar-8 
Apr-10 
May-21 
Jun-22 
July-28 
Aug-19 
Sep-12 
Oct-20 
Nov-6 
Dec-5 
Total-160 

8:00 p.m.-2 
9:00 p.m.-1 
Unk Time-53 
PM hours-11 
AM hours-5 

By Hour of Da y 

7:00 a.m.-1 
8:00 a.m.-2 
9:00 a.m.-4 
10:00 a.rn.-6 
11:00 a.rn.-7 
Noon-9 
1:00 p.m.-8 
2:00 p.m.-8 
3:00 p.m.-12 
4:00p.m.-9 
5:00 p.rn.-9 
6:00 p.m.-9 
7:00 p.m.-4 

**30 minutes after the hour posted on next hour. 

Missing Children Under Ten Categorized by Age and Gender 

Males Females 
Age/# A gel# 
1-1 1-0 
2-30 2-17 
3-25 3-17 
4-18 4-3 
5-6 5-8 
6-6 6-1 
7-6 7-2 
8-11 8-2 
9-6 9-1 
109-Males 51-Females 160-Total 

. 
. :~ 

:•· 

.¡ 

.. 1 
. :• 

· .. • 
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T_he~e i~ a s~gnificant bubble ofmissing males between the ages 
oft~.to four (73) with the closest female group being two to three 
ye·ar~J34). _lt does seem odd that there is a significant · increase in 
males:_n1issing at age eight, while the female numbers stay consist­
ent frQrri six to nine years old. 

Odd Coinciéiences 

West:Virginia Date Missing 
Shirley.Aim _Ramsburg (3 years-Female) 12/27/57-5:00 p.m. 
John:~ayne McKinney (5 years-Male) 03/17/58-3:00 p.m. 

Ho~ coincidental is it that-in one three-month time span, a boy 
and girl.go missing in West Virginia in a two-hour time window? 

F-Ma~·y Sholtas 
M-Aú.gustus Staneker 
F-Da~is ·· 

F-Sin1pson 

04/21/1897-Unk-3 years old 
04/21/1897-Unk-4 years old 
05/09/1888-Unk-30 mos old. 
05/27/1901-Unk-3 years old 

· The four cases above come directly from the missing Iist. Jt 
seems.-'strange that four cases in the late 1800s to early 1900s all 
come.from pennsylvania. 

• 1 

M-NY-Bobby Connor 
F-CT.:...CJaire Bensen 
F-PA.;·Rita Lent 
F-WI--Thelma Ann Wilke 

07/13/34-6:00 p.m.-21 mos old 
07/24/34-PM-21 mos old 
11/22/34-Noon-3 years old 
05/03/35-PM-21 mos old 

E~~h of the cases above occurred in the northern portion of the 
Uniteq. States. All three cases involving females occurred within a 
span óf less than ten months-as did the three cases involving vic­
tims who were exactly twenty-one months old. Very strange. 
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M-Rickey Tankersley 

M-:Billy Abbott 

M-Billy Clever 

02/16/49-4:30 p.m.-2 years old 
·(Aiabama) 

,. 
. : ~ . 

:02/18/49-4:30 p.m.-3 years old. . , 
(Pennsylvania) 
· 04/26/49-PM-3 years old 
(Pennsylvania) 

• t .... 

·, .. 
The first two cases above went missing at exactly 4:30 p.m. two 

days apart. 1 would agree that A1abama is quite a distanc~ f~ó~ .. 
Pennsylvania, but the dates and times listed are too close to tg~~r:. 
1 think it's also quite coincidental that Abbott and Clever ~av~ -~~e · 
same first name. . . 

Pennsylvania 

M-Eidridge Albright 
F-Betty l3ossier 
M-Joseph Prato 

05/21/41-2:00 p.m.-3 years old 
06/25/41-10:30 a.m.-3 years old 
10/25/41-Unk-19 mos old 

·, ·.·.•. 

.. ·.,· 

·· .. 

Again, another group of missing from Pennsylvania. AH ~ere 
within five months apart, and all were three years old or young~~· 

Pennsylvania 
.. 

M-Stephen Ford 8/5/1880-Unk-9 years old 

Ford disappeared five ·miles from Thorp and Bowers and ~~e~ty 
tniles west of Collier and' at essentially in the same locatton as 
Rumbaugh. What would be ·the statistical odds of this o~cur.ri~g if 
there wasn 't the same perpetrator in volved? 

M-Ronald Rumbaugh 
M-Donald Collier 

09/15/40-2:00 p.m.-2 years old 
07/02/48-4:00 p.m.-23 mos 

Donald disappeared fifteen miles east of Bowers and twenty-

five mi les east of Thorp. . .. 

• ! 
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.. > ... · · F-Anna Thorpe 05/05/50-Unk-2 years old 
05/14/50-1:00 p.m.-2 years old .. ~. : :.~ M.-Jackie Copeland 

l .. : 

·:· . 
. ·~ 

. . : One hundred and ten miles north ofwhere Anna Thorpe disap­
p_eared, Jackie Cope1and disappeared nine days later. 

· F-Emma Bowers 07/22/53- Unk-5 years old 

·· ·· · Ten mi·les directly east of where Thorp disappeared, Bowers 
.: •• : :. 1 • disappeared. This is one concise cluster in time and geography. 
· · .. · Twelve children ages twenty-three months to six years went 

rni~sing in Pennsylvania from 1940 to 1949. No·other state or prov­
. .. ~_nctr comes close to these numbers. 

Twenty-nine children ten years old or younger went missing in 
. Pennsylvania from 1880 to 1957. This is a1so the state that has the 

: ._r _.-: • 

1 

•• first child ever reported missing who fits the criteria in this book. 

There are five groups ofmissing children who disappeared from 
. : Pennsylvania who are placed on the Iist in back-to-back scenarios 
· all within a ten-year span, 1940-1950. 

M-Ronald Rumbaugh-9/15/40 
M- Rudy Kunchick-10/21/40 
M-Eidridge A lbright-05/21/41 
·F-Betty Bossier-06/25/41 
M- Joseph Prato-10/25/41 
.M-Eug~ne Shue-1 0/20/46 
M-Jimmy Sensor-04/06/47 
M- Billy Abbott-02/18/49 

. M-Billy Clever-04/26/49 
F-Anna Thorpe-05/05/50 
M-Jackie Copeland-05/14/50 
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Wash ington-All Males 

Claude Goodwin 06/ 16/63- Unk- 8 years old 
Bobby Panknin 08/03/63-Un~4 years old 
Jimmy Duffy 10/ 19173-2:15 p.m.- 2 years old 
Jeffrey Bratcher 06/ J 5/74- 6:30 p.m.-7 years old 

These are four cases of missing boys from Washington. · 
Goodwin and Panknin cases occurred less than two months apart. 
The bottom two cases happened less than eight months apart. 

Wesley Piatote and Bobby Panknin disappeared a mere 75 
miles from each other, not much when you understand the amount 
of open space there is in Washington. 1 understand that there was 
thirty five years between incidents but Panknin disappeared in th~ 
Colville National Forest, a region that has had a long history of 
strange events. 

Jimmy Duffy and Claude Goodwin disappeared just ten miles 
from each other, there was ten years between incidents. Goodwin 
went missing four miles from a location ca1led "The De1·i/s 
Backbone" and in a very rugged area of the Wenatchee National 
Forest. There is approximately one hundred and forty mi les between 
each set of disappearances. Jn October of J 973 a deer hunter was 
walking through deep woods and found a human skull. Forensic 
testing on the skull confirmed it was Claude Goodwin, there are few 
other details available. A re these incidents a mere coincidence of 
time and space? Disappearances in Washington fitting the criteria 
of each book have not happened in this manner since. 

Four groups of missing males and te males on this list have dis­
appearecl in back-to-back scenarios. A lthough it m ay not appear that 
they are related based on the proximity of the disappearances, 1 do 
think it's quite odd that they are listed in this manner. 

Bobby Connor- NY 
Claire Benson- CT 

07/ 13/34-6:00 p.m. 
07/24/34-PM 

Eldri~ge Albright-PA 
Betty Bossier-PA 

Anna ~horpe--:PA 
Jackie Copela nd- PA 

Shirley ~amsburg-WV 
John McKinney-WV 

Date Anomalies-Males 

New Jersey Missing People 

05/21/41 - 2:00 p. m. 
06/25/41 - 10:30 a.m. 

05/05/50-Unk 
05/ 14/50-1 :00 p.m. 

12/27/57-5:00 p.m. 
03/ 17/58-3:00 p.m. 

293 

Mike}vlcDo"nald, Missing 10/30/45, a.m ., Arizona, 2 years old 
Dicki~ SudenJ Missing 11/0 l/45, 9 a.m., Northern California, 3 years old 

McDonald was mi ssing while playing in the yard of his rural home 
in Ari zona with his dog. Suden was Jn issing from hi s rural home 
while playing in the yard with his dog. 

McDonald is a maJe, age 2 . Suelen is a male, age 3. 

Th~ boys disappeared j ust one day apart from ea eh other. 

McDonalcl was found fifteen mi les f rom his home, sleeping in a 
hole. 
Suden ·was never found. 

The F~l investigated the Suden case. 

Arizona 

There do seem to be patterns within severa! locations cited in 
the book. For example, the chart of missing at the beginning of the 
Arizona chapter shows that people di sappear in two-to-three-year 
incremerits: , 

M-Jerry Hays­
M-Ronald McGee 

11 / 10/38-Unk-5 years old 
02/07/42- AM-2 ycars old 



... · .. 
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M-Mike McDonald 
(22-year gap) 
M-Danny Greenwood 
M-Randy Parscale 

10/30/45-AM-2 years old 

' 
06/08/67-1:00 p.m.-5 years old ... ·~_-.... 
01/13/69-Unk-10 years old ... ·:: 

... 
After 1969, the age dynamics of who went missing in A~iz~~~ 

drastically changes, but the two- to three-ye.ar cycle has cónt.t~~~~· 
There hasn't been anyone under the age of tlurty-two who has dt.s~p~ 
peared in Arizona since 1969~ · 

M-William Siseo 
M-Donald Shelenberger 
M-Abraham Kalaf 
F-Joan Shelton 
M~Jonathan Betts 
M-Dwight Riggs 

Michigan 

06/12/94-PM-32 years old 
07/03/94-Unk-35 years old 
07/24/96-Unk -79 years old 
02/07/04-Unk-65 years old ' 
10/20/06-4:00 p.m.-32 years old . , 

\· .. 
. ,. 

. . . . ~·; . 
. • .. 

. ·, 
:·· 

· .. :.'·' 01/21/09-Unk-61 years old · 

• t ,~. 

·,., 
ln Arizona, the age of the missing changed drastically ~.~er. 

1969. ln Michigan, it changed after June 28, 1959 .. The~e alsq ~1as .. 
not been another female reported missiilg since the 1dentdie~ ~~~e. 

F-Katie Flynn 
M-Raymond Maki 
M-Edward Woelfle 
M-Kenneth Scott 
F-Carol Van Hulla 
F-lda Porter 
(45-year gap) 
M-Christopher Hallaxs : 
M-Joe Clewley 
M-Derrick Hennegan 

June 1868-3 years old 
· 11/27/36-Unk-17 years old 

t ·•·••• 

10/06/46-AM-15 years old . .. 
09/28/58-2:00 p.m.- 4 years ·old:: '::. 
06/28/59-6:00 p.m.- 3 years ·old · ·:< 
08/07/59-Unk--70 years old · · 

03/17/04-Unk-30 years old 
07/13/08-Unk-73 years old 
08/04/08-4:30 p.m.-35 years o14 ,: .:. 

... '1 . o· •. 
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. , ·: .. ·.:. :, _Gaps in Time With No Disappearances: 

·• ... 

...... 

.. ' . . ~ . . 

._N. Sierras (CA) 
,rvtt. S hasta (CA) 
Colorado 
West Vhginia 

.:·: .·· . : Oklahoma/Arkansas 
. . . · New Mexico 

·, .. · .. ·. · .. ·s:· California 
\ • o • 

· ~ .:·... · Montana 
.: :- .. :Wyoming 

11/01/45-08/04171--26 years 
06/29/47-02/15/97-;50 years 
10/09/49-06/29/82--33 years 
03/17/58-05/01/94--36 years 
01/17/59-06/30-80- -21 years 
02/16/60-09/13/82--22 years 
07/13/60-03/10/93--33 years 
11114/60-04/30/80--19 years 
07/12/66-04/17/89--22 years 

. The commonality of the above-listed states is that there were 
· · .... ;:: no disappearances meeting the criteria of the book from 7/1966-

· . .,; . , :.- ·:- '4/.1980. Why? . . 

· .· •. :' :::-. ·. ·' · . ihere are a number of disappearances on this list in which four 
·. · :: .· ~o five males go missing and then a female goes missing. Then three 

. : ·.~·.·. ·. ·males go missing, and then a female goes missing. There are times 
.- .. "-. on this list when there ahnost seems to be a consistent four to one 
·. · .- or three to one ratio ofboys to girls, evenly spaced by the sex ofthe 

.· ;, · person that goes missing. 
I f yo u study the Iist carefully, yo u will see that there almost 

seems ·to be a rotation to the location where children go missing. 
. . ·. ..-. . O~e to two children disappear on either coast, and then the pattern 

. , ::: .. . re~erts back to the opposite coast. 
· · · 1 bel ieve that it is very odd that the vast inajority of the chil­

--~ . 
j . 

dren on this list are Caucasian, with a handful ofNative Americans 
·Hispanics, and Asians. It is also very rare that people on the maste; 
·missing persons Iist have the sam~ last name. 

.. · F-Katie Flynn 
M-Eddie Prig.Iey 

. M-Stephen Ford 
M-Wolfe 
M-Bachman 
M-James Vaughan 

M 1----3----------06/1868-Un k 
IN-----3----------08/22/ 1874 
PA----9----------08/05/1880-Un k 
PA----1 0---------07 /08/1882-Unk 
PA----4M -------06110/1883-PM 
ID-----18M-------08/20/1883-l 0:00 a.m. 
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F-Davis 
M-Barofsky 
M-Alexis Bork 
M-Frank Floyd 
F-Mary Sholtas 
M-Augustus Staneker 
F-Simpson 
M-Jack Wells 
M-Riley Amsbaugh 
M-E. C. Jones 
M-Horace Marvin, Jr. 
M-J. Mitchell 
M-Johnnie Lembke 
M-Roy Bligrien 
M-B. B. Bakowski 
F-Elsie M. Davis 
M-James Glass 
M-Edward Gately 
M-Edward Gerke 
M-Abe Carroll Ramsay 
M-George Dansey 
M-David Brown 
M-MertJey Johnson 
F-Bernice Price 
M-Joseph Whitehead 
M-William Whitehead 
M-Alfred J. Bishóp 
M-Eddie Hamilton 
F-Geraldine Markline 
M-Kenneth Swanson 
M-Emmet Mitchel1 
M-William Pitsenbarger 
F-Else Flothmeier 
F-Cecilia Mitchell 
M-Wesley Piatote 
M-Clarence Clark 
M-Godfrey Wondrosek 

PA----30M------05/09/1888-Unk 
NJ----6---------07/01/1892-Unk 
MT---Unk-------11/0711896-PM 
IA----Unk-------11107/1897-Unk 
PA----3----------04/2111897-Unk 
PA----4---------04/2 t /1897-Un k 
PA----3----------05/2711901-Urik 
MT---Unk------11/05/1901-Unk 
OH---55--------07/2511902-Unk 
OH---Unk-------11/12/1903-Unk 
DE----4---------05/04/1907-Unk 
ID----Unk-------0 1111/1909-U rik 
OH-1 5---------08112/1910-Un k 
WI----2----------1 0/21/191 0-Unk 
OR----30--------02/22/1911-Unk 
ME---24--------07/30/1911-Noon 
PA----4----------05/12/15-Un k 
MA---2----------l 0/27/17-10:30 a.m. 
WI----Unk------06111/18-Unk 
GSM--3-----------03/11/1919-3:15 p.m. 
NJ----30M------I0/08/19-Unk 
ME---51---------l 1118/22-Unk 
ME---24--------11/18/22-Unk 
CA----Unk-------03/22/23-Unk 
MT----29--------08/24/24- Unk 
MT----32--------08/24/24-Unk. 
VT----Unk-------11103/26-Unk 
SASK-2----------07 /06/28-Un k 
PA~---2----------1 0/26/29-Un k 
CT------2-------08/24/30-Noon 
ID------50------07 /10/31-Un k 
ID------61------08/07/31-Unk 
PA -----22------02/24/32-PM 
CA-----3-------05/02/32-12:30 p. ni. 
WA-----7-------08/04/32-PM. 
NY-----62------1 0/17/32-Unk 
YOSE--26------04/26/33-Un k 

. . . : :~ 

. .. 

1 • • ·~. 

. ' 

••• ¡ 

.~ . 
1 ,., • 

1 • •••••• 

.··.:, 

-:: •• ;. 1 

. .. . .:~ 

·.··· .. 

... ·.; '· 

.. .. 

M-Frank Lobears 
M-Joseph flalpern 
M-.Á-lden Johnson 
F-B~tty Wolfrum 
M-Bobby Connor 
F-Cfajre Bensen 
M-Dr:· Frederick Lumley 
F-Rifa Lent 
M-Herbert Brown 
F-Thelma Ann Wilke 
IVI-Oe~·rge ·wanke 
M-Jack Pike 
M-Ráymond Maki 
M-Mr. Bell 
M-Harold ~ing 
M-Charles Warren 
F-AÚce Baker 
F-Fiorence Jackson 
F-M.arJorie West 
M-David Baumgarten 
M-Richard McPherson 
M-Aihert Beilhartz 
M-dori_ald,Farrington 
M-Jerry Hays 
M-Teddy Thompson 
F-En'l_.ma Steffy 
M-BHiy Coleman 
F-He{en Chenoweth 
M-Si.tn~n ~kogan 
M-Ronald Rumbaugh 
M-~~dy Kunchick 
M-Mútray_ Upshaw, Jr. 
M:-El~ri~ge Albright 
F-Bet.ty McCullough 
F~Behy·Bossier 
M-Jo~eph. Prato 
M-Ronald McGee · .. '~ .. 

. ··.• ~ 

.·¡ 
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WA-----7--------06/25/33-Un k 
C0-----22------08/15/33-Unk 
MA-----4·-------03/27 /34-3:30 p.m. 
MAN---4-------05/15/34-Un k 
NY------21 M---07/13/34-6:00. p.m. 
CT----21M---07/24/34-PM 
MT------Unk----08113/34-Unk 
PA------3-------11/22/34-Noon 
OR-----Unk----1935/Unk 
Wl----.:.-21 M---05/03/35-PM 
MAN---58------07/27/35-Unk 
MAN---5-------09/05/35-Unk 
Ml------17~-----0l/27/36•Unk 

MAN---62------08/31 /36-Un k 
WI------3-------09/07/36-Unk 
AR------2--.. ----12/20/36-PM 
VT------20M---08/ I 6/37-PM 
A R------4-------09/06/3 7-PM 
PA--~---4---~---05/08/38-Unk 

CA------2-------05/11/38-Noon 
YOSE--1 0------05/26/38-Unk 
C0-----4-------07/02/38-8:30 a.m. 
NY------3--;.----09/11/38-8:00 a.m. 
AZ------5-------1 1110/38-Unk 
NCA----4-------0 l /29/39-PM 
PA------75------07/18/39-Unk 
CA------14------0 1/01/40-4:00 p.m. 
I L-------3----~--03/28/40-6:00 p.m. 
MAN---9-------07 /02/40-Un k 
PA------2---.. ·-09/15/40-2:00 p.m. 
PA------4---~~-1 0/21/40-Unk 
GA-----2----~-11/08/40-Noon 
PA------3------05/21/41-2:00 p.m. 
OR-----10-----06/21/41-AM 
PA------3------06/25/41-1 0:30 a.m. 
PA------19M---1 0/25/41-Unk 
AZ-----2------02/07/42-AM 
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M-Dewey Cook 
M-Alvan Diggan 
M-Emerson Holt 
M-Ernest Polley 
F-Mrs. August Nelson 
M-Carl Herrick 
M-C. H. Bordwell · 
M-Lloyd Hokit 
M-Mike McDonald 
M-Dickie Suden 
M-Al Owens 
M-Middie Rivers 
F-Katherine Van Alst 
M-Edward Woelfle 
M-Eugene Shue 
f.:.Paula Welden 
M-Jimmy Senser 
F-Greta Mary Gale 
M-Wayne Bowers 
F-Carolyn Peterson 
M-Louis Dunton 
M-Donald Collier 
M-Jerry Lee Hoffman 
F-Janet Federer 
M-Rickey Tankersley 
M-Billy Abbott 
M~Bil\y Clever 
M~Daryl Web\ey 
M-Michael Fontaine 
M-Larry Coleman 
M-Frank Norris 
M-David Devitt 
M-Bruce Gerling 
M-Otis T. Mason 
M-Donald McDonald 
M-John Koza 
F-Anna Thorpe 

WY----25---- 03/02/42-Unk 
PA------3------05/30/42-Unk 
YOSE--55-----07118/43-2:00 p.m .. 
co-----22-----07 /23/43-Unk 
WI-----75-----07/28/43-Unk 
VT------37-----11/26/43-Unk 
MN-__ -Unk---08/0 1/44-Un k 
OK------9-~----1 0/21/45-3:00 p.rq. 
. AZ-----2------1 0/30/45-AM . . . 
CA-----3------11/01/45-9:00 a.m. · ··· 
MT-----71-----ll/07/45-Unk ... 
VT------75-----11112/45-3:00 p.m. . : · 
AR-----8------06/16/46-2:30 p.m. 
Ml-----15-----10/06/46-AM . . ·. ,. .. 
PA------3------l 0/20/46-2:00 p.m. ·:. 
VT-----18-----12/01/46-4:00 p.t~. . : 

· PA------4------04/06/47-5:00 p.m. . .; .. ;· 
NCA----30M--06/29/47-10:00 ~.m.·:_::.:! 
CA------3------07/05/47-Unk · · · . . ~.: · 
OH.;,----20M--08/20/47-11 :00 a.m~. : :-~-. 

· NH-----3------10/07/47-6:00 p.m. : .'< 
PA------23M--07/02/48-4:00 p.m ... ·. 
OH-----3------08/05/48-6:00 P·~·.· . :·:. · 
WY----6------09/29/48-1 :00 p.m ... ·:·,~, .. 
AL-----2------02/16/49- 4:30p.m .. ·:~:··· 
PA------3------02/18/49.;4:30 p.m.:·~: .. 
PA------3------04/26/49-PM · : :.;:. 

· WA-----2------04/30/49-4:00 ·p.m<.~ .. 
ME-----6------05/30/49-Unk .: . · 
MN----3-------08/20/49-Unk .. :.:: 
WY----46-----09/21/49-Unk '·. 
C0-----21------10/09/49-Unk. .. : 
co-----20------1 0/09/49-Unk · · .... 
MD----6-------1 0/ll/49- 5:00 P~~-~- . 
WA----17------12/15/49-Un~ ·. -~ 
MT-~---50-60--04/26/50-Unk 
PA------2-------05/05/50-Unk .... 

.,.,· 

·· .. 

"t • ,, 

M-Jackie. Copeland 
. F-Nicole Renaud · 

.1 -.-< . F-Susan Sweely 
F-Lorraine Smith 

·.·. M-Paul Jepson 
F-Freida Langer 

. . : M.:.Leroy Williams 
·. · ·. · M-Larry McGee 

. : .. ~· . : f .. Janet McGee 
.: .. ·· M.:.Steven Cross 
'_; ·. ·. F-Evangeline Lorimer 
_.:. · · ·_ F-Alma Hall 

· · ·. ..·· · ·. ~--Raymond Hall 
. : . · M-Bobby Boatman · 

J·· • M-Keith Parkins 
· · M-David Feif 

. ·.. . M-Ra1ph Stutzman 
· · .F-Cathetine P. Maynard 

- ~ . . 
. -·M-Joey Barkley 

· · ~ F ... Patty Ann Mclean 
~· .. · F-:-Geraldine Huggan 

. . ·. F~Emma Bowers 
···· >: .'·: · ·M-John Sweet 
: .~ .. ·- ·:· ·F-Shirley Shennan 

.· ... :·:· ... ·· M-Gary Bailey 
·: .. ; :;: M-Walter A. Gordon 
·.- . ' 

.... . 
1 

· :. ·:- M¡ Orvar Von Laass 
. _·, :, ··_ ...-· M-Jess Davis 

_: : · \ M.iFred Holmes 
· .· ·;.':- · · F-Ida May Curtis 
· : .-'·. ·. · · F-Nora Moore 

M-Ronnie Weitkamp 
· ·. ·· ·· · F~Diane Abbott 

• 1 ••. 

:.: ·- . M-Louis Blair 
· · · .. ::. M-Jerry Garcia 
· .. . · M-John Davis 

. ! ._-<· .. f-Jv.dy Rodencal 

·:· 
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PA------2-------05/14/50-1 :00 p.m. 
ME-----3--------06/03/50- 3:00 p.m. 
IL------2-------08/09/50-7:00 p.m. 
A LB---2-------09/02/50-5:00 p.m. 
VT-----8------:1 0/12/50-3:30 p.m. 
VT-----53------1 0/28/50-4:00 p.m. 
1 A ------64------03/16/51-Un k 
NM----7-------06/07/51-3:00 p.m. 
NM-----5-------06/07/51-3:00 p.m . 
NM-----3-------06/07/51-3:00 p.m. 
GSM---21------06/08/51-Unk 
BC------28------06/09/51-Unk 
BC------6-------06/09/51-Un k 
WA-----14------10/14/51-Unk 
WA-----2-------04/10/52-Noon 
MA----85------07/06/52-Unk 
IN------46------08/17 /52-Un k 
WA-----38------01/19/53-Unk 
CA-----2-------03/11 /53-1:00 p.m. 
MT-----3-------07/04/53-2:30 p.m. 
ONT----5-------07/05/53-10:00 a.m. 
PA------5--------07 /22/53-Unk 
IL----~-Unk.----1 0/26/53-Unk 
WV-----3-------04118/54-1 :00 p.m. 
ME-----3-------07/17/54-Unk 
YOSE--26------07/20/54-Unk 
YOSE--30------1 0/09/54-Unk 
OR~----2-------05/08/55-AM 
PA------23M----05/25/55-9:00 a.m. 
MT-----2------07/04/55-6:00 p.m. 
AL-----7------07/18/55-4:00 p.m. 
lN---·--3------1 0/11 /55-Noon 
ME-----2------07/06/56-2:00 p.m. 
ALB----26·--- 08/05/56-Unk 
AZ-----Unk---08/12/56-Unk 
WA-----72-----08/26/56- Unk 
Wl -----16-----1 0/30/56-7:30am 
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M-Tommy Bowman 
M-David Allen Scott 
F-Rose Jewett 
M-Richard Craig 
F-Candida Streeter 
F-Minnie Haun 
F-Jill Hatch 
M-Earl Somerville 
F-Shirley Ann Ramsburg 
M-John Wayne McKinney 
F-Brenda Jean Doud 
F-Mary Gay Bent 
F-Debbie Ann Greenhill 
M-Lawrence E. Prange 
M-Kenneth Scott 
M-Willard Eugene Jones, Jr. 
F-Carol Van Hulla 
M-William Carmack 
M-Richard Herman 
M-Meryl Newcombe 
M-George Weeden 
M-Arthur Jordan 
M-RandyMoy 
F-Fran Weaver 
M-Albert Cucupa 
M-Fernand Martin 
M-Martín Ryan 
M-Bruce Kremen 
M-Sander Lingman 
M-Fritz Frey 
F-Vanita Crook 
M-James McCormick 
F-Lisa Schackelford 
M-John Long 
M-Claude Goodwin .. 
M-Lynn Olson 
M-Bobby .Panknin 

SCA----8------03/23/57-7:00 p.m. 
YOSE--2------07113/57-1:00 p.m. 
ID------95-----08/11/57-4:15 p.m. 
WA-----5------08/15/57-10:00 a.m. 
PA------2------10/03/57-5:30 p.m .. 
GSM---3------10/08/57-1:00 p.m. 
CA-----7------11102/57- 11:00 a.m. 
MN----48-----11/03/57-Unk 
WV----3------12/27/57-5:00 p.m. 
WV-----5------03/17/58-3:00 p.m. 
NY-----5------07/06/58-Unk 
MT-----5------07/13/58-3:00 p.m. 
KY-----2------08/09/58-8:00 p.rn. 
MT-----20-----08114/58-Unk . 
MI------4------09/28/58-2:00 p.m. 
M0-----3------01/17/59- Unk 
MI------3------06/28/59-6:00 p.m. 
MT-----55-----07/22/59-Unk 
WA-----6------08/30/59-Noon 
ONT----50-----1 0/29/59-Un k 
ONT-63-----1 0/29/59-Unk 
MT-----59-----1 I/08/59-Unk 
OH-----3------01/08/60-3:30 p.m. 
WY-----56-----02/01/60-Unk · 
NM-----32-----02/16/60-Un k 
ONT----36-----04/24/60-Unk 
OR-----8------06/30/60/PM 
SCA----8------07 /13/60-Unk 
ONT----35-----11/01/60-Unk 
MT-----65---11 /14/60-Un k 
WY-----25---05/03/61-Unk 
OR------16---12/05/61-Unk 
IL-------3-----07/10/62-11:00 a.m. 
MN-----58---04/1 0/63-AM 
WA -----8----06/16/63-Un k 
WY-----16--- 06/28/63-Unk 
WA-----4----08/03/63-Unk 

. ··•. 

1 · .• , 

1 ••• :•. 

. .. -~ 

. . ... ~. 

.· 
··~·-; 

M-Don:ald R. Griffen 
M-D~nnis Lloyd Martin 
M-Richard.Spyglass 
F-Bonnle Lee Edwards 
M-Toril Garafalo 
M-Fr'ank Mean 
F-ClÍristine Woollett 
M-Dén·riis Johnson 
F-Mab~l Mbffitt 
F-Di~i.rie Prevost 
F-An.ri~~ Puglas 
M-Keiineth Coon 
M-D~rmy Greenwood 
M-Jonn Gunn 
M-K~·f.lneth Klein 
M-Torn Opperman 
F-Ka~n Cooney 
~-Low~ll Smith 

·.í 
.:· !' 

. ,. t; 

M-Ran4y Parscale 
F-Laura Flihk 
F-Marcelene Cummungs 
M~Raymond Ewer 
M-Lou.is Sandoval 
M~Robert Winters 
M~G:eoffrey Hague 
M-Do~glas t. Chapman 
M-n·ouglas's Legg 
M¡Da~~ Cooper 

1 

• • F-Eiiiabeth ·Kant 
' .. ,, 

1 ~ ~}·· .... . ~ . :.-... ·.· 
·:. ···]: ' 

•• '•'<~ 

·.,· .• 

. •; . ,•, 

.. : .. 1·' 

.. ·. 
··11:1• • 

F~Joari11~ Burmer 
F~Leah Good 
F~Vit~f \iac.hon 
M-Gr.~g L~wellen 
F-EÚ~á~eth Cardwell 
M-Jirflmy Duffy 
I\1-Brüin Henry 
F-Jennifer Klein 

¡.; . 

New Jersey Missing People 

YOSE--4----08/22/63-8:30 a.m. 
GSM---6----06/14/64-4:30 p.m. 
SASK-5 .. ---08/05/64-7:00 p.m. 
GSM---6----01/09/65-4:30 p.m. 
WY-----28--'-11/25/65-Unk 
WY-----55 ---04/21/66-Un k 
WA-----2----05/12/66-8:00 p.m. 
WY-----8----07112/66-1 :30 p.m. 
AK-----55---08/10/66-Unk 
ONT----2----09/17/66-Unk 
BC------43--:-04/19/67-Unk 
BC------5----04/28/67-Un k 
AZ------5----06/08/67-1:00 p.m. 
YOSE--19---07/28/67-Unk 
YOSE--23---07/28/67-Unk 
YOSE--21---08/08/67-Unk 
PA------15---07/0S/68-Unk 
WA-----60---1 0/05/68-Un k 
AZ-----10---01/13/69-Unk 
WA-----21---02/21/69-Unk 
WA-----54---07/14/69-Unk 
UT-----19---08/09/69-Noon 
ID------66---09/06/69-Unk 
OR------78---10/08/69-5:00 p.m. 
GSM---16---02/07/70-3:20 p.m. 
ME-----3----06/02/71-10:30 a.m. 
NY-----8---~07/10171-Unk 

CA-----13---08/04/71-Unk 
ONT----45---1 0/16/72-Un k 
CA------38--~~02/25173-Unk 

YOSE--49----·04/30173-Un k 
ONT----56----05/0 1173-Un k 
UT------66----08/03173-Un k 
ALB----31----09/16/73-Unk 
WA-----2----~10/19173-Unk 
ONT----21----05/05174-Un k 
UT------3------05/25174-Unk 

301 
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M-Jeffrey Bratcher 
M-Yehudi Prior 
M-Mark Hanson 

· M-Edward Arcand 
F-Milda D. Mcquillan 
F-Jane Smith 
M-Steve Martin 
M-Kurt R. Newton 
M-Raymond Juranitich 
M-Harold Mott 
M-JeffEstes 
F-Trenny Lynn Gibson 
M-Charles McCullar 
M-Howard Booth 
M-Edward Nye 
M-Duane Scott 
F-Gayla C. Schaper 
M-James Caraley 
F-Carol Laughlin 
M-Paul Fugate 
F-Megan Ginevicz 
M-Larry D. Krebbs 
M-Foster Bezanson 
M-Steve Maclaren 
F-Stacey Anne Arras 
F-Thelma Pauline Melton 
M-Jon Dabkowski 
M-Greg Minarcin 
M-Jay Charles Toney 
M-Robert Baldeshwiler 
M-Richard Ray Barnett 
F-Ann Riffin 
M-Kevin Jay Ayotte 
M-Richard Peterson 
F-Debra Manial 
M-Tyler lnman 
F-Shelly Bacsu 

WA-----7------06/15174~6:30 p.m. 
BC------2------09/23174-Unk 
GSM---21----03/07/75-Unk 
ALB---27----06/08175-Unk 
MN-----71----06/17175-Unk 
ONT----20----08/09175-Unk 
WA-----15----08/16175-Noon 
ME-----4-----09/01175-Unk 
ONT---48----10/08175-Unk 
PA------12----03/02176-5:00 p.m. 
YOSE--25----05/24176-Unk 
GSM---16-----10/08176-3:00 p.m: 
OR------19-----1 0/14176/Unk . 
ALB---49----07/17177-Unk 
OR------14----06/22178-PM 

.... 

• .. PA------31----07/2717 8-Un k 
WA-----28----06/29179-7:15 p.tn. . ... 
ALB----22----07 /18179-Unk 
YOSE--19----09/09179-Unk 
AZ-----41-----01/03/80-2:00 p.m. . ... 
MT-----2------04/30/80-Unk .·~ ... 
OK-----2------06/30/80-5:30 p.in.· ·: ··: 
ONT----64~---1 0/25/80-Unk . · : .: .. 
ALB----25----06/30/81-Unk · . ~· 
YOSE--14----07/17/81-4:00 p.m .. ~·.-...-. 

. GSM---58----09/25/81-4: 15 p.m .. ·. ·• ·.·· · 
PA------11----01/14/82-5:30 p.m.' ...... 
PA------10----01/14/82-5:30 p;m:. /. 
GSM---17-----05/25/82-l :30 p.m.·. :·-:-·:. 
co-----12-----06/29/82-Unk . . ·:~ .· 

. WA-----2------08/31/82-7:00 a.t,n:<·~ 
NM-----33-----09/13/82-Unk .. 
MN----3------09/30/82-PM , . 
NJ------6------11/05/82-3:30 P:m·: . , ' 
NCA---29-----12/12/82-3:00 p.m .. ·;· .. 
WA-----3------12/21/82-Unk. .. ... 
.ALB---16-----05/03/83-Unk ·· · 

·'·' 

',. 

F-Nyleen Kay Marshall 
·'' M-Michael E. Reel 

M-~arry Davenport 
:. . . M-Gary Lee Chavoya 

M-Sharel Haresym 
M·Toivo Reinikanen 

· M-Daniel Hilkey 
. .. M-David Jaramillo 

M-Lloyd Reese 
M-Emerson Carbaugh 
M.:David Huckins 

'· 
M-Edwa~d Ludwig 

· M-Andrew Warburton 
.... '. F-Lyim Hillier 

· M-Clayton McFaul 
M-Tom Klein 
F-Theresa Bier 

" · · · . F-Julie Ann Weflen 

·.:¡··. · : M-John Clifford 
. ··,. . ::.·. : f.:·Tin·a Marie Finley 
.: .. : .. ·: F-C~IIeen Tourtillott 

... ~ ·; ·.· M.-T~mothy Barnes 
· ' .. :: · . : M-Nicolas Hibbert · 

·.. ·.· i. F-Kathleen Pehringer 
· ·: · F-Ruth Jacobus 
· · · · M-Nathan Madsen 

···.: ~ F-Eloise Lindsay 
· · F-Elizabeth Bartholomew 

.... ~ . ·:· . . 
! F~Lillialíl Owens 

. : · . .. : . .:M-Dustin Rhodes 
. M-William Caswell 

.. ··. : M'-Brian Sines 
'· ·: :·~. · M-Corey Fay 
· , . ·: . M-Kenny Miller 

;·.·. ,: M-Travis Zweig 
• 

4 

• .,., : • M-Brad Lavies 
··. ·~ ::~ · ··: ~-·. M-Michael Mclntyre 
. :. · · .. :. M-Victor Shoemaker 
: 1 ·:J.;·,;· M~William Siseo 

• ···: r , • 

! ·• • . 

New Jersey Missing Peopie 

MT---·-4·-----06/25/83-4:00 p.m. 
GSM---8------07 /02/83-9:30 a.m. 
GSM---20-----07/17/83-PM 
CA-----1 0--·--07/30/83- Noon 
ALB---35-----09/04/84-Unk 
ONT----36--.. --09/26/84-Unk 
OR------29-----0 1/22/85/Unk 
UT----·-21-----06/13/85-Unk 
UT------13·----06/13/85-Unk 
PA------64-----11/11/85-6:00 p.m. 
YOSE--21-----02/04/86· Un k 
ALB---27-----05/30/86-Unk 
ME-----9-----·07 /01 /86-Unk 
BC----·-2·-----07/24/86-Unk 
ONT----59-----08/15/86-Unk . 
WA-----27-----09/08/86-Unk 
YOSE--16-----06/01/87-Unk 
WA-----28-----09/16/87· 3:30p.m. 
ONT---65-----1 0/1 0/87-Unk 
WA-----25-----03/07/88-2:00 a.m. 
WI--:---18M--07/03/88-6:00 p.m. 
YOSE-·24-----07 /05/88-Un k 
ONT----66-----07 /08/88-Unk 
WY-----41---·-04/ 17/89-Un k 
YOSE--76-----06/07/89-Noon 
OR------9------1 0/22/89-2:30 p.m. 
GSM---22-----11/04/89-Unk 
YOSE--80-----0 1/08/91-Unk 
ALB---46-----06/28/91-Unk 
ONT----64-----07/06/91-Unk 
ONT----52-----07/21/91-Unk 
10------29---J 1 /22/91-Un k 
OR------17---11/23/91-6:30 p.m. 
YOSE--12----06/24/92-Unk 
CA------2-----03/1 0/93-10:30 a.m. 
GSM---13----03/28/93-Unk 
ONT----37 ----04/07/94-Un k 
WV-----4-----05/0 1/94-Noon 
AZ------32---06/12/94-PM 

303 
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M-Wayne Powell · 
M-Donald Shelenberger 
F-Ashley Krestianson 
M-Donald Belliveau 
M-Rhonda Runningbird 
M-Bryce Herda 
F-Jeanne Hesselschwerdt 
M-William Reed 
M-Knut Thielemann 
M-Daniel Edmonds 
M-Abraham Kalaf 
M-Michael Madden 
M-Frank Szpak 
M-Michael Malinoski 
F-Karen Mero 
M-Ruben David Felix 
M-Melvin Hoel 
M-Kenneth Churney 
F-Hannah Zaccaglini 
M-Bernard Champagne 
F-Amy Bechtel 
M-David Crouch 
M-Jonathan Attiay 
M-Raymond Matlock 
F-Emma Tresp 
F-Joan Lawrence 
M-Robert Bobo 
M-Derrick Engebretson 
M-Ernest Matthew Cook 
M-Carl Landers 
M-Todd Lucchesi 
M-Frank Downey 
M-Jaryd Atadero 
M-Joseph Moore 
M-Kieran Burke 
F-Rosemary Kunst 
M-Patrick T. Whalen 

OR------39---06/18/94/Unk 
AZ------35---07/03/94-Unk 
SASK-- 8-----07/14/94-Un k 
ALB----28---01/27/95-Unk 
A LB----25---03/26/95-Un k 
WA-----4----04/09/95-Unk 
YOSE--37---07/09/95-Unk 
ONT----69---08/01/95-Unk 
ALB----22---08/04/95-Un k 
UT------22---08/22/95-Unk 
AZ------79---07/24/96-Unk 
YOSE--20---08/1 0/96-Unk 
ONT----69---09/23/96-Unk 
PA------37---10/24/96-Unk 
NCA----27---02/15/97-Unk 
ID------2----02/23/97-Unk 
ALB--- 64---03/12/97-Unk 
ONT----36---03/15/97-Unk 
NCA----15---06/04/97-Unk 
ONT----80---07/1 0/97-Un k 
WY-----24---07/24/97-3:00 p.m. 
WY-----27---09/07/97-Unk 
SCA----38---06/11/98-Unk 
WA-----28---09/07/98-Unk 
NM-----71--- 09/08/98-Unk 
ONT----77---09/23/98-Unk 
OR------36---1 0/02/98/Unk • 
OR------8-----12/05/98/ 3:00p.m. 
OK------27---04/22/99-10:30 p.m. 
NCA-69---05/25/99-8:00 a.m. 
NCA---28---05/31 /99-Un k 
.KY-----4----08/16/99-8:30 p.m. 
C0------3----10/02/99 Unk 
WV-----22---03/11/00-Unk 
YOSE--45---04/05/00-Unk 
NCA---70---08/18/00-4:00 p.m. 
MT-----33---11/02/00-Unk 

... · .. · 
'• ·.1 

... 
. . . 

·.· .. 

.· ·/ 

... ·. 

·,; .·. 

M-Z~igniew Gajda 
F-Gloria McDonald 
M-Michael Walsh 
M-Corwin Osborn 
M-Ja~on Franks 
M-Chris Thompkins 
M-R~yniond Tunnicliffe 
F-Ceiia 'Barnes 
F-Teresa Sc.hmidt 
M-Walter Reinhard 
M-Jerr.y McKoen 
F-Angela Fullmer 
F-Jennifer Dussaud 
F-Le~~~na Warner 
M-Mic~~ei-Linklater 
M-Fred Claasen 

· · . M-Pat.rl·c. McCarthy 
M~Aus~in Sparks 
F-~oan;.Sheltpn 
M·-Christopher Hallaxs 
M-Da~·¡d· Oonzales 
M-David Típpen 
M-:Gárrett Bardsley 

' M-Bart~ $chleyer 
M-R6b.~.rt ·Springfield 
M-DoU.g Pearce 
M-CH:iirles Beltz 
M-MiCháel Ficery 
M-Bn~~n.ari ·Hawkins 
M-Gt:~gory Brown 
F-Nita·Mayo 
M-Tom·Howell 
F-Michelle Vanek 
M-Wai fan 
M-Keiüieth "Schneider 
M-Ro/Stephens 
M-Christopher L. Jones 

New Jersey Missing People 1 305 

ONT----42---01/04/01-Unk 
AR-----68---0 1/26/01-2:00 p.m. 
YOSE--56---03/01/01-Unk 
OR-----45---06/17 /01 /Un k 
OR------21---08/09/01/Unk 
GA-----20---01125/02-1 :30 p.m. 
SASK--79---08/26/02-Unk 
OR-----53---09/01/02/Unk 
C0-----53---09/06/02-3:00 p.m. 
YOSE--66---09/20/02-Unk 
NCA---48---09/21/02-Unk 
NCA---34---12/05/02-4:00 p.m. 
WA-----22---05/01 /03-Unk 
MN-----5----06/14/03-4:30 p.m. 
ONT----44---07 /13/03-Un k 
YOSE--46---08/01/03-Unk 
N H-----1 0---1 0/13/03-PM 
NCA-15---01/04/04-AM 
AZ-----65---02/07 /04-Un k 
MI------30---03/17/04-Unk 
CA------9----07/31/04-8 a.m. 
GA-----4----08/01/04-AM 
UT------1 2---08/20/04-A M 
YUKN-49---09/14/04-Unk 
MT-----49---09/19/04-4:00 p.m. 
YOSE--86---04/21 /05-Unk 
PA------56---06/07 /05-Un k 
YOSE--51---06/15/05-Unk 
UT-----11----06/17/05-5:30 p.m. 
WA-----49---07 /05/05-A M 
YOSE--64---08/08/05-3:00 p.m. 
ALB--- 46---09/12/05-Unk 
C0-----35---09/24/05-1:30 p.m. 
A LB--- 43---09/28/05-Un k 
UT------78---1 0/03/05-Unk 
OR------48---11116/05/PM 
AR------37---04/05/06-Unk 



1 

1 
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M-Evan Thompson 
M-David Knowles 
F-Stephanie Stewart 
M-Samuel Boehlke 
M-Kory Kelly 
M-Jonathan Betts 
M-Jeremy Thomas 
M-Michael Auberry 
M-Michael Bailey 
M-Robert Neale 
F-Hannah Klamecki 
M-Luciano Trinaistich 
F-Christine Calayca 
M-William Pilkenton 
M-Joe Clewley 
M-Derrick Hennegan 
M-Yi-Jien Hwa 
M-Michael Edwin Hearon 
M-Ronald S. Gray 
M-Christopher Andrews 
M-Wyatt Little Light 
M-Dwight Riggs 
F-Nancy Moyer 
M-Avery B. Blakeley 
M-Joshua Childers 
F-Lindsey Baum 
M-Melvin Nadel 
F-Madyson Jamison 
F-Sherilynn Jamison 
M-Bobby Jamison 
M-Clinton Dain·es 
M-Anthony Oreen, Jr. 
M-Michael Hinsperger 

Males= 296 
Females = 115 
Total41l 

C0-----8----05/27/06-AM 
NCA---43---08/17/06-5:00 p.m·. 
ALB---70---08/26/06-Unk 
OR------8----10/04/06/ 4:00p.m. 
MN-----38---10/16/06-7:00 p.m. 
AZ------32---l 0/20/06-4:00 p.m. 
GA------22---02/16/07-2:20 p.m. 
GSM---12---03/17/07-1:00 p.m. 
bNT----38---04/20/07-Unk 
ALB----77---05/02/07-Unk 
1 L-------5-----06113/07 -Un k 
ONT----69---07/24/07-Unk 
ONT----20---08/06/07-Unk 
BC------7 -----02/15/08-Un k 
Ml------73---07/13/08-Unk 
Ml------35---08/04/08-4:30 p.m. 
MT------27---08/11108-Unk ' 
GSM---51----08/23/08-Unk . 
ID------62---09/19/08-Unk 
YOSE--42---1 0/03/08-3:00 p.m. 
MT-----2----12/23/08-Unk : 

.... 

···' 

AZ-----61---01/21/09-Unk 
WA-----36---03/06/09-7:00 p.m. 
ID------2----03/26/09- 1:30 p.m .... :: 
M0-----3----05/04/09-11:45 a.m. :' .. 
WA-----10---06/22/09-9:15 p.m. . : 
NM----61---09/06/09-4:00 p.m.· ·::· 
OK------5----10/08/09- 2:00p.m .. ·.:· 
OK-----40---1 0/08/09-2:00 p'.m. · . :·· 
OK-----44---1 0/08/09-2:00 p.'m. · ·. 
UT-----35---10/16/09-Unk , 
YOSE--31---11/06/09-Unk . 
ONT---57---05/13/10-Unk . 

l 
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· This is the breakdown of missing people listed in both books by 
decade: 

Decade Males+Females=Total 
1868-1879 1+1=2 
1880-1889 4+1=5 
1890-1897 4+1=5 
1901-:1909 5+1=6 
1910~1919 8+1=9 
1922-1929 6+2=8 
1930-1939 . 24+10=34 
1940-1949 37+9=46 
1950-1959 35+26=61 
1960-1969 28+11=39 
1970-1979 21+11=32 
1980-1989 30+15=45 
1991-1999 36+9=45 
2000-2009 56+17=73 
2010 1+0=1 
Totals 296+115=411 

Most disappearances in 
one year = 1949, 11, 1 I males 

2005, 11, 9 males, 2 females 
1982, 1 O, 8 males, 2 females 

There· are severa) interesting aspects to the decade breakdown 
ofthe missing. In 1910 there is a significant increase in the number 
ofmales missing. In the early 1930s there is another major increase 

1.:. of ·~11endand women missing, with the escalation staying elevated 
J . . . unt1 to ay. 

1t is possible that sorne increase in missing people could be the 
result of improvement in communications and reporting among 
newspapers and the advent of th~ Associated Press, United Press 

: ... · International, etc., 1 don't think, however, this can bethepredominant 
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factor. 1 did .review current events for each decade listed and foun~ 
nothing obvious that could account for these increases. . 

Something drastically changed in North America with the 
advent of the 1930-1939 decade. From 1922-1929, there were eight 1 

disappearances. From 1930-1939, there was a four-fold increase in 
disappearances to thirty-four. 
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CONCILUSIONS 
·' 1 

·, •. 

Gaps.in Time 

A ó.other unusual aspect of the missing people profiled in this 
. book is the dates in which they disappear. 1 wi11 readily admit 

that. thave missed cases that fit the profile, but 1 believe the gaps in 
time ·will stand el ose to what is reported. In sorne of the chapters 
there:~is· a gap in time where nobody goes missing. 1 am placing the 
t~eJV,e gaps in time that 1 have tracked: · 

1 .. 

Chapter. 
Geor~i'a. 
Colo.rado 
Farni~rs 

West="yirginia 
Kentucky 
Okltiho~a/· Arkansas 
Michigan 
New.Mexico 
Southern California 
Mont'J,na . 
Illinois. 
Wyom·ing ·' 

Time Gap with No Disappearances 
1940-1999 
1949-1982 
1956-1986 
1958-1994 
1958-1999 
1959-1980 
1959-2004 
1960-1982 
1960-1993 
1960-1980 
1962-2007 
1966-1989 

When analyzing the gaps in time from the twelve sections Iisted 
abo~e~the ~ommon years with no disappearances are 1966-1980, 
fourteeh years in twelve states where there are no disappearances 
withfn. the ·identified cluster. It would be interesting to understand 
what ~appened in North America duringthose years that caused 
disappearances to cease. 1 do not believe that disappearances ran­
doml~ 'stopped in these clusters. There must be some rationale. 

1 

Acknówledgment 
1 l ·run' the first to admit that there is no way 1 was able to glean 

all mi~~ing person cases in North America that fit the profile in this 
book; .. By the time you read this, I will have probably found a dozen 
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more cases or will have had additional cases forwarded t~ me f~r ·::.: .. 
review. These additional cases will be posted on our webs1te. Thts·~: ·. 
project could continue for years, and the information could and ::· 
should continually evolve. · .... 

1 

Danger in the Woods · · ·. '.'· 
The cases listed below identify an element of danger that was :, 

identified in the noted cases. . . . 
The cousin of Victor Shoemaker (Kirby, West V~rgm1a) .st.at~d .. 

that the hoy was grabbed by someone hidi~g be~ind a tree. ~Jctor.·." 
was never seen again and the suspect never tdent1fied. · .. ·· 

Jackie Copeland (Pleasantyille, Pennsylvania) sa'"': some~ne o~ . .'. 
something peering at him from behind a tree. When ·~ ran ~ff, he. 
followed it. The hoy disappeared and was later found m a ~~rshy 

area. h'l ·h : 
Florence Jackson (Berryville, Arkansas) stated that w 1 e ~ ~· 

was missing in the woods, she slept in a tree and then met. a fa~-,·. 
ily in the middle of the woods t~at allowed her to sl.eep m t~e·~: 
house. After the single night she was allowed to sleep 1n the borne~ 
they told her to m ove on. Florence was carrying she~p sorr~l and· .~ 
tomate when searchers found her. Nobody had any tdea where sn~. 
obtained the sheep sorrel or tomato. : : .. 

Eloise Lindsay (Seneca, South Carolina) was on a three-wee~ 
hike when she disappeared. When found, the woman stated ~hat:sh~. 
was chased for three weeks by several men that meant her ha~~~ 
The m en were never identified. . ·· ::1 

Karen Cooney (Corry, Pennsylvania) was hanging. clothes ~n. 
her backyard when her mother heard a scream. Karen d~~a~pe~ree 
and was later found by a helicopter. The girl stated that a ~1g Ma~. 
chased her until she eventually fell asleep. Karen couldn t rem~~ 
ber a majority of her missing time. . ' . 

Cooney· and Lindsay are claiming they were chased: m .~he . 
woods by men. The locations where these w~men w_ere chased ~ere 
extremely remote and locations where people routmely .carry fi5-e­
arms. What type of man is Jurking in the woods ~nafratd of be1pg 
shot? 1 refer readers to the statement made by retJred.NPS Ran~~r 
Dwight McCarter in the Great Smoky Mountains sect10n re.gardmg 
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, . Dennis Martín. McCarter claims there are "wiJd men" living in the 
inountains who are known to commit crimes. Could these men be 
responsible for these incidents? 

On ~he website Websleuth.com, an entry on the forum for 
·.··February 14, 2005 (11:13 a.m.) stated the following: l 

1 
·• My son was an avid hiker during high schoo/ and col/ege. His dream .i 
¡ 1--vas lo hike the en tire Appalachian Trail from Georgia to Maine 
{ be.fore entering graduate school. The day a.fter he graduated col-
i lege he took q(f alone with plans lo meet up at various points a long 

·~ the way witlz other hikers so none ofthem would ever be spend-
·i ing too many long periods hiking alone. Two weeks into the trip he 
'J. . . . cal!ed me to come pick him up in North Carolina after sufforing an 

· . injury in a bad fa/l. Turns out he was injured afler breaking camp 
·j · in the midd/e of the nightto evade severa/ guys that appeared to be 

·1 ·. ·$talking him.for severa/ days. 
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On the same forum page entered on February 9, 2005 under 
"Tennessee" was the following: 

1 can te/1 yo u that 1 hada scary experience on one of the trai/s in 
the park one time that involved being closely followed. My hiking 

· partner and 1 were frightened by these men. 1 be/ieve that the only 
thing that saved us was that we spotted more hikers afew hundred 
feet away. 1 rather loud/y said something lo the effict of: HHey, here 
con~ e some more people. " The m en who were following us took off 
up the side of the mountain. We didn 't stick around to see where 
they went. 

What type of men leave an area by running uphill? People usu­
ally take the path of least resistance, downhill. 

The entries on Websleuth.com are examples of incidents that 
occur on trails that the vast majority of the public will never hear 
about. I believe that these incidents may be occurring much more 
~egularly · than even 1 ha ve documented. The idea that there is a 
group ofmen in the woods chasing, stalking, and following people 

· seems initially absurd, but I doubt these stories are fictitious. When 
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you read the statement by Dwight McCarter (Dennis Martín, Great .. 
Smoky Mountains) that there are wild men living in the mountaíns, 
this makes the stories ofpeople being chased seem quite plausible. 

Screams and Yells 
The below listed cases representan incident in which the children · 

screamed or yelled and then disappeared. Think through this clearly, 
Children do not disappear; they do not run off and vanish-period. 
If children scream in conjunction with a disappearance, 1 think it's a 
rational assumption to believe they were confronted with somethi~g 
they could not overcome, and they were deathly afraid. 

02/24132-Eise Flothmeier (22 years), Fox Chase, 
Pennsylvania, walking in a park alone on edge of the wil­
derness. The girl disappears at the same time a woman in 
a nearby house hears a girl scream. Else is later found dead 
under suspicious circumstances. 

09/05/35-Jack Pike (S years), St. Norbert, Manitoba, hoy 
was with his family picking blueberries, parents hear a 
scream, and the boy disappears. Jack is found days la~er 
semiconscious, later dies. 

05/21/41-EldridgeAlbright(3 years), Woodstock, Maryland, 
boy was playing in a creek behind his rural residence when · 
his grandmother hears him scream. The mother runs into 
the backyard and hears two more screams further and fur­
ther from the residen ce. Eldridge was found a da y later in a 
swampy areawith a bed made ofleaves. The hoy was asked 
how he got to the location and what happened; he couldn 't 
remember. 

12101146-Paula Welden (18 years), Bennington, Vermont, 
taking a hike on Glastonbury Mountain and disappears. A 
woman nearby hears a girl scream near a swamp at the time 
Paula vanishes. PaÚ la Welden is never found. 

05105/50-Anna Pearl Thorpe (2 years), Dunbar, 
Pennsylvania, girl was playing in the yard of her residen ce 
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· .. : Wh.en her mother heard a scream. The mother rushed to the 
:.-·yar.d and could not locate Anna. Search parties found the 

¡:.:girl on the other side of a ten-picket wire fence and two 
.:·~additional stone fences. Anna was found naked except for 
_: shoes she was wearing. 

.... -~7/08/68-Karen Cooney (15 years), Corry, Pennsylvania, 
. · ·girl was hanging clothes in her rural backyard when her 
. . ; mother heard her scream. The mother ran to the backyard 

." and could not locate the girL A helicopter used in the search 
:._tp fi~1d Karen located her. Karen later stated that she was 
_.chased by a "big man until 1 fell asleep." Karen could not 
rémember much else about the incident. 

· ... 

313 

:._ ~everal ofthese individuals were missing from their yards or the 
area:behind their residences. If a child wanted to run off or go toan 
area·where he or she was not supposed to travel, the child wouldn't 
scre.a~ a.nd sóund an alert to parents. The child would stay quiet 
and ~~eander away. In each of these incidents, the people screamed 
or yelled. Something caused them extreme angst. When children 
yelfqr s~ream, it is usually ata moment when they don't have the 
tim~. or energy to ca11 out with specifics. It is sometimes their Jast 
brea~~ before they depart. It would appear that these young people 
~onftonted something drastic and immediate. It would appear from 
the li:st that Pennsylvania and Washington are hot spots for this type 
of a_ctivity. If you look at the list of missing from Pennsylvania, the 
grou.p 'is Iwavily weighted with very young children in the early to 
mid;J900s, a disturbing scenario . 

.Bow Hunters 
· Óne ofthe most fascinating and unusual groups ofmissing peo­
?le i~·b?w hunters. The majority ofthese hunters that are highlighted 
m bQth books have never been found. The single person located was 
a m~~~ unusual find. Here is a list ofbow hunters missing from both 
editi.~ns ofMissing-411: · 

09114/04-Bart Schleyer (49 y~ars), Reid Lake, Yukon 
:Territory, Canada. Schleyer was the one person in both 
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books who was the most comfortable and experienced in 
the woods. He was bow hunting in a very retnote region of. ; · .... 
the Yukon and disappeared. Parts ofhis body were located,, · · ; .. _. 
but there were never answers asto what killed the man or. 
the circumstances behind his death. 

09/19/04-Robert Springfie.ld (49 years), Bighorn Mountain, · 
Montana. Springfield was bow hunting with relatives whe.~ 
he vanished. Several years latera few bones, boots, and ~~~ 
coat were located neatly pl~ced next toa tree. A screechmg · · ·· 
crow directed another hunter to the find. .... · 

It seems very coincid~ntal that Springfie~~ dis.app~ared ·· .. 
five days after Schleyer and specifically parttctpatt.ng m the · · ·. 
exact same sport. Both men were exactly forty-nt~e yea~s ·. 
old, and their deaths are sorne of the most unexp~aJ~able tn 
either edition ofMissing-411. There are many comctd~nc~s 
listed in both books that seem ahnost odd that they extst. ·.· ."· 

09/12105-Tom Howell (46 years), Limestone Mountain, 
Caroline, Alberta, Canada. Tom drove his ATV pac~~d .. 
with supplies to an area .at the base of a large ~ountam . ·, .. 
where he was going to bow hunt for Rocky Mountam sheep. 
He knew the area well and was an experienced hunter. ~om 
d_isappeared, andan exterrsi_ve sear~h was conducted wt~h-
out finding Tom or any ofhts supphes. 

09/06/09-Melvin N·adel (61 years), Santa Fe National Forest, . . ... 
New Mexico. Melvin met friends atan area where he was .... ·. 
leaving his vehicle and walking 100-150 yards to bow hunt. · 
He told others that he w~sn't going very far. He was nev~r. 
seen again. One of the largest searches ~ver co~ducted m . 
this area failed to find Melvin or any of hts supphes. 

Bow hunting is intrinsically dangerous beca use of the .· .· 
proximity in which the hunter must get to the.game. No?-· 
hunters must understand that there are other predator~ m·. _ 
the woods that are also after the same gam~ as the hunt~r .. : . 
lt's doubtful that Howell or Nadel met wtth a moun~am .... _, 
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1ion or bear, as there would have been a large, gruesome 
scene of blood and torn clothing. This scenario was never 
found. 1 n the Springfield case, it appears. that something 

. with advanced intelligence killed RobePt, as his belt was 
found neatly rolled next to evidence ofhis remains, an unu­
sual sight. 

The Bart Schleyer case is very, very perplexing. t wish 1 
· could have been on that scene from the beginning and han­
, dled it like a crime scene, sealing the perimeter and collect­

ing evidence from the outside moving in toward the center, 
preserving evidence (tracks, etc.) as you move toward the 
center. Each of these cases is quite unüsual. 

Scratche~ 

315 

The!e are many cases listed in both books where children are 
. .' found with scratches listed over their entire body. Other cases 

ó • : • • • describe childrens bodies "torn'' with severe Iacerations when they 
·.\ · ·are found. l've never been one to believe that children will indis-

·' ~ 
, criminately run through a thorny area ripping and scratching their 
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body, that does not make sense. Many ofthese cases des.cribe parents 
.and law enforcement claiming the missing person was kidnapped. 
lf the victim was taken against their will and the perpetrator didn't 
care al;lout the welfare of the individual, m ay be the victim was car­
ried under the suspects arm as they ran from the scene, through 
the woods, through thorns and scratching the victims body. This 
scenario may explain the victim having scratches from hea4 to toe. 

National Park Service 
There is one last issue regarding NPS and missing people that 

needs to be brought to the public 's attention. 
In 1984 the Missing Children's Assistance Act was passed, 

which established a national clearinghouse for missing and exploited 
children. On June 13, 1984 the National Center for Missing and 
Exploited Children was formally opened. Law enforcement agen­
cies are now required to report all missing children to the national 
center (1-800-THE LOST). 
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During my search tor missing people in the United States, 1 
went to the National Center for M issing and Exploited C hildren and 
queried their database. l found limited data that could be g leaned 
from its search criteria, and 1 found few children listed as missing in 
the properties managed by the 001. As 1 dug more deeply, l reali zed 
that there were severa! children 1 confirmed as still missing from a 
national par k that the N PS had not 1 isted in the national data base: 

Dennis Martín 

Dennis Johnson 

Trenny Gibson 

Stacy Arras 

7 years 

7 years 

16 years 

14 years 

Missing 06/ 14/69- Great 
Smoky Mtns 
Missing 07/ 12177-­
Yellowstone (Missing 
41 1- Western U.S.) 
Missing 10/08176-Great 
Smoky Mtns 
Missing 07/ 17/81-
Yosemite (Missing 4 11 -
Western U.S.) 

Gaps in Time 317 
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1 can guarantee for a fact thát there are numerous people listed · : :~ 
in the national database who went missing long befare the required - ---.¡ 

date of entry. The NPS is making a calculated decision not to pface . ·:: 
these missing children in the database. Whether the decision is to · ----~._ 
limit visibility of this issue to -the public, laziness, or something · -:",,. 

· else, the reality is that there is no downside to their entry, noiJe! 1. 
persorially find it reprehensible that these children are not in a data- 1_ 

base designed specifically for their cases. -~ ·_ 
. .. . 

The 1 nterview . 
A fte~ speaking with dozens: of SAR personnel over the Jasf few: . ·;.­

years, 1 have realized that many conduct their missions in highly dif-·:: t· 
ferent ways. 1 am not going to p~Ss judgment on their methods, but i <-­
would hope that every SAR team would start to implement the post~·:·:,: 
incident victin1 interview (PIVI). · '.:·: _ 

Once the missing person is found, Jet him or her physically and ·: · 
emotionally stabilize to the point ofbeing able to concentrate again .. ·· · 
The SAR member doing this Ínterview cannot wait weeks for the·:·.· 
meeting-the closer to the time the person is recovered, the better> ·:: · 
The amount of information that can be gleaned from an interview .: 
with the victim is extraordinary. We need to be doing this with all: ·.' 
ages, male and fetnale, under all circumstances. This informatio~-~--: 
needs to be placed into a national database so SAR commandef~-~ :_ 
can query the system and get a computer-assisted recommendation·.:. 
on where the missing person m ay be going based on the inforniation: ... :· 
gleaned from relatives and" friends. A nationally standardized forrr(. 
should be implemented and used as a post-incident interview toof: · 
where it's legalJy mandated that it be completed. _ 

l know that the FBI does not like to deal with missing peopi.e~. 
but they seem to be the best federal law enforcement agency to man..- ~ 

age information ofthis type. The agency managing this informatiori'­
needs to develop an easily understood form that can be completed ·. 
by the victim with the assistance ofthe SAR member that can th"esr 
be sent to the database for input. The database is only as good·as the. 
information it receives, and t~e more information the cornputer is 
given, the more successful future SARs. 
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.hIt is probably ~ fact that many victims wiH not understand what 
·'.. .fa~ :~ey ~o~k whtle t?ey were missing. SAR members may need to 

a e l~ VJctJms back mto the field and identify routes taken h .11 
. d~w!JhiJJ, crossing rivers, whatever they did To . ' up lt ' 
understanding f th · h · ... gatn a comp ete 

. . . . o etr pat , tt m ay be optimum to put the victims 
. ··- . . :~ a he.hcopte~ and fly the area with them to get an aerial view of 

. t.J e r~gJ?n. ThJs process can be as irnportant as the initial search for 
1e v1ctun . 
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DO/ Recommendations 

1 
f someone goes missing in a national park, the park m ay take con­
trol of the SAR or it may relinquish control to the county sheriffs 

department. The same applies in the jurisdiction ofthe USFS. 
Ifyou are the missing person that the SAR team is operational, 

your life can be in the hands of the SAR commander and the deci7 
sions he or she makes. If commanders won't admit what they don't 
know and intend to learn through hands-on experience, you may 
not be found alive. This situation can occur in any jurisdiction and 
may occur during hoJidays when the experienced law entbrcement 
SAR commanders are on vacation. Heck, they've earned the time 
off and deserve to be with their families. Holidays are a time when 
most people visit the woods, and many people go missing during 
those time periods. 

The Department of the Interior, and its associated j~risdic­
tions, controls a vast amount of the area where a person may go 
missing in the wild. Thousands of missing person reports, articles, 
and SAR statements show vast differences in the way SARs are 
managed and their subsequent effectiveness. It would be optimal 
if the DOI divided the United States into regions with each region 
having its own SAR Urgent Response Team with experts that do 
nothing during the high traffic months but train and learn the latest 
SAR methods. This team would immediately respond when a case 
reaches a level in which advanced expertise is needed. The cases 
that needed an expert team to assist would have been the cases of 
Stacy Arras (Yosemite), Dennis Martín and Trenny Gibson (Great 
Smoky Mountains), Dennis Johnson (Yellowstone), Samuel Boehlke 
(Crater Lake), among others. These are just examples. 1 woul~ also 
recommend that an FBI agent be attached to each team and respond 
to monitor the search in the ev~nt the case turns criminal they could 
have their head in the game and contribute immediately. 

People do not disappear into nothingness. When someone is 
missing and searchers are actively looking, there is a high degree 
oftension in the air. ln.,many instances there is limited time to find 
the person based on the evaluation of how long he or she could live 
without additional assistance. If the assumption is that someone 
could live one week in the wild, the search may go ten days and 
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·the~· termínate, under the belief the person couldn't survive. I've 
ha~.~everal sleepless nights thinking about the fear children listed 
in -~his book must have felt every night they were missing in the 
wild. !he anxiety and horror that a parent feels under the conditions 
of losing a child are unfathomable. 1 can't imagine leaving the area 
where 1 l~st a child and terminating the search · effort and driving 
hoin~. 1 know it would ruin me as a personas it has ruined many 
other par~nts in this book. 1 don't believe any human being could 
suffer: a worse scenario. 

·J. think that we as a society need to take a hard look at miss­
ing:people, maybe missing chHdren specifically. Perhaps we need 
a m(tional study on the topic with peer review by world-renowned 
ex¡jer~s tri develop a new paradigm on the search. If we absolutely 
.kn~w _t~at a per~o~ i~ lost in the woods, should we really give up 
?" ·, tlt:1dtng the mdtvtdual? W~th the a.dvancement ~f technology, 
tsn.t t~ere more we can do wtth satelhtes and trackmg the possi­
ble lo~ations of missing people? Can't we utilize the satellites that 
.we.:employ to find terrorists-those same satellites that can read a 
licetise pfate from space-can't we direct them to specific areas to 
sea~~h for. children? Why can't the DOI. borrow unmanned drones 
under a militar y contract to assist in searching large are as of forests 
with FLIR? Why can't the military loan the drones to the DOI or 
USf.S to assist in searches? The publ ic needs to voice its concern on 
_the'~e is~ues and ~et the.se changes implemented. The issue, nobouy 
eve~ b~heves thear famtly would be the victim of a missing person 
sce~a~10; thus, they don't need to exude the energy on the topic. 

··' 1. 
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FBI lnvolvement 

As you've read through both books, you have seen the FBI 
become involved in cases that defy conventional kidnapping 

yet do point to abduction. The FBI has always been an agency that. 
documents incidents very wel1. The agency is very thorough. The 
cases highlighted in both books show a pattern of missing people· · ·· 
from the early 1900s with the FBI becoming involved during that. 
same time period. The agency has a huge database of information 
to which we do not have access. The information this agency has 
accumulated allows it to make strategic decisions about when to be 
involved, when to back away, and when to sit on the sidelines and 
monitor. , 

The FBI Behavioral Analysis Unit is the profiling branch ofthe 
agency. lts agents use knowledge of past crimes and interviews of . · ·.> · 
suspects and witnesses and appJy that knowledge to ongoing cases ·. . :··.:. 
to allow law enforcement officers aspecial view ofthe suspect they 
roay be pursuing. This profile allows detectives to narrow their 
focus, using time-proven techniques that profilers employ. 

\-.. 

Here is the definition ofthe FBI Behavioral Analysis Unit 2 and 
3 directly from the FB1 website: . 

' : ·-~ ·. 

Behavim;a/ Analysis Unit 2 (crimes against adu/ts): Resources a,re . ·. ~.: .. 
primari(v focused on serial, spree, mass, and other murders; sex- ··.'.: .. 
ual assaults; kidnappings; missing person cases,· and other viole!71 ~· "< .. 
crimes targeting adult victims. BAU 2 also provides ássistance, in . · ~·.:· 
potentially nonviolent investigations, such as white-col/ar crim~. : · 
puhlic corruption, organized crime, and civil rights matters. 

Behavioral Analysis Unit 3 (crimes against children): Resources . . · ... · 
are jocused on crimes perpetrated against child victims, including · -
abductions, mysterious disappearances of children, homicides, qnd ~ 
sexual victimization. 

1 immediately focused on Behavioral Analysis Unit 3 where ·: :~ · 
it lists umysterious disappearances of children.'~ 1 believe th~t . 
both books have many examples that exemplify many mysterious 

! •• 

\' 

. ' 

FBIInvolvement 323 

: ·. disappearanc'es of children. The following is a list of cases in both 
.. books that indicated that the FBI was participating or monitoring at 
. s~me JeveJ in the case: 

.·. J.os~ph and WiJJiam Whitehead, missing August 24, 1924, Glacier 
, : )~attonal Park, Montana, Joseph was twenty-nine and William 
· twent·y""t~o years. Joseph and WiJJiam were lost in the park while 
· .~jlc~tt~nmg. There was no evidence ever found they were even hik­
.J~g.mstde the park. 

·;·· ~obby Connor, missing July 13, J934, Greenburgh, New York, 
· . twenty-one months. Walking home and disappeared. Extensive 

·.·.·. searcp fou~d the boy groggy and in brambJes. Police believed he 
·. . v:'~s ·abd~cted and Jater freed. Eleven days after this event and 
.. etghty m1les north, Claire Benson, twenty-one months disappeared 
:.. . fl!o~. her yard. 

:·~:::Albert Beilhartz, missing July 2, 1938, Rocky Mountain National 
;:·.· ·gark, four ~~ars. Albert was in the park with his parents and disap­
. .;.. J?.eared. A wrtness saw a young hoy high on a cliff sometime after 

· ··~· ··the disappearance. Albert was never found. 

1
, · ~ickie Suden, missing November 1, 1945, northern California 

. · Sterr~s, fo~r years, missing from the yard of his parents' home ¡~ 
, :.· . rural foothr11s. Glove found high on crag, extensive search couJd not 
· ·~ .. fi.nd boy. P.arents felt the possibility existed boy was abducted. 

.· ~··- .. ~reta .Mary GaJe, missing June 29, 1947, Lassen National Park 
.: .. :. thirty. mon~hs~ Greta was vacationing with her grandfather who wa~ 
:·· .. 'a .Cahforma congressman when she disappeared near their cabin. 
... · T~o days after she disappeared, Greta was found high up a moun­

tam, wearing only panties, one mile from the cabin. 

~onnie Weitkamp, missing October J 1, 1955, Crane Depot, Indiana, 
three years. Ronnie disappeared in a rural area near his home Iocated 

·• .~na military installation. Every home on the base was searched as 
· . · ~ell as fields. He was eventually found deceased with his overalls 

· removed from his body. · 
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Minnie Haun, missing October 8, 1957, Wells Spring, Tenilessee, 
three years .. Minnie was with her mother and sister in the back ofthe 
family's rural home looking for walnuts. Minnie got separated and 
disappeared. Six days after Minnie vanished she was found. on the 
top of a ridgeline missing shoes and clothing, deceased. 

Debbie Ann Greenhill, missing August 9, 1958, Olive Hill, 
Kentucky, two years. Had just moved to new home near a reservoir. 
Extensive search initially didn't find anything. Eventually found in 
an area searchéd near reservoir. 

Bobby Panknin, missing August 3, 1963, Stevens County, 
Washington, 4 years. Bobby was with his mother and other rela­
tives looking at a waterfall off a logging road. Mrs. Panknin was 
no more then twenty feet from Bobby when he disappeared. Bobby 

was never found. 

Dennis Martin, missing June 14, 1964, Great Smoky Mountains 
National Park, Tennessee, seven years. Dennis was in a field in the 
mountains being watched by his father and grandfather when he 
vanished. An extensive search never found the hoy. 

Dennis Johnson, missing July 12, 1966, Yellowstone National Park, 
eight years, disappeared from picnic spot in park just after sister. 
momentarily went missing. After extensive search, parents felt hoy 
was abducted. Dennis was never found. 

Charles McCuÚar, missing January 30, 1975, Crater Lake National 
Park, Oregon, nineteen years. Charles traveled to Crater Lake to 
take photos when he disappeared. In October 1976, McCullar's 
remains were found deep in the wilderness under extremely strange 
circumstances. The FBI responded an Evidence Response Team ' 
because ofthe peculiarity ofthe findings. 

Nyleen Kay Marshall: missing June 25, 1983, Helena National 
Forest, Montana, four years. N y leen was walking ahead of her fam­
ily on a trail in a national forest. When the family reached the end of 
the path, Nyleen was missing and ha~ never been found. 

... 

. ' 

.~ . . : 
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T~n.a Marie Finley, missing March 7, 1988, Plummer, Jdaho, twenty­
five years. Finley was dropped at her rural residence by a friend and 

· wás ·never seen again. Her friend passed a polygraph and has no 
i~vólvement. Tina matches the physical description of other females 
missing in the area. 

· Víctor Shoemaker, missing May l, 1994, Augusta, West Virginia, 
four ye~rs. Víctor was playing in the w,oods with relatives when he 
decided to go back to his grandparents' cabin alone. He was never 
s~en ag~in. One of the boys who was with Victor at the time of the 
di.~appearance stated that somebody hiding behind a tree grabbed 
him. · Victor has never be en found. 

Jea,-tne Hesselschwerdt, missing July 9, 1995, Glacier Point, 
Y~s.emit~ National Park, thirty-seven years. Jeanne and a boyfriend 
wen~·visiting the park and stopped to take a short hike-she disap­
pe~ted. Jn September 1995, two mountain climbers fishing in a very 
refi:tote and rugged area found Jeanne's body in a creek. Nobody 
co~ld a.ccount for how she arrived at the location where found. 

·· .. 
Tre{my Gibson, missing October 8, 1976, Great Smoky Mountains 

. Nat.ional·Park, Tennessee, sixteen years. Trenny was with a class 
on··.·~ wild.erness day hike near Clingman's Dome. Trenny was seen 
stepping offthe trail and disappeared. An extensive search failed to 
find any 'clue that the girl had been in the woods. Trenny was never 
found.' 

K~~n ~ero, missing February 15, 1997, McCioud, California, 
twe~.ty-seyen years. K aren disappeared in McCioud, CA in the same 
tin):~ fra~e as Hannah Zaccaglini. Karen has never been found. . : 

Hart:hah Z~ccaglini, missing June 4, 1997, McCioud, California, fif­
teert:}ear:;. Hannah disappeared in the rural community ofMcCJoud 
~ear·the base of M t. Shasta. She has never been found. 

... 
Ami 'Bechtel, missing Ju1y 24, 1997, Shoshone National Forest, 
Wy·~¡·ng, twenty-four years. Amy went to a smaiJ. park to map 
a. re9reational run she was planning .. Her car was found, but Amy 
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disappeared. Six years after Amy disappe~red, her Timex watch 
was found in the middle fork of a nearby nver. Amy Bechtel was 

never found. 

Jaryd Atadero, missing October 2, 1999, Comanche Peak Wi~derness, 
Colorado, three years. Jaryd was walking a defined tratl near a 
river with a group of people when he vanished. He was found f~ur , . 
years later high up a mountainside. Only remnants of the boy were 

found. 

Patrie McCarthy, missing October 13, 2003, White Mountai~s, New 
Hampshire, ten years. Disappeared from an ar~a nea~ a skt resort.. 
Was found deceased of hypothermia in mountams. Hts parents felt 

the boy had been attacked and abducted. 
1 

Garrett Bardsley, missing August 20, 2004, Cuberant Lake, Utah. · 
twelve years. Garrett was fishing with ~is :ather when he got .wet. · 
He turned to wa1k back to camp and whtle m a woodsy area dtsap;. 
peared. Garrett's sock was found higher in elevation in a boulder 

field·. He was never found. 

. . 
. ·· ... 

:. 
,.···. 

... 

Robert Springfield, missing September 19, 2004, Bigh~rh 
Mountain, Montana, forty-nine years. Robert was bow huntmg. 
with relatives when he vanished·. An extensive search produc~d 
no evidence he was in the area. Thirteen months after Robert d~~­
appeared, small remnants of his bones were found, a long wtth · ..... 
his belt and vest. The remainder of Robert's body has never been · 

·:t 

recovered. 

Madyson, Sherilynn. and Bobby Jamison, missing October 8, 2004,. ...;. 
Panola Mountain, Oklahoma, ages five, forty, and forty-four respec- ... · ·. ·. 
tively. The Jamisons looked at mountain ~roperty fo~ purchase a~d · ·._.·· 
met the seller. After the meeting, the famtly stayed m the area ~nd . 
disappeared. They have never been found. · . ·.~·· 

.. 

Samuel Boehlke, missing October 4, 2006, C~ater Lake .N~tional: :.".: .. 
Park, Oregon, eight years. Samuel was with hts father dnvmg .~he . , ;·.:: 

'· 
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·: perimeter road ofthe lake when they stopped for the view. Samuel 
· ... : r~n .to the top of a small hill, yelled at his father and ran over the 

other side ~nd was never seen again. A massive search failed to find 
: :. the hoy. . .. 

. . ~his is a confirmed list of twenty-six cases in which the FBI 
~· was on scene. Many times agents will not identify themselves or 
: speak to the press, but local law enforcement officers will confirm 
:. that FBI agents are there. This is only a small list of cases in which 

·... we absolutely knew the FBI was there. 1 have no doubt that there are 
· ·equally as many cases in which they were there and did monitor or 

read case reports . 
. ·.·. Each time 1 file an FOJA with the FBI, 1 fail to receive all of 
· .. t~1e documents 1 request. The agency always refuses something. It's 
.· ~mclear .to me how they can claim they cannot release documents 
··:·.r.egarding a dead body because they are concerned about the per-

. ~· son's·privacy. 
·:·. ·. ·: . The FBI is a group ofvery intelligent agents. Many ofthese Iaw 
· · .. epforcement officers are not streetwise, but they are very inte11ec-
· ... ·.tl_13J and can connect the dots. 1 know that they have massive files on 
· .. ~ase.s ver y similar to the cases 1 ha ve presented, and they have come 
. ;: t9 co~clu~ions abo~t similarities in cases and possible relationships 
. amon~ dtfferent en me scenes. The number of children who have 
:· ·~isappeared from a rural Jocation with their dogs is something that 

. : 1s troubling. People in national parks who are chased and/or fol­
.. lowed by unidentified men is also a troubling issue that 1 am sure 
· :.: trye l7:B{ understands and is tracking. 1 can guarantee that the NPS 
·· .. · u~d~rstands the issue ofwild men living in their parks one oftheir 

:· ·::· best ·retired rangers told us. ' 
. · · · . ·. The number of children missing in national parks who are never 

. :.::· fow1d is also a troubling point that the FBI fully understands because 
· ·<· ·~pey have participated by interviewing witnesses. There ·was one 
· :. ~:g~nt ~n tl!e Knoxville .office of the FBI who was heavily involved 
: , ·•nves~J~atmg severa} dtsappearances of children in the Tennessee 

· · ' ·: ~. ·. ~ountains-:-Jim Rike. Agent Rike interviewed many people 
. ~nvolved wtth several cases presented in this book and seemed to be 

:.;·.·.~eH infor11_1ed about the facts of each case. When I interviewed Mr. 
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Martin· regarding his son's disappearance in the Smoky Mountains 
National Park, he specifically mentioned Agent Rike's name and felt 
that he knew a Iot of the specifics of his son 's case. Unfortunately 
Agent Rike is deceased, and we cannot question him. 1 can guar­
antee that everything Agent Rike did, every assumption he made, 
was documented and sent to headquarters. These reports still exist, 
but not under the victim's name. They are cross-referenced· using 
special coding and names that behavioral analysts understand and 
can query. The public cannot get at these cases through an FOJA 
because prívate citizens don't know the codes or file names to ask 
for. 

1 personally believe that the FBI has a large case file with many 
ofthese incidents cataloged and well documented. The agency does· 
not discuss cases with the media or usually share its intelJigence 
with other law enforcement agencies unless asked specific ques­
tions. 1 have personally experienced this refusal numerous .times. 1 
have no doubt that the behavioral unit has many files of cases iden­
tic~l to the ones you've just read, along with its analysis of ;.vhat 
occurred and how it occurred. However, recommendations by the 
agency for managing the media message have, no doubt, given , 
many Supervising Special Agents heartache and anxiety over what 
they knew but could not say. · 

Next Steps 
1 know there are people with much more knowledge and ~any 

more facts on missing people than l. 1 am positive that the NPS has 
a treasure trove of information on missing people in its system that 
it does not release to the public. The NPS policy needs to change. lt 
needs to start tracking missing people and releasing that data in its ·· 
annual report for everyone to see. J do hope that this book acts as a 
catalyst for the public to start openly talking about the missing and 

1 

then demanding disclosure and complete cooperation among vari­
ous federal agencies. 1 spent three years researching these books. 1 
could have easily continued for another ten. 1 would hope that sorne 
ofthe people who are harboring knowledge on this topic would step 
forward and add clarity and start the process of disclosure. 

:. ~ 
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1 ask readers to study the lists of missing children and adults 
a~tached at the end ofthis book. Look for similarities and compara­
t_ive relationships, dates, times, ages, etc. There are cJues to under­
standing the issues, and they are buried in these Iists. 
_ · My prayers for a calming peace go out to each and every friend 

and relative ofthe missing. 
You can reach me any time at: missing41 l@yahoo.com or visit 

t_~1e website at www.canammissing.com. 

·. •. 
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Campbcll County, TN 126, 190, 191, 192,218.211. Cmwn Game Preserve 4, . Mi~sing 95, 98. 167, 180, 250, 255. 279, In Crcck/River lkd 53, 75. 96, 

Campbell Milis, OH 28-29, 228, 230, 248, 254, Crumley, Bill158, 189, 193, 196. 197-198, Furrington, Donald 184-185, 109. 123-124, 131. 162. 

Canines xiii, see 266,279, Cucupa, Albert 21, 25, .··. 206-207,218, 231,242, 1-'arrington, Emmctt 184-185, 173, 185, 2:!6. 216, 198, 

"Bloodhounds" Torn to Shreds 50, 81, 190, Cummungs, Marcelene 8, 27&. Fuy~tt~:ville Daily 77, In Bcrry Patch 185, 199, 

Cannon, Jack 153, 197, 277-278. 18, Dóorknockcr 130, FBI93-94, 116, 120-121, 139- In Trce 235-23(1. 

Cannon, Paulinc 154, Clusters 'Doud, Brenda Jeun 233. 141. 143-147, 150-152. In Swamp 62. 200. 277. 279. 

Canton,IL 70, Lists xi-xii 253-254, 262-263. Nuked 54. 74, 78. 161, 163, 

Carbaugh, Emerson 171, Coal 73, .. ·. D~ughton Purk. NC 108, On Scc:ne JOl) (Auberry), 167, 179, 192. 199.202 • 

210-211, 't:oal City, 1 L 73, Dabkowski, Jon 171, 210, Dllwney, 1-'rank, 225-226, 114 (Gibson}. 125 237, 247, 248, 266, 281, 

Carbaugh,lda 211, Coast Guard 139,274, Daily Democrat 86, •.. 230-231, (Haun), 138 (Martin), J•unls Pullcd Down 119, 

Carey, Bob 158, Cochranc. ONT 4·6, Daily Herald 158, Orowned 74, 198, 217, 240, 205 (Cooney), 222 llurtially Clothed 75. 96. II<J. 

Cartersville, GA 98, Coconino County, AZ 23, Daily Middleboro 126, Or:umnto!ld, Wl 13. (Shoemaker), 226-228 124, 178. 181. 199,217, 

Carthage, TN 140, Coghill, Bobby 113-114, Daily News 49,215, . , D~1bois. ID 25 • (Wcitk:unp), 229 235. 246. 247. 
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Greenhill, Debbie Ann 225. 
.. 

Semi Conscious/Groggy 75. Photo 111.317, l1ólland, NY 185-185, lnterview 318-319, Key, Baxter 142, 144, 
Similaritics 116, 226, 228-230, 1-folman, William B 83, lowa 233. Key, Har.old 137-138, 140, 142, Qb, 161, 167. 168, 190. 
Trail Photo 112, Grecnhill, Earl228, ,Ho1mes, Fred 171. 203-204, Ackworth 31. 150, 205. 207. 216. 226. 235-

Gidlof, Andrew 13-14. Greenwood Lakc,IN 226, Hotmes, Gertrude 203-204, Atlantic City 69, Kiamichi Mountains, OK 236. 238. 243. 245, 281, 
Giltnore Creek, Alaska 17-18, Grouse 39. 42, Holmes, Roderick 203, Webster City 29, 80,94, Unconscious 162. 191, 196, 
Girard Manor. PA 172. Grubb. Ester 156, Hooper Sheep Ranch. WA 24. List of Missing 69, J<idnapping (See also "Abduc-With Nosc 1njury 99, 
Glass. James 175. Gudger, Trula 153, llospital54, 91, 96, 167-168, lsctt, Ralph 210-211, tion") xiv, 71, 73, 88, Four Town, MN 42-43. 
Godwin, A.W. 78. Gullcy. Cap 83. .. 182. 197. 238. 243, 99, 158, 166, 174, 182. Fox Chase.J>A 178-180, 
Gonzalcs. Elias 22, Hot Springs. AR 77. 187, 195,205, 214.219, Fnx N!!WS 109, 
Grahamsville. NY 203-204, Jlowc llill. ME 235. 228. 229, 245, 251. 266-Frederick House River 5, 
Grandparcnts Homc Houghton County Shcriff, Jackson, Arthur 77, 267, 272, 277-278, 279, Free Lance Star Ncwspapcr 

Missing from 51, Hague. Geoffrey Burns MI 58. Jackson. Florence 76-80, Abduction 16."79, 174, 176, 221. 
Grang.evillc, ID 22. 106-107. 116-122. Hu~ldeherrics 11.·12. 14, 16-17, Jacksonville. FL 153, 181, 184,209 (Possiblc), Frccdom oflnform:11ion Act 
Grapevincs 231, 246. Halifax, Nova Scotia 259, 135. Jamison 214, 227.238,242, 245, (FOIA)46.111.126. Bcavcr Bank 259, 

.' .. 
lluffman, Jerry Lee 166-167, Bobby 76, 92-94 By Bear 49, 56, 58, 173-174, Great Smoky Mountains 1.36, 141, 143. 

National Park 90, lOS· Tucker Lake 259, ·Hui in, Hjalmar 37. Madyson 76, 92-94 175,254, Fremont County, ID 25, 
164,237, Hallaxs, Chrislopher 55, 65·67, . (Julia, Caro! Van 55, 61·63, l>holo 92, By Wolf49, 

Fritz. Gabe 262. 
Adams Creek 128, 130, Photo 65, ,Huntcr 133, 210-211, Shcrilynn 76, 92-94 King, Harold 48, 

Frit7.. Noah 262. 
Andrews Bald 111, Hamilton. Eddie 8-10. · Mysterious Oeath 264-265, Jcpson, Nancy 273, Kingsford, Ml62, 

Fronefield Farm 30, 
AnthonyCreek Trailhead 137, Hammons, Bobby 231. '· Hutchinson News ·159, Jepson, Paul 273-274, Klamecki, David 73-74, 

fryc Mountain State 
Big Creek 122. Hanover BluffNaturc Hypothcrnlia 44-45, 262, Jcwctt, Rose 8, 15·16, Klamccki, Hannah 73-74, Management Arca. 
Boulevard TrailJJ8. Preserve,IL 71, .. Johnson, Alden 233. 243-244, Knoxville, Highway 98, 

ME 15. 
Buck.Fork Creek 124, Hanover, PA 177, Johnson, Dennis 316 Koester, Robert 62, 
Cades Cove 135, 137, 139, Hanson, Mark 106-107, 122· Photo 317, Knox,ME 15, 

142, 148, ISO, 125,164, ·ldaho Johnson, Mertley 233, 238·242, Knoxville, TN 111, 114, 144, 
Catnloochee Valley 148, Happy Valley, TN 127. 129. ... Coeur D'Aiene.ID 18, Jones, Christopher 76, 91·92, 162, 

Ciaddis. Genrgc W. 99, Hardy, David M 126, 
.. 

Dubois 25, Photo 91, Knoxville Journall42, Chapter Conclusions Gadsdcn Times 255, 
163-164. ~hsrlan Daily 231. .. Elk Rivcr 15·16, Jones, E.C. 28·29 • Knoxvillc Ncws Sentincl 137, 

Gaines. PA 211-212, 
Chilhowcll Mountain 135, Harrah. WA 17, Fremont County 25, Joncs, Wilbert 85, 143, 

Ga1atia Township 32. 
Clingmans Dome 105, 111, 1-Jatfield, Glen 159, Grangcvillc 22, Jones, Willard Eugene 76, Kooser State Park, PA 194-195, 

Gallagher, Debbic 227. 
115. 162, Haun, fran 125. Pricst Luke 18. 85-86, Koza, John 21, 23, 

Oall:tgher, Morris 264-265, 
Deep Crcck Trail 153, 155. Haun. Minnie 106-107. Salmon River Breaks 22, Joplin Globe 78, Krebbs, Dewayne 86, 

Game Warden 23. 38. 194,238, 
Forney Creek Trai1114, 125-127. .•· . lllinois 70-74 Krcbbs, Larry 76, 86-87, 

258. 
LowGap 122, Havelock. ONT 33, Braccvil.le 72, Photo 86, 

Gaps in Time 294-295, 309, 
Map ~05, Hawk9, :.• Bréeds, IL 70-71. Kunchick, Rudy 175, 188, 191, 

Garbagc Dump 273. 
Mt. Chapman 124, Hayfield 72. Canton, IL 73, Kankakee River, JL 

Garcia, Jerry 21, 24. 
Mt. Guyot 123, Hazlcton. PA 174, Coal City 73, K ansas City MO 82, 

Gardendale. AL 96, 
Mt. Leconte 131, Hearon, Michael Edwin 106- Galatia Township 32, Kant, Elizabeth 2, 4, 

Gately, Edward 232.237-238, 
Mt. Sterling 122, 107. 127-130, .. llanover BluffNaturc Kecwatin, ME 14, La Crosse Tribune 51, 

Gazettc Mail 168, 
Ncwfound Gap 117·119, Photo 127, .. Preserve 71, Keewatin School 14, Lagrange,IN 31-32. 

Georgia 98-104 
Rainbow Falls 131. Hearon, Su e 127. Kankakee Rivcr 73, Keewcenaw Woods, M 1 58, Lo.~ke Gibson, ONT 6, 

Allatoona Lake 100, 
Rowans Creek 137, 140-141, Hearón, Verl 127, Lasalle Fish and Wildlife Kclly. Jan 44, Lake Placid. NY 256-257, 

Cartersville 98, 
144, 147, 150, Hcbcr City, UT 25-26, Arca 73, Kelly, Kory 36, 42-47, 276, Lake Superior 

Clayton County Reservoir 
Russell Field Shelter 136, 1-lennegan, Derrick 55. 67, List of Missing 70 Kentucky Chequamegon Bay SI, 

104. 
Sea Branch Creek 137-138, Herald Examiner 227, · Momencc 73, Eastern Kentucky State Forcst 66, 

Ellcrslie 101, Herald Times 59. ·' 
Peail City 71-72, University 122, Lake Texoma, OK 86, 

Fort Benning 138, 
140, 144, 147, ISO, 

Hermits 141, '· Wctlands Nature Preserve Fort Campbcll 131, Langer, Freída 274-276, Spcnce Field 136. 139, 144, Ust ofMissing 98. 
Tricorner 122. 1-Jerrick. Carl 264-265, 7~. Louisville 229, Lansberry. Thomas 195, 

Macon 102. 
Walker Camp Prong 118, 267-268, lndian Newport 122, Lansing, MI 63, 

Red Top Mountain State Hickey, John 119, ' Trackers 13, Oakhill225, Lasalle Fish and Wildlife Area, 
Park 100. Greeley, PA 175-176, 

Hihbard 1-tunting Camp 58, ..... · lndian Crcek. AR 78, Olive Hill228-229, IL 73, 
Stuckbridgc 102, Green Bcrets 

Higgins Lake, M163, . Indiana Scott County 230, Latimer County, OK 93, Search 119 (Hague ), 121 , Tobesofkee Creek 102. 
138, 147-148 (Martín), Hinton, Bobby 103, Crane Depot, IN 226-227. Stamping Ground 225, Laureldale, PA 195-197, 

Gerke, Edward 28-29, 48, Hitchcock. Alfred 186, 
.. 

Crothcrsville 225, Kcshena, Wl 53, Lavies, Brad 106-107, 131-133, 150-152, 158 (Ree1). 
Gettysburgh Times 187. 

256 (l.cgg), Hoaglin Township. OH 30, '·· Grcenwood Lake 226, Kctcherside Mountain Lavies, Nancy 131, 
Gibson, Robcrt liS, 

Green Mountain National Hokit. Floyd 76, 80-82, Lagrange 31-32. Conservation Area 75, Lavies, Randy 131, 
Gibson, Trenny Lynn.I06-107. 

Forest. NH 247, J-lolland, AR 91·92, Muscattatack River 22S, Kettle l.akc Provincial Park 6, Leader Post 36, 
111-116162.164,316. 

.. 
: . 

... 
; 
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Lebanon, MO 85, Loon Mountain Ski Resort Mark 1\vnin Nutional Forest, 

Legg. Douglass 233, 255-257, 262, M075, 

Leisure Lake, PA 205, Lorimer, Evangeline 106-107, Markline, Geraldine 170, · 

Lembke, Johnnie 8-9, 135-136, 177-178, 

Lent, Darrelll80, Los Angeles Times 199, Marshburg, PA 183, 

Lent, Oliva 180-181, Loss ofMemory 109, Marshfield Ti mes 49, 

Lent, Rita Margaret 180-182, Lost Person Behavior 61·62. Martín. Clyde 136. 

Lethbridge Herald 19,260, Lost, A Rangers Journal 146, Martín, Dennis Lloyd 106-1071 

Lewellen, Greg 21, 26-261 155, 116, 136·153, 134, 159, 

Lewiston Daily 236, 257, 258, Lowell Sun 275, 206,257,316, 

264, LU. Shcep Compuny 25, Photo 136, 317, 

Lewiston Evening Journal 194, Ludington Daily 56-57. Row:ms Creck Photo,el42, 

Lexington Herald 231, Wanted Poster 149, 

Lightning 29, Mnrtin, William 136-152, 

Linahan, John 114, Marvin Jr., Hornee 232, 

Lincoln, Herman 275, Mackinaw Wilderness, Ml66, 234-235, 

Lindsay, Eloise 106-107, 133- Macon, GA 102, Marylaml 

135,206, Maddox, John 114, Colesville 197-198, 

Lindsay, Gayle 134, Maine 232, State Policc 189, 

Linklater, Michael2, 6-7, Aboconet Bog 240, Woodstock 188, 

Lists ofMissing Alfrcd 254-255, Maryvillc, TN 1271 

Alabama95, Bethel235, Maryvilh: Alcoa Times 137, 

Berry Pickers 8-9, Big Bog Dam 238, Massachuseus 

Children Under 10 283-287, Chnin ofPonds 249, Brighton 237-238, 

Odd Coincidc:m:cs Fryc Muuntuin Stutc Chkupcc Fulll>, MA 203, 

289-293 Managcment Aren 15, Forl Devens 256, 

Dale Anomaties-Males Grcenvilh: 240, North Rehoboth, MA 14-fS, 

293-294 Hebron 253, 243, 

Gaps in Time 294-295 Howe Hill235, Mauston, Wl 50-51, 

Farmers28, Keewatin 14, Mayo, Nita 213, 

Georgia 98, Kenncbec River 240, McCarthy, Patrie 232, 233, 

Grcat Smoky Mountains Kinco Station 239, 262-263, 

106-107 Knox 15, McCarter Dwight 118-119, 124, 

lllinois 70, Moosehead l.ake 240, 135, 136, 140-141, 146, 

lowa69, Natanis Point Campground 155-156, 

Kentucky 225, 257, McCiellan, Albert SO, 

Master 296-306, Portland 235, McCuller, Charles 120! 

Missing by Decade 307, Somerset County 240, McDonald, Daniel 89, 

Michigan 55, Spears Mountain 15, McDonald, Gloria 76,89-91, 

Minnesota 35·36, Maki, Raymond SS, Photo 89, 

New England 232-233, Malinoski, Michael Joc McFaul, Clayton 2, 

Ncw Jersey 277, 211-212, McGrady, NC 108, 

OK/AR 76·77, Manheim, PA 192, McGregor, MN 37, 

Ohio 165, Manitoba 6, 12-13, McGurk, J.J. 30, 

Ontario (Central) 2, St. Vital36, McKenzic, Ann 101, 

Pcnnsylvania 170-171, Maps McKinney, Elizabeth 218, 

Sheepherders 21, Alabama95 McKinney, Johnny 215, 218· 

Vermont 264, Greut Smoky Mountains 219,224, 

West Virginia 215, lOS, McKinney, Paul 218, 

Wisconsin 48, Michigan SS McMillun, Wl49-50, 

Logan, UT 22, Minnesota 35, MeNea), Lisa 132, 

Logansport Press 201, OK/AR 76 McQuillan, Milda 35, 

Loggers 105, Pennsylvania 169, Mean, Frank 21, 24, 

Loman, MN 39, West Virginia 215, Melton, Robert 155, 

Long, John 35, 39, Wisconsin 48 Melton, Thelma Pauline 90, 

Long, William 70, Marion, OH 165-166, 106-107, 153-155. 

Long Valley, AZ 23, County Sheriff 165, Melvin, Crandell 255, 

.. 
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· Ms:ivin Jr .. Myron 255, 
·'.'Mena, AR 85, 
·.'.Ména ~tar 89, 

· ,·MenominccCounty. MI 
1 

, County Sheriff 58, 
.. lndian Rcservation, Wl 53, 
M~:rcersburg, PA 197, 

· .. Mériden Daily Journal271, 
'Mcridcn Record 178.246. 

. . 266, 

,.)vtichiga•i 55-68, 
· . Battlc Crcek 65, 
-~ ~· Chippewa County 66, 
_: Copp~•· City 58, 
· ·:. Keweenaw Woods 58, 

·~ ·Kingsford 62. 
· ,; ' l-liggi~s Lake, MI 63, 

· take Superior State Forest 
66. 

Lansing63, 
Mackinmv Wilderncss 66, 
Map48. 

. · . .New~crry 67, 
: · Norway Lak~ 60·63, 

· Muha\\ 1.. 5M. 
·l•uradis.: 63, 65, 
State Police 64, 66, 
Tahquamcnon State Park 

63. 66. 
.·.: WalhaLia 56-58, 
. , Whit.:fish Township, MI 

. . . 63-64, 

.tvtill Run, t•A 201-202, 
Milwaukec Journal162, 
~ilwaukee Sentinel61-62, 

· Minarcin, Gabriel 171,210, 
.' ·Photo 210, 
Minneapolis, MN 41, 
ryJinnesota 12. 35-47, 276, 
•· Beltrami County 40, 43-47, 
.. Callaway State Wildlife 

· M:magement Arca 40, 
·: Chisholm 41-42, 

Crookstown 42, 
:'Eiy 39, 
F9ur Town, 42-43, 
Loman,39, 

· McGregor 37, 
·Mup3S, 
· Minneapolis, MN 41, 
: Moose {{ iver 39, 

1 
,. New Brighton 37, 
'Pnul Bunyan State Forest 

40-41, 
·. Po!'Jslord 39-40, 
: Red Lakcs Recrc:ation Arca 

40-41, 

Red Lakcs Wilderncss 
42-47, 

Sugar Bush 40-41, 
Missing 

From Yard 98, 165. 167, 172, 
174-175, 177, 180, 184, 
186, 193-194, 197-198. 
202,.203-204,205,216, 
229, 237, 24(t, 247, 251. 
254, 253, 254, 

From Campsite 108, 
Fmm Creck 189, 
From lnsidc llome 75, 87, 

103,.173, 277. 
Frorn Grandparents 215·216 

(Sherman), 220 (Shoc­
makcr). 242 (Swanson). 
281 (Pcterson), 

Mississippi River 71-72. 
Missouri 74-75, 

Arcadiu75, 
fuson Conservation Area, 

M085, 
Kctchersidc Mountain 

l'unscrvutiun Arca 75, 
Lcbanon 85, 
Mark Twuin National Forest 

75, 
Mitchell. J. 21·22, 
Mobcrly Munitor 83, 
Moflitt, E:ul 17-18, 
Moffitt, Mabel8, 17-18, 
Mohawk, Mi 58, 
Momcnce, 1 L 73, 
Monongahela Nacional Forest 

224. 
Montana 

Acton 23, 
Alder 22·23, 
Dillon 23, 
Duluth 37, 
Red l.odge 21, 
Ruby Lake 22-23, 

Montgomery, PA 192, 
Monument Mountain, WA 18, 
Moon Madness 179, 
Moore, Joseph 215, 223-224, 
Moore, Nora 95-97, 
Moosc Rivcr, MN 39, 
Moosonee, ONT 6, 
Morgan, Tim 134, 
Morse, Floyd 70.71, 
Mou, Harold 206-208,213, 
Mount Adams, WA 16-17, 
Mount Everest 121, 
Mount Guyot, GSM Park 123 
Mountl.aurcl,I'A 195, 
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Mount Stcrling, GSM l,nrk 
122, 

Moy. Randy 167-168, 
Mulbcrrics 74, 
Muldoon, M.J. 237. 
Murdcr 176, 
Murty. l.cnn 52. 
Muscattatack Rivcr, IN 225, 
Mushroom 197, 

Nakcd Budy 24, 
Nutanis J>oint C'ampground. 

ME 257, 
Nationul Guurd 37, 77. 110. 

147,230, 
Nationall,ark Scrvicc (NPS) 

111-115. 117, 120, 123. 
128. 131, 133. 145.256. 
315, 

Nativc Amerk:ms Hi3, 2<>4, 
NaV)' 227, 
Neikin, Robcrt 209, 
Nc:lson. August (Mrs.) li, 

48-49, 
Nelson, Dcan 23, 
Neprud. Ji m 42-47, 
Ncspclcm, WA 11-12, 
Nevada 25, 

Ncvudu State Journ:1l 81, 
Nevcrsink Reservoir, NY 203, 
New Brighton, MN 37, 
New England 232, 282, 

Ust ofMissing 232-233, 
Ncw Grenada Mountain, PA 

211, 
New Hampshire 231. 255, 

Cheshire County Shcriff 
247, 

Fitzwilliam 247, 
Green Mountain Nutiunal 

Furest2-17, 
Loon Mountain Ski Rcsort 

262, 
Whitc Mountains 262, 

Ncw Jersey 175, 277-282. 
Bdlcplain State forest281, 
Bridgeton 277-278, 
Carmel277, 
Delawure Bay .281, 
Delmont281, 
Hammonton 278, 
1-lcislcrville fish and 

Wildlifc Area:!81, 
List of Missing 277. 
Millvillc 277, 
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Union Lake 277, Nutria. NM 25. Paradise, MI 63. 65. ·:, New Grenada Mountain 211. l)oe, George 22, Reterer, Leroy 165, 

NWA Onlinc 90, Parsons, Willis 239, Philipsburg 193-194, Poison 182, Rhinelander Daily 52, 
New Me:<.ico Pnthologist 250, Pigcon Mountains 177, Pulygrnph 90, 195, Rhudes, Dustin 2, 5-6, 

Nutria 25, Patterson, David 186, r:kc County 176, Ponstbrd, MN 39-40, Rike, Jim 127, 139-140, 145, 
Zuni 25. Paul Bunynn State Forest, MN '• .. Pine Creek Gorge 212, Pottstown, PA 204, 151, 

New York 207, 232. .. 
Oak Grove, AR 77, · 40-41, ·' Pinc Trce Lodge 212, Pottsvillc, PA 172-173, • Ridgelinc 82, 126, 

Adirondack Mountains 256, 
Oconaluftee lndian ~illnge Pcarl City, JL 71-72, ·, · Pitcairn 213, Prato, Joseph J70, J9J-J92, Rioux, Edmond 249, 

Ashok:m lndinn Rcservation ; 

155, Pcnd Oreillc 18, ... .. · Plensantville 200·201. 223, Price, Bernice 28, 30, Rivers, Middic 269, 
203, Pcnnsylvnnia 12, 166, 169·214, ·, . t ~·· • 

., 
Pottstown-:?04, Prigley, Eddie 225-226, Roan Mountain State Park. NC 

Boiccville J73-J74, Odor 
Strong 272, 276, Pott~ville 172·173, Pricst Lake, 1 D 18, 157. 161, 

Catskill Mountains 203, Allegheny National Forest Robertsdalc 210-211. Prior, Yehudi 8, 18, Rock Formation (w/stick) 221, 
Dcnman Mountain, NY 203, Ohio 

Cnmpbell Milis 28-29, J84, 205, 213. Robertsdnle Mountnin 211, Privation 234, Robertsdale, PA 171, 210-211 
EagJe Pond 253, 

Cincinnati 135, . A llegheny Reservoir 207. Scolldalc 185-J86, Prosser, W. O. 77, Rock Hill Herald 150, 
Grahamsville 203, 

Delaware Lake J65, Allegheny River 210, Sheppton 175, Provost, Albertn 32-33, Rodencal, Judy 48, 
Greenburgh 244. 

Dclaware Wilderness 165 Altoona190, Somerset 194-J95, Psychic 86, 114, 152, 207, 235, Rondout Reservoir, NY 203, 
Hartsdale Manor 244, 

Hoaglin Township 30, Association ofRetnrded 'o Spring Creck Township 2J3, Royal Canadian Mounted 
Hudson Fnlls, NY 265, PeopJe 208, Sta~e Police 186, 202, 205, Police (RCMP) JO, 19, 
Holland 184-185, Marion 165-J66, 

North Richmond Township Bald Eagle Mountain '·' 211. 3J. 33, 260-26J, 
Lake Placid 256-257, 

180. J9J-192, 1 ••• ·. Sust¡uehanna Ri\'er 192, Quachita National Forest, AR Ruby Lake, MT 22-23, 
Neversink Reservoir 203, Bradford J83, 

· .. 
Stroudsburg J75, 9J,94, Rumbaugh, RonnJd J85-J86, Ohio River 218, Newcomb 255,. 

Philo J66, Burholme Park J78, Tnrentum 210, Qunrry 237, 214, 
Palermo 30-31, 

Vernon Township 167, Catawissa Valley 172, ..... Tioga County 212, Quebec, Canada 232, 
Rondout Rcservoir, NY 203, Chnpter Summnry 213-214, · Tumbling Run Valley 173, Bourg-La-Reine 251-252, 
Schenectady 273, Ojibwe First Nation 4, 

Clear Creek State Park 
·· .. 

\Vest Chester 212, Eastman 249-250, 
State. Police 3J, Oklahoma 76-94, · 

213-214, 2J3, Williamsport 191, Queen Wilhelmina State Park, Salmon River Breaks, ID 22, 
Svracuse 255, Bache 87, 

Cor.nell Lookout 193. Perry, Roland 260, AR89, San Antonio El'\press 181, 
TÍtusville Mountnin State Bureau of lnvcstigation 93, 

Corydon Township 206-207, Peterson. Bryan 28J. Ququa Creck, OH J66, Salt Lake City, UT 25-26, Chelsea 17, Forest 253, 
Highway Patroi8J, Corry 205-206, l1eterson, Carolyn .165-166, San Francisco 211, 

New York Times l. 9. 58. 69. 
Kiamichi Mountains 80, 94, Cresco J75, '• Peterson, CluirJes 166, San Josc Mercury News 99, 

172-173, 226, 279. 
Lake Texomn, OK 86, Delnware River J78, · · Peterson, Richard 277, Sando\'al, Louis 2J, 

Newberry, Ml67. 
Mounds 163, Dubois 213, ·.· 28J-282, Rnilroad 7, 202, Santa Fe New Mcxican 84, 

Newcomb. NY 255, 
Latimer County 93, Dunbar J99, .. l?hiJadelphia Daily Ncws 282, Rain 72, 78, 80, 98, 113, 122· SAR xvi, 10·11, 19. 60, 75, 

Newcomb Lakc. NY 255, 
Mnp 76, Fombcll208, l,hilipsburg, PA 193-J94. 123-124, 128, J38, 158, 83, 108, 110, J20, 125, 

Newcombc, Mcryl 2-4. 
Panola Mountnin 92, Fox Chase, PA 178-180, Philo, OH J66. J62, 166,202-203,21 l. 149-151,212,216.221, 

Phutu3. 
Zunesville J66, Gaines 211-212, Physicians xiv. 220. 225, 229, 237, 243, 249,256, 

Newport, K Y 122, 
OJympic Games 25-26. Girard Manor 172, Jliatot~:, W~:sh:y 8. IJ-12, 258, 277. 278, Snrasotn 1-lernld 15, 

Newsome, Hcnry 110, 
Oneonta Star 203, Greeley 175-176, Pickens County, SC 134, Ramsay. Abe Carroll 106-107, Snskatoon 33, 

Newton, Jill 257. 
Ontario 39, Hanovcr J77, Pigs 32. 70, 273. 155-157, Saskatoon Phoenix JO, 

Newton, Kurt R. 233, 249, 
Central 2, Hazte Rrook J74. Killcd Man 69, Ramsay, John JS6, Saskatoon Star 249-250, 251, 

257-259, 
H:IVclock 33, Hazleton J74, Pike, Jack 8, J2, 35-37, Ramsburg, Shirley Ann 215- SawMill 

Newton. Ronald 257, 
Kirkland Lake JI), tndian Creek Valley 199, J>ikc, Charles 36, 218. 224, Abandoned 78,281, 

Next Steps 32H-329. 
Talihina 80, Kooscr Lake 199, l'ilot Mountnin, NC 110, R:mch 74, Scent xiii 

North Adams Transcript 274, Kouser State Park 194-195; .• .. Pinkertun Detectives 234, Rapid Rivcr, MN 43, Schenec1:1dy Gnzeite 252, . 
North Cnrolina 105, 136. Oregon 

Lakc Pahagasco 177. Pisgah Nntional Forest 158, Reading Eaglc 179,202, Schenectndy, NY 273. Crater Lake J2(J Deep Cree k Campground 
Oshkosh, Wl SI, t.ancnster County J92, Pitcairn, PA 213, Rcading, PA 12, Schmidt, Rona1d J55, 

153, 
Otis, Carlos 268, Laureldale 195-J97. l)itscnbarger, William 28, 30, Red Lnkes Recrention Aren, Schnitzkcr, William 230, 

Doughton Park. NC 108, 
Ottawa Citizen 249, 260, Leisure Lake 205, t•iusburgh, PA 9, 278, MN 40-4J, Schroeder, Herman 23, 

Fontana Luke 114, 139, 155, 
Ovcrnlls 43, 2J8, 228. Lisl ofMissing 170, l'ittsburgh Post Gazettc J77, Red Lakes Wilderness, MN Scott, Duane 208-209, 

McGrady 108, Manheim 192, .. 195, 42-47, Scott, Elmer 60-61, 
Pilot Mountain IJO, Owcns, A121-23. 

Mnp 169, Pittsburgh Press 70, 209. Red Lodge Creek, MT 21. Scott, Karen 209, Ozark Mountains 85, Swuin County JJ3-JJ4. 153. 
Ozark National Forcst 94, Marshburg 183, Pittsburgh Times 99, Red Top Mountain Stnte Park, Scolt, Kenneth SS, 

Surry County 110, Mercersburg 197, .. Plattsburgh A ir Force Base GA 100, Scottdale, PA J85-J.86, 
Norway Lake. M 1 60-63, Mili Run 203-204, 256, Reel, Michael Eugene 106-J07, Scratches 315, 
North Dakota · Missing List by Month 171. Pleasant Valley,'PA 9, 157-160, 161, Scream 36, 143,312, 

Furgo 40, Montgomery 192, 
~ . 

Plcasantville, PA 200-201, 223, Renaud, Lorenzo 251, For Help 123, 140, 189, 198, 
Northwcst Arkansas Times 79, Paleo lndians 105, 

Moshannon Creek 194, .;. t>oacher~ 239-240, Renaud, Nicole 233,251-253, 205-206, 272, 
Nova Scotia Palermo, NY 30-31, 

Mount Laur~l J95. Pocahontas County Sun 29, Renton, James 275, Seattle, \VA 119, 
1 Jalifax 232, 259, PanoJa Mountain, OK 92-93, 

... 

.. 
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Semi-Conscious xiv, 75, 
Senser,Jimmy 170, 193-194, 
Senser, Sylvester 193-194, 
SepricTank 

Dog Found lnside 198, 
Shackleford,lnex 72, 
Shackleford, Lisa 72-73, 
Shcc:phcrdc:rs 21-26, 
Sheep Sorel 78, 
Shenandoah River, WV 217, 
Sheppton, PA 175, 188, 
Shermnn, Harold 141, 
Sherman, Shirley 215-216, 
Shoemaker, Víctor 215, 

219-223, 
Photo 219, 

Sholtas, Mary 174-175, 
Short Mountain Wildlife Arca, 

WV219, 
Si~rra Nevada Mountains, 

CA30, 
Simpson, Frank 175, 
Simpson, Robert 113, 115, 
Simpson, Un k First Name 

170, 175, 
Skogan, Simon 8, 
Sleeping Bag 88, 
Smith, Eugene 1 17, 
Snowstorm 50,118, 120, 123, 

218,271, 
Soldiers 13, 
Soltes, Helen 179, 
Sonora, CA 213, 
South Carolina 

Pickens County 134, 
Tablc Rock Statc Park 

133, 
Somerville, Earl 35, 39, 
Spears Mountain, ME IS, 
Special Forces 1 38, 150, 
Spokane, WA 18, 
Spokesman Review 227, 
Springfield, VT 264, 
St. Joseph Press 182, 
St. Norbert, MAN 12, 36, 
St. Petersburg Times 99, 182, 
St. Vital, MAN 36, 
Staneker, Augustus 174-175, 
StarNews 158, 
Stars and Stripes 254, 
Starvation 176, 
Steffy, Emmn 8, 12, 
Stevens Point Daily 52, 
Stewart, Dwight41, 
Stewart, Stephanie 88, 
Stockbridge, GA 103, 
Stmnge Men 79, 

Strawbcrry Mountain, WA 
11-12, 

Strawberry Patch 192, 
Streeter, Candida 171, 204, 
Streeter, John 204, 
Stroudsburg, PA 175, 
Sugar Bush, MN 40-41,266. 
SuidJc: H5, 152.225, 
Sullivan Lake 18, 
Sullivan, Len 99, 
Sunday Herald 272, 
Surry County, NC 110, 
Surveyor 101, 
Susquehanna River 192, 
Sutiles, Charles 246, 
Swain County, NC 113-114, 

153, 
Swamps/Bog xv, 14, 31, 38, 

44-46, 51-53,61-62, 
72-73, 172. 176, 189, 
193, 198,200,227-228, 
234, 243-244, 247, 249, 
250, 260, 272-273, 275, 
277-278, 

Swanson, Kenneth 233, 242, 
Sweely, Sus:m 71-72, 
Sweely, William 72, 
Sylacauga, AL 95, 
Syracuse Joumal 133, 
Syracuse Morning Herald 236, 
Syracuse New York Times 30, 
Szpak, Frank 8, 19, 

Photo 19, 

Table Rock State Park, SC 
133,206, 

Tahqua Trail, MI 64, 
Tahquamenon Stnte Pnrk, MI 

63,66 
River 63, 

Talihina, OK 80, 
Tankerslcy, L.C. 96, 
Tankersley, Rickey 95-96, 
Tarentum, PA 210, 
Taylor, Jack 31, 
The ltem 133, 
Telegraph 266, 
Telegraph Herald 71, 166, 189, 
Temperature 50, 
Temple University 179, 

'"rennessee 105, 136, 
Blount County Sheriff 128, 
Briceville 125, 
Campbell County Sheriff 

126, 

Carter County 158, 
Carthagc: 140, 
Chilhowee Lnke, 128, 
Cocke County 156, 
Dunn Creek 155, 
Elkrnont 114, 
Happy Valley 127, 129, 
Knoxvilh: 111, lb2, 
Maryvillc 127, 
Mt. Chapman 124, 
Pisgah National Forest 158, 
Roan Mountain State Park 

157, 
Sevier County 156, 
University ofTN i32, 163, 
Well Springs, TN 125, 

Texas 
Fort Wnshita 86, 

TheSun62, 
The Tclegraph 234, 
Thermopolis, WY 24, 
Thon1as, Jeremy 102-103, 
Thompkins, Christopher 

101-102 
Photo 101, 

Thorpe, Anna Pearl 9, 171, 185, 
198-199, . 

Throbbing Giant 201, 223, 
Times248, 
Times Daily 131-132, 
Timm, Edgnr 52, 
Timmins, ONT 2, 4-5, 21-22 
"lippin, David 103-104 
Tippin, Robert. 103, 
Titusville Herald 205, 
Tobesofkee Creek, GA 102, 
Toledo Blade 176, 
Tomah, Wl 29, 
Toma ro Timber Company, 

MN39, 
Toney, Jay Charles 106-107, 

162-163, 
Tornado 122, 
Tourtillott, Colleen, 48, 
Tourtillott, Janelle 53 
Tourtillotl, Miles 53, 
Tracked 

To River 217, 
Trackers xiii, 
Tracy Lake, SASK 18, 
Trail90, 

Trailhead 89, 
Tri City Herald 229, 
Trinastich, Luciano 9, 19-20. 
Trout Creek, WA 17, 
Trout Lake, WA 16-17, 
Trout Lake Ranger Station 59, 

¡ •. 

Tunniclifli:,l{aymond 9, 18-19, 
Turkcys 210, 

Farm 243, 
· Turner, Richurd 227, 

. Tuscaloosu Ncws 136, 159, > ·' Tyroilc Dail}· Herald 209, 

United Statcs Forest Sen·icc 
. (USFS) 16-17,23, 161, 
United Statcs Sc:crct Servicc 
. • 234. 

' .Unitcd Stalcs Senator 139, 
• Uni ... c:rsity ofTN 132, 

U1~solvcd Disappearances 
in thc Grcat Smoky 
Mountains 156, 

· Upsh:m, Murrtl)' 98-100, 
Utah 

Ben.ch Crcc:k 25-26. 
Heber City 25-26. 
L\lgan 22, 
Sall. Lakc City 25-26, 
Wasatch Cmmty 25-26. 

·· ·vachon, Vital2, 4, 
Val Co'te, ONT 6, 

: .. Van Alst, Kathcrine 76, 82-85, 
• , Vuncuuver lslnnd, BC 18, 

. Vcrmillion Rivcr 9, 
• · Vermont 264-276. 
'. · Bald Mountain 265-266, 

274, 
Uennington 265-266. 269, 
Bcnnington Collegc 271, 
Chaptcr Summary 276, 
felchville 265. 
Glnstenbury Mountain 264, 

267, 269-273, 
Green Mountnin National 

Forest 270-272, 
Somcrsct Reservoir 271, 
Springficld 264, 
Rcading 264-265, 

·.Rutlond 265, 
·somc:rset 274. 
~tate: Police 272, 
Wcst Townshcnd 265, 

267-268, 
Vc:rnon lownship. OH 167, 
'Virginia' 

. . . l.ecs&urg 220, 
· M:minsburg 219. 

·vrholla, Pnul 186. 

Wuiling51, 
Walhnlla, MI 56-58, 
Walla Wallu Union 24. 
Wnlnuts 125, 
Wanke, Gcorge 8, 12, 
Wurhurtun, Andll."\\ ::!33, 

259-262. 
Warburton. Durcen 259, 
Warburton, Tom 259. 
Warner, Isaac 226, 
Warnc:r, Lecanna 36, 
Warren, Charles 76-77, 
Warrcn. Harold 77, 
Wasatch County, UT 25-26. 
Wnshburn. Wl 51. 
Washington 256, 

Burbank 24, 
Harroh 17, 
Momunc:nt Mountain JI!, 
Mt. Adams 16-17. 
Seattle 119, 
Spokane IH. 
Trout Lake 16-17, 
Whatcum County 18, 

Washington County, AR 83, 
Washington Post 109, 
WebsterCity lA 29, 
Weeden, Georgc 2-4, 

Photo 3. 
\Veeks, Charles 229, 
Weitknmp, Lawrc:ncc 226-227. 
Weitkamp, Ronnic 225-228, 
Welden, Paula 270-273. 

W:mted Postcr 270, 
Weldcn, W. Archibald 271. 
Wclls. Jack 21. 
Wcll Springs, TN 125, 
Wellsvillc Daily 256, 
Welsh Mountain Wildcrness, 

PA 12, 
Wenatchec Lake 11-12. 
Wernberg, Ber)•l ·B. 
West, Dorothca 183, 
Wesl, Marjoric 170, 183-184. 

206, 207, 213; 
Pholo 183, 

West Townshcnd, VT 265. 
267-268, 

West Virginia 215-224 
Augusta 219, 
Burcau ofCriminal 

ldentific:llion 222, 
Chaptcr Summar)' 224. 
Chnrleston 223, ' 
Churlc:s Town 216, 
El k Rivcr 224, 

lndex 

fr:mklin 215-216, 
Gallipolis 218, 
llampshirc Cuunty 211}. 
List ofMissing215, 
Map215 
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Shc:n:mdn:th Rivcr 217, 
Shurt Muumain Wilulifi: 

Arca 219. 
State Troupcr 222. 
Will Run Crcek 216, 

Wctl:mds Nnturc Preserve. 
IL 7J. 

Wc)akwin. SASK 18, 
Whatcom ('uunty. \VA 18. 
Whc:ut33. 
Whitukt:r, Kaclin 41. 
White Bcar llills 10, 
White Bear Lul.c 10-11. 
Whitdish Tuwnship, 1\·11 64. 
Whitney l.ukc. MI 60, 
Wild Mcn 148, 
WildOowers 183, 
Wilkc. Thdm:1 Ann 4H. 
Wilkcs, Ray 38. 
Willhoitc, Billy 231. 
Williums, Lcru)' 28, 3 l. 69, 
Williamsport, ftA 191. 
Windsor Daily Star 13, 
Winger. Keith 43, 
Winnepc:g 13. 31. 
Winncpcg Free Press 11·1~. 

260, 
Wisconsin 48-54, 

Auroravillc 52, 
Bcur Cree k 29, 
BouiJcr Junction 59, 
Castlc Rock l:lkc 50. 
Drummond 1 J. 
Kcshena 53, 
Muuston 50-51. 
McMill:tn 41,'1-50. 
Map4K. 
Mcnominc..: lndinn 

Rcsc:rv:l!iun 53. 
Oshkosh 51, 
Tomnh 29, 
W:1shhurn 51, 
Waushara County 53. 
Whitncy l.akc 59. 

Whitney L:1kc, Wl 59, 
Witt, FluyJ 26. 
Woelllc. Edward 55, 59-60, 
Wocltlc, Willium 5l), 
Wulf 
Trap~ 5<>, 

Wolti:, Unk First Namc- 170. 
1n 
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Wolfc, Georg.e 172, 
Wolford, Osear 220·221. 
Wyoming. 

Bitter Creck 22. 
Thermopolis 24. 

Yosemitc Nationnl P;trk, CA 
105, 

Young, Ralph 266, 
Youngstown Vind!cntor 249, 

Zanesville, OH 166, 
Zuni, NM 25, 
Zuni Tribal Police 25, 
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